
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

February 27, 2026 
10:30 a.m.



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
Board of Supervisors Meeting 

Agenda 
February 27, 2026 

10:30 a.m. 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. OPENING INVOCATION

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD

5. REPORTS

5.1 Administrator’s Report

6. CONSENT AGENDA

6.1 January 23, 2026 Meeting Minutes

6.2 Approve Change Order #1 to Contract #C006831 for the World Drive North Phase III post
design services for the Seven Seas Drive realignment and connector roadways to 
LandDesign, Inc. and authorize the District Administrator to execute the change order in the 
amount of $26,105 

7. GENERAL BUSINESS

7.1 Approve Contract #C006979 for a high temperature hot water pipe abandonment utilizing
Gulfcoast Utility Contractors, Inc. and authorize the District Administrator to execute the 
contract in the amount of $1,540,000 along with a 10% contingency for unforeseen issues 
for a total amount of $1,694,000 

7.2 Approve establishing the initial budget for the Duplex Lift Station #46 rehabilitation project 
in the amount of $256,830 consisting of (i) an allowance for RCES design\support services 
of $100,000; and (ii) professional services by CPH Consulting, LLC; and authorizing the 
District Administrator to execute the task work order for $142,573 plus a 10% contingency 
for unforeseen issues for a total of $156,830 

7.3 Approve establishing a project budget of $6,567,630 for Studios North Central Energy Plant 
Motor Control Center A & B replacement project, along with an allowance for RCES 
design\support services of $100,000 and authorizing the District Administrator to execute 
Contract #C006965 with Electrical Engineering Enterprises Inc. for construction services   
in the amount of $5,411,800 with 10% contingency for unforeseen issues for a total of 
$5,952,980 

7.4 Approve Change Order #3 to Contract #C006106 World Drive North Phase III construction 
engineering inspection services with Consor Engineering, LLC and authorize the District 
Administrator to execute the change order in the amount of $2,087,595.52, plus $49,869.57 
in reimbursables totaling $2,137,465.09 



 

7.5 Approve Contract #C006910 with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.  for the World Drive 
North Phase III area development landscaping design and authorize the District 
Administrator to execute the contract in the amount of $468,743.21 plus 10% contingency 
for a total amount of $515,618 

 
8. ADJOURN 
 
 
 
APPEALS: All persons are advised that, should they decide to appeal any decision made at a Board of 
Supervisors hearing, they will need a verbatim transcript of the record of the proceedings. It is the 
responsibility of every party-in-interest to arrange for a transcript of the proceedings, which must 
include the verbatim testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is made. 
 
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT: The Central Florida Tourism Oversight District is 
committed to reasonably accommodating the needs of anyone with disabilities who wishes to attend 
or participate in public meetings. Anyone with a disability who requires a reasonable accommodation 
should contact the Clerk of the Board, by telephone at (407) 828-3548 or via email 
(DistrictClerk@oversightdistrict.org), no less than one business day (i.e. Monday through Friday, 
excluding legal holidays) in advance of the applicable meeting to ensure that the District has sufficient 
time to accommodate the request. 

mailto:(DistrictClerk@oversightdistrict.org


Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
Board of Supervisors Meeting 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
January 23, 2026 

 
 
 
 

On Friday, January 23, 2026, the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District Board of Supervisors 
met in regular session at the Administration Office of the District, 1900 Hotel Plaza Boulevard, 
Lake Buena Vista, Florida. The meeting was posted in accordance with Florida Statutes, and a 
quorum was present.  
 
Board of Supervisors Present:  
Chair Alexis Yarbrough 
Supervisor Matt Ravenscroft 
Supervisor David Woods 
Supervisor John Gilbert 
 
Supervisors Via Virtual 
Supervisor Scott Workman 
 
CFTOD Staff: 
Deputy District Administrator Mike Crikis 
Chief Financial Officer Susan Higginbotham 
Chief Strategic Officer Chad Colby 
Fire Chief Eric Fearri 
District Attorney Roy Payne 
District Clerk Alycia Mills 
Director of Security and Emergency Management Tanya Naylor 
Director of Planning and Engineering Katherine Luetzow 
Director of Energy Services Chris Ferraro 
Director of Construction Management Craig Sandt 
Human Resources Director Michele Dicus 
Contracting Officer Tiffany Kimball 
Chief of Public Works Jason Herrick 
Director of Environmental Sciences Wendy Duncan  
Director of Facilities Douglas Henley 
Director of Building & Safety Ella Hickey  
IT Service Delivery Manager Ron Zupa 
Construction Management Manager Alex Forth 
Internal Risk Manager Eddie Fernandez 
 
1. Call to Order  
Chair Yarbrough called the meeting to order at 10:30 a.m. and introduced the new Supervisors, 
Supervisor Matt Ravenscroft and Supervisor David Woods. 
 
2. Opening Invocation 

An invocation and message were delivered by Fire Chaplain Billy Dover 



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
Regular Meeting Minutes  
January 23, 2026 
Page 2 
 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Chief Assistant Chief Robert Creager  
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT 

There were no public comments. 
 
5. REPORTS 

5.1 Informational Report: Semi-Annual Report of Easements 
Presented by Katherine Luetzow. Report describing the temporary construction easements 
entered into by the District between July 2025 and December 2025.  
 
5.2 Administrator’s Report 
Mike Crikis presented the following items:  

• District garages have seen record crowds recently and garage staff should be 
commended.  

• It was the District’s Fire Department’s 42nd year providing medical support for the Run 
Disney 2026 World Marathon; featuring a 5K, 10K, a half marathon and a full marathon 
with approximately 61,000 runners participating. Appreciation to the Fire Department 
for all the work and help. 

• A team from the District’s Fire Department participated recently  
in the Central Florida Rope Rescue Challenge in Orlando and won the challenge overall. 
Congratulations to the team, including Rescuer One (1), Lieutenant Todd Pulver; 
Rescuer Two (2), Firefighter Paramedic, Steven Gabe; Anchor One (1), Firefighter 
Paramedic, Ben Whitley; and Anchor Two (2), Firefighter Paramedic, Armando Rivas.  
The Team Captain was Firefighter Engineer, Greg Sumar, with the Alternates being 
Firefighter Engineer, Danielle Sanchez; Firefighter Paramedic, Matt Donahghue and 
Firefighter Paramedic, Juan Rivera.   

• Special recognition to Firefighter Paramedic, Ben Whitley, the District Fire Department 
Special Operations Team Hazmat Leader, as he received the Hazmat Technician of the 
Year Award at the 2026 Florida Fire and EMS Conference in Orlando. 

 
6. CONSENT AGENDA 

There were no changes or objections to the consent agenda. 
 
Motion: Supervisor John Gilbert moved to approve the Consent Agenda. Supervisor 
Ravenscroft seconded.  
Vote: Motion carried unanimously.  
 

7. GENERAL BUSINESS 
 

7.1   Approve establishing a budget of $1,549,403 for replacement of Anoxic Lift Pump 
#1 at the District’s Water Resource Recovery Facility, authorize the District 
Administrator to execute Contract #C006993 with Evoqua Water Technologies 
LLC, for pump and associated replacement work in the amount of $1,449,403; 
approve RCES support services fees of $100,000; all amounts include a 10% 
contingency for unforeseen issues 

 



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
Regular Meeting Minutes  
January 23, 2026 
Page 3 
 

Energy Services Director, Chris Ferraro, presented background information on Item 7.1 
and recommended Board approval. 
 
Motion: Supervisor John Gilbert moved to approve Item 7.1. Supervisor David 
Woods seconded.  
Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 
 

7.2   Approve establishing an initial budget of $6,750,000 for the North Service Area 
Electrical System Extension, consisting of allowances for RCES design/support 
services ($1,000,000), professional services ($750,000), and Owner Furnished 
Materials ($5,000,000), all including 10% contingency for unforeseen issues; and 
authorize the District Administrator to execute subsequent contracts for such 
allowances, subject to individual procurement reviews 

 
Energy Services Director, Chris Ferraro, presented information on Item 7.2 and 
recommended Board approval. 
 
Motion: Supervisor John Gilbert moved to approve Item 7.2. Supervisor 
Ravenscroft seconded.  
Vote: Motion approved unanimously. 

 
8. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
9. FOR INFORMATION 

9.1   Contract between CFTOD and Tower Engineering Inc. related to the expansion of 
the Studio South Central Energy Plant to extend RCES chilled water production 
capacity, approved by the Board at the November 21, 2025, meeting 

 
Energy Services Director, Chris Ferraro, presented a summary of the item.  
 

10. ADJOURN 
There being no further business, Chair Yarbrough adjourned the meeting at 10:47 a.m. 

                
ATTESTED THIS 27th day of February, 2026 

 
 
        __________________________________________ 
        Alexis Yarbrough, Chair of the Board of Supervisors  
        Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 

     
         

 
_______________________________________ 
Vanessa Heiser, Paralegal 
Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 6.2           Board Meeting Date: 2/27/2026 

Subject: Contract #C006831 - World Drive North Phase III – Seven Seas Drive Realignment/Grand 
Floridian Connector Roadways– LandDesign, Inc., Post Design Services - Change Order #1 

Presented By: Katherine Luetzow, Director, Planning & Engineering 

Department: Public Works 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready):  Approve Agenda Item 6.2 Change Order #1 to 
Contract #C006831 for the World Drive North Phase III post design services for the Seven Seas Drive 
realignment and connector roadways to LandDesign, Inc. and authorize the District Administrator to 
execute the change order in the amount of $26,105 
 

RELEVANT STRATEGIC GOALS: Quality of Place 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION: N/A 

 
BACKGROUND: LandDesign, Inc. is the engineering design consultant for the Seven Seas Drive 
Realignment and the Grand Floridian Connector Roadways, that serve to connect the adjacent existing 
development to the future three roundabouts on World Drive North Phase III.  The District previously 
committed to construct the Seven Seas Drive Realignment as part of the Phase II of World Drive North 
Phase III by Southland Construction Inc. (C006110).  As such, LandDesign, Inc. is currently under 
contract to provide engineering post design support services for the construction effort.  
 
The District has subsequently elected to construct the additional two proposed roadway connectors for the 
two other proposed roundabouts of World Drive North Phase III called the Grand Floridian Connector 
Roadways.  As such, the current request is to approve a change order to add the post design service for 
LandDesign for the Grand Floridian Roadway Connectors.  This includes providing engineering support 
such as reviewing and approving shop drawings, attending construction meetings, site visits, answering 
contractor questions, verifying alternative materials, etc.   
 
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS: Public Works has reviewed the proposal for engineering services 
and finds it justified based upon the project scope.  This request is for a not to exceed contract amount of 
$26,105. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There will be no impact on the overall budget for the World Drive North Phase III 
project.  Funding for this request is provided through the CFTOD 2024 Transportation Projects Ad 
Valorem Bonds. 
 
PROCUREMENT REVIEW:  This contract has been reviewed and approved for compliance with the 
District’s procurement policies. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  This agenda item has been reviewed by the District’s General Counsel. 
 
ALTERNATIVE:  

• Deny 
• Amend 



• Table 
 
SUPPORT MATERIALS:  

• LandDesign, Inc. - Change Order #1 to Contract #C006831  



Page 1 of 2

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
10450 TURKEY LAKE ROAD, BOX #690519

ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32869

AMENDMENT TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

PROJECT: WDN Ph. 3 – Seven Seas Engineering Post Design Services DATE: _________________

TO: LandDesign, Inc. CONTRACT NO.: C006831
P.O. Box 36959
Charlotte, North Carolina 28236 AMENDMENT NO.: 1

The Owner and the Consultant hereby agree to this Amendment to Agreement C006831 for all labor, 
services, materials, equipment and other items or things to be furnished, provided or performed, and all 
other obligations, terms and conditions, as described herein including any exhibits attached hereto, all of 
which shall become part of the Services.

Amendment Summary:
ADD 0 Days and $26,105.00 for post design engineering support on the Grand Floridian Roadway 
Connectors as detailed below in Scope of Additional Services and per Exhibit A
All other terms and conditions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect

Contract Sum provided by original Agreement:                        $39,065.00
Contract Sum provided by this Amendment No. [1]:                $25,505.00 
TOTAL REVISED CONTRACT SUM:                                     $64,570.00

Reimbursable Expenses provided by original Agreement:      $800.00
Reimbursable Expenses provided by this Amendment No. [1]:  $600.00
TOTAL REVISED REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES:                          $1,400.00

Original Contract Time: July 9, 2027
Adjustment in Contract Time by this Amendment No. [1]:        0 Days
CONTRACT TIME INCLUDING THIS AMENDMENT: July 9, 2027

Compensation for Additional Services: 
Consultant is hereby authorized additional compensation, as defined by the Agreement, in the amount of 
$25,505.00 and an additional Reimbursable Expense allowance of $600.00, for the complete and 
satisfactory performance of the additional services set forth below.

Scope of Additional Services:   
Consultant shall perform the following additional services:

BACKGROUND: Consultant is currently providing engineering post design support services for the World 
Drive North Phase III construction effort which includes three connections to roundabouts. The District 
has elected to construct roadway connectors for two other proposed roundabouts of World Drive North 
Phase III called the Grand Floridian Roadway Connectors.  

ADDITIONAL SERVICES: Consultant shall provide post design engineering support for the Grand 
Floridian Roadway Connectors. These engineering support services include attending construction 
meetings, site inspections, answering contractor questions, reviewing and approving shop drawings,  
verifying alternative materials, and preparation of as-builts as described in Exhibit A.

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District’s Owner’s Representative: Katherine Luetzow
Phone Number: 407-840-1246



CONTRACT NO.: C006831
AMENDMENT NO.: 1

Page 2 of 2

The total amount of this Amendment shall be full and complete consideration to the Consultant for 
performance of the Additional Services set forth above and the Consultant hereby waives any and all claims 
arising out of or related to the Services covered by this Amendment.

The total amount of this Amendment is fair, reasonable and mutually agreeable, and includes all applicable 
taxes, insurance, bond or corporate guarantee, delivery, supervision, overhead, profit, labor, labor impact, 
materials, changes, cardinal change, delays, acceleration, inefficiency and cumulative impact, or any claims, 
lawsuits, actions or causes of action therefor, and the Consultant hereby waives, releases and forever 
discharges any and all claims, lawsuits, actions or causes of action for such items associated with or related 
to the Services covered by this Amendment. Without limitation on the foregoing, the parties hereto 
specifically acknowledge that it is their intent to hereby waive, release and forever discharge any and all 
cardinal change or cumulative impact claims, whether known or unknown, whether in law or in equity, 
whether contingent or non-contingent, and whether past, present or future, arising out of or in connection 
with this Amendment.

OWNER: CONSULTANT:
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT 
DISTRICT

LANDDESIGN, INC.

Signature:   Signature: 
As authorized by the Board of Supervisors

Print Name:    S.C. Kopelousos                            Print Name: 

Title:    District Administrator                              Title: 

Date:    February 27, 2026   Date: 



JANUARY 21, 2026 

SCOPE OF SERVICES FOR CHANGE ORDER #1 

SEVEN SEAS DRIVE REALIGNMENT POST DESIGN SERVICES 
GRAND FLORIDIAN CONNECTIONS CHANGE ORDER 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
LandDesign PN: 8120001A 

The following paragraphs describe the scope of work to be provided under this agreement. 

I. GRAND FLORIDIAN POST DESIGN SERVICES – 12 MONTHS (6 MONTHS PER ROUNDABOUT) PHASE 510 
LandDesign will support the Client in the implementation of the Grand Floridian Modifications Project C 
construction documents, as outlined in this proposal. The work shall include the following scopes of work.  

A. Construction Meetings: The meetings are assumed to be virtual and LandDesign will attend one
(1) pre-construction meeting and two of the team’s weekly meetings per roundabout for the duration
of the project, which is 12 months (4 Meetings assumed).

B. Site Inspections: Construction inspections of work in progress to ensure compliance with the design
intent of the construction documents, resolve field related issues during construction due to existing
field conditions or unforeseen circumstances. This proposal assumes up to two (2) site visits to
review work in progress during construction and two (2) construction completion walks, one each
per roundabout.

C. Shop Drawings: Review contractors’ shop drawings and project submittals for conformance to the
design intent. 

D. RFI/Clarification Requests: Review RFIs (assumed 10 maximum) and other clarification requests
received from the project coordinator and provide feedback and information to satisfy the
contractor’s needs. Plan revisions will be provided as required.

E. Final Certifications/ As-Builts: Preparation of As-Built drawings for that clearly identify all
variation(s) and changes from the approved drawings including location, quantity and specification
of all project elements.

II. GF SUB-CONSULTANT POST DESIGN SERVICES PHASE 091 
CLARIFICATIONS 
Clarifications to LandDesign’s proposal are noted as follows: 

A. Major maintenance of traffic plans are assumed will be provided by the contractor.

B. Geotechnical engineering will be provided by the Owner.

C. CAD asbuilts will be provided by the contractor for review.

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
Additional services shall be provided only when authorized in writing by the Client and shall be paid for by 
the Client as hereinafter provided. Any work required in addition to that outlined under Scope of Services 
or additional work requested by the Client, will be negotiated. 

Exhibit A

A-1



CFTOD LandDesign PN: 8120001A 
January 22, 2026 Page 2 of 2 

CONTRACT FEE SUMMARY 

DESCRIPTION PHASE (S) FEE 

Grand Floridian Post Design Services 510 $17,400 

GF Sub-Consultant Post Design Services (Hourly Not to Exceed) 091 $8,105 

Total Labor Fees $25,505 

Expenses EXP $600 

Grand Total $26,105 

In addition to the professional fees, LandDesign shall be reimbursed for all out-of-pocket expenses 
(i.e., postage, travel, handling and reproduction of drawings, courier services, photography, etc.). 

Exhibit A

A-2



Task Description

Labor Rate 240.00$      165.00$      

Task 1 - Grand Floridian Post Design Services

Meetings

Pre-Construction Meeting (Virtual) 1 1 240$       -$    -$   240$     

Weekly Meetings (Assumed 4 Virtual) 4 4 960$       -$    -$   960$     

Submittal and RFI Review

Submittals 8 8 16 3,240$        -$    -$   3,240$     

RFI and Plans Revisions (Maximum 10 RFIs) 10 16 26 5,040$        -$    -$   5,040$     

As-built Review and Record Drawings

As-built Review 4 4 8 1,620$        -$    -$   1,620$     

Record Drawings and Certification 4 12 16 2,940$        -$    -$   2,940$     

Site Visits

Field Meetings (2 Assumed) 6 6 1,440$        200$        200$       1,640$       

Construction Completion Punch Walk (One Per Roundabout) 8 8 1,920$        200$        200$       2,120$       
 Subtotal 45 40 85 -$      17,400$      68% 400$        400$       17,800$          

Task 2 - GF Subconsultant Post Design Services 3 0 3 7,385$           8,105$        200$        200$       8,305$       
 Subtotal 3 0 3 8,105$        32% 200$        200$       8,305$       

GRAND TOTAL 48 40 88 7,385$           25,505$        600$        600$       26,105$          

CIVIL

Director Sr. Designer TOTAL 
EXPENSES TOTALTotal Hours Irrigation Sub-

Consultant TOTAL LABOR Mileage 
Travel

Exhibit A

A-3

Task TTaskTaskkkkkkkkkTask Taskkaska DDescrDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD iption

Labor Rate 240.00$      165.00$      

Task 1 - Grand Floridian Post Design Services

Meetings

re-CPPre CPre-CPre-CPre CPP e-CPre CCPPPPPre-CCCPP eeee--rreeeee-CPPPPPPPrrrrreeeee Cee CPPPrePPPPrrrreeeeee CCConstonstroononnnoonoooonnnnnnnssssooooooonnnnnnnssss uction Meeting (Virtual) 1 1 240$   -$   ----------  $$ -$   $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 240$

WWWeeklW kW kWW kWW klW kW kW kW kW klWWW kWeekWeeklWWeekeklWeeklWeeklWeeklWeekly MeeMMMMMMMy Meey My Meeeey Meey Meey Meey Meetingsttittitingstingstingstingstings (Ass(A(A(Ass(Ass(Ass(Ass(Assumedddumedumedumedumedumed 4 Vir4 Vi4 Vi4 Vir4 Vir4 Vir4 Vir4 Virtual)t l)t l)tual)tual)tual)tual)tual) 4444444 4444444444444444444 960960960960960$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$   -$ -$$$ -$    -$$$$ -$$$$$$$$$$$$ -$   960960960960960$$$$$

Submittal and RFI Reviewew

SubmiubmiubmmmiubmmiSuSubmSuSSuSubuubbbm ttalslsalstalsttttttalsttttttaaaaattttttaaaaatttaaaaaals 8 8 16 3,240$     -$    -$   3,240$     

RFI aRFI aRFI aRFIRRRFI aIRFI aRFFFIIRF nd Pldd PPlllndd PPPlndd Pd PPPPlPlans Rans Ra Rans Rns Ra Rnns Rss Rans RRaa Revisievisievvisisievisvvisiisevisisieviss ons (ons (onsons (ons (oons (n (onsns MaximMaximMaxiMaximMMaximMMaxiimimmM iMaximMaxaxMaximximaximimmmmMaximxMMM imM ximum 10um 10m 1m 10u 1um 10mm 10111uum 10mm 10um 111110101 RFIsRFIsFIFIsRRFIRRRFFIsIRRRRFFIsFIsFFIIRFRRFR ))) 10 1610 1610 16 2210 16 2222666666 5 0405 0405 0405 0405,0405,040,$$$$$$$ $$   $$$$$$ -$   $$  $$$$$$ -$   $$ 5 0405 0405 0405 0405,0405,040,$$$$$$$$$

AAAs-buAA bAs-bubbbbububbuAAAAs-busAs--bbubbbbubs-buAs-buAAAAAAAs bbbbbbbu-buuAAsAs-AAAss-bbbbbbuuuubuAAAAAAAs bbbbuAAAAAAAAs bbuuuuAs-buuuAAAAAAAs-bbbbbuuuuuAAAAAAss-bbbbuuuuuuAsAs-bbbuuuuuubbbbuuuubbbbbuuubbbuuuiiiiilt Riltiiiliiiliiiiliiiiliiiiliiiiltiiii eview and Record Drawingsgg

As-buAs-buAs--bu-bbbbbu-bbbbuuAsAAAAAs buAAs buA bbuuAAAAAAAA bbbuuAAAAAAAAAs buuilt Rlt Riiltlt Rttttt RRRRiiltltttttt RRRRiiltttttt RRRevieweviewevievevieweeeveeeeevvviiieeeeeewwwwwwwweeeeevvvvviiieeeeeewwwwwewwwweeevvviiewwwwwww 4 4 8 1,6200$     -$    -$   1,620$     

RecorRecorRRRRRRRRRecoRe orore rd Drad DraDDdddddd Dd Dd Dddd Dd DDDdd DDDdd DraDrad wingsiiiiiiiiiiiiwingswinnggsggsg ddanddddddand CCCertiiiC ttitiC ttitiCertertirtificatfffffifififfi tfifi ttfffi ti tttfficatatficationiiiiiioionni 4 12 164 12 164 12 164 12 164 12 16 2 940002 940402 940402 94042,940$$$$$  $$$$ -$    $$$$ -$   2 9402 9402 9402 9402,940$$$$$

Site VisitVisiii iiittViii iiitittViii iiittViViiisssiiittViiisVisitsiiittiiissiiittViiissiits sssssssssssssssssssssss

FielddldFieldddldFieldddddddFFFFieFiiieeeeelddddFFFFFiiieeeeeeellddddFFFFFiieeeeeeeellddddFFFFFFiieleeeeelldddFFFFFiiieeeeeelldddFFFFFiiieeeeeeelllddd MeetMMeetMeetMeetMeMeetMMMMMMMeeMMMeeeeeettMMMMMMMMeeMMeeeeettMMMMMMMMeeeeeeeettMMMMMMMMeeeeee tMMMMMeeeeeeeettMMMeeMMeeeeeeeettMMMMMMeee ttMMMMMeeeee tMMMMMMMeeeeeeMMMMMMMeeeeeee ings ingsings ingsngsngsggnnngsnnggnnnngggggnnngsgggngggnnnngggggggsngsssinnnnggggggsssssnnnnngsggggggsssssnnnnngsgggggsgssssssnnnnnggggggggsssss nnnngggggsssss gggggggggggggggggg (2 As(2 As2 As(2 AAA2 AA2 A2 As2 As((22 A22 AAAAAAAAsss((2 As222 AAAAAAAAAssss(2222 AAAAAAAAAsssss((2222 AAAAAAAAAAssss((22 AAAAAAAssss(2222 A2 AAAAAAssss(( sumedumedsssuuussssuuusssuuussuuusssusssuuuu ) 6 6 1,440$     200$        2000000$      1,640$      

CCCCC tC ttConstst ititiructiucti CCCCCon Coon lll tmpleti Pii Pion P hhunch W lkW lkWalk ((O(O(One(One P RP RPer R ddoundab )b )b t)bout)bout) 888 888 1 9201 9201,920$$$$$$ $  $$ 200$ 200$ 200$ 200$        2000000000200000020000000$$$$$$   2 1202 1202,1200$$$$$$   
 Subtotal 8545 40 -$   $    17,40,, 0$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$   68% 400$   $      4000000000000000000$ $   17,80,, 000000000000$ $       

TTT kkT kTaskaskTask askTasTasks 22 G2 G2 G22 G2 - G2 G2 G- G2 - G2 - 2 G2  F S bFFF S bS bSF SubF SF S bF SubF F SF consuonsult tlt ttlt tltanttltant P tP tPosttt D iDesiDesiDesiDesi SSgn Segn Segn Sen Seeg irviiirvirvirvicervicvvices 000 8 1058 1058 1058 1058 1058,105$$$$$$$  $ 200$ 200$ 200$ 200$ 200$ 200$        200000000200000200020002000020000$$$$$$$   8 305558 3058 3058 30558,3058 305$$$$$$$   
0 ,$ $ $$ 3332% 2002% 2002% 200$ $ $$  8,1058,1058,105, 2000000200000200000$ $ $$  8,3058 3058,305,,$$$$$  

GRANDGRANDDDDDDDDDNDNDDDDNDDDDNNDDDDNNNDDDD TOTATOTATOTAOOOOTTOTATOTTTOTAOOOOOTTOTATOTAOTAOOOOOTTATTTOOOOOOTTTTTTTAAAATOOOOOTTTTTTAAAAATTTTOOOOOOOOOOOTTTTTTTAAAALLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL 8848 40 7,385$          7 25,505$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$  2 26,1055555$          

CIVIL

Director Sr. Designer TOTAL 
EXPENSES TOTALTotal Hours Irrigation Sub-

Consultant TOTAL LABOR Mileage 
Travel

600000000000000$      600$        

3333 Subtotal
7777 3857777,3857 3857 38577,3857,385$$$$$$$       7777333333333



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 7.1           Board Meeting Date: 02/27/2026 

   
 

Subject: Contract #C006979 Construction Services for District North Service Area High Temperature Hot 
Water Abandonment  

Presented By: Christine Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services 

Department: Utility Services 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready): Approve Agenda Item 7.1 Contract #C006979 for a 
high temperature hot water pipe abandonment utilizing Gulfcoast Utility Contractors, Inc. and authorizing 
the District Administrator to execute the contract in the amount of $1,540,000 along with a 10% 
contingency for unforeseen issues for a total amount of $1,694,000 
 

 

DISTRICT’S RELEVANT STRATEGIC GOALS: Operational Excellence 

 
 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION: Bid released: November 20, 2025 

 
BACKGROUND:  
The scope of work for the north service area high temperature hot water (HTHW) pipe abandonment project 
will include permanently abandoning out-of-service sections of HTHW pipe. The project will require the 
abandonment, sealing and/or removal of all indicated piping and the restoration of any affected property in 
compliance with District requirements.  
 
The District owns, operates, and maintains a Central Energy Plant and corresponding piping system as part 
of the High Temperature Hot Water (HTHW) utility. Hot water is produced by boilers at the Central Energy 
Plant and is distributed via an underground piping system. The hot water piping system was originally 
constructed to serve multiple customers in the District’s North Service Area. Currently, the section of pipe 
running south from the Central Energy Plant along World Drive is out-of-service and requires abandonment 
using cementitious grout. 
 
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS: 
On November 20, 2025, Request for Proposal# C006979 was released for this project. Proposals were due 
on December 15, 2025. The proposals were reviewed and discussed by a formal selection committee during 
a public meeting on January 7, 2026, at 9:00 AM. 

Two (2) proposals were received as follows:   
Vendor’s Legal Name Vendor’s City/State Vendor’s Bid Ranking 
Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc. Sarasota, FL $1,540,000 1   (92 pts) 
Prime Construction Group Orlando, FL $1,228,348 2   (83 pts) 

Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc. was the highest ranking firm with a score of 92 points out of 100. 
The Utilities Department is requesting approval of Contract# C006979 with Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, 
Inc. for the permanent abandonment of out-of-service HTHW piping.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Funding will be from CFTOD fiscal year 2026 Utility Division Planned Work Expense budget  



   
 

   
 

 
PROCUREMENT REVIEW:  
This purchase has been reviewed and approved for compliance with the District's procurement policies. 
Any future individual contracts and purchase orders will be reviewed and approved for compliance with 
the District’s procurement policies prior to issuance. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW: 
The contracts will be reviewed and approved for form and legality by the District Attorney. 
 
ALTERNATIVE:  

• Deny 
• Amend 
• Table 

 
SUPPORT MATERIALS:  

• Gulfcoast Utility Contractors, Inc. - Contract #C006979 



High Temp Hot Water Pipe Grouting/ 
Abandonment North Service Area Project -

Phase II
CONTRACT NO.: C006979

PROJECT MANUAL
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT

Effective Date: February 27, 2026

Owner: Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
1900 Hotel Plaza Boulevard
Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830 

Owner’s Representative: Reedy Creek Energy Services
5300 Center Drive
Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830 

Engineer/Architect of Record: Wade Trim, Inc.
255 E Robinson Street, Suite 210
Orlando, Florida 32801

In association with: Reedy Creek Energy Services
Mechanical Engineering Department

Contractor: Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
7020 Professional Parkway East, Suite 102
Sarasota, Florida 34240



PROJECT MANUAL 

Definition: The compilation of Documents listed herein is hereinafter referred to as the Project Manual. 

The following listed documents comprise the Project Manual entitled: 

HIGH TEMP HOT WATER PIPE GROUTING/ABANDONMENT NORTH SERVICE AREA PROJECT - PHASE II 
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT 

Contract Number: C006979 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

Exhibit A - Scope of Work and List of Contract Documents 
Exhibit B - Project Milestone Schedule 
Exhibit C - Recap of Contract Sum 
Exhibit D - Pending Alternates 
Exhibit E - Unit Price Schedule 
Exhibit F - Special Contract Conditions 
Exhibit G - General Conditions of the Contract for Construction 
Exhibit H - Forms 
Exhibit I - Contractor Proposal 
Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program, including Appendix 1-4 
Exhibit K - CFTOD Project Specific Safety Plan (PSSP) Requirements  

If there is a conflict between the terms of this Agreement, Drawings and the Exhibits, then the terms 
of this Agreement shall control, amend, and supersede any conflicting terms contained in the Drawings, 
and Exhibits.  

If there is a conflict between the Drawings and the Exhibits, the precedence is: (1) Drawings, then 
(2) Exhibits.

If there is a conflict between the terms of the Exhibits regarding the scope, the order of 
precedence is: (1) Exhibit A, (2) Exhibit F, (3) Exhibit G

PROJECT FILES: Drawings, and Requirements are available electronically for viewing and download 
under the Request for Proposals (“RFP”) C006979: High Temp Hot Water Pipe Grouting/Abandonment 
North Service Area Project - Phase II at https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-
detail/135139#bidDocs under Documents. All project files contained therein, and any applicable 
Addenda subsequently issued thereto, are specifically incorporated into the Project Manual by this 
reference. 

Project files available electronically at the link above: 
Drawings: HTHW Abandonment Phase II

Project files included in Agreement and available electronically at the link above:
Reedy Creek Energy Service (“RCES”) Lockout/Tagout (“LOTO”) Program, including Appendix
1-4
Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (“CFTOD”) Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”)
Requirements

END OF TABLE OF CONTENTS - PROJECT MANUAL 



CONTRACT NO: C006979

Page 1

HIGH TEMP HOT WATER PIPE GROUTING/ABANDONMENT 
NORTH SERVICE AREA PROJECT - PHASE II

CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made by and between Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (herein referred 
to as the “Owner,” “District” or “CFTOD”), whose mailing address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box # 
690519, Orlando, Florida 32869, and Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc. (herein referred to as the 
“Contractor”), whose mailing address is 7020 Professional Parkway East, Suite 102, Sarasota, Florida 34240.

W I T N E S S E T H

WHEREAS, Central Florida Tourism Oversight District issued Request for Proposals (“RFP”) No. C006979
on November 20, 2025, for the permanent abandonment and removal of the remaining sections of the
High Temperature Hot Water (HTHW) hotel loop serving the Magic Kingdom Resort Area, including all 
associated demolition, restoration, permitting, and coordination;

WHEREAS, two (2) proposers responded, and Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc. was the highest 
ranked proposer.  The Contractor was subsequently selected as the intended awardee for these services; 
and

In consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Article 1
DEFINITIONS: THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

1.1. The capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth in the General Conditions of 
the Contract for Construction (herein referred to as the “General Conditions”) unless a specific 
definition therefor is provided herein.  Unless otherwise specified, references herein to numbered 
articles and paragraphs are to those in this Agreement. This Agreement shall be referred to 
throughout the Contract Documents as the “Agreement.”

1.2. The Contract Documents consist of this Agreement, the Conditions of the Contract (General and 
Special), the Drawings, the Specifications, all Addenda (except portions thereof relating purely to 
any of the bidding forms or bidding procedures), all Modifications and all other documents identified 
in the “List of Contract Documents” included in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto. Such documents 
form the Contract and all are as fully a part thereof as if attached to this agreement or repeated 
herein.

Article 2
STATEMENT OF THE WORK

2.1. The totality of the obligations imposed upon the Contractor by this Article and by all other provisions 
of the Contract Documents, as well as the structures to be built and the labor to be performed, is 
herein referred to as the “Work.”

2.2. Exhibit A, “Scope of Work and List of Contract Documents,” contains a brief description of the 
Project.

2.3. The Contractor shall provide and pay for all materials, tools, equipment, labor and professional and 
nonprofessional services, and shall perform all other acts and supply all other things necessary to 
fully and properly perform and complete the Work.  The Contractor shall further provide and pay 
for all related facilities described in any of the Contract Documents, including all work expressly 
specified therein and such additional work as may be reasonably inferred therefrom, saving and 
excepting only such items of work as are specifically stated in the Contract Documents not to be 
the obligation of the Contractor. 



CONTRACT NO: C006979

Page 2

Article 3
OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE

3.1.  Reedy Creek Energy Services, whose designated representative is Kylie Canarina, and whose 
mailing address is Post Office Box 690519, Orlando, Florida 32869, shall act as the Owner's 
authorized representative (herein referred to as the "Owner’s Representative"); provided, however, 
that the Owner may, without liability to the Contractor, unilaterally amend this Article from time to 
time by designating a different person or organization to act as its representative and so advising 
the Contractor in writing, at which time the person or organization so designated shall be the 
Owner’s Representative for purposes of this Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in this 
Agreement, and until the Contractor is notified in writing to the contrary, all actions to be taken 
by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and instructions to be given by, all notices and other 
matters to be delivered to, all determinations and decisions to be made by and, in general, all other 
action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall be taken, given and made by, or delivered or 
given to, the Owner’s Representative in the name of and on behalf of the Owner; provided, 
however, that the Owner (and not the Owner’s Representative) shall be solely obligated to the 
Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the Contractor hereunder.

3.2. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the 
Contractor and the Owner’s Representative; provided, however, that the Owner’s Representative 
shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations of the Contractor to the Owner 
as imposed by this Agreement.

Article 4
THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER

4.1. The Architect/Engineer for the Project (herein referred to as the “A/E”) is Wade Trim, Inc., whose 
mailing address is 255 E Robinson Street, Suite 210, Orlando, Florida 32801.

Article 5
TIME OF COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION

5.1. The Contractor shall commence the Work promptly upon receipt of written Notice-to-Proceed 
(“NTP”) from the Owner and shall complete all Work within 60 Days after issuance of said 
NTP (such period of time is herein referred to as the “Contract Time”) and in accordance with such 
interim milestone dates (herein referred to as the “Milestones”) as may be specified in the Contract 
Documents.  The Contract Time and any such Milestones are of the essence of the Contract.

5.2. If any Work is performed by the Contractor prior to the execution of this Agreement based on 
receipt of written notice to proceed, all such Work performed shall be in accordance with and 
governed by the Contract Documents.

5.3. The Contractor acknowledges that the Owner has made no warranties to the Contractor, expressed 
or implied, that the Contractor will be able to follow a normal, orderly sequence in the performance 
of the Work or that there will be no delays in, or interference with, the Work.

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
Substantial Completion of the Work shall be achieved no later than 54 DAYS from the Notice-
to-Proceed. 

The Notice-to-Proceed is defined as the date the Owner provides the Notice to Contractor to begin 
the project. 

FINAL COMPLETION 
Final Completion of the Work shall be achieved no later than 60 DAYS from the Notice-to-
Proceed.



CONTRACT NO: C006979

Page 3 

Article 6
CONTRACT SUM

6.1. Provided that the Contractor shall strictly and completely perform all of its obligations under the 
Contract Documents, and subject only to additions and deductions by Change Order or as otherwise 
provided in the General Conditions, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor, in current funds and at 
the times and in the installments hereinafter specified, the lump sum amount of ONE MILLION, 
FIVE HUNDRED FORTY THOUSAND AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS
($1,540,000.00) (herein referred to as the “Contract Sum”) to cover the Contractor's profit and 
general overhead and all costs and expenses of any nature whatsoever (including, without 
limitation, taxes, labor and materials), foreseen or unforeseen, and any increases in said costs and 
expenses, incurred by the Contractor in connection with the performance of the Work, all of which 
costs and expenses shall be borne solely by the Contractor.

Article 7
APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT

7.1. The Contractor shall, on the twenty-fifth (25th) day of each calendar month (herein referred to as 
the “Payment Application Date”), deliver to the Owner an Application for Payment in accordance 
with the provisions of Article 9 of the General Conditions.  Before submitting the first Application 
for Payment, Contractor shall submit (and resubmit until approval is obtained) to the Owner's 
Representative for approval the “Schedule of Values,” generally following the Uniform Construction 
Index (CSI) cost analysis format but further broken down by facility, labor and material, all as 
required by the Owner's Representative.  Each item in the "Schedule of Values" shall only include 
its proper share of overhead and profit.  The Schedule of Values, when approved by the Owner's 
Representative, shall be used as a basis for the Contractor's Application for Payment

7.2. All invoices should reference the contract number and shall be addressed appropriately as outlined 
below based on the Owner’s Representative/department the invoice pertains to:

District utility projects managed by Reedy 
Creek Energy Services (“RCES”)

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
C/O: Reedy Creek Energy Services - Utilities Division
Attention: Accounts Payable
P.O. Box 690519
Orlando, Florida 32869
All invoices shall be sent to 
wdw.rces.billing@disney.com

Article 8
PROGRESS PAYMENTS AND FINAL PAYMENT OF THE CONTRACT SUM

8.1. Based on the Contractor's Application for Payment, the Schedule of Values submitted by the 
Contractor and approved by the Owner, and the Owner’s approval of the Application for Payment 
pursuant to Article 9 of the General Conditions, the Owner shall make monthly payments to the 
Contractor on account of the Contract Sum.  Such monthly payments shall be made on or before 
the twenty-fifth (25th) day of each calendar month or the thirtieth (30th) day after receipt by the 
Owner of such documentation as the Owner may require pursuant to Article 9 of the General 
Conditions to substantiate the amount owed, whichever is later; provided, however, that the Owner 
shall have no obligation to make payment as aforesaid if it has withheld approval thereof as 
permitted under Subparagraph 9.3.1. of the General Conditions or if the Contractor has not 
submitted to the Owner all documentation required to substantiate the Application for Payment.  



CONTRACT NO: C006979

Page 4

Each such monthly payment shall be in an amount equal to ninety-five percent (95%) of the net 
amount allowed the Contractor for labor, materials and equipment incorporated or used in the 
Work (or suitably stored at the job site if the Owner has agreed in advance to pay for such stored 
materials and equipment) through the Payment Application Date, as indicated in the Owner's 
approval of the Application for Payment, after deducting any sums withheld by the Owner pursuant 
to the Contract Documents and the aggregate of all previous payments to the Contractor on 
account of the Contract Sum.  Upon Substantial Completion of the Work, as determined by the 
Owner, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor a sum sufficient to increase the aggregate payments 
theretofore made to the Contractor on account of the Contract Sum to ninety-five percent (95%) 
of the Contract Sum, less such retainage as the Owner shall determine is necessary for all 
incomplete Work, unsettled claims or other matters for which the Owner is permitted to withhold 
under the General Conditions.

8.2. Final payment, constituting the entire unpaid balance of the Contract Sum, shall be paid by the 
Owner to the Contractor within fourteen (14) days after completion of those items set forth in the 
Punch List, including, without limitation, approval by Owner of the final Application for Payment, 
and execution by the Contractor of the Close-out Change Order, in accordance with the General 
Conditions; provided, however, that final payment shall in no event be due unless and until the 
Contractor shall have complied with all provisions of the Contract Documents, including those 
contained in Subparagraph 9.4.2 of the General Conditions.

8.3. Return of Funds.  Contractor will return any overpayments due to unearned funds or funds 
disallowed pursuant to the terms of the Agreement that were disbursed to the Contractor. The 
Contractor must return any overpayment within forty (40) calendar days after either discovery by 
the Contractor, its independent auditor, or notification by the Owner of the overpayment.

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

Should the Contractor fail to achieve Substantial Completion by the date provided in the Contract, 
the Contractor shall pay and/or the District may retain from the compensation otherwise to be paid 
to the Contractor, as liquidated damages, the sum of $1,685.00 for each consecutive calendar day 
until Substantial Completion is achieved; said  sum is agreed upon as a reasonable and proper 
measure of damages which the District will sustain per diem by failure of the Contractor to complete 
work within the time as stipulated;  it being recognized by the District and the Contractor that the 
injury to the District which could result from a failure of the Contractor to complete on schedule is 
uncertain and cannot be computed exactly.  In no way shall costs for liquidated damages be 
construed as a penalty on the Contractor.  The liquidated damages referenced herein may also be 
assessed and collected against the Surety.  Liquidated damages do not apply to final completion 
dates.

Article 9
CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

9.1. The Contractor hereby represents and warrants to the Owner that:

A. it is duly licensed to observe and perform the terms, covenants, conditions and other provisions 
on its part to be observed or performed hereunder; 

B. it is experienced and skilled in the construction and work of the type described in, or required 
by, the Contract Documents;

C. all equipment and materials used in connection with the Work shall be new (except if otherwise 
required by the Specifications) and the equipment, the materials and the Work shall be of the 
best quality, free from faults and defects and shall strictly conform to the Contract Documents; 
and

D. it has, by careful examination satisfied itself as to:  (1) the nature, location and character of 
the job site including, without limitation, the surface and subsurface conditions of the land and 
all structures and obstructions thereon, both natural and manmade, surface water conditions 



CONTRACT NO: C006979

Page 5

of the Job Site and the surrounding area and, to the extent pertinent to the Work, all other 
conditions; (2) the nature, location and character of the general area in which the Job Site is 
located including, without limitation, its climatic conditions, the availability and cost of labor 
and the availability and cost of materials, tools and equipment; (3) the quality and quantity of 
all materials, supplies, tools, equipment, labor and professional services necessary to complete 
the Work in the manner required by the Contract Documents; and (4) all other matters or 
things which could in any manner affect the performance of the Work.  Without limitation on 
the foregoing, the Contractor recognizes the physical and operational restrictions on carrying 
on of the Work in or about the Project or the Job Site.

9.2. The Contractor accepts the relationship of trust and confidence established by this Agreement 
between it and the Owner.  It covenants with the Owner that it shall:  furnish its best skill and 
judgment and cooperate with the Owner in furthering the interests of the Owner; furnish efficient 
business administration and superintendence and an adequate supply of workmen, equipment, 
tools and materials at all times; and perform the work in the best and soundest way and in the 
most expeditious and economical manner consistent with the best interests of the Owner.

9.3. The Contractor warrants all labor, materials, and equipment furnished under the agreement are of 
the type and quality required for the Project, and installed in a good and workmanlike manner in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall guarantee the Work shall be free from 
any defects in workmanship for a period of not less than ONE (1) year from the date of final 
completion. Contractor shall guarantee the materials provided shall be free from any defects for 
the longer of: (A) ONE (1) year from the date of final completion; or (B) the period of warranty 
provided by any supplier or manufacturer. The Owner may withhold final payment until the 
Contractor provides complete written manufacturers' warranties to the Owner’s Representative at 
the end of the project.

Article 10
TERMINATION

10.1. Termination of the Contract by the Owner, with or without cause, and by the Contractor are 
provided for in Article 15 of the General Conditions.  If the Owner terminates the Contract pursuant 
to Paragraph 15.2. of the General Conditions, and the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds 
the costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Owner in finishing the Work, including 
compensation for any additional architectural, engineering, management and administrative 
services, such excess shall, upon the completion of the Work, be paid to the Contractor.  If such 
costs exceed such unpaid balance, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner upon 
demand.

Article 11
NON-FUNDING

11.1. In the event that budgeted funds for this Agreement are reduced, terminated, or otherwise become 
unavailable, Owner may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Contractor without 
penalty to Owner.  Owner shall be the final authority as to the availability of the funding.

Article 12
FORCE MAJEURE

12.1. Neither party shall be responsible for damages or delays caused by Force Majeure or other events 
beyond the reasonable control of the party and which could not reasonably have been anticipated 
or prevented.



CONTRACT NO: C006979

Page 6

12.2. Force Majeure includes, but is not limited to, war, terrorism, riots, epidemics, fire, acts of nature, 
strikes, lockouts, pandemics, court orders, and acts, orders, laws, or regulations of the government 
of the United States or the several states, prohibiting or impeding any part from performing its 
respective obligations.

12.3. If Force Majeure occurs, the parties shall mutually agree on the terms and conditions upon which 
services may continue. Should Contractor be delayed in the commencement, performance, or 
completion of the Work due to any of the conditions under this section, Contractor shall be entitled 
to an extension of time only, provided however, that in no event shall Contractor  be entitled to 
any increased costs, additional compensation, or damages of any type resulting from such Force 
Majeure delays.

Article 13
PUBLIC RECORDS

13.1. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Florida Public Records Act, Chapter 
119, Florida Statutes. Specifically, the Contractor shall:

A. Keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to perform the service.

B. Upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, provide the public agency 
with a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a 
reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in this chapter or as otherwise 
provided by law.

C. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
contract term and following completion of the contract if the Contractor does not transfer the 
records to the public agency.

D. Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the public agency all public records in 
possession of the Contractor or keep and maintain public records required by the public agency 
to perform the service. If the Contractor transfers all public records to the public agency upon 
completion of the contract, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are 
exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If the 
Contractor keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the contract, the Contractor 
shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored 
electronically must be provided to the public agency, upon request from the public agency’s 
custodian of public records, in a format that is compatible with the information technology 
systems of the public agency.

IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE OWNER’S CUSTODIAN OF 
PUBLIC RECORDS AT TELEPHONE NUMBER 407-939-3240, EMAIL 
ADDRESS PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG, MAILING 
ADDRESS CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT, 
ATTN: PUBLIC RECORDS ADMINISTRATOR, P.O. BOX 690519, 
ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32869.



CONTRACT NO: C006979

Page 7

Article 14
E-VERIFY COMPLIANCE

14.1. The Contractor and its subcontractors warrant compliance with all federal immigration laws and 
regulations that relate to their employees.  The Contractor agrees and acknowledges that the 
Owner is a public employer that is subject to the E-Verify requirements as set forth in Section 
448.095, Florida Statutes, and that the provisions of F.S. Sec. 448.095 apply to this Agreement.  
Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 10 hereof and Article 15 of the General Conditions of the 
Contract for Construction, which forms a part of this Agreement, if the Owner has a good faith 
belief that the Contractor has knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien who is not duly 
authorized to work by the immigration laws of the Attorney General of the United States for 
employment under this Agreement, the Owner shall terminate the Agreement.  If the Owner has 
a good faith belief that a subcontractor performing work under this Agreement knowingly hired, 
recruited or referred an alien who is not duly authorized to work by the immigration laws or the 
Attorney General of the United States for employment under this Agreement, the Owner shall 
promptly notify the Contractor and order the Contractor to immediately terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor.  The Contractor shall be liable for any additional costs incurred by the Owner 
as a result of termination of a contract based on Contractor’s failure to comply with E-Verify 
requirements referenced herein.

Article 15
SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES

15.1. By executing this Agreement, the Contractor certifies that it is eligible to bid on, submit a proposal 
for, enter into or renew a contract with the Owner for goods or services pursuant to Section 
287.135, Florida Statutes. Owner may terminate Agreement immediately upon discovering that 
Contractor: (A) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies or Other Entities that Boycott Israel 
List; (B) is engaged in a boycott of Israel; (C) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with 
Activities in Sudan List; (D) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Iran 
Terrorism Sectors List; or (E) has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or Syria. This 
Agreement may also be terminated immediately if the Contractor falsely certified or has become 
ineligible to bid and contract with local government entities under F.S. 287.135. If this Agreement 
is terminated by the Owner as provided above, the Owner reserves the right to pursue any and all 
legal remedies against the Contractor, including, but not limited to the remedies described in 
Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid 
only for the work completed as of the date of the Owner’s termination. Unless explicitly stated in 
this Section, no other damages, fees or costs may be assessed against the Owner for its termination 
of the Agreement pursuant to this Section.

Article 16
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

16.1. The Contract Documents shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State 
of Florida, to the exclusion of its rules concerning conflicts of laws, and shall constitute the entire and 
sole understanding of the parties hereto notwithstanding any prior oral or written statements, 
instructions, agreements, representations, or other communications.

16.2. Any legal proceeding of any nature brought by either party against the other to enforce any right or 
obligation under this Contract, or arising out of any matter pertaining to this Contract or the Work to 
be performed hereunder (a “Proceeding”), shall be submitted for trial, without jury, solely and 
exclusively before the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida; 
provided, however, that if such Circuit Court does not have jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall 
be submitted solely and exclusively before the United States District Court for the Middle District of 
Florida (Orlando Division); and provided further that if neither of such courts has jurisdiction, then 
such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and exclusively before any other court sitting in Orange 
County, Florida having jurisdiction.  The parties (A) expressly waive the right to a jury trial, (B) 



CONTRACT NO: C006979

Page 8

consent and submit to the sole and exclusive jurisdiction of the requisite court as provided herein 
and (C) agree to accept service of process outside the State of Florida in any matter related to a 
Proceeding in accordance with the applicable rules of civil procedure.

16.3. In the event that any provision of any of the Contract Documents is judicially construed to be 
invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall then be construed in a manner 
allowing its validity or, if this leads to an impracticable result, shall be stricken but, in either event, 
all other provisions of the Contract Documents shall remain in full force and effect. 

Article 17
NOTICES

17.1. Notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, may be delivered 
personally or by mail, telex, facsimile, cable, or courier service, and shall be deemed given when 
received by the addressee.  Notices shall be addressed as follows:

If to Owner: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519
Orlando, FL 32869
Attention:  Contracting Officer

If to Contractor: GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC.
7020 Professional Parkway East, Suite 102
Sarasota. FL 34240
Attention: Jacob Alexander

or to such other address as either party may direct by notice given to the other as hereinabove 
provided.

17.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice sent to the last designated address of the party to whom 
a notice may be or is required to be delivered under this Agreement shall not be deemed ineffective 
if actual delivery cannot be made due to a change of address of the party to whom the notice is 
directed or the failure or refusal of such party to accept delivery of the notice.

Article 18
ASSIGNMENT

18.1. This Agreement is for the services of Contractor and may not be assigned by Contractor in any 
fashion, whether by operation of law, or by conveyance of any type including, without limitation, 
transfer of stock in Contractor, without the prior written consent of Owner, which consent Owner 
may withhold in its sole discretion.  Owner retains the right to assign all or any portion of this 
Agreement at any time. Upon such assignment, and provided the Assignee shall, in writing, assume 
Owner's obligations under this Agreement, Owner shall be automatically released and discharged 
from any and all of its obligations under this Agreement, and Contractor shall thenceforth look 
solely to the Assignee for performance of Owner's obligations under this Agreement.

Article 19
EFFECTIVE DATE

19.1. Any Services performed or caused to be performed by Contractor prior to the effective date of this 
Agreement shall be deemed to have been performed under this Agreement when agreed to by the 
Owner.

Article 20
HEADINGS

20.1. The headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall 
not be construed in any manner for the purpose of interpreting the provisions thereof.



CONTRACT NO: C006979 
 
 

Page 9 
  

Article 21 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

21.1. This Agreement supersedes any and all discussions, understandings or other agreements, either 
oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the Services and contains all the 
covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the Services.  Each party to this 
Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, orally 
or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which are 
not embodied herein, and that no other agreement, statement, course of dealing usage of trade, 
or promise not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding or used to interpret this 
Agreement. Any modification or amendment of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing 
and signed by both parties. Any failure by Owner to require strict compliance with any provision of 
this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of such provision, and Owner may subsequently 
require strict compliance at any time, notwithstanding any prior failure to do so. 

Article 22 
PUBLIC CONSTRUCTION BOND 

22.1. The Contractor must submit a recorded, Public Construction Bond in conformance with Florida 
Statute 255.05 for the Total Contract Sum Amount of ONE MILLION, FIVE HUNDRED FORTY 
THOUSAND AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($1,540,000.00) as security for the 
faithful performance of the work within the time set forth as required herein and for prompt 
payment to all persons defined in 713.01, Florida Statues, who furnish labor, services, or materials 
for the completion of the work provided herein. Bond must be recorded in the county where the 
project is located, which is Orange or Osceola County, Florida. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed effective as 
of the day and year first above written. 
 
OWNER: CONTRACTOR: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM   GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS,  
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT INC. 
 
 
  
Signature:     Signature:   
                As authorized by the Board of Supervisors 

Print Name:    S.C. Kopelousos                             Print Name:    
 
Title:    District Administrator                               Title:    
 
Date:    February 27, 2026    Date:   
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

A - 1 
  

I. Scope of Work:  Contractor will complete the permanent abandonment and removal of the remaining 
sections of the High Temperature Hot Water (HTHW) hotel loop, including all associated demolition, 
restoration, permitting, and coordination as described herein:   

SECTION 1. SCOPE OF WORK 

1.1 Summary of Work:  

 The purpose of the work is to permanently abandon the remaining sections of the High 
Temperature Hot Water (HTHW) hotel loop that services the Magic Kingdom (MK) Resort Area. 
The Contract Documents presented herein are representative of the final result. The Contractor 
is responsible to achieve this result with a team of professionals and qualified personnel. The 
project will require the abandonment, sealing and/or removal of all indicated piping and the 
restoration of any affected property in compliance with Reedy Creek Engineering Services 
(RCES)/Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (CFTOD)/Walt Disney World (WDW) 
requirements. It is the responsibility of the Contractor to verify the “As-Found” conditions and 
identify and provide any additional information required to complete the project. Additionally, it 
is the Contractor's responsibility to provide the means and methods of construction along with a 
comprehensive project schedule. 

 As part of the means and methods, the Contractor shall be responsible to implement any 
additional work necessary to safely and efficiently complete the project. The scope of work will 
include, but not be limited to coordination with RCES/CFTOD/WDW/Wade Trim (WT) as 
appropriate, permitting, concrete removal and/or replacement, pipe removal, pipe grouting, 
Temporary Traffic Control (TTC), welding, demolition, materials and environmental testing, 
restoration, scheduling, soil erosion and sediment control, identification of required work areas, 
health and safety planning (HASP) and painting/coating as required. 

1.2 Scope of Work:  

A. The Contractor shall supply all required services to abandon the portions of the HTHW system 
depicted in the Contract Documents. The term grout is used throughout the Contract 
Documents however, this term should be construed to mean flowable fill or any other 
cementitious mixture that will meet the design criteria and project requirements. 

B. Contractor shall: 

1. Provide excavation, shoring, de-watering (as required), silt/runoff containment for all 
earthwork required by this scope of work. Spoils shall be managed on site temporarily 
and removed from the project site as conditions demand. 

2. Provide an erosion control plan to the appropriate oversight agency for review and 
approval. This plan must include proposed washdown locations. Washdown operations 
cannot be permitted to delay the grout injection process in any way. 

3. Perform soft digs as required to verify field conditions prior to the execution of this scope 
of work. 

4. Provide grout for all locations shown on the Contract Documents. Each grouting segment 
must be completed in a single mobilization. 

5. Prior to the start of the project, the Contractor shall provide written notification to RCES 
indicating project areas where there is an asbestos concern. RCES will then obtain a 
NEESHAP (National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants) and provide 
asbestos abatement where required and to the extent necessary to accomplish the work. 
All locations shall be treated as asbestos containing materials (ACM). 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

A - 2 
  

6. Prior to the start of the project, the Contractor shall provide written notification to RCES 
indicating project areas of concern pertaining to lead paint. RCES will then obtain the 
necessary testing and lead abatement on all surfaces with paints or coating to the extent 
necessary to accomplish the work. All locations shall be treated as containing lead and 
other heavy metals. 

7. Provide vents, drains, linebreaks and any other piping modifications as required to 
perform the HTHW line grouting as shown. The quantity and location of the vents, drains, 
and injection points shall be identified by the contractor so that the lines that are to be 
filled with grout may be filled properly and completely. All underground exposed piping 
shall be coated with the system specified as PNT-50. 

8. Touch-up paint on all surfaces damaged by the work of this project (PNT-99). 

9. Protect all surfaces from damage during all activities, including but not limited to, 
grouting and demolition. This includes the spray fireproofing. 

10. Provide temporary exhaust fans and blowers to remove the fumes caused by welding to 
an area outside the HTHW building, Contemporary Hotel Chiller Plant (CHOT), trenches 
or any other area with limited ventilation. 

11. Schedule work so as to minimize the total duration of time required by the project within 
the constraints specified above. 

C. The plans show different piping combinations that may be utilized to facilitate the proper 
filling of the HTHW lines with grout. Since the use of these, or other piping modifications, is 
dependent upon the design of the grout mix and the limitations of the pumping equipment, 
the Contractor shall coordinate all piping modification requirements with the grout supplier 
and the installer. The Contractor’s work is inclusive of all requirements needed to meet the 
specifications, the design intent, and proper grouting of all the lines to the extents shown on 
the Contract Documents. 

D. All painting shall be executed in accordance with the painting specifications on Drawing            
V-103. 

E. Contractor shall provide an approved means to control the flow of grout during the injection 
process. 

F. Contractor shall perform washout within the approved workspaces shown on the conformed 
Contract Documents. All spoils shall be removed from the site as part of the grouting 
operation (same day). 

G. Provide all demolition as required as well as completely remove all elements of any system 
or portion thereof that becomes obsolete because of this project as depicted on the Contract 
Documents. Barriers are to be removed during times when demolition is not performed. The 
use of a jackhammer for any location where concrete is in contact with soil is strictly 
prohibited. Contractor shall use expansive grout, cutting, line drilling or other approved 
means for each of these locations. 

H. The work area will be in a high traffic on-stage area. Areas and features not directly impacted 
by the scope of this project shall be protected. 

I. Contractor shall provide all silt fencing, temporary barriers and concrete jersey barriers that 
are required to properly secure the work area(s). Contractor shall provide any additional 
requirements within their sole discretion to facilitate a safe work environment for the 
protection of their workers, WDW Cast Members and the general public. 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

A - 3 
  

J. Contractor shall provide and execute a TTC plan that is signed and sealed by a professional 
engineer licensed in the State of Florida. 

K. Contractor shall provide and handle all plate covers needed to accommodate traffic flow(s) 
until the work in the area affected has been completed. 

L. Contractor shall secure all right of way permits from the jurisdictional authority. 

M. Temporary bell holes and trenches shall be barricaded at all times except for time and in 
areas where active work is being performed. Unprotected and open holes and trenches shall 
not be left unattended at any time. 

N. Comply with confined space entry and lock out/tag out safety requirements of the 
jurisdictional authority. 

O. Comply with welding/fire watch requirements including making all notifications to the 
jurisdictional authority. 

P. Comply with breathing air requirements of OSHA for welding and dust controls. 

Q. Comply with open space requirements for the barricading of trenches and pits. 

R. Coordinate with RCES/CFTOD/WDW for scheduled access to existing systems. 

S. All work is anticipated to occur outside of normal working hours unless otherwise directed or 
if required to complete work sequences within the time frames and conditions established in 
the Contract Documents. All work at the Water Bridge and all grouting operations will be 
conducted during 3rd shift. 

T. Contractor's work schedule, areas and extents may be constrained due to the operational 
schedule of the MK Park. 

U. Contractor shall protect all landscaping elements in areas not directly affected by the 
performance of this scope. Extra care shall be given to the location near Lift Station 7. 

V. Contractor shall patch and repair roof at CHOT where existing vent lines are scheduled to be 
removed. All repairs shall be in accordance with the existing Suprema warranty. 

W. Restore all site disturbances to existing or better conditions 

1. Restore all hardscape disturbed by the execution of this work. This includes, but is not 
limited to, paving, sidewalks, etc. Restoration is to match the existing. 

2. Provide a thorough cleaning of all work areas impacted by the performance of this work. 

3. All spoils shall be removed from the site and properly disposed. Replace all vegetation 
including turf, matching the existing, impacted by the execution of this work. 

1.3 SEQUENCE OF WORK: 

A. Contractor will develop and coordinate with RCES Operations, CFTOD and WDW the 
construction sequence. This includes obtaining all right of way permits, dig permits, etc. and 
assisting with WBP notifications. Coordinate the timing of haul routes with WDW and CFTOD. 
Exact extents of work shall be part of this coordination process. The precise location of vents, 
grout stops, etc. will be determined as part of this effort. 

B. Perform field verification of all dimensional data provided and field coordinate the installation 
of all of the elements and systems that are associated with this project. This includes 
performing any necessary soft digs. 

C. Make piping modifications and install grout in accordance with the Contractor provided 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

A - 4 
  

schedule and sequence until all items in the scope of work have been completed. The order 
of the proposed sequence must accommodate the operational schedule of WDW, CFTOD and 
the availability of RCES Project Management support. 

D. Perform abandonment activities in accordance with contract documents and approved 
project schedule. Provide Phasing for abandonment activities at the below locations. 

1. Phase 1: Location 1 Exterior Areas from WP1 to WP8. 
a. Excavate and perform piping modifications required for the grouting activities. 
b. Grout the HTHWS lines to the extent shown. 
c. Restore all site conditions. 

2. Phase 2: Location 2 - Exterior areas from WP8 to WP10. This includes the potential use 
of WP-11 for an additional grouting injection point. 
a. Excavate and perform piping modifications required for the grouting activities. 
b. Grout the HTHWR lines to the extent shown. 
c. Grout the HTHWS lines to the extent shown. 
d. Restore all site conditions. 

3. Phase 3: Location 3 - Demolish partial lines in the Chiller (CHOT) Energy Plant to the 
extent shown. This includes grouting per plans. 
a. Prepare and perform piping modifications required for the grouting activities. 
b. Grout the HTHWR and HTHWS lines to the extent shown. 
c. Demolish the HTHWR and HTHWS lines to the 1st pipe support/hanger in the ceiling 

shown. 
d. Restore all site conditions. 

4. Phase 4: Location 4 - Demolish the lines in the HTHW Building. 
a. Demolish the HTHWR lines to the extent shown. 
b. Restore all site conditions. 

5. Phase 5: Location 5 - Demolish the lines at the Water Bridge Tunnel. 
a. Demolish the HTHWR lines to the extent shown. 
b. Restore all site conditions. 

1.4 SUBMITTALS  

A. Provide all submittals in electronic .PDF format. Each submittal will contain information for 
only one item. A cover sheet with a blank area of at least 3 x 3.5 inches shall be provided 
with each submission. 

B. File names shall be indicative of the project title and topic. Contractor shall maintain a 
submittal log which will be made available to CFTOD upon request. 

C. Provide submittals on all materials being provided for the project indicating compliance with 
the technical requirements of the specifications and the fitness for the proposed purpose. 

D. If an item is non-conforming to the specifications, submittal must be accompanied with a 
request for variance stating the reasons for the substitution and why the proposed item is 
equal to or better than the specified item. 

E. In addition to commercial submittal documents, provide current welder qualification 
certificates showing qualification to ASME/ANSI B31.1 and ASME Boiler and Pressure Vessel 
Code Section IX standards for each welding process used in the scope of this work. 

F. Submittals shall include but not be limited to: schedule, grout mix, mfg's data for plugs, 
mechanical caps, bulkhead and vent design, abandonment procedures, equipment, backfill 



EXHIBIT A
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

CONTRACT NO.: C006979

A - 5

material, welder qualifications, disposal site, TTC, soil erosion & sediment control plan, 
shoring design, Project Specific Safety Plan (PSSP).

1.5 OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITY
A. Coordinate tie-ins, outages, system shutdowns.
B. Coordinate schedule with all affected WDW entities.

1.6 EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL REQUIREMENTS EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL REQUIREMENTS:

A. All piping shall be thoroughly cleaned prior to installation.

B. Excavations and Backfilling: Keep excavations to a minimum. Remove only the earthen 
material required for the safe execution of work.
1. Pipe bedding shall be a minimum of 6" thick compacted clean, fine grain sand. Sand shall 

be 0-3 in the Krumbein Phi Scale. All backfill material shall be free of rubble, clay, 
organics and any other deleterious material.

2. Pipe backfill material for pipe zones shall be clean, fine grain sand. Sand shall be 0-3 in 
the Krumbein Phi Scale. All backfill material shall be free of rubble, clay, organics and 
any other deleterious material.

3. All compaction activities shall be performed by hand in 4" lifts until the piping is covered 
by 12" of compacted sand.

4. Sand under the pipe shall be compacted using manual tamp bars as shown in the 
Contract Documents.

5. Backfill above the pipe zone or 12" above the pipe jacket shall be excavated material 
obtained from the Contractor's excavations. Such material shall be free of roots, trash, 
debris, deleterious materials, broken concrete or paving materials, organic materials, 
boulders, rocks or stones larger than three (3) inches, expansive soils, etc.

6. Where excavated material is indicated as backfill on the drawings or specified herein and 
there is a deficiency due to the rejection of part of the material, the required quantity of 
sand, gravel or other approved backfill material shall be obtained from a source secured 
by the Contractor.

7. Extreme care shall be used to not undermine the piping that will remain.
8. Extreme care shall be exercised so that back fill operations will not cause the existing to 

shift.
9. Compaction shall be a percentage of the materials modified proctor in full compliance 

with ASTM D-1557 maximum dry density, UON. Each percentage shall be in accordance 
with the 'Relative Density' table below.

C. Marking tape:
1. Detectable underground utility marking tape, inert plastic formulated for extended use 



EXHIBIT A
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

CONTRACT NO.: C006979

A - 6

underground.
2. Marking tape shall have a thickness of not less than 4 mils and a width of six inches (6”).
3. The tape shall be green color imprinted with black lettering "CAUTION <ABANDONED 

HTHW><HOT WATER>LINE BURIED BELOW"

1.7 DEMOLITION NOTES

A. The Contractor shall implement and manage a construction waste segregation and recycling 
program with the goal of recycling 90% of concrete and metal waste materials produced 
during construction. The Contractor shall utilize a third-party recycler to provide and service 
concrete and metal recycling boxes in addition to the normal CFTOD-provided and serviced 
construction waste boxes. It will be the responsibility of the Contractor to monitor the 
recycling and waste boxes to verify that recyclables and wastes are placed in the appropriate 
boxes. The Contractor shall maintain records of the tonnages of recycled materials and 
wastes removed from the project site and report the tonnages to CFTOD'S representative as 
an exhibit to the monthly pay application. The Contractor shall maintain weight 
tickets/reports on site for auditing purposes throughout the duration of the project.

B. Disposal of materials shall be in an approved manner, complying with all federal, State of 
Florida, and local requirements for construction and demolition debris and hazardous waste 
manifesting and disposal.

C. Prior to removal of existing piping, controls, and mechanical/electrical equipment, the 
Contractor shall confirm that each is isolated, properly locked out/tagged out (LOTO). 
Contractor and Owner shall coordinate their respective LOTO programs.

D. The job site shall be kept clean of all unnecessary equipment and material on a continuous 
basis and shall be cleaned at the end of each day. Particular care shall be used to secure all 
materials that can be wind-blown or water borne.

E. The Contractor will be sharing the job site with an operational facility and RCES/CFTOD/WDW 
personnel will be working in the construction area. Contractor shall secure their job site to 
minimize hazardous exposure to RCES/CFTOD/WDW personnel, while still allowing access to 
accomplish their duties. Contractor shall at all times defer to RCES/CFTOD/WDW operating 
personnel in matters relating to the safe and proper operation of the existing facility. 
Contractor shall not delegate or abrogate their responsibilities for providing a safe 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

A - 7 
  

construction job site. 

F. The use of a jackhammer for any location where concrete is in contact with soil is strictly 
prohibited. Contractor shall use expansive grout, saw cutting, line drilling or other approved 
means for each of these locations. 

G. Demo and remove all equipment, piping, etc. as indicated by the limits of removal from the 
project site in accordance with the specifications and contract requirements. 

1.8 FLOWABLE FILL REQUIREMENTS  

A. MIX BASIS OF DESIGN: To be Specified by Contractor with the following minimum 
requirements: Strength: 50 psi (min.) 

B. Pumping Distance: Will be determined based on construction scheduling, grout mix chosen 
and final injection and collection point locations. 

SECTION 2. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.1 Contractor shall maintain safe working environments in conformance with all applicable OSHA 
standards and RCES/CFTOD/WDW safety standards. 

2.2 Contractor shall operate a lockout/tagout (LOTO) program and coordinate with the 
RCES/CFTOD/WDW LOTO program. All LOTO activities including but are not limited to valve 
operation, breaker operation, and/or gas purging will be performed by RCES personnel as 
applicable. 

2.3 Contractor is responsible for the safe operation of all equipment in order to access the work 
location. The equipment includes but is not limited to scaffolding, manlifts, etc. 

2.4 Situate internal combustion engines far enough away from confined spaces to prevent exhaust 
fumes from being ingested or from altering the atmosphere in confined spaces nearby. While 
welding, use prevailing winds or fans to direct welding fumes away from confined space locations. 

2.5 Contractor shall provide all labor, materials, and equipment for the performance of this project 
except specifically listed Owner's Furnished Materials & Services. 

2.6 Contractor shall protect all surfaces of nearby structures from damage due to traffic, welding, 
excavation/backfill or any other project related activity. 

2.7 Contractor is responsible for repairing any damage to existing facilities, above or below ground, 
that may occur as a result of the work performed by the Contractor. 

2.8 Leave all equipment, trenches, pits, holes and all workspaces in a safe condition at the end of 
each workday and at all times when the work site is not directly attended. Follow all 
manufacturer's recommendations and practices for equipment and personnel safety in 
accordance with all applicable OSHA standards. 

2.9 Contractor must comply with 2020 NEC, EPCOT Complete Code Collection 2024 Edition, RCES 
Electrical Construction Specifications (ECS) 2009, Rev. 3 and the latest version of all CFTOD 
requirements. 

2.10 Contractor shall provide all labor and materials to cut, patch, or repair all roads, sidewalks, 
driveways, parking lots, walkways, hardscapes, cart paths and fire lanes involved with project. 
Contractor shall match existing once completed in these areas. Materials used shall be approved 
by RCES. All cuts shall be made at expansion joint unless otherwise noted (UON.). 

2.11 Contractor is responsible for the removal and recycling of all concrete and recyclable metals and 
for providing RCES Project Management with recycling credit voucher/receipt (weight slip). 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

A - 8 
  

2.12 All removed materials and equipment which are deemed reusable, salvageable, or recyclable 
shall remain the property of RCES/CFTOD/WDW upon removal and shall be turned over to RCES 
Project Management and delivered to designated RCES location(s). Unusable materials and 
debris shall be removed and disposed of by the Contractor. Materials classified as hazardous shall 
be handled and disposed of in accordance with RCES approved and accepted procedures and all 
applicable laws. When hazardous materials are destroyed, provide a certificate of disposal and/or 
destruction for all materials destroyed. 

2.13 Contractor shall be responsible for all specific and incidental cutting, patching and matching 
required by the scope of this project. All edges, surfaces, textures, colors shall be matched to 
conditions existing prior to execution of this project. This includes existing facilities and utilities 
above and below grade. 

2.14 Contractor shall be responsible for soil transport throughout this project. 

2.15 Contractor shall verify that all soils, spoil, stockpiled materials and soil/mud attached to vehicles 
shall not be transported off the jobsite and onto trafficways or into storm drains, culverts, or 
surface waters. 

2.16 Contractor shall coordinate with RCES/CFTOD/WDW Environmental Affairs on erosion control, 
ground water discharge and horizontal directional-drilling by-product disposal. Contractor is 
responsible for providing all permits and notices required. 

2.17 Contractor shall provide labor and materials to immediately repair all damage caused to all 
equipment, systems, and surfaces not intended to be impacted by the design of the project. 

2.18 Install all equipment, materials, appurtenances, etc. in accordance with all codes, standards, 
Contract Documents, manufacturer requirements and best trade practices. 

2.19 Contractor shall maintain all public and private roadways, walkways, paths outside the immediate 
construction zone clear of staged materials, debris, dirt, and any other project-related material 
at all times. 

2.20 Contractor shall comply with RCES/CFTOD/WDW TTC standards. Unless prior arrangements have 
been established, traffic must be maintained at all times and coordinated with RCES Project 
Management. Provide flagmen to coordinate construction traffic entering and leaving the site. 

2.21 Provide submittals for review and approval for all Contractor-furnished items whether they are 
specifically listed as a requirement or not. 

2.22 Contractor should be aware of the potential presence of electrical infrastructure whether it has 
been identified in the Contract Documents or not. In all cases the Contractor shall observe all 
safe work practices when working near electrical infrastructure including, but not limited to, all 
applicable requirements in NFPA 70E, OSHA 1910, OSHA 1926, all RCES/CFTOD/WDW 
rules/requirements and any or all other applicable standard(s). Contractor shall perform an initial 
job walk with RCES/CFTOD/WDW Project Management prior to the commencement of work to 
review all applicable requirement as part of the project site specific safety plan creation. 
Contractor shall cease work and immediately notify RCES/CFTOD/WDW Project Management 
upon the discovery of any undocumented electrical infrastructure item. If it is deemed that the 
location of the mechanical work is located within an approach distance as defined by NFPA 70E, 
the Contractor shall employ a qualified electrician to erect the proper barriers so that the 
mechanical work may commence. All barriers shall be approved by RCES/CFTOD/WDW Project 
Management. These requirements apply to all situations, whether above or below ground. 

2.23 The Contractor shall maintain a set of plans showing the status of the project. Line segments 
shall be color coded and initialed by both the Contractor and an authorized RCES/CFTOD/WDW 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

A - 9 
  

representative. 
A. Red - Changes  
B. Green - Deletions  
C. Yellow - Highlight completed  
D. Blue - Notes relating to changes 

2.24 Maintain mark-ups at job site reflecting all as-built conditions. Supply mark-ups to 
RCES/CFTOD/WDW at substantial completion. 

2.25 All instructions, directives and all other requirements are to be understood to mean SHALL by 
the Contractor whether or not explicitly stated unless the wording clearly states that the 
Contractor has an option. 

2.26 All requests for clarifications, deviations or communication of conditions that are discovered in 
the field to be different from those shown on the Contract Documents shall be submitted in 
writing to the Engineer of Record (Wade Trim) in the form of an RFI according to the processes 
established by RCES/CFTOD/WDW Project Management 

SECTION 3. GENERAL NOTES 

In addition to complying with all other legal requirements, comply with the following: 

3.1 All coordinates listed herein are in WDW datum and WDW grid. 

3.2 Underground utilities have been located by referring to all known record drawings, by conferring 
with RCES/CFTOD/WDW personnel, topographic survey and by visual observations. Other 
underground utilities and structures not found or shown may be present. The locations of the 
utilities and structures shown are to be considered approximate only and the drawings shall not 
be scaled to determine locations. Contractor shall be responsible for avoiding all underground 
utilities indicated and discovered and shall use extreme caution when excavating. All ductbank & 
manhole systems shown are based on design data. Contractor is responsible for recording as-
built information based on actual conditions discovered, not design data. 

3.3 Contractor shall hand dig where utility conflicts occur in order to locate utilities prior to work 
commencement. 

3.4 Contractor shall provide and handle concrete jersey barriers to protect workspaces in or 
encroaching upon any and all trafficways and parking lots. 

3.5 Contractor shall provide double row silt fencing for all work not taking place in hardscaped areas. 
All swales, canals, and waterways shall be equipped with turbidity barriers in addition to double 
row silt fencing. 

3.6 Working clearances for electrical equipment shall be in compliance with National Electrical Code, 
RCES/CFTOD/WDW standards, and OSHA 1910 as applicable. 

3.7 Contractor shall provide trenching and shoring of excavations in accordance with OSHA Trench 
Safety Standards and the Florida Trench Safety Act as a minimum requirement. 

 
 
II. List of Contract Documents: 
 

A. PROJECT FILES: Drawings, and Requirements are available electronically for viewing                    and 
download under the Request for Proposals (“RFP”) C006979: High Temp Hot                        
Water Pipe Grouting/Abandonment North Service Area Project - Phase II at 
https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/135139#bidDocs. All project files 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

A - 10 
  

contained therein, and any applicable Addenda subsequently issued thereto, are specifically 
incorporated into the Project Manual by this reference. 

Project files available electronically at the link above: 
 Drawings: HTHW Abandonment Phase II 

Project files included in Agreement and available electronically at the link above: 
 Reedy Creek Energy Service (“RCES”) Lockout/Tagout (“LOTO”) Program, including Appendix 

1-4 
 Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (“CFTOD”) Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) 

Requirements 
 

B. This Exhibit A - Scope of Work and List of Contract Documents, 10 pages 

C. Exhibit B - Project Milestone Schedule, 1 page 

D. Exhibit C - Recap of Contract Sum, 1 page 

E. Exhibit D - Pending Alternates, 1 page 

F. Exhibit E - Unit Price Schedule, 1 page 

G. Exhibit F - Special Contract Conditions, 15 pages 

H. Exhibit G - General Conditions of the Contract for Construction, 27 pages 

I. Exhibit H - Forms, 19 pages 
 Payment Bond 
 Performance Bond 
 Dual Obligee Rider 
 Consent of Surety for Partial Payment Application (SAMPLE) 
 Contractor’s Interim Affidavit (SAMPLE) 
 Contractor’s Request for Information (SAMPLE) 
 Directive (SAMPLE) 
 Close-Out Change Order Forms (SAMPLE) 

J. Exhibit I - Contractor Proposal, 4 pages     

K. Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program, including Appendix 1-4, 10 pages  

L. Exhibit K - CFTOD Project Specific Safety Plan (PSSP) Requirements, 3 pages 
 

 

 
 

END OF EXHIBIT A 



EXHIBIT B 
PROJECT MILESTONE SCHEDULE 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

 B - 1 
 

  

The Contractor agrees to commence and complete the Work in strict accordance with the Project Milestone 
Schedule for performance of the work, as provided below:  
 

MILESTONE DESCRIPTION START DATE COMPLETION DATE 

Notice-to-Proceed Day 1 Day 1 

Substantial Completion Day 1 54 Days from             
Notice-to-Proceed 

Final Completion Day 54 60 Days from             
Notice-to-Proceed 

 
 

 
END OF EXHIBIT B 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



EXHIBIT C 
RECAP OF CONTRACT SUM 
CONTRACT NO.: C006979 

 

 C - 1 
  

 
The Contract Sum is based solely on the Contractor’s proposed Base Bid Lump Sum Amount of 
$1,540,000. 
 
 

Description Lump Sum Amount 
General Conditions $242,500 
CEP & Exterior Demolition $80,500 
Civil $600,800 
Dewatering $58,000 
MOT/TTC $72,000 
Mechanical $128,850 
Grouting $357,350 

LUMP SUM TOTAL $1,540,000 
 
 
 

Grouting Pricing for Additional Services 
Description UOM Unit Price 

Additional material CY $175 
Additional mobilization EA $35,000 

 
 
 
 

END OF EXHIBIT C 



EXHIBIT D 
PENDING ALTERNATES 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

 D - 1 
 

 
THERE ARE NO PENDING ALTERNATES 

 
 

END OF EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT E 
UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE  

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

E - 1 
 

 
THERE IS NO UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE 

 
 

END OF EXHIBIT E 
 

 
  



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS: 

I. General Safety Requirements, Contractor Parking and Access, Break Areas 
II. Construction Site Minimum Personal Protective Equipment (“PPE”) and Clothing Requirements 
III. Reserved 
IV. Asbestos/Cadmium or Lead/CFCs 
V. Confined Spaces 
VI. Hazardous and Chemical Waste Disposal 
VII. Electrical Safety Policy 
VIII. Lock out/Tag out (“LOTO”) 
IX. Fall Protection 
X. Aerial Work Platforms (“AWP”) 
XI. Ladders 
XII. Trenching and Excavation 
XIII. Utility Locates 
XIV. Mobile Cranes 
XV. Heavy Equipment Operations 
XVI. Diving Operations 
XVII. RCES Power Outage Scheduling Requirements for Contractors 
 
 
DEFINITIONS: 

The following is a list of defined terms and their corresponding meaning as they appear within this 
document: 

Contractor: The word, Contractor, as it appears within this document, means the Contractor or the 
Consultant as named and as defined within the Agreement.  The Contractor’s, rights, privileges, duties and 
obligations, as set forth herein also apply to each of its Sub-contractors and Sub-subcontractors and the 
suppliers of each and to the Consultant and each of its Sub-consultants and Sub-subconsultants and the 
suppliers of each. 

Owner: The word, Owner, as it appears within this document, means the Owner, acting on its own behalf, 
or the Owner’s Representative, acting on the Owner’s behalf, each as named and defined within the 
Agreement, together with their designated representative(s). 
 
  
I. GENERAL SAFETY REQUIREMENTS, CONTRACTOR PARKING AND ACCESS, BREAK AREAS  

The Owner is dedicated to establishing and maintaining a safe work environment on all of its sites. 
Accordingly, the Contractor is obligated to strictly abide by the safety regulations and requirements 
set forth within these Special Contract Conditions.  Flagrant disregard for safety regulations and 
requirements by the Contractor may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate 
suspension of all relevant work activities and permanent removal of the responsible party, individual 
(or both) from the Owner’s property. 

All workers must maintain appropriate and respectful behavior at all times. The following behaviors 
are not allowed and may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate removal from 
the property: 

a) Fighting 
b) Horseplay 
c) Possession of firearms 
d) Possession/use of alcohol/drugs 

 
 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 2 

Work performed must be planned and communicated prior to starting and must incorporate safety 
into the planning. This shall take the form of a Project Site-Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”), a hazard 
analysis, pre-task planning, etc.  The type of planning used should be based on the complexity of 
the project and the associated safety hazards. Do not begin work before safety measures are in 
place and training is complete. Any changes to the PSSP must be communicated to the Owner. 
All workers, including managers and supervisors, shall have the proper training and instruction on 
general safety requirements for the project as well as any task or equipment specific training 
required to complete the project. This also includes temporary workers. Awareness-type training is 
not sufficient where task or equipment specific training is required. 

No one shall knowingly be permitted to work while their ability or alertness is so impaired by 
fatigue, illness, or other cause that they may expose themselves or others to injury. 

All jobsite emergencies shall be reported immediately. For fire or medical emergencies, call 911 
and ask for CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT. Report all emergencies to an 
immediate supervisor, the project manager and the Owner. 

All work-related materials must be stored in an orderly fashion, keeping exits, access ways, 
walkways and sidewalks unobstructed. Work areas must be kept as clean and free of debris as 
practicable. Trashcans must be provided for refuse. 

Smoking, “vaping”, and smokeless tobacco use will be permitted in designated areas only. The 
Owner reserves the right to designate these areas on a project. 

Workers shall not engage in any activity, including cell phone usage, which diverts their attention 
while actually engaged in performing work. This includes operating vehicles and equipment. If cell 
phone usage is the primary means of communication, then it must be used in hands-free mode. 
The use of ear buds is prohibited. 

No one shall ride in a vehicle or mobile equipment unless they are on a seat, with the exceptions 
of aerial work platforms (AWPs”) and other equipment designed to be ridden while standing. Riding 
in the back of pick-ups shall not be allowed. 

Seatbelts must be used when provided in any type of vehicle, including but not limited to, personal 
vehicles, industrial trucks, haulage, earth moving, and material handling vehicles. Seatbelts must 
also be used in a personal transport vehicle (“PTV”) if so equipped. 

Posted speed limits and other traffic signs shall be observed at all times. Stop for personnel in 
and/or entering a crosswalk as they have the right of way. 

Do not pass or drive around busses when they are loading, unloading, or stopped in a driving lane. 

Park in authorized areas only. Do not block or obstruct intersections, fire lanes or fire hydrants, 
traffic lanes, pedestrian walkways, driveways or parking lot entrances. Vehicles parked in 
unauthorized places may be towed without notice at the vehicle owner’s expense. 

Fresh drinking water must be provided at construction job sites. If a cooler is used instead of 
bottled water, then it must be maintained in a sanitary condition, be capable of being tightly closed, 
equipped with a tap, and clearly marked as to its content. Disposable cups must be provided. 
Trashcans must be provided for the disposable cups and/or bottles. 

Portable restrooms and hand washing facilities must be provided, if needed, and must be 
maintained in a clean and sanitary condition. Portable restrooms must meet Florida Administrative 
Code 64E-6.0101. The Owner reserves the right to determine the location of these facilities. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 3 

II. CONSTRUCTION SITE MINIMUM PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT (“PPE”) AND CLOTHING 
REQUIREMENTS 

The Contractor shall require that all workers within the construction limits always wear/utilize 
personal protective equipment (“PPE”), including but not limited to the following: hard hats, safety 
glasses, high visibility vests or shirts, construction/work-grade footwear and long pants. Additional 
PPE shall be utilized when other specific hazards are present as defined by the Project Specific 
Safety Plan (“PSSP”). All PPE must meet current Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(“OSHA”) and American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) requirements. The Owner reserves 
the right of final decision, in its sole and absolute discretion, as to whether the PPE utilized meets 
project requirements. “Cowboy” and similar novelty hard hats are not permitted. Sleeveless shirts 
are not permitted. All high-visibility clothing is to be monitored closely to ensure that all items 
retain the protective qualities provided by the manufacturer. Vests and shirts that have become 
faded are to be replaced and shall not be worn while performing work on the Owner’s job site. 
Shirts designed to be worn by the general public, such as those endorsing sports teams or other 
products or services, even if they are yellow, green, or orange, are not considered high-visibility 
shirts and do not meet the requirements set forth herein.  In the event that any of the requirements 
set forth within this Section conflict with the requirements set forth elsewhere within this document 
or within any of the Contract Documents, the more stringent requirements shall apply. 

III. RESERVED 

IV. ASBESTOS/CADMIUM OR LEAD/CFCs 

 
 A. ASBESTOS 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that Asbestos-Containing Materials 
(“ACM”) and/or Presumed Asbestos-Containing Materials (“PACM”), including without 
limitation, thermal system insulation, and sprayed on or troweled on surfacing material 
that is presumed to contain asbestos, exists or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor 
may be performing Work or services in or near areas that contain ACM and/or PACM as 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for 
communicating existing conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and 
employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner and Contractor agree 
that the quantities of ACM and/or PACM referred to in the Contract Documents are 
approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant 
to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration Asbestos Standards, 29 CFR Parts 
1910, 1915, and 1926. 

 B. CADMIUM and/or LEAD 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that cadmium and/or lead exists, 
or may exist, at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services in 
or near areas that contain cadmium and/or lead as specified in the Contract Documents.  
Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing conditions to 
all subcontractors and employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the cadmium and/or lead referred to in the Contract Documents 
are described for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant to the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration Cadmium Standard 29 CFR 1926.63 and/or Lead 
Standard 29 CFR 1926.62. 

 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 4 

 C. CHLOROFLUOROCARBONS (CFCs) 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) 
exist, or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services 
in or near areas that contain CFCs as specified in the Contract Documents.  Should the 
Contractor’s work result in (i) any loss or release of CFCs from any source, including any 
equipment or containers, or (ii) any addition by Contractor of CFCs to any equipment or 
container, then Contractor shall provide all necessary documentation concerning such loss, 
release or addition, including the quantities of CFCs affected, to the Owner.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the quantities of CFCs referred to in the Contract Documents 
are approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification to the 
Contractor. 

 D. USE OF ASBESTOS/LEAD/CADMIUM CONTAINING MATERIALS 

Contractor shall not utilize or install any asbestos, lead, or cadmium-containing products 
on the Owner’s property or within the scope of Work or services contemplated by this 
Agreement.  It is the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain appropriate Material Safety 
Data Sheets for all materials to be used, and verify that the products do not contain 
asbestos, lead or cadmium.  This requirement extends to any materials that may be 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Specification of a particular material by the Owner 
in the Contract Documents does not relieve the Contractor from its responsibility to verify 
that the specified material does not contain asbestos, lead or cadmium.  If a specified 
material does contain asbestos, lead or cadmium, then Contractor shall notify Owner 
immediately, and submit a proposed alternate material to be used in lieu of the specified 
material.  Contractor shall submit Material Safety Data Sheets for all installed products, as 
part of the As-Built package.  If Contractor installs any product containing asbestos, lead 
or cadmium, without previously obtaining the written consent of the Owner, Contractor 
shall be responsible for all costs associated with removal of the asbestos, lead, or cadmium 
containing material. 

V. CONFINED SPACES 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that permit-required confined spaces exist 
or may exist at the Job Site and that the Contractor may be performing Work or Services in or near 
permit-required confined spaces as specified in the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall fully 
comply with the requirements of 29 CFR Part 1910.146 in connection with all Work in any permit-
required confined space (“PRCS”), as defined by OSHA.  The Contractor must have a written 
confined space program when performing Permit Required Confined Space (“PRCS”) entry. 
Accordingly, site specific conditions related to confined space entry must be addressed in the 
Contractor’s Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”). In support of the Contractor’s preparation the 
PSSP, the Contractor shall obtain from the Owner the following information:  (i) the elements that 
make the space in question a permit-required confined space, including the hazards identified and 
the Owner’s experience with the space, and (ii) any precautions or procedures that the Owner has 
implemented for the protection of employees in or near any PRCS where the Contractor’s personnel 
will be working.  

The Contractor shall provide its own confined space permits when working on the Owner’s job site. 
All workers entering a confined space must have training commensurate with the role or task they 
will be performing. This includes: entrant, attendant entry supervisor, air monitoring, rescue, site-
specific training for those workers exposed to hazards posed by PRCS, but who may not be 
performing work inside of confined space or supporting confined space entry. 

Confined spaces that have been evaluated and designated by the Owner as a PRCS will be treated 
as such, despite whether or not the Contractor agrees or disagrees with that designation. Trenches 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 5 

may also be treated as a PRCS under certain conditions. The Owner reserves the right to designate 
any trench as a PRCS in its sole and absolute discretion.   

Alternate entry procedures or reclassification may be used if all requirements of 29CFR1926.1200 
are met. When certain conditions described in the OSHA standard are met, the Contractor may use 
alternate entry procedures for worker entry into a PRCS, however, the Contractor must first consult 
with the Owner prior to using any alternate entry procedures. 

The Owner shall provide information to the Contractor respecting any known hazards associated 
with a given PRCS.  However, it is ultimately the Contractor’s responsibility to determine, with 
reasonable certainty, the existence of any and all hazards prior to any worker’s entry into the 
confined space.  The Owner is NOT responsible for providing additional services prior to or during 
entry into a given confined space, including but not limited to: atmospheric monitoring, emergency 
response services, including rescue, attendants or entry supervisors. 

The Owner reserves the right to order the immediate discontinuation of the performance of work 
and the immediate removal of the Contractor’s personnel from a confined space if an unsafe 
condition or behavior is observed. In such instances, the space will be immediately evacuated until 
concerns are resolved to the satisfaction of the Owner. 

When both the Owner’s personnel and the Contractor’s personnel will be working in or near any 
PRCS, prior to entering such PRCS, the Contractor shall coordinate entry operations with the Owner.  
The Contractor shall inform the Owner at the conclusion of the entry operations regarding the 
PRCS program followed and regarding any hazards encountered or created within any PRCS during 
entry operations.  The Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing 
conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and to the employees thereof.   

VI. HAZARDOUS AND CHEMICAL WASTE DISPOSAL. 

All hazardous, regulated, universal and chemical wastes generated by the Contractor during the 
performance of the Work shall be managed in accordance with applicable federal, state and local law 
and regulations, including but not limited to Title 40 CFR Subchapter I, Parts 260 through 265, 273, 
279, 302; Title 49 CFR Chapter I, Subchapter A and Rule 62-730 of the Florida Administrative Code 
as applicable to "Large Quantity Generators of Hazardous Wastes".  Packaging, labeling, storage and 
disposal of such wastes shall also comply with Owner’s policies, which are available from Owner.  
Such wastes must be properly placed in U.S. Department of Transportation approved packaging, with 
appropriate markings at the time of generation.  Packages containing such wastes must be labeled 
to identify the contents, date of accumulation and the Contractor’s name and telephone number.  
Such packages must be stored at a secure location and not exposed to weather.  Upon completion 
of the Project or before 60 days has elapsed from the date of the first accumulation of wastes in each 
specific container, whichever is earlier, Contractor shall contact Owner to arrange for disposal.  Owner 
will arrange for the disposal of such wastes by Owner’s approved hazardous waste disposal vendor.  
Upon Owner’s receipt of the invoice for disposal costs, a copy of the invoice will be forwarded to the 
Contractor and Contractor shall reimburse Owner therefor. The Contractor shall be responsible for all 
packaging, storage, and labeling costs. 

VII. ELECTRICAL SAFETY POLICY 

Implicit on all electrical work performed at any of the Owner’s properties is the Contractor’s (and 
its Subcontractor's and Sub-subcontractor's) strict compliance with the Owner’s Electrical Safety 
Policy (“Policy”). 

The Policy is that all electrical work sshall be performed de-energized as a standard work practice.  
This Policy applies to the Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, Subconsultants, Sub-
subconsultants and anyone who performs electrical work on or near electrical conductors or circuit 
parts which are or may be energized.  Contractor is expected to exercise good judgment and take 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 6 

personal responsibility for reducing the hazard risk to its lowest level and to ensure strict 
compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, regulations and rules. 

The Contractor agrees that its employees and agents and the employees of any Subcontractor, 
Sub-subcontractor, Subconsultant, Sub-subconsultant or anyone who performs electrical work as 
described herein shall adhere to all posted warnings, wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (“PPE”) and protective clothing and use appropriate tools until exposed energized 
electrical conductors or circuit parts are verified to be at a zero energy state.  For systems up to 
1000V, the zero-energy state shall be verified by the Contractor and those greater than 1000V shall 
be verified by the Owner. Any work performed within six feet (6’) of systems greater than 1000V 
at a zero energy state and where there are exposed cables, all personnel shall wear a minimum of 
8cal daily wear Flash Resistant Clothing (FRC). 

In the narrowly limited circumstances when exposed energized parts are not de-energized, 
excluding diagnostic testing that cannot be performed de-energized, a documented job briefing 
must first be completed by the Contractor and submitted to the Owner for approval.  The intent of 
the briefing is to provide notification for performing energized work to the Owner prior to 
performing the work.  The job briefing shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 Validation for energized work 
 Hazards associated with scheduled work such as working in roadways or work performed 

within boundary, etc. 
 Work procedures 
 Energy source controls such as physical barriers or meter verification 
 PPE to be utilized 
 Job work plan summary 
 A complete list of the names of all individuals involved in the work/briefing 

The Contractor understands and agrees that the Owner, throughout the term of the Contract, may 
review the Contractor's, Subcontractor's, and Sub-subcontractor's safe work plan to confirm for its 
operations and the safety and wellbeing of its employees, guests and invitees that adequate 
contingency plans have been considered in the event of an inadvertent interruption of electrical 
service. 

Contractor shall establish or shall cause its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to establish 
appropriate boundaries to restrict access around the Work based on the type of hazard present as 
called for in NFPA 70. The boundaries shall be either: 

A flash protection boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of four feet away (600V, 600A max) from 
the exposed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts where the potential exists for an arc 
flash to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different flash boundary is 
appropriate.  Persons must not cross the flash protection boundary unless they are wearing the 
appropriate PPE and are under direct supervision of a qualified person. 

A limited approach boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of three feet six inches (3’6”) away from the 
exposed fixed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts, 600V max, where the potential exists 
for an electric shock to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different limited 
approach boundary is appropriate. The purpose of the limited approach boundary is to advise 
unqualified persons that an electrical shock hazard exists and to reduce the risk of contact with an 
exposed energized conductor.  Only qualified persons and immediately supervised unqualified 
persons are allowed to cross the limited approach boundary. 

The Contractor understands and agrees that it is the responsibility of the Contractor to ensure 
compliance with all applicable safety laws, codes regulations and rules as well as adherence to the 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 7 

Policy for all electrical work. The Owner reserves the right to observe and/or audit the Contractor’s 
(or its Subcontractor's or Sub-subcontractor's) work without notice.  The Contractor expressly 
understands and unequivocally agrees that any failure to strictly comply with any applicable safety 
laws, codes, regulations, and the rules of this Policy constitutes a material breach of the Contract 
and may result in an immediate work stoppage or termination of the Contract at no additional cost 
to the Owner. 

VIII. LOCK OUT/TAG OUT (“LOTO”) 

The Contractor shall have and maintain a program consisting of energy control procedures, 
employee training and periodic inspections prior to performing Lock Out/Tag Out (“LOTO”). The 
program shall have steps for notification, shutting down, isolating, blocking and securing machines, 
applying LOTO devices, dissipating stored energy equipment or facilities to control hazardous 
energy. It shall also have steps for the removal and transfer of LOTO devices and tags. 

The Contractor must verify by testing that the machine or equipment has been isolated and secured 
from all energy sources before work begins. All affected personnel must be notified prior to starting.  

Proper PPE must be worn in accordance with NFPA70E as referenced in RCES Electrical Safety, 
latest revision. 

LOTO devices shall indicate the identity of the employee applying the device(s) as well as their 
department/company, contact number and date if the work will extend beyond one shift. A lock 
and tag must be used for all energy isolation. LOTO devices shall be standardized by color, shape 
or size and shall not be used for any other purpose. LOTO devices shall only be used for performing 
service or maintenance on equipment, not to be used for any other use. LOTO shall be performed 
only by the person(s) who are performing the service or maintenance. Each person performing 
LOTO must have individual locks and tags. 

Before LOTO devices are removed by the worker who applied the device(s), the work area shall be 
inspected to ensure that nonessential items have been removed, all workers have been safely 
positioned or removed, and affected workers have been notified of re-energization of the 
equipment. 

Hot tap operations for pressurized pipelines carrying natural gas, steam or water do not require 
LOTO if it is demonstrated that: 

a)  Continuity of service is essential, and 
b) Shutdown of the system is impractical, and 
c) Procedures are documented and followed, and 
d)  Special equipment is used to provide effective protection for workers 

Systems shall be de-energized and taken to a zero-energy state using applicable LOTO procedures 
and verified before work begins. Work on an energized system (e.g. diagnostic testing that cannot 
be performed de-energized) shall require validation accepted by the Owner and project manager. 

If an equipment/machine is not capable of accepting a lock, a tag may be used without a lock as 
long as additional means can be used to prevent accidental activation of the device (e.g., removal 
of a lever, handle, switch, or valve). 

Group LOTO is permitted when all of the following are met: 
a) A single authorized employee must assume the overall responsibility for the control of 

hazardous energy for all workers in the group.  
b) Authorized employees must have knowledge and training in the following: 

 Skills necessary for the safe application, use and removal of energy-isolating devices. 
 Hazardous energy source recognition. 
 Type and magnitude of the hazardous energy sources in the workplace. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 8 

 Energy-control procedures, including methods and means to isolate and control energy 
sources. 

The authorized employee must communicate and implement LOTO procedures, coordinate the 
operation to all affected workers, and verify that all LOTO procedural steps have been taken. 

Each worker must affix their own personal LOTO device and tag to the group LOTO device or group 
lockbox before work begins. 

The authorized employee must not remove the group LOTO device until each worker in the group 
has removed their personal LOTO device. The authorized employee will be the first lock on and the 
last lock off unless their responsibilities have been handed over to another authorized employee. 

The authorized employee must make sure that there is a continuity of LOTO protection during a 
shift change. It is the responsibility of the oncoming worker to verify the machine, equipment or 
facilities is still in a zero-energy state. If there will be a lapse in time between the outgoing worker 
removing their LOTO device and the oncoming worker placing their LOTO device, the oncoming 
authorized employee must repeat the LOTO process and place their personal LOTO device on the 
machine, equipment or system. 

In the event that a worker leaves the jobsite without removing their LOTO device and cannot be 
located, and it is necessary to restore the equipment to its normal operating state, the LOTO device 
may be removed after all of the following have been completed: 

a)  Contractor has had no success in contacting the worker to determine if they are available to 
remove the LOTO device. 

b) Contractor’s supervisory personnel, the authorized person, and the Owner have determined 
that it is safe to re-energize the machine, equipment or facility. 

c)  The authorized person has notified all affected individuals that the machine, equipment or 
facility is being reenergized. 

d)  After removal of the LOTO device, the Contractor must notify the worker whose lock was 
removed, prior to their return to work, that their LOTO device was removed and the machine, 
equipment or facility has been reenergized. 

When the Contractor is performing work on existing machines, equipment or facilities owned and 
operated by the Owner, the Owner’s responsible Project/Engineering Management and responsible 
Contractor supervisory personnel shall inform each other of their respective LOTO programs. The 
Owner reserves the right to determine if the Contractor’s LOTO program meets the Owner’s 
requirements.  

IX.  FALL PROTECTION 

The Contractor shall provide training to all affected workers regarding the proper use of fall 
protection systems. Workers using fall protection improperly (e.g. harness slightly loose, D-ring in 
the wrong position on the back, etc.) can correct the condition and then continue working. 
Repeated misuse or misuse which results in an extremely hazardous condition (e.g. using an 
improper anchor point, using the wrong type or length of lanyard, etc.) will be considered cause 
for the Owner to demand an immediate stop to the performance of all related work (hereinafter 
deemed a “STOP WORK” condition), and the Contractor shall then immediately discontinue the 
performance of such work. When workers are observed being exposed to an unmitigated fall 
hazard, it will also be considered a STOP WORK condition. Work will not resume until the Contractor 
has reevaluated the situation and developed corrective measures to ensure the hazard(s) will not 
occur again. 

Fall restraint systems shall be used instead of fall arrest systems whenever feasible. These systems 
allow a person to reach an area to perform their duties but prevent them from reaching a point 
where a fall could occur. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 9 

Self-retracting lifelines or lanyards (“SRLs”) must be anchored at the height of the harness D-ring 
or above. It should be positioned directly overhead in order to prevent swing falls. When it isn’t 
feasible to anchor overhead, and anchorage is only possible below the D-Ring, then fall protection 
equipment specifically designed for that application must be used. All SRLs must be used in 
accordance with the SRL manufacturer’s instructions. 

The Contractor shall use anchorage connection points designated by the Owner when available. If 
no such designated anchorages are available, then the Contractor’s qualified person must select 
structures suitable as fall protection anchorage points for their workers. 

Fall protection is not required when using portable ladders unless the ladder cannot be placed to 
prevent slipping, tilting or falling. If ladders must be used under these circumstances (e.g. lifts are 
not feasible), a Personal Fall Arrest System (“PFAS”), independent of the ladder, must be used. 
Working height on portable ladders is limited to twenty-five feet (25’). 
The use of a ladder, or similar, in close proximity (i.e., ladder length plus 4 feet) to a guardrail or 
parapet may create an exposure to the fall hazard. Fall protection must be provided by raising the 
height of the guardrail/parapet or a PFAS, independent of the ladder, must be used. Ladders or 
work platforms with a built-in guarded work platform do not require additional fall protection. 

Workers shall be protected from falling into excavations five feet (5’) or more in depth. 

protection. 

Fall protection is required for work conducted six feet (6’) or more above water. Where fall 
protection completely prevents falling into the water, personal flotation devices (PFDs) are not 
required. 

X. AERIAL WORK PLATFORMS (“AWP”) 

All operators must be trained in safe and proper AWP operation. Training documents must be 
provided to the Owner immediately upon the Owner’s request.  

Written permission from the manufacturer is required before modifications, additions or alterations 
can be made to an AWP. 

Operators shall be responsible for following the requirements of the AWP operating manual and 
ensuring that the vehicle is in proper operating condition. Operators shall immediately report any 
item of non-compliance to a supervisor for corrective action. AWPs that are not in proper operating 
condition shall be immediately removed from service until repaired. The key shall be removed from 
the vehicle and a tag shall be attached to the control panel to identify the machine as “out of 
service” the vehicle shall not to be operated until it has been repaired. 

The primary purpose of AWP equipment is to raise personnel and necessary tools to a temporary 
height for work; the AWP shall not be used as a crane. AWP equipment is not designed to lift 
materials except on the platform and within the manufacturer’s capacity limits. Lifting items on the 
guardrails or by attaching them to the AWP equipment in any manner not approved by the 
manufacturer is strictly prohibited. 

AWP occupants shall wear a fall restraint system, which includes a safety harness along with a 
fixed lanyard or self-retracting lifeline (“SRL”) of appropriate length (e.g. 3 feet). If the AWP is 
being used at heights of 18 ft. or less, then a SRL shall be utilized. The fall restraint system shall 
be connected to an anchorage point provided by the manufacturer at all times when the AWP is in 
use.  

Transfer at Height (in or out of the basket/platform) is permitted however one hundred percent 
(100%) tie-off is required during the maneuver. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 10 

Some AWPs are equipped with an external fall protection system. These systems are either a halo 
system or rigid rail engineered to safely allow personnel to exit the basket with 270-degree (270°) 
mobility around the basket. These systems are designed to provide an anchorage for fall arrest 
and can be used as such. Fall restraint is also an option depending upon the situation. When an 
individual is attached outside of the AWP basket, the AWP shall be emergency stopped and the 
basket shall not be moved. If an individual must reach an area that is not within the current radius 
of the attached fall protection system (harness/lanyard) they shall re-enter the AWP basket, move 
the unit to a closer location, emergency stop the AWP and then exit the basket to perform the 
given task from the new location.  

XI.  LADDERS 

Consideration must be given to the method of transporting tools and materials to the work location. 
Workers are not permitted to hand-carry items up the ladder. Hands must be free to climb the 
ladder. 

Ladders placed in areas such as passageways, walkways, doorways or driveways, or where they 
can be displaced by workplace activities or traffic should be barricaded to prevent accidental 
movement. 

Never place a ladder in front of doors unless the door is locked and access is controlled. 

Never climb the back-bracing of a step/A-frame ladder unless it is a twin (double-sided) ladder. 

Only one person is permitted on a ladder at a time, unless it is designed for two-person use. 

Do not use ladders as scaffold. 

All manufacturer stickers/labels must be affixed and in readable condition. 

Prior to each use, the Contractor must visually check the ladder for the following: 
a) Free of cracks, splits, and corrosion. 
b) Steps/rungs free of oil/grease. 
c) Steps/rungs firmly attached to side rails. 
d) Steps/rungs not bent. 
e) Safety feet/base and other moveable hardware in good working condition. 
f) Ropes/pulleys in good condition (extension ladders). 

Temporary fixes shall not be used to make repairs to a damaged ladder. Any repair to a ladder 
must be with manufacturer approved parts or kits. Any accessories used with a ladder must be 
approved by the manufacturer. 

Work shall not be performed from a permanent fixed ladder unless a fall protection system, such 
as a ladder climbing device, is installed and used. 

Extension, straight, and portable ladders cannot be made of wood (except job-made ladders on 
construction sites); fiberglass is preferred. Ladders made of aluminum cannot be used for electrical 
work or near energized equipment. 

The working height for an extension shall be limited to under 25 feet.  

Workers shall not sit, kneel, step, or stand on the pail shelf, top cap, or the first step below the top 
cap of an A-frame/step ladder. 

If ladders are used within 1.5 times their height to a leading edge or drop in elevation (measured 
horizontally), fall protection devices must be used. 

Do not use an A-frame/step ladder to transition to another elevated work surface unless it has 
been specifically designed for this. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 11 

Use ladders correctly. Do not over-reach. Prevent belt buckles from extending outside the side rails 
of the ladder. A-frame/step ladders should be used only for front-facing work. Do not perform 
“side-load” work. 

XII. TRENCHING AND EXCAVATION 

Utility locate tickets must be obtained prior to breaking ground by each and every contractor 
performing trenching/excavation and the operator performing the trenching/excavation must have 
reviewed the ticket. Third party locates may also be required for trenching/excavations located 
beyond the utility provider’s service point.  

All soil shall be considered as Class C soil. Class A and B soils do not exist on property. All sloping 
of trenches must be at a 1.5:1.0 ratio. Benching is not allowed in Class C soil.  

Any shoring, bracing, shielding or trench boxes used must be in good condition. Tabulated data 
must be made available upon request.  

Trenches or excavations that have a hazardous atmosphere or the potential to contain a hazardous 
atmosphere must be monitored by the competent person and may have to be treated as a confined 
space if appropriate.  

The Contractor must provide appropriate barricades to protect people from falling or driving into 
the trench or excavation.  Lighted and/or reflective barricades are preferable at night. Caution tape 
is not a sufficient barricade. Barricades must be placed at least six feet (6’) from the edge of the 
trench or excavation. Trenches and excavation that are left open and unattended shall be 
barricaded until work resumes. These barricades shall be checked at least daily to ensure no 
changes have occurred. 

XIII. UTILITY LOCATES 

Routine Locate Tickets: 
The Contractor must request the locate ticket a minimum of three (3) full business days before 
digging. 

If the dig site is in an area that is under water, the Contractor must call for the locate ten (10) full 
business days before digging. 

Locate ticket requests can be submitted anytime on-line at Sunshine One but must be submitted 
to Reedy Creek Energy Services (RCES) between 7:00 AM and 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, 
excluding weekends and holidays. 

Obtain a completed locate ticket through Sunshine State One Call of Florida (“SSOCOF”) by calling 
811. 

Call the Reedy Creek Energy Services (RCES) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. 

Provide the Sunshine One Call locate ticket number. 

Mark up the RCES supplied map to show limits of excavation. 

The Contractor is expressly forbidden from performing any excavation work until it has received 
and reviewed the RCES Utility Locate Office response and notes for utility presence, conflicts or 
special conditions. 

Emergency Locate Tickets:  
An emergency is defined as any condition constituting a clear and present danger to life or property; 
a situation caused by the escape of any substance transported by means of an underground facility; 
any interruption of vital public service or communication caused by any break or defect in an 
underground facility; or any impairment of public roads or utilities that requires immediate repair 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 12 

(collectively, incident(s)), as determined by the authority having jurisdiction within the area where 
the incident has occurred. Difficulties experienced by the Contractor in properly scheduling the 
performance of planned work activities will not constitute justification for obtaining an emergency 
locate ticket. 

During the hours of 7:00 AM to 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, call the Reedy Creek Energy 
Services (RCES) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. Call the SSOCOF at 811 or 1-800-432-
4770. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Utility Locate Office 

The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance from 
the RCES Utility Locate Office 

On weekdays between 4:00 PM and 7:00 AM, or Weekends and Holidays: Call the RCES Control 
Room Emergency Number at 407-824-4185. Provide the nature of the emergency and exact 
location. Contact SSOCOF at 811. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Control 
Room. The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance 
from the RCES Control Room. 

No excavation will be permitted until the excavator has submitted a Locate Ticket request and 
received clearance as described above. 

Each company that performs digging must obtain and follow their own locate ticket. The excavator 
shall have a copy of the locate ticket at the excavation site. 

Requirements must be communicated directly to the person(s) performing the digging. 

Exposed underground utilities must be protected. 

Each company must locate utilities when cutting or drilling into concrete. 

Secondary utilities must be considered when performing digging activities. 

The Contractor shall IMMEDIATELY STOP EXCAVATION if an underground facility is contacted 
(even if there is no noticeable damage) and immediately notify the Owner of such. Warning signs 
that indicate the potential of contacting a buried, underground utility include buried red concrete, 
unpainted buried concrete, wooden boards, warning tape, etc. 

It is important to understand tolerance zones. Locate marks show the approximate location of 
underground facilities. The lines can actually be located anywhere within the tolerance zone. 
Proceed cautiously when digging within 24 inches on either side of the locate marks. 

When any mechanized equipment is used within the tolerance zone, supervisory personnel shall 
be present to supervise the operation. 

XIV. MOBILE CRANES 

Operators must be certified on the specific type of crane they are operating. Certification must 
come from an accredited crane operator testing organization, such as The National Commission for 
the Certification of Crane Operators (“NCCCO”). 

A Lift Plan shall be submitted on all critical lifts and should be completed and submitted for review 
and acceptance, with the exception of emergency lifts, 72 hours, prior to lift. 

A critical lift plan is required for the following lifts: 
a)  
b) Two or more cranes involved in the lift or adjacent to each other 
c) Hoisting personnel 
d) Lift from floating platform, barge, or vessel 
e) Any lift where boom intersects within 20 feet of monorail 
f) Any lift deemed critical by the Owner 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 13 

g) Any lift where boom intersects within 25 feet of a populated area 

A critical lift plan should include a Pre-Lift Crane Data Worksheet, step-by-step work instructions, 
a list of all personnel involved and their assignments, and a diagram of the lift and swing area. A 
3-D plan or comparable CAD rendering is preferable. A rigging plan is required to be submitted for 
critical lifts. If the crane will be set up on top of, or within 10-feet of a tunnel, manhole, or utility 
vault; or within 10-feet of a seawall, bridge, or water’s edge, Ground Bearing Pressures (GBP) for 
each outrigger (below the crane mats) must be submitted with the lift plan. 

The use of a crane to hoist personnel is prohibited except where it can be demonstrated that 
conventional means of reaching the work area (scaffold, ladders, aerial lifts, etc.) would be more 
hazardous or is not possible due to worksite conditions. Hoisting personnel shall comply with all 
parts of 29 CFR 1926.1431. 

The crane hook or other part of the load line may be used as an anchor for a personal fall arrest 
system where all of the following requirements are met: 

a) Approved by a qualified person 
b) Equipment operator must be at the worksite 
c) No load is suspended from the load line when the personal fall arrest system is anchored to 

it or the hook. 

Tag lines must be used for all lifts to control the load unless the use of a tag line is deemed unsafe 
or unfeasible. The decision to not use a tag line must be included in the lift plan and accepted by 
the Owner. 

All crane operations near, adjacent to, or within 10 feet of the monorail or skyway transportation 
system, require a special precautions are taken. All work must be coordinated with the Owner prior 
to commencing.  Any contact with anything associated with these systems must be reported 
immediately to the Owner. At no time will any materials be lifted over the systems. A spotter is 
required when a crane travels under the systems 

Barricades and notices should be used to prevent people from entering the fall zone (the area 
where the load will land if dropped). No one is allowed to be under a suspended load, with the 
exception of steel workers working in accordance with 29 CFR 1926.753(d). 

In congested areas where barriers are not feasible, an audible signal (horn, whistles, etc.) must 
precede each lift to alert nearby personnel working in the proximity of the crane that the lift is in 
progress. Evening lifts may use alternative signaling methods in lieu of audible signals, if requested.  

The qualified signal person shall be the only person signaling the crane operator; however, anyone 
can signal a stop if there is a perceived emergency situation. 

XV. HEAVY EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS 

The operator must not wear earbuds or headphones while operating heavy equipment. These 
devices may create a distraction and may prevent the operator from hearing important sounds in 
the work area (e.g. backup alarms, evacuation horns, etc.). They do not serve as hearing protection 
or attenuation which may be needed when operating heavy equipment. 

Unless the cab is totally enclosed, the operator must wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (PPE) which may include safety glasses, hearing or respiratory protection. When exiting 
the cab in a construction zone, the operator must wear the required site PPE.  Seat belts are 
required at all times.  

Chase (escort) vehicles/Spotters are required when: 
a) Heavy equipment travels to and from work zones 
b) Anticipated pedestrian or vehicle traffic intrudes within the safe work zone, in the judgment 

of the operator 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 14 

c) Space is restricted, and a safe work zone cannot be maintained 
d) The back-up alarm is muted 
e) Safe movement is in question 
f) Overhead hazards are present 

The equipment shall be operated at a safe speed. Equipment inspections shall be documented and 
available upon request. 

Check the area for overhead utility lines to ensure the equipment will remain at least 10 feet away 
from the lines at all times. 

Avoid backing up the equipment unless it is absolutely necessary. Attempt to always travel forward 
if possible. Backing up the equipment usually does not present a clear field of view. 

Never allow an individual to ride on running boards or any other part of the equipment. Only the 
operator should be on the equipment. 

Maintain three points of contact when exiting or entering the vehicle. 

Never exit a running vehicle. The vehicle must be turned off if the operator is leaving the cab. 

Remove keys from unattended vehicles. 

Always park the vehicle on level ground. Lower buckets, shovels, dippers, etc. and set the parking 
brake. 

XVI. DIVING OPERATIONS 

Before conducting dive operations, a job hazard assessment shall be developed by the Contractor 
and submitted to the Owner in the form of a dive plan (“Dive Plan”). A complete Dive Plan shall be 
developed and documented for each diving operation. The primary purpose of the Dive Plan is to 
provide a written document capturing the details of the dive operations. The Owner must approve 
all Dive Plans prior to beginning the dive operations. Dive Plans shall be reviewed on a periodic 
basis to ensure they remain relevant for the actual diving activity and have been updated as 
warranted (i.e., staff safety concerns are conveyed, new equipment or procedures are to be 
implemented, or an injury/incident has occurred).  

The Dive Plan shall include the following:  

a) Site & project information 

b) Immediate contact name(s) and telephone number(s) 

c) Information regarding personnel involved, including the Designated Person in Charge 
(“DPIC”), dive team roles and qualifications, assignment of responsibilities and verification 
of training records, and the verification of the physical fitness of dive team members 

d) Minimum equipment requirements 

e) Sequence of basic job steps and the recommended safe operational procedures and 
protection. Known and/or potential hazards, including environmental, surface, overhead and 
underwater conditions and hazards, including any anticipated hazardous conditions or 
confined spaces 

f) Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operations that may interfere with the dive 
or that pose a safety hazard to dive team members (i.e., watercraft, ride vehicles, chemicals, 
potentially dangerous aquatic wildlife and other types of hazards) 

g) Limited access or penetration situations. A diver entering a pipe, tunnel, wreck, or similarly 
enclosed or confining structure, (other than a habitat).  



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

F - 15 

Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operation that may interfere with the dive or that 
pose a safety hazard to dive team members shall require that proper controls be developed, 
documented and implemented to ensure the dive area is secured from such hazards impeding 
and/or entering the area.  

A diver-carried reserve breathing supply that meets the emergency air volume requirements for 
the dive profile with a separate first and second stage regulator shall be provided to each diver for 
all diving operations.   

XVII. RCES POWER OUTAGE SCHEDULING REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS 

Contractors shall provide a minimum three (3) week construction planning schedule to Reedy Creek 
Energy Services (“RCES”) Project Management on a weekly basis identifying all anticipated work 
including utility outages. 

a) A minimum seven (7) day notice will be required for scheduling utility outages to facilitate 
construction.  

b) Any contractor concern with available work duration window and expected task list shall be 
discussed with RCES Project Management before scheduling the utility outage.  

c) All utility outages shall be coordinated with the property owner impacted.  
d) Dates and utility outage duration shall be agreed upon between contractors, customers, 

RCES Project Management and RCES Electrical Operations.  
e) Contractors will be notified by RCES Project Management whether the requested utility 

outage schedule is approved or denied.  
f) In the event the scheduled utility outages need to be canceled due to weather, emergencies 

or customer requests, contractors will be notified, and contractors shall provide revised 
project schedule coordinating with RCES Project Management to plan for future power 
outages. 

 
 
 
 

<<END OF SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS>> 
 
 
 
 

END OF EXHIBIT F 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 1 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Paragraph Title Page 
Article 1 - DEFINITIONS 

1.1. THE CONTRACT 3 
1.2. THE OWNER 3 
1.3. THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 3 
1.4. THE CONTRACTOR 3 
1.5. SUBCONTRACTOR; SUB-SUBCONTRACTOR 3 
1.6. THE JOB SITE 4 
1.7. THE PROJECT 4 
1.8. WORK; CONTRACT TIME; CONTRACT SUM  4 
1.9. PROVIDE 4 
1.10. PLANS 4 
1.11. SPECIFICATIONS 4 
1.12. THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER 4 

Article 2 - THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
2.1. EXECUTION, INTENT AND INTERPRETATIONS 4 
2.2. COPIES FURNISHED; OWNERSHIP 5 
2.3. NO ORAL WAIVER 5 

Article 3 - OWNER 
3.1. EASEMENTS 5 
3.2. ACCESS 5 

Article 4 - THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 
4.1. CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS 5 
4.2. ROLE 5 

Article 5 - CONTRACTOR 
5.1. REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 5 
5.2. SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES 6 
5.3. MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT 6 
5.4. WARRANTY 7 
5.5. TAXES; FEES AND LICENSES; ROYALTIES AND PATENTS 7 
5.6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 7 
5.7. TESTS 7 
5.8. GENERAL 8 

Article 6 – SUBCONTRACTORS 
6.1. GENERAL 8 
6.2. AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS 8 
6.3. SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS 9 
6.4. PAYMENTS TO SUBCONTRACTORS 9 

Article 7 - SEPARATE CONTRACTS 
7.1. OWNER'S RIGHT TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS 9 
7.2. MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTORS 9 

Article 8 - TIME 
8.1. DEFINITIONS 10 
8.2. PROGRESS AND COMPLETION; SCHEDULING 11 
8.3. DELAYS, EXTENSIONS OF TIME AND OVERTIME 11 
8.4. TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF WORK 12 

Article 9 - PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
9.1. APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT; PASSAGE OF TITLE 12 
9.2. APPROVALS OF APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT 13 
9.3. PAYMENTS WITHHELD; OWNER'S RIGHT TO MAKE DIRECT PAYMENTS FOR WORK 13 
9.4. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT 14 
9.5. BENEFICIAL USE AND OCCUPANCY; PARTIAL SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 15 

 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 2 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Paragraph Title Page 
Article 10 - PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 

10.1. RESPONSIBILITY FOR SAFETY AND HEALTH 16 
10.2. PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY; RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS 17 
10.3. SURFACE OR SUBSURFACE WATER 17 
10.4. EMERGENCIES 17 
10.5. CLEANUP 18 
10.6. OWNER'S STANDARDS 18 

Article 11 - INSURANCE; INDEMNIFICATION 
11.1. COMMERCIAL INSURANCE/INDEMNIFICATION 18 

Article 12 - CHANGES IN THE WORK 
12.1. CHANGE ORDERS AND DIRECTIVES 19 
12.2. CHANGES REQUIRING AN INCREASE IN CONTRACT SUM 19 
12.3. CHANGES REQUIRING A DECREASE IN CONTRACT SUM 21 
12.4. DISPUTES REGARDING CHANGES 21 
12.5. AUDIT RIGHTS 21 

Article 13 – CLAIMS 
13.1. CLAIMS FOR EXTENSIONS OF CONTRACT TIME 21 
13.2. CLAIMS FOR INCREASES IN CONTRACT SUM 22 
13.3. NO OTHER CLAIMS 22 

Article 14 - UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK;  
OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK           

14.1. UNCOVERING OF WORK 22 
14.2. CORRECTION OF WORK 22 
14.3. OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK 23 
14.4. ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE OR NON-CONFORMING WORK 24 

Article 15 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 
15.1. TERMINATION BY CONTRACTOR 24 
15.2. TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CAUSE 24 
15.3. TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE 25 

Article 16 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
16.1. GOVERNING LAW 25 
16.2. ASSIGNABILITY; SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 25 
16.3. NOTICE 25 
16.4. PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS 25 
16.5. MAINTENANCE OF HARMONIOUS RELATIONS 26 
16.6. UNION AGREEMENTS 26 
16.7. USE OF OWNER'S NAME/CONFIDENTIALITY 26 
16.8. GENERAL 27 
16.9. IMMIGRATION REFORM CONTROL ACT 27 
16.10. ADJACENT LAND AND LANDOWNERS 27 

 
 
 
 
 

END OF TABLE OF CONTENTS 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 3 

Article 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1. THE CONTRACT.  The Contract for Construction (referred to herein as the "Contract") is the sum 
of all Contract Documents.  It represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties 
hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral.  
The Contract may be amended or modified only by a Modification, as defined below. 
 1.1.1. The Contract Documents consist of those documents specified in Paragraph 1.2. of the 
Agreement or otherwise referred to in these General Conditions of the Contract for Construction.  The 
Contract Documents do not include bidding documents, such as the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid, 
the Instructions to Bidders, sample forms, the Contractor's Bid or portions of Addenda as and to the 
extent that they may relate to any of the bidding documents or bidding procedure. 
 1.1.2. An Addendum is a written or graphic instrument issued by the Owner prior to the execution 
of the Agreement which sets forth additions, deletions or other revisions to the Contract Documents or 
clarifications thereof. 
 1.1.3. A Modification may be accomplished by:  (a) a Change Order; (b) a Directive; or (c) any 
other written amendment to the Contract signed by both parties.  A Modification may be made only 
after execution of the Agreement.  No Directive shall be construed as a Change Order or other 
Modification unless it expressly states. 
 1.1.4. A Change Order is a written Modification executed by both parties (except in the event of 
a unilateral Change Order as herein provided) and consisting of additions, deletions or other changes 
to the Contract.  A Change Order may be accompanied by and/or may identify additional or revised 
Drawings, sketches or other written instructions, which become and form a part of the Contract 
Documents by virtue of the executed Change Order.  Except as otherwise provided in Subparagraph 
1.1.5., a Change in the Work, or a change in the Contract Time or the Contract Sum shall become the 
subject of a Change Order. 
 1.1.5. A Directive is a written document issued by the Owner and consisting of additions, 
deletions, clarifications or other written instructions issued by the Owner with respect to the 
performance of the Work or the activities of the Contractor on the Job Site or the property of the 
Owner.  A Directive may include, but shall not be limited to, a bulletin, an engineering change, or other 
orders or instructions.  Directives may become the subject of a Change Order, either singularly or 
collectively.  Directives shall become the subject of a Change Order if they involve a Change in the 
Work, or a change in the Contract Time or the Contract Sum. 
1.2. THE OWNER.  The Owner is the person or organization identified as such in the Agreement.  The 
term "Owner," whenever it appears in the Contract Documents, means the Owner and/or the Owner's 
Representative acting on behalf or for the benefit of the Owner (except as otherwise specified in the 
Contract Documents or as the context otherwise requires); provided, however, that with respect to any 
provisions of the Contract which require the Contractor to provide insurance for the protection of the 
Owner or to release the Owner from, or waive, any claims the Contractor may have against it, the term 
"Owner" shall mean the Owner and its supervisors, officers, employees, agents and assigns and the 
Owner’s Representatives and its parent, related, affiliated and subsidiary companies, and the officers, 
directors, agents, employees and assigns of each. 
1.3. THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE. The Owner's Representative is the person or organization 
designated from time to time by the Owner to act as its representative as identified in Article 3 of the 
Agreement or the most current Modification thereto. 
1.4. THE CONTRACTOR. The Contractor is the person or organization identified as such in the 
Agreement.  The Contractor shall designate a sufficient number of Project representatives that there 
shall be at least one authorized representative on the Job Site at all times in which the Work is being 
performed including, without limitation, a project manager (herein referred to as the "Project Manager") 
who shall at all times have authority to act (in all capacities necessary for the Work) for and bind the 
Contractor. 
1.5. SUBCONTRACTOR; SUB-SUBCONTRACTOR. 
1.5.1.  A Subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct contract with the Contractor to 
perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any materials or equipment to be incorporated in, 
or utilized in connection with, the Work. 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 4 

 1.5.2. A Sub-subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct or indirect contract (on any 
tier) with a Subcontractor to perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any materials or 
equipment to be incorporated in, or utilized in connection with, the Work. 
1.6. THE JOB SITE.  The Job Site shall mean the area in which the Work is to be performed and such 
other areas as may be designated by the Owner for the storage of the Contractor's materials and 
equipment. 
1.7. THE PROJECT. The Project is the total construction of which the Work may be the whole or a part. 
1.8. WORK; CONTRACT TIME; CONTRACT SUM.  The Work, the Contract Time and the Contract Sum 
are as defined in Articles 2, 5 and 6, respectively, of the Agreement. 
1.9. PROVIDE.  Except as the context otherwise requires, the term "provide" means to furnish, 
fabricate, complete, deliver, install and erect including all labor, materials, equipment, apparatus, 
appurtenances and expenses, necessary to complete in place, ready for operation or use under the 
terms of the Specifications. 
1.10. PLANS.   Wherever the words "Plan" or "Plans" are used in the Contract Documents, they shall be 
construed as having the same meaning as Drawing or Drawings (as referred to in the Agreement). 
1.11. SPECIFICATIONS.   The Specifications shall include those referred to in the Agreement. 
1.12. THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER.  The person or entity having a direct contract with the Owner to 
design the Project or a portion thereof and to produce the Project Plans and Specifications or portion 
thereof, as identified in Article 4 of the Agreement or the most current Modification thereto, together 
with its subconsultants. 
 

Article 2 
THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

 
2.1. EXECUTION, INTENT AND INTERPRETATIONS. 
 2.1.1. The Contractor warrants and represents that, in executing the Agreement and undertaking 
the Work, it has not relied upon any oral inducement or representation by the Owner, the Owner's 
Representative, the Architect/Engineer or any of their officers or agents as to the nature of the Work, 
the Job Site, the Project conditions or otherwise. 
 2.1.2. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by any one shall be as 
binding as if required by all.  If the Contract Documents do not specifically allow the Contractor a choice 
as to quality or cost of items to be furnished, but could be interpreted to permit such choice, subject 
to confirmation or approval by the Owner, they shall be construed to require the Contractor to furnish 
the best quality.  Words and abbreviations which have well-known technical or trade meanings are 
used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meanings. 
 2.1.3. Where conflict exists within or between parts of the Contract Documents, or between the 
Contract Documents and either applicable industry standards or applicable codes, ordinances or other 
legal requirements, the more stringent requirements shall apply; otherwise, the following order of 
precedence shall be used:  the Agreement; the Special Conditions; the General Conditions; the 
Specifications; the Drawings.  If the Contractor is required to perform any extra or corrective Work to 
comply with the preceding sentence, it shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Sum or 
Contract Time, and no claim shall result from such compliance.  Subject to confirmation or approval by 
the Owner, large scale Drawings take precedence over smaller scaled Drawings, figured dimensions on 
the Drawings take precedence over scaled dimensions, and noted items on the Drawings take 
precedence over graphic representations. 
 2.1.4. The organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and the 
arrangement of Drawings, are not intended to influence the Contractor in its division of the Work 
among Subcontractors or its establishment of the extent of the Work to be performed by any trade. 
 
 2.1.5. The Contractor shall submit a written request to the Owner for any interpretations 
necessary for the proper execution or progress of the Work.  Such interpretations shall be issued in 
writing. 
 2.1.6. The Contract Documents reflect conditions as they are believed to exist, but it is not 
intended or to be inferred that the conditions as shown thereon constitute a representation by or on 
behalf of the Owner that such conditions actually exist.  The Contractor shall inspect the Job Site and 
conduct any tests or surveys it deems necessary or desirable prior to the commencement of the Work 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 5 

and shall accept full responsibility for any loss sustained by it as a result of any variances between the 
conditions as shown on the Contract Documents and the actual conditions revealed during the progress 
of the Work or otherwise.  The Contract Sum shall in no event be increased by reason of any such 
variance unless otherwise specifically provided herein. 
 2.1.7. The Contractor shall develop and maintain current "as-built" Plans to be provided to the 
Owner in accordance with Subparagraph 9.4.2. The Owner may inspect and copy such Plans at any 
time during the course of the Work. 
2.2. COPIES FURNISHED; OWNERSHIP.   All Contract Documents and copies thereof furnished by the 
Owner, the Owner's Representative or the Architect/Engineer are and shall remain the Owner's 
property.  They are not to be published or used by the Contractor on any other project and, with the 
exception of one complete set for the Contractor, are to be returned to the Owner upon completion of 
the Work. 
2.3. NO ORAL WAIVER.  The provisions of this Contract cannot be amended, modified, varied or waived 
in any respect except by a Modification signed by the Owner.  The Contractor is hereby given notice 
that no person has authority to orally waive, or to release the Contractor from, any of the Contractor's 
duties or obligations under or arising out of this Contract.  Any waiver, approval or consent granted to 
the Contractor shall be limited to those matters specifically and expressly stated thereby to be waived, 
approved or consented to and shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligation to obtain any future 
waiver, approval or consent.  Despite any prior waiver, approval or consent as to any particular matter, 
the Owner may at any time require strict compliance with the Contract Documents as to any other 
matter. 

Article 3 
OWNER 

3.1. EASEMENTS. The Owner shall obtain and pay for any easements required for permanent 
structures. 
3.2. ACCESS. The Owner shall at all times have access to the Work at each and every stage of 
preparation and progress. The Contractor shall provide facilities (including, without limitation, 
roadways) for such access. 

Article 4 
THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 

4.1. CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS.   Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any 
contractual relationship between the Owner's Representative and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that the Owner's Representative shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations of 
the Contractor to the Owner as imposed by the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, the 
Owner's rights pursuant to Paragraph 7.2. and Articles 10 and 11 of these General Conditions). 
4.2. ROLE.  Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, and until the Contractor is 
notified in writing to the contrary, all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions 
and instructions to be given by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and 
decisions to be made by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall 
be taken, given and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner's Representative in the name of and 
on behalf of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner's Representative) shall 
be solely obligated to the Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the Contractor 
hereunder. If the Owner's Representative is an organization, then it shall, in turn, act through such 
person or persons as it may designate in writing from time to time. Only those designated are 
authorized to grant on behalf of the Owner any approval, consent or waiver with respect to the Contract 
Documents or the Work, or to otherwise act for the Owner in any capacity whatsoever. 

Article 5 
CONTRACTOR 

 
5.1. REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. In addition to the representations and warranties contained 
in Article 9 of the Agreement, the Contractor acknowledges that prior to execution of the Agreement it 
has thoroughly reviewed and inspected the Contract Documents.  The Contractor further acknowledges 
that it has satisfied itself regarding any error, inconsistency, discrepancy, ambiguity, omission, 
insufficiency of detail or explanation and has assured itself of the adequacy and accuracy of each of 
the Contract Documents, as well as the compatibility of any combination thereof, as they relate to one 
another and to the scope of Work and the Schedule.  The Contractor hereby warrants and represents 
to the Owner that the Contract Documents are suitable and adapted for the Work and guarantees their 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 6 

sufficiency for their intended purpose.  The Owner shall not be responsible or liable to the Contractor 
for, and the Contractor hereby waives, any claims for changes, delays, accelerations, inefficiencies, 
impacts, and any other costs, damages, losses, or expenses of any nature whatsoever, resulting from 
any error, inadequacy, inaccuracy, inconsistency, insufficiency, unsuitability, discrepancy, ambiguity, 
omission, or insufficiency of detail or explanation in the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall 
perform no portion of the Work at any time without approved Contract Documents or, where required, 
shop drawings, product data, or samples, for such portions bearing the A/E's appropriate action stamp.  
Work performed in violation of this provision shall be at the Contractor's risk.  Nothing in this Paragraph 
5.1 shall in any way limit the effects of Article 9 of the Agreement. 
 
5.2. SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES. 
 5.2.1. The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using its best skill and attention. The 
Contractor shall be solely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
coordination, scheduling (subject to Article 8) and procedures, for all cleanup and for all safety and 
weather precautions and programs, in connection with the Work. 
 5.2.2. The Contractor shall employ a competent Project Manager and necessary assistants who 
shall be in attendance at the Job Site during the progress of the Work and who shall be satisfactory to 
the Owner. The Contractor shall remove any of its employees or agents (including, without limitation, 
the Project Manager) from the Project upon instruction from the Owner.  The Project Manager shall 
not be changed except with the consent of the Owner unless the Project Manager ceases to be in the 
Contractor's employ.   
 5.2.3. The Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its 
employees.  It shall also be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its Subcontractors 
and Sub-subcontractors, their agents and employees, and other persons performing any of the Work, 
in the same manner as if they were the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by the 
Contractor. 
 5.2.4. The Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligations to perform the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents either by the activities or duties of the Owner in its administration of the 
Contract, including, without limitation, by any inspections or tests required or performed under 
Paragraph 5.7., or by approvals or other similar action with regard to shop drawings or submittals (of 
any type), or by the activities of persons other than the Contractor with respect to the Project.  Further, 
notwithstanding the fact that a dispute, controversy or other question may have arisen between the 
parties hereto relating to the execution or progress of the Work, the interpretation of the Contract 
Documents, the payment of any monies, the delivery of any materials or any other matter whatsoever, 
the Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligations to pursue the Work diligently under the Contract 
Documents pending the determination of such dispute, controversy or other question. 
 5.2.5. The Contractor shall establish, implement and supervise the submission of shop drawings 
and other submittals (of any type) in accordance with the Schedule and any Milestones.  The Contractor 
shall note any variances between any such shop drawings or other submittals and the Contract 
Documents for the benefit of the Owner at the time of submission. 
5.3. MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT. 
 5.3.1. The Contractor shall, if directed by the Owner, cause any or all materials and equipment 
to be manufactured in advance, and be warehoused either at the factory or elsewhere at the 
Contractor's cost.  The Contractor shall cause all materials and equipment to be delivered to the Job 
Site in accordance with any schedule or schedules therefor established from time to time and approved 
by the Owner and, in any event, in a manner which will assure the timely progress and completion of 
the Work but will not encumber the Job Site unreasonably.  Materials delivered to the Job Site for 
incorporation in the Work shall not be removed from the Job Site without the consent of or unless 
directed by the Owner. 
 5.3.2. The Owner may, from time to time during the performance of the Work and without any 
liability or obligation whatsoever to the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, 
direct the Contractor to relocate, or cause to be relocated, to any other location on or off the Job Site, 
as designated by the Owner, any materials, equipment, office or storage trailers, storage sheds or the 
like brought onto the Owner's property by the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors, with which directions the Contractor shall promptly comply.  Should such relocation 
not be completed within the time therefor established by the Owner, the Owner may accomplish such 
relocation and offset the costs incurred by it in accomplishing the same against any amounts then or 
thereafter due to the Contractor. 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 7 

  5.3.3. The Contractor shall give, or shall require its Subcontractors and their Sub-subcontractors 
to give, full and accurate quality, performance and delivery status reports, in a form satisfactory to the 
Owner, regarding any materials and equipment, or such other data with respect thereto as may be 
requested by the Owner, and shall obtain for the Owner the written assurances of any manufacturer 
that its material or equipment is designed, and appropriate, for the use intended. 
5.4. WARRANTY.  The Contractor warrants to the Owner that all materials and equipment furnished 
under this Contract shall be new unless otherwise specified, and that all Work shall be of good quality, 
free from faults and defects and in conformance with the Contract Documents. All Work not  conforming 
to these standards may be considered defective. This warranty is not limited by the provisions of 
Paragraph 14.2. of these General Conditions or Article 9 of the Agreement. All warranties and 
guarantees from Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors (including, without limitation, manufacturers) 
shall be assignable to the Owner regardless of whether it is stated therein, and the Contractor agrees 
to assign all such warranties and guarantees to the Owner and deliver them pursuant to Subparagraph 
9.4.2. The Contractor's obligations under this Paragraph shall survive the expiration or sooner 
termination of the Contract. 
5.5. TAXES; FEES AND LICENSES; ROYALTIES AND PATENTS. 
 5.5.1. The Contractor shall pay, or cause to be paid, all import duties and sales, consumer, use, 
excise, value added and ad valorem taxes required to be paid in connection with the Work or upon 
materials, tools or equipment brought to the Job Site or used in the Work.  If any of the foregoing 
taxes are not paid in a timely manner, the Owner may withhold the amount of any such taxes from 
any amounts owing to the Contractor under the Contract Documents, submit the amount withheld to 
the appropriate taxing authority on behalf of the Contractor or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors 
and offset said amount against the Contract Sum. 
 5.5.2. The Contractor shall secure and pay for all governmental fees, permits and licenses which 
the Owner is not specifically required to provide and pay for under the Contract Documents. 
 5.5.3. The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees incident to the use of any invention, 
design, process or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others, all of which 
shall be deemed included in the Contract Sum.  The Contractor shall not unlawfully use or install any 
patented or copyrighted article, and any such unlawful use or installation shall be considered or deemed 
to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or 
of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is 
responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without 
limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions for infringement of, or otherwise 
related to, any patent rights or copyrights, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails 
to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, 
costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset or back-charge all of said items or 
amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due 
under the Contract have already been paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are 
not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the 
Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner. In the event of any injunction or legal action 
arising out of any such infringement which has the effect of delaying the Work, the Owner may require 
the Contractor to substitute such other articles of like kind as will make it possible to proceed with and 
complete the Work, and all costs and expenses occasioned thereby shall be borne by the Contractor. 
5.6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  The Contractor shall, at its cost and expense, comply with each and 
every Federal, state and local law, ordinance, code, rule and regulation, as well as the lawful order or 
decree of any public or quasi-public authority, bearing on the performance of the Work specifically 
including, but not limited to, those specified in Subparagraph 10.1.2., and all applicable building codes.  
It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to familiarize itself with all of the same, and any 
performance of the Work by or on behalf of the Contractor which is not in compliance therewith shall 
be at the Contractor's sole risk and expense.  The Contractor shall notify the Owner prior to execution 
of the Contract (and, without limiting the duty of such prior notice, continuously thereafter) of any 
instances where the Contract Documents are, or where the Contractor believes the Contract Documents 
are, not in compliance with the same. 
5.7. TESTS. 
 5.7.1. If the Contract Documents, or any laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or any orders or 
decrees of any public or quasi-public authority having jurisdiction, or common practice in the industry, 
require or dictate that the Contractor have any portion of the Work inspected, tested or approved, the 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 8 

Contractor shall advise the Owner in a timely manner  (in writing, if practicable)  of its readiness and 
of the date arranged so that the Owner may observe such inspection, testing or approval.  The 
Contractor shall bear all costs of such inspections, tests and approvals except as otherwise specified. 
 5.7.2. The Owner may require any special inspection, testing or approval of the Work not included 
under Subparagraph 5.7.1., or any more stringent inspection, testing or approval thereof, in which 
event it shall instruct the Contractor to order such inspection, testing or approval, and the Contractor 
shall advise the Owner in a timely manner (in writing, if practicable) as in Subparagraph 5.7.1.  If such 
inspection or testing reveals any failure of the Work or the performance thereof to comply with the 
more stringent of:  (a) the requirements of the Contract Documents; (b) applicable industry standards; 
or (c) applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations or orders or decrees of any public or quasi-
public authority having jurisdiction, or reveals any defect in the Work, the Contractor shall bear the 
costs of such inspection or testing and all costs to correct the Work to the satisfaction of the Owner, 
which, if incurred by the Owner, may be offset by the Owner against any amounts then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor.  If such inspection or testing proves that the Work was performed properly, the 
Owner shall bear the costs of such inspection or testing. 
 5.7.3. Required certificates of inspection, testing or approval shall be secured by the Contractor 
and promptly delivered by it to the Owner. 
5.8. GENERAL.  The duties and responsibilities of the Contractor as set forth in this Article 5 are in 
addition to, and not in lieu of, other duties and responsibilities of the Contractor enumerated elsewhere 
in these Contract Documents. 

Article 6 
SUBCONTRACTORS 

6.1. GENERAL.   Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual relationship 
between the Owner or the Owner's Representative and any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor.  
However, it is acknowledged that the Owner and Owner's Representative are intended third party 
beneficiaries of the obligations of the Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors related to the Work and 
the Project. 
6.2. AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS. 
 6.2.1. The Contractor shall, prior to awarding any subcontract, notify the Owner in writing of the 
names of all Subcontractors proposed for the several parts of the Work and shall include with any such 
notice the completed insurance information form and any insurance certificates required by this 
Contract for any proposed Subcontractor. The Owner may also require such lists and information 
regarding any proposed Sub-subcontractors.  The Contractor shall also advise the Owner in writing of 
any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor with which it shares any business relationship or financial 
interest, and of the nature and extent of any such relationship or interest.  No Subcontractor or Sub-
subcontractor shall be engaged if objected to by the Owner; provided, however, that if the Owner does 
not take exception to a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor in writing within fifteen (15) days of its 
receipt of such notification, such Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be deemed acceptable to 
the Owner.  The Owner shall not be liable to the Contractor in any manner arising out of the Owner's 
objection to a proposed Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor.  The Contractor shall not terminate the 
employment of a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor engaged in the Work prior to the expiration of 
that subcontract without good cause shown and the Owner's prior approval after reasonable notice of 
the Contractor's intent to terminate. 
 6.2.2. The Owner may, without any responsibility or liability whatsoever, require the Contractor 
to utilize any person or organization for any portion of the Work as a Subcontractor or a Sub-
subcontractor (herein referred to as a "Nominated Subcontractor" or "Nominated Sub-subcontractor") 
provided the Owner gave notice of its intention to nominate any such Subcontractor or Sub-
subcontractor prior to execution of the Agreement.  The Contractor shall assume full responsibility for 
any such Nominated Subcontractor or Nominated Sub-subcontractor. 
 6.2.3. In the event the Owner and Contractor agree that the Owner may participate in any 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor procurement activities, provided the Owner has informed the 
Contractor and allowed the Contractor the opportunity to participate and concur with such activities, 
the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for the results of any such activities including, without 
limitation, full responsibility for the Subcontractors' or Sub-subcontractors' awarded portions of the 
Work as a result thereof. 
 6.2.4. The Owner may assign to the Contractor any contracts or purchase orders entered into 
between the Owner and any other person or organization in any way related to the Project or the Work, 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 9 

at any time, in which event the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for such person or 
organization  and  its  portion  of  the  Work  as  if  such  person  or  organization  was  originally  a 
Subcontractor.  Such assignment may occur by Change Order or other Modification to the Contract, 
and any increase in the Contract Sum shall be governed by Article 12. 
6.3. SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS. 
 6.3.1. All subcontracts and sub-subcontracts shall be in writing. Each subcontract and sub-
subcontract shall contain a reference to this Contract and shall incorporate the terms and conditions 
hereof to the full extent applicable to the portion of the Work covered thereby.  Each Subcontractor 
must agree, for the benefit of the Owner, to be bound by, and to require each of its Sub-subcontractors 
to be bound by, such terms and conditions to the full extent applicable to its portion of the Work. 
 6.3.2. Each subcontract shall provide for its termination by the Contractor if, in the Owner's 
opinion, the Subcontractor fails to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents insofar as 
the same may be applicable to its portion of the Work; and each Subcontractor shall be required to 
insert a similar provision in each of its  sub-subcontracts.  In the event of any such failure by a 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents, such 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, as the case may be, shall, upon the Owner’s request, be removed 
immediately from the Work and shall not again be employed on the Work.  Any such failure (specifically 
including, without limitation, a failure to pay for labor (including applicable fringe benefits) or materials) 
by a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, 
recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized 
by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all 
damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, 
without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, 
incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any 
such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right 
to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Contract have already been paid or if the 
sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner. 
6.4. PAYMENTS TO SUBCONTRACTORS. 
 6.4.1. Unless the Owner otherwise agrees or the Contract Documents otherwise provide, the 
Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor, upon receipt of payments from the Owner, an amount equal 
to the percentage of completion allowed to the Contractor on account of such Subcontractor's portion 
of the Work, less a percentage thereof equal to the percentage retained from payments to the 
Contractor.  The Contractor shall also require each Subcontractor to make similar payments due to any 
Sub-subcontractor. 
 6.4.2. If the Owner fails to approve a Contractor's Application for Payment, as hereinafter 
provided, for any cause which is the fault of the Contractor and not the fault of a particular 
Subcontractor, the Contractor shall nevertheless pay that Subcontractor for its portion of the Work to 
the extent completed, less the retained percentage, such payment to be made no later than the date 
payment to the Contractor would otherwise have been made by the Owner. 
 6.4.3. The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor its proper share of any insurance monies 
received by the Contractor under Article 11, and it shall require each Subcontractor to make similar 
payments due to a Sub-subcontractor. 

Article 7 
SEPARATE CONTRACTS 

7.1. OWNER'S RIGHT TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS.  The Owner reserves the right to award 
other contracts in connection with the Project or other work on the Job Site on any terms and conditions 
which the Owner may from time to time determine in its sole discretion (hereinafter referred to as 
"Separate Contracts"; and such other contractors are hereinafter referred to as "Separate 
Contractors"). 
7.2. MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTORS. 
 7.2.1. The Contractor shall afford all Separate Contractors and the Owner reasonable opportunity 
for the introduction and storage of their materials and equipment and for the execution of their work 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 10 

and shall properly cooperate, connect and coordinate the Work with such other work as shall be in the 
best interest of the Project as determined by the Owner. 
 7.2.2.   If the execution or result of any part of the Work depends upon any work of the Owner or 
of any Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall, prior to proceeding with the Work, inspect and 
promptly report to the Owner in writing any apparent discrepancies or defects in such work of the 
Owner or of any Separate Contractor that render it unsuitable for the proper execution or result of any 
part of the Work.  Failure of the Contractor to inspect and report shall constitute an acceptance of the 
Owner's or Separate Contractor's work as fit and proper to receive the Work, except as to defects which 
may develop in the Owner's or Separate Contractor's work after completion of the Work and which the 
Contractor could not have discovered by its inspection prior to completion of the Work. 
 7.2.3. Should the Contractor cause damage to the work or property of the Owner or of any 
Separate Contractor on the Project, or to other work on the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the 
Owner's or any Separate Contractor's work, the Contractor shall be liable for the same; and, in the 
case of a Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall attempt to settle said claim with such Separate 
Contractor prior to such Separate Contractor's institution of litigation or other proceedings against the 
Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the dispute, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, 
arbitrate the dispute, in which event the decision of the Owner shall be final and binding on the parties 
to the dispute.  Any such damage to the work or property of the Owner or of any Separate Contractor 
on the Project, or to other work on the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the Owner's or any Separate 
Contractor's work shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or 
intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor 
in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, 
judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any 
claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such damage, delay or interference, 
including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ 
fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, 
any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the 
right to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Contract have already been paid or if the 
sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner. 
 7.2.4. Should any Separate Contractor cause damage to the Work or to the property of the 
Contractor or cause delay or interference with the Contractor's performance of the Work, the Contractor 
shall present to such Separate Contractor any claims it may have as a result of such damage, delay or 
interference (with an information copy to the Owner) and shall attempt to settle its claim against such 
Separate Contractor prior to the institution of litigation or other proceedings against such Separate 
Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the dispute, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, 
arbitrate the dispute, in which event the decision of the Owner shall be final and binding on the parties 
to the dispute.  In no event shall the Contractor seek to recover from the Owner, the Owner's 
Representative or the Architect/Engineer, and the Contractor hereby represents that it will not seek to 
recover from them, any costs, expenses or losses incurred by the Contractor as a result of any damage 
to the Work or property of the Contractor or any delay or interference caused or allegedly caused by 
any Separate Contractor. 
 7.2.5. If a dispute arises between the Contractor and any Separate Contractor as to the 
responsibility for cleaning as required by the Contract Documents, the Owner may clean and charge 
the cost thereof to the responsible contractor, or apportion it among the several responsible 
contractors, as the Owner shall determine to be just. 

Article 8 
TIME 

8.1. DEFINITIONS. 
 8.1.1. Whenever the word "day" is used in the Contract Documents, it shall mean a calendar day 
unless otherwise specifically provided. 
 8.1.2. The Date of Commencement of the Work is the date established in a written notice to 
proceed.  If there is no notice to proceed, it shall be the date of the Agreement or such other date as 
may be established by the Owner in writing. 
 8.1.3. The Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (or "Substantial Completion") is the date, 
certified by the Owner, when all construction is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 11 

Documents that the Owner may, if it elects, occupy and use the Work or designated portion thereof 
for the purpose for which it was intended. 
8.2. PROGRESS AND COMPLETION; SCHEDULING. 
 8.2.1. All times and dates stated in the Contract Documents including, without limitation, those 
for the Commencement, prosecution, Milestones, Substantial Completion and final completion of the 
Work and for the delivery and installation of materials and equipment, are of the essence of the 
Contract. 
 8.2.2. The Contractor shall begin the Work on the Date of Commencement and shall perform the 
Work diligently, expeditiously and with adequate resources so as to meet all Milestones and complete 
all the Work within the Contract Time. The scheduling of the Work shall be performed and monitored 
by the Contractor utilizing a method to be chosen by the Owner. The Contractor (and its 
Subcontractors, if the Owner requires) shall furnish all scheduling information requested by the Owner 
(in such form and detail as requested for the particular portion of the Work; herein referred to as the 
"Schedule" or "Schedules") within two (2) weeks of the Owner's request, shall revise the same from 
time to time thereafter when requested by the Owner, and shall attend such meetings concerning 
scheduling as the Owner may call from time to time.  The Contractor shall comply with any Schedule 
or Schedules established by it and approved by the Owner, or established by the Owner with respect 
to the Commencement, performance, Milestones or completion of the whole or various portions of the 
Work.  With respect to any portion of the Work for which a Schedule has not been established, the 
Contractor shall commence such portion of the Work within three (3) days of the date on which the 
Owner directs such commencement and shall thereafter prosecute and complete the same with all due 
diligence or as otherwise directed by the Owner.  Neither the scheduling information submitted by the 
Contractor or its Subcontractors, the acceptance or approval thereof by the Owner nor the 
establishment or implementation of, or failure to establish or implement, Schedules by the Owner shall 
relieve the Contractor of its obligation to perform and complete the Work in a timely manner or to 
otherwise perform in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 8.2.3. Float or slack time associated with any one chain of activities is defined as the amount of 
time between earliest start date and latest start date or between earliest finish date and latest finish 
date for such activities, as set forth in an approved Schedule for the Work (assuming the critical path 
method is used), including any revisions or updates thereto.  Float or slack time is not for the exclusive 
use or benefit of either the Owner or the Contractor.  However, if float time associated with any chain 
of activities is expended but not exceeded by any actions attributable to the Owner, the Contractor 
shall not be entitled to an extension in the Contract Time. 
8.3. DELAYS, EXTENSIONS OF TIME AND OVERTIME. 
 8.3.1. The time during which the Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by the 
acts or omissions of the Owner, the Owner's Representative, acts of God, unusually severe and 
abnormal climatic conditions or other conditions beyond the Contractor's control and which the 
Contractor could not reasonably have foreseen and provided against, shall be added to the Contract 
Time stated in the Agreement; provided, however, that no claim by the Contractor for an extension of 
time for such delays shall be considered unless made in accordance with Paragraph 13.1. 
 8.3.2. The Owner and the Owner's Representative shall not be obligated or liable to the 
Contractor for, and the Contractor hereby expressly waives any claims against them, on account of, 
any damages, costs or expenses of any nature whatsoever which the Contractor, its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors may incur as a result of any delays, interferences, suspensions, rescheduling, 
changes in sequence, congestion, disruptions or the like, arising from or out of any act or omission of 
the Owner, or any of the events referred to in Subparagraph 8.3.1. above, it being understood and 
agreed that the Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy in such event shall be an extension of the 
Contract Time, but only if claim is properly made in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 13.1. 
 8.3.3. Whenever, in the opinion of the Owner, the Work falls behind Schedule due to the fault of 
the Contractor, the Contractor shall, to the extent necessary to meet said Schedule, increase its labor 
force and/or provide overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, and Sunday and/or holiday work, and shall have 
each Subcontractor do likewise, all at no additional cost to or compensation from the Owner.  Further, 
the Owner shall have the right to offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor, 
or to be reimbursed by the Contractor for, any additional costs the Owner may incur as a direct result 
of said increase in labor force or overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 
 8.3.4. The Owner may, in its sole discretion and for any reason, direct the Contractor to accelerate 
the Schedule of performance by providing overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 12 

and/or by having all or any Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors designated by the Owner provide 
overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 
  8.3.4.1. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by the 
Contractor's own forces pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and exclusive obligation 
to the Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account thereof shall be to reimburse the 
Contractor for the direct cost to the Contractor of the premium time (or shift differential for any extra 
shifts) for all labor utilized by the Contractor in such overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday 
work (but not for the straight time costs of such labor, together with any Social Security and state or 
federal unemployment insurance taxes in connection with such premium time (or shift differential for 
any extra shifts). 
  8.3.4.2. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by a 
Subcontractor pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and exclusive obligation to the 
Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account thereof shall be to reimburse the Contractor 
for the direct cost to the Subcontractor for the premium time (or shift differential for any extra shifts) 
of all labor utilized in such overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work (but not for the 
straight time cost of such labor), together with any Social Security and state or federal unemployment 
insurance taxes in connection with such premium time. 
  8.3.4.3. Anything in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, should the Owner's 
direction to the Contractor to accelerate the Schedule of performance pursuant to this Subparagraph 
8.3.4. require the Contractor's or a Subcontractor's forces to work in excess of fifty (50) hours per week 
for a period in excess of four (4) consecutive weeks, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor, for each 
consecutive week after the fourth consecutive week in which the same forces are required to work in 
excess of fifty (50) hours, an additional amount equivalent to ten percent (10%) of the gross wages of 
Job Site labor, less payroll costs as defined in Subparagraph 12.2.1., paid to such forces on account of 
such overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4. Such 
acceleration shall be referred to as "Extended Acceleration", and the payment described herein shall 
be the sole and exclusive remedy for such Extended Acceleration including, without limitation, all 
inefficiencies, impacts, added supervision and overhead, ripple effect or any other costs or expenses 
of any kind.  Anything in this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owner shall 
have no obligation to make payments on account of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work 
ordered pursuant hereto unless: (a) the Contractor shall submit to the Owner, for the Owner's review 
and approval, duly authenticated time tickets evidencing the hours of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday work performed pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. by the end of the day on which 
performed and recapped in summary form; and (b) the Contractor shall include with its request for 
reimbursement a duplicate of each of the foregoing time tickets and such other substantiation of costs 
reimbursable hereunder as the Owner may require. If overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday work is performed in part pursuant to Subparagraph 8.3.3. and in part pursuant to this 
Subparagraph 8.3.4.3., the provisions of this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. calling for payments by the Owner 
on account thereof shall only apply to such work performed pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. 
8.4. TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF WORK.  The Owner shall have the authority to suspend the Work, 
in whole or in part, for such periods and such reasons as it may deem necessary or desirable, in its 
sole discretion including, without limitation:  (a) unsuitable weather; (b) other conditions considered 
unfavorable for the suitable prosecution of the Work; (c) special events; and/or (d) other conditions 
considered adverse to the best interests of the Owner.  Any such suspension shall be in writing to the 
Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately obey such orders of the Owner and shall not resume the 
Work until ordered in writing by the Owner.  No such temporary suspension of the Work, for periods 
of time up to thirty (30) consecutive days, shall be the basis of a claim by the Contractor for any 
increase in the Contract Sum or for any other damages, losses, costs or expenses whatsoever, all of 
which claims the Contractor hereby expressly waives.  The Contractor shall be entitled to an extension 
of the Contract Time not to exceed the length of time that the Work was suspended provided the claim 
is submitted in accordance with Paragraph 13.1. and the suspension is not due to an act or omission 
of the Contractor, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor. 

Article 9 
PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 

9.1. APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT; PASSAGE OF TITLE. 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 13 

 9.1.1.  The "Payment Application Date" shall be that day of each calendar month designated in the 
Agreement when the Contractor shall deliver the "Application for Payment," as hereinafter defined, to 
the Owner. 
 9.1.2.  The "Application for Payment" shall be an invoice prepared by the Contractor and submitted 
to the Owner in accordance with the Contract Documents.  It shall show in detail all monies properly 
payable to the Contractor in accordance with the previously approved Schedule of Values, including 
those items of labor, materials and equipment used or incorporated in the Work (and, if the Owner has 
agreed in advance in writing, suitably stored at the Job Site) through and including the Payment 
Application Date. The Application for Payment shall have, as attachments, waivers of mechanics' and 
materialmen's liens by the Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors as of the date of 
submission of the Application for Payment, which waivers shall conform in all material respects with 
the then current provisions of  Part I,  Chapter 713,  Florida Statutes  (or any successor  thereto), and 
such other evidence of performance of the Work, the costs thereof and payment therefor as the Owner 
may deem necessary or desirable. 
 9.1.3. The Contractor warrants that title to all Work, materials and equipment covered by an 
Application for Payment shall pass to the Owner, free and clear of all liens, claims, security interests or 
encumbrances, upon the sooner occurrence of: (a) the delivery of any such materials or equipment to 
the Job Site; or (b) the tender of payment of the applicable Application for Payment by the Owner to 
the Contractor; and that no Work, materials or equipment covered by an Application for Payment shall 
have been acquired, whether by the Contractor or by any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, subject 
to an agreement under which an interest therein or an encumbrance thereon is retained by the seller 
or otherwise imposed by the Contractor or such other person.  The passage of title to the Owner as 
provided herein shall not alter or limit the obligations and duties of the Contractor with respect to the 
Work and the materials or equipment incorporated therein or used in connection therewith as set forth 
in the Contract Documents. 
9.2. APPROVALS OF APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT. 
 9.2.1. If the Contractor has submitted an Application for Payment in the manner prescribed in 
the Contract Documents, the Owner shall, with reasonable promptness, approve the same (or such 
portions thereof covering amounts it determines to be properly due) or shall state in writing its reasons 
for withholding its approval (whether of all or a part). 
 9.2.2. The Owner's approval of an Application for Payment shall not constitute a representation 
by the Owner that the conditions precedent to the Contractor's entitlement to payment have been 
fulfilled, nor shall approval of an Application for Payment by the Owner be deemed a representation by 
the Owner:  (a) that it has made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or 
quantity of the Work; (b) that it has reviewed the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
coordination or procedures, or the cleanliness of the Job Site, or the safety precautions and programs, 
in connection with the Work; (c) that it has made any examination to ascertain how or for what 
purposes the Contractor has used the monies previously paid on account of the Contract Sum. 
 9.2.3. No approval of an Application for Payment, progress payment or any beneficial, partial or 
entire use or occupancy of the Project by the Owner shall constitute an acceptance of any Work which 
is not in accordance with the Contract Documents; and regardless of approval of an Application for 
Payment by the Owner, the Contractor shall remain totally obligated and liable for the performance of 
the Work in strict compliance with the Contract Documents. 
 9.2.4. Subject to the Owner's rights to offset or withhold as set forth in these General Conditions, 
after the Owner has approved an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, it shall make payment 
of the amount approved to the Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents. 
9.3. PAYMENTS WITHHELD; OWNER'S RIGHT TO MAKE DIRECT PAYMENTS FOR WORK. 
 9.3.1. The Owner may withhold its approval of an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, 
or nullify the whole or any part of an approval previously given, if it determines that the Application for 
Payment covers portions of the Work which have not, in fact, been completed, or that it includes 
amounts for claims allegedly made but not actually made (or subsequently withdrawn), and/or for 
which payment is not then due or if, and to the extent that, it deems it necessary or desirable to protect 
itself against loss or damage due to: (a) defective Work not remedied; (b) Contractor, Subcontractor, 
Sub-subcontractor or third party claims, disputes or liens or reasonable evidence indicating such claims, 
disputes or liens; (c) failure or alleged failure of the Contractor to make payments to Subcontractors 
(or of Subcontractors to make payments to Sub-subcontractors) as required by the Contract 
Documents, or failure to provide lien waivers for previous payments; (d) inability, or reasonable doubt 
as to the ability, of the Contractor to complete the Work within the Contract Time, for the unpaid 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 14 

balance of the Contract Sum or within the estimates prepared by the Contractor and submitted to and 
approved by the Owner; (e) damage to the Owner or a Separate Contractor; (f) unsatisfactory 
prosecution of the Work by the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors; (g) failure of the 
Contractor to maintain the Job Site in a clean and safe condition; (h) failure of the Contractor to meet 
any other monetary obligation imposed upon it pursuant to the Contract Documents; or (i) failure of 
the Contractor to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents. 
 9.3.2. The Owner after giving the Contractor appropriate notice, may make payments on account 
of labor, materials and/or equipment for the Work directly to the Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors 
or persons entitled to the same in lieu of paying the Contractor therefor or make joint payment to any 
such person and the Contractor.  Any amounts so paid shall be credited against the Contract Sum.  No 
such payment shall create any relationship between the recipient thereof and the Owner, nor any duty 
on the part of the Owner.  The Contractor shall cooperate with the Owner to facilitate any such direct  
payments and shall provide such evidence as the Owner may request for purposes of determining any 
amount to be so paid.  If the Owner elects to make such payments as a result of a failure on the part 
of the Contractor to perform in accordance with the Contract, or as a result of a request from the 
Contractor that the Owner make such payments, then the Owner may offset or credit the amount of 
its administrative costs incurred in making said such payments against the Contract Sum or render an 
invoice to the Contractor for such administrative costs, which invoice the Contractor shall pay promptly. 
9.4. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT. 
 9.4.1. At such time as the Contractor deems the Work to be Substantially Complete, the 
Contractor shall notify the Owner and prepare and submit to the Owner a list of items to be completed 
and/or corrected and its final bill, including itemized projected amounts for any portions of the Work 
not yet completed. The failure to include any items on such list shall not alter the responsibility of the 
Contractor to complete and/or correct the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  When 
the Owner, on the basis of an inspection, confirms the notification from the Contractor that the Work 
is Substantially Completed or, without being notified by the Contractor, determines that the Work is 
Substantially Completed, it shall prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Substantial 
Completion which may state the responsibilities of the Owner and the Contractor for maintenance, 
heat, utilities and insurance and it shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the Certificate of 
Substantial Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, in the form provided by the 
Owner, which sets forth those items determined by the Owner to require completion or correction, as 
applicable, and fix the time within which the Contractor shall complete or correct the items listed and 
complete all obligations required by the Contract Documents and submit to the Owner all documents 
and other matters required by the Contract Documents to be submitted by the Contractor upon 
completion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List 
shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's rights or remedies under the Contract Documents nor 
release the Contractor of its obligations to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents.  The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall constitute a demand for an Application for 
Payment (including all costs, claims or fees for any outstanding Change Orders, or any other matter 
which the Contractor has not previously waived pursuant to the General Conditions, and itemized 
projections for any incomplete Work), and the Contractor shall be deemed conclusively to have waived 
the right to payment of any such item, fee or cost of any kind not billed to the Owner within thirty (30) 
days of delivery to the Contractor of the Certificate of Substantial Completion.  The issuance of the 
Certificate of Substantial Completion shall not constitute a waiver of any rights of the Owner, including 
without limitation the right to those retainages permitted by the Contract Documents.  If the Contractor 
does not complete and/or correct the items listed in the Punch List within the time fixed therein, the 
Owner shall have the right to accomplish the same and offset all costs thereof against any amounts 
then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor are 
not sufficient to cover such costs, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner.  The Owner's 
decision as to the Date of Substantial Completion shall be final and binding. 
 9.4.2. Within a reasonable time following the Owner's receipt of written notification from the 
Contractor that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance and that the Contractor has 
completed all items set forth on the Punch List, including, delivery of the final Application for Payment, 
the Owner shall make such inspection and, when the Work is found to be acceptable under the Contract 
Documents and the Contract fully performed, shall certify completion of the Punch List, including 
approval of the final Application for Payment; provided, however, Owner shall not be required to certify 
completion of the Punch List and, therefore, neither final payment nor any retainage shall become due, 
until the Contractor submits to the Owner:  (a) an affidavit, in a form approved by the Owner, that all 
payrolls, bills for materials and equipment and other indebtednesses connected with the Work for which 
the Owner or its property might in any way be responsible have been paid in full or otherwise satisfied; 
(b) consent of sureties, if any, to final payment; (c) all Contract Documents (except one set thereof to 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 15 

be retained by the Contractor), including, without limitation, a completed set of as-builts and record 
documents (as defined in and to the extent required by the Specifications); (d) such other data as the 
Owner may require establishing payment or satisfaction of all obligations of the Contractor in 
connection with the Work including, without limitation, receipt of final satisfaction and releases and 
waivers of lien and releases of any and all claims by the Contractor, Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors, conforming in all material respects with the then current provisions of Part I, Chapter 
713, Florida Statutes (or any successor thereto) and evidencing performance of the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents; (e) a release of the Owner and its insurers from and against any claims 
under the insurance required to be provided by the Owner hereunder (except to the extent of any 
claims theretofore timely filed which are owing but unpaid) and a release of the Owner from and against 
any claims between the Contractor and a separate contractor; (f) any governmental certificates 
required by the Contract Documents or otherwise to evidence compliance of the Contractor and the 
Work with applicable laws, ordinances, rules, codes, regulations and the Contract Documents; and (g) 
warranties, guarantees, assignments thereof, and maintenance or other manuals, required by the 
Specifications in the forms approved by the Owner, in favor of the Owner and such other persons as   
the Owner may direct (notwithstanding the foregoing, by execution of the Agreement, the Contractor 
shall be deemed to have guaranteed to the Owner the matters contained in the attached form of 
guarantee incorporated by reference into the Agreement); and (h) a fully and properly executed Close-
out Change Order, with all of its fully and properly executed Exhibits, in the form attached to the 
Agreement. 
 9.4.3. The making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims or rights by the 
Owner. 
 9.4.4. The acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the Contractor 
and shall constitute a general release of the Owner, the Owner's Representative and the 
Architect/Engineer by the Contractor. 
 9.4.5. If any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor refuses to furnish any release, satisfaction or 
waiver of lien required at any time by the Owner under Paragraphs 9.1., 9.3. or 9.4., or files a claim of 
lien against the Owner's property, the Contractor shall, if requested by the Owner and at the 
Contractor's expense, furnish a bond (separate and apart from any other bond provided by the 
Contractor hereunder) satisfactory to the Owner to exempt the Owner and its property from and against 
any such lien.  The Contractor authorizes the Owner, and shall cause its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to authorize the Owner, to check directly with any suppliers of labor and material with 
respect to any item chargeable to the Owner's property, to confirm balances due and to obtain sworn 
statements and waivers of lien, all if the Owner elects.  If any lien remains unsatisfied after all payments 
are made to the Contractor, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner on account of all monies that 
the latter may be compelled to pay in discharging such lien, including all costs and attorneys' fees. 
9.5. BENEFICIAL USE AND OCCUPANCY; PARTIAL SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION. 
 9.5.1. The Owner reserves the right, at its option and convenience, to occupy or otherwise make 
use of all or any part of the Project or equipment at any time prior to completion of the Work upon two 
(2) days written notice to the Contractor (referred to herein as "Beneficial Occupancy"). The Owner 
shall use its best efforts to prevent such occupancy from interfering with the performance of the 
remaining Work; provided, however, that the Owner shall not be liable for any delays or additional 
costs of any nature caused by such occupancy. 
 9.5.2. Beneficial Occupancy shall not constitute acceptance by the Owner or the Owner's 
Representative of the completed Work or any portion thereof, shall not relieve the Contractor of its full 
responsibility for correcting defective Work and repairing the Work, shall not be deemed to be the 
equivalent of completion of the Work, shall not relieve the Contractor from its obligation to complete 
the Punch List, and shall not entitle the Contractor to any increase in the Contract Sum. 
 9.5.3. Anything in this Paragraph 9.5. to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owner may certify 
any portion of the Work to be occupied or used hereunder to be Substantially Completed and shall 
prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Partial Substantial Completion for such portion of 
the Work.  The Owner shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the Certificate of Partial 
Substantial Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, in the form provided by the 
Owner, and, upon the Contractor's timely completion or correction of the items on the Punch List and 
the Owner's approval thereof, accept that portion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to prepare and 
deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's rights or remedies 
under the Contract Documents nor release the Contractor of its obligations to complete the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. The provisions of Paragraph 9.4., except as they relate to 
the Contractor's obligations to complete or correct the Work in accordance with the Contract 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 16 

Documents, shall not apply to such Partial Substantial Completion, but the provisions of Subparagraph 
14.2.2. shall apply to the portion of the Work which the Owner certifies to be Substantially Completed. 

Article 10 
PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 

10.1.  RESPONSIBILITY FOR SAFETY AND HEALTH. 
 10.1.1. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety and 
anti-substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work, and shall provide all 
protection to prevent injury to all persons involved in any way in the Work and all other persons, 
including, without limitation, the employees, agents, guests, visitors, invitees and licensees of the 
Owner who may visit or be affected thereby.  These precautions shall include, but in no event be limited 
to:  the posting of danger signs and personal notification to all affected persons of the existence of a 
hazard of whatever nature; the furnishing and maintaining of necessary traffic control barricades and 
flagman services; the use, or storage, removal and disposal of required explosives or other hazardous 
materials only under the supervision  of qualified personnel  and after first obtaining permission  of all 
applicable governmental authorities; and the maintenance of adequate quantities of both hose and 
operable fire extinguishers at the Job Site.  The Contractor shall set forth in writing its safety and anti-
substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work and, if requested by the 
Owner, submit the same to the Owner for review.  The Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, make 
suggestions and recommendations to the Contractor with respect thereto. 
 10.1.2. All Work, whether performed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, 
or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and all equipment, appliances, machinery, 
materials, tools and like items incorporated or used in the Work, shall be in compliance with, and 
conform to:  (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public 
or other governmental authority relating to the safety of persons and their protection against injury, 
specifically including, but in no event limited to, the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970, as amended, and all rules and regulations now or hereafter in effect pursuant to said Act; and 
(b) all codes, rules, regulations and requirements of the Owner and its insurance carriers relating 
thereto.  In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 
 10.1.3. The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of its organization at the Job Site as 
the Project Safety Officer, whose duties it shall be to enforce the Contractor's safety and anti-substance 
abuse programs, to assure compliance with Subparagraph 10.1.2 and to prevent accidents.  This person 
shall be the Contractor's Project Manager unless otherwise designated in writing by the Contractor and 
approved by the Owner.  The Contractor shall further cause each of its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to designate a responsible supervisory representative to assist the Contractor's Project 
Safety Officer Representative in the performance of his or her duties as aforesaid. 
 10.1.4. Should the Contractor fail to provide a safe area for the performance of the Work or any 
portion thereof, the Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to suspend Work in the unsafe 
area.  All costs of any nature (including, without limitation, overtime pay) resulting from the suspension, 
by whomsoever incurred, shall be borne by the Contractor. 
 10.1.5. The Contractor shall provide to each worker on the Job Site the proper safety equipment 
for the duties being performed by that worker and will not permit any worker on the Job Site who fails 
or refuses to use the same.  The Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to order the 
Contractor to send a worker home for the day or to discharge a worker for his or her failure to comply 
with safe practices or anti-substance abuse policies, with which order the Contractor shall promptly 
comply. 
 10.1.6.  Any failure of the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors or anyone directly 
or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be responsible, to comply 
with the provisions of Paragraph 10.1. shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, 
recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized 
by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all 
damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, 
without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, 
incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any 
such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right 
to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Contract have already been paid or if the 
sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 17 

hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner.  
The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities under this Paragraph 10.1. should the Owner 
act or fail to act pursuant to its rights hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby assume, nor be deemed 
to have assumed, any responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the Contractor by this Contract, or in 
any other manner whatsoever. 
 10.1.7 The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities under this Paragraph 10.1. should 
the Owner act or fail to act pursuant to its rights hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby assume, nor 
be deemed to have assumed, any responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the Contractor by this 
Contract, or in any other manner whatsoever. 
10.2.  PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY; RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS. 
 10.2.1. The Contractor shall, throughout the performance of the Work, maintain adequate and 
continuous protection of all Work and temporary facilities against loss or damage from whatever cause, 
shall protect the property of the Owner and third parties from loss or damage from whatever cause 
arising out of the performance of the Work and shall comply with the requirements of the Owner and 
its insurance carriers and with all applicable laws, codes, rules and regulations with respect to the 
prevention of loss or damage to property as a result of fire or other hazards.  The Owner may, but 
shall not be required to, make periodic patrols of the Job Site as a part of its normal security program.  
In such event, however, the Contractor shall not be relieved of its aforesaid responsibilities. 
 10.2.2. Until final acceptance of the Work by the Owner pursuant to Paragraph 9.4. (unless and 
to the extent otherwise set forth in a Certificate of Substantial Completion), the Contractor shall have 
full and complete charge and care of and, except as otherwise provided in this Subparagraph 10.2.2., 
shall bear all risk of loss of, and injury or damage to, the Work or any portion thereof (specifically 
including Owner-furnished supplies, equipment or other items to be utilized in connection with, or 
incorporated in, the Work) from any cause whatsoever.  The Contractor shall rebuild, repair, restore 
and make good all losses of, and injuries or damages to, the Work or any portion thereof (specifically 
including Owner-furnished supplies, equipment or other items to be utilized in connection with, or 
incorporated in, the Work) before final acceptance of the Work.  Such rebuilding, repair or restoration 
shall be at the Contractor's sole cost and expense unless the loss, injury or damage requiring such 
rebuilding, repair or restoration:  (a) is directly due to errors in the Contract Documents which were 
not discovered by the Contractor and which the Contractor could not have discovered through the 
exercise of due diligence; (b) is caused by the Owner (unless (i) the Contractor has waived its rights 
of subrogation against the Owner on account thereof as provided in the Contract Documents, or (ii) 
such loss or damage would be covered by any policy or policies of insurance which the Contractor is 
required to maintain hereunder, whether the Contractor actually maintains such insurance or not, or 
(iii) is otherwise covered by a policy or policies of insurance maintained by the Contractor, whether or 
not required hereunder); or (c) is caused by a hazard against which the Owner is required to insure 
under the provisions of Article 11 hereof; provided, however, that if the loss, injury or damage would 
not have occurred but for the negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any of its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of 
them may be liable, the rebuilding, repair or restoration shall be at the Contractor's cost and expense 
to the extent of the deductible on said insurance. 
10.3.  SURFACE OR SUBSURFACE WATER. Surface or subsurface water or other fluid shall not be 
permitted to accumulate in excavations or under structures.  Should such conditions develop or be 
encountered, the water or other fluid shall be controlled and suitably disposed of by means of 
temporary pumps, piping, drainage lines and ditches, dams or other methods approved by the Owner 
in writing.  The proposed location and coordination of temporary channels and conduits conducting 
accumulated water from the Job Site shall be submitted to the Owner for its prior written approval.  All 
such work shall be done at the sole expense of the Contractor. 
10.4.  EMERGENCIES.  In any emergency affecting the safety of persons or property, or in the event of 
a claimed violation of any federal or state safety or health law or regulation, arising out of or in any 
way connected with the Work or its performance, the Contractor shall act immediately to prevent 
threatened damage, injury or loss or to remedy said violation, whichever is applicable, failing which 
the Owner may immediately take whatever action it deems necessary, including, but not limited to, 
suspending the Work as provided in Paragraph 8.4.  Any failure by the Contractor to act or remedy a 
violation shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional 
wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the 
performance of the Work. The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, 
losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, 
lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure to act or remedy a violation, 
including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 18 

fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, 
any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the 
right to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Contract have already been paid or if the 
sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner.  If 
the Contractor shall be entitled to any additional compensation or extension of time claimed on account 
of emergency work not due to the fault or neglect of the Contractor or its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, it shall be handled as a claim as provided in Article 13. 
10.5.  CLEANUP.  The Contractor shall at all times keep the Job Site clean and free from accumulation 
of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, hazardous waste), caused by their 
performance of the Work, and shall continuously throughout performance of the Work remove and 
dispose of all such materials from the Job Site and the Project.  The Owner may require the Contractor 
to comply with such standards, means and methods of cleanup, removal or disposal as the Owner may 
make known to the Contractor.  In the event the Contractor fails to keep the Job Site clean and free 
from such waste or rubbish, or to comply with such standards, means and methods, the Owner may 
take such action and offset any and all costs or expenses of whatever nature paid or incurred by the 
Owner in undertaking such action against any sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  The 
Contractor shall notify the Owner in advance of the generation, importation, storage, transportation or 
disposal, of any hazardous waste, toxic materials or contaminants of any type in connection with the 
Project. 
10.6.  OWNER'S STANDARDS.  The Owner reserves the right, but assumes no duty, to establish and 
enforce standards, and to change the same from time to time, for the protection of persons and 
property, with which the Contractor shall comply, and to review the efficiency of all protective measures 
taken by the Contractor.  The exercise of or failure to exercise any or all of these acts by the Owner 
shall not relieve the Contractor of its duties and responsibilities under this Contract, and the Owner 
shall not thereby assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any such duties or responsibilities of the 
Contractor. 

Article 11 
INSURANCE 

11.1.  COMMERCIAL INSURANCE/INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall at its expense procure and 
maintain during the life of this Agreement (and shall require the same from its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors) the following types and minimum amounts of insurance: 

11.1.1. Commercial General Liability Insurance including liability assumed under written contract, 
bodily injury, property damage, personal and advertising injury, and products/completed operations 
liability written on an occurrence basis with minimum combined single limits for bodily injury and 
property damage of $1,000,000 per occurrence. This coverage must be maintained for two (2) years 
after contract expiration;  

11.1.2. Automobile Liability coverage for all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles written on an 
occurrence basis, with minimum combined single limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;   

11.1.3. Workers’ Compensation Insurance providing statutory benefits and Employer’s Liability 
Insurance with minimum limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;  

11.1.4. Umbrella Liability on a follow-form basis providing coverage excess of the underlying 
policies required by 11.1.1., 11.1.2., and 11.1.3. above in an amount of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence; 

11.1.5. If Contractor is providing any kind of professional service or advice including design, 
architectural, surveying, legal, financial, accounting or similar then Contractor will also carry 
Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence.  This insurance may be on a claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that precedes 
the first date of work or services under this agreement and is maintained for at least two (2) years 
following the conclusion of work. 

11.1.6. If Contractor is using, transporting or disposing of any hazardous materials, potentially 
harmful materials, chemicals, waste or similar then Contractor will also carry Pollution Liability insurance 
with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  This insurance may be on a claims-made form if 
there is a retroactive date that precedes the first date of work or services under this agreement and is 
maintained for at least two (2) years following the conclusion of work. 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 19 

11.1.7. If work will include the use or operation of any crane, total limit of Umbrella liability 
insurance will be at least $4,000,000. 

11.1.8. If Contractor is using any kind of aircraft including unmanned aerial vehicles (drones) then 
use must be approved by Owner and liability insurance satisfactory to Owner must be obtained. 

11.1.9. Contractor is not required to commercially insure its owned, rented or borrowed machinery, 
tools, equipment, office trailers, vehicles, and other property but agrees that Owner is not responsible 
for and Contractor holds Owner harmless for loss, damage or theft of such items. 
11.2.  All insurance required under this Article shall be with companies and on forms authorized to 
issue insurance in Florida and with an insurer financial strength rating from AM Best of no less than A- 
or an equivalent rating from a similar, recognized ratings agency unless such requirements are waived, 
in writing, by the Owner’s Risk Manager.  Certificates of insurance (or copies of policies, if required by 
the Owner) shall be furnished to the Owner at vendors@oversightdistrict.org. 
11.3.  CANCELLATION.  All such insurance required by this Article shall provide that the coverage 
thereunder may not be reduced or canceled unless thirty (30) days unrestricted prior written notice 
thereof is furnished to Contractor, who agrees to promptly relay any such notice received to Owner.    
11.4.  ADDITIONAL INSUREDS.  Each liability policy required herein (except Workers’ Compensation or 
Professional Liability) shall schedule as Additional Insureds, on a primary and non-contributory basis, 
the Owner and its affiliated entities and their supervisors, officers, employees, agents and assigns.   
11.5. WAIVERS. The Contractor hereby waives, and will require its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to waive and to require its and their insurers to waive their rights of recovery or 
subrogation against the Owner and its affiliated entities, supervisors, officers, employees, agents and 
assigns.  
11.6. CLAIMS.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors shall assist and 
cooperate in every manner possible in connection with the adjustment of all claims arising out of the 
operations conducted under or in connection with the Work and shall cooperate with the insurance 
carrier or carriers of the Owner and of the Contractor, its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors in all 
litigated claims and demands which arise out of said operations and which the said insurance carrier 
or carriers are called upon to adjust or resist. 
11.7.  INDEMNIFICATION.  The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner and its 
appointed board supervisors, officers, employees, and volunteers from and against liabilities, damages, 
losses and costs including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees to the extent caused by the 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct (which includes, without limitation, any 
failure of the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors to perform and complete 
the Services in strict compliance with the Contract Documents, unless such failure has been specifically 
waived by the District in writing upon final acceptance of the Services) of the Contractor or any persons 
employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Agreement, including without 
limitation, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor (or their employees), utilized by the Contractor in 
the performance of the Services. The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement. 

Article 12 
CHANGES IN THE WORK 

12.1.  CHANGE ORDERS AND DIRECTIVES. The Owner may, without affecting the validity of the 
Contract Documents or any term or condition thereof, issue Change Orders, or Directives, or give other 
orders and instructions regarding the Work which may have the effect of ordering extra work or other 
changes in the Work by altering, adding to or deducting from the Work, modifying the method or 
manner of its performance or otherwise (herein sometimes referred to as "Changes in the Work").  The 
Contractor shall comply with all such orders and instructions issued by the Owner.  In any such event, 
the Contract Sum shall, where applicable, be increased or decreased in the manner hereinafter set 
forth; provided, however, that if the Contractor should proceed with a Change in the Work upon an 
oral order, by whomsoever given, it shall constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for an 
increase in the Contract Sum or extension of the Contract Time on account thereof.  Upon receipt of 
any such Change Order, or Directive or other order or instructions, the Contractor shall promptly 
proceed with the Change in the Work, even though the amount of any resultant increase or decrease 
in the Contract Sum has not yet been determined.  All Changes in the Work shall be performed in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 
12.2.  CHANGES REQUIRING AN INCREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result 
in an increase in the Contract Sum, the Owner shall have the right to require the performance thereof 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 20 

on a lump sum basis, a unit price basis or a time and material basis, all as hereinafter more particularly 
described. 
 12.2.1. If the Owner elects to have any Change in the Work performed on a lump sum basis, its 
election shall be based on a lump sum proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor to the 
Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but the Owner's 
request for a lump sum proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner to have the Change in 
the Work performed on a lump sum basis).  The Contractor's proposal shall be itemized and segregated 
by labor and materials for the various components of the Change in the Work (no aggregate labor total 
will be acceptable) and shall be accompanied by signed proposals of any Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors who will perform any portion of the Change in the Work and of any persons who will 
furnish materials or equipment for incorporation therein. The portion of the proposal relating to labor, 
whether by the Contractor's forces or those of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may only 
include reasonably anticipated gross wages of Job Site labor, including foremen, who will be directly 
involved in the Change in the Work (for such time as they will be involved), plus payroll costs (including 
Social Security, federal or state unemployment insurance taxes and fringe benefits in connection with 
such labor required by union and/or trade agreements if applicable) and up to fifteen percent (15%) 
of such anticipated gross wages, but not payroll costs, as overhead and profit for any such entity 
actually performing the Change in the Work or a portion thereof.  The portion of the proposal relating 
to materials may only include the reasonably anticipated direct costs to the Contractor, its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors (as applicable) of materials to be purchased for incorporation in 
the Change in the Work, plus transportation and applicable sales or use taxes, and up to fifteen percent 
(15%) of said direct material costs as overhead and profit for the entity actually supplying the materials. 
The proposal may further include the Contractor's or its Subcontractor's or Sub-subcontractor's 
reasonably anticipated direct rental costs in connection with the Change in the Work (either actual 
rates or discounted local published rates), plus up to six percent (6%) thereof as overhead and profit 
for the entity actually incurring such costs.  If any of the items included in the lump sum proposal are 
covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, the Owner may elect to use these unit 
prices in lieu of the similar items included in the lump sum proposal, in which event an appropriate 
deduction will be made in the lump sum amount prior to the application of any allowed overhead and 
profit percentages.  No overhead and profit shall be applied to any unit prices.  The lump sum proposal 
may only include up to six percent (6%) of the amount which the Contractor will pay to any 
Subcontractor, and up to six percent (6%) of the amount which a Subcontractor will pay to any Sub-
subcontractor, for the Change in the Work as overhead and profit to the Contractor or Subcontractor 
(only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may be included). 
 12.2.2. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a unit price basis, its 
election shall be based on a unit price proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor to the 
Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but the Owner's 
request for a unit price proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner to have the Change in 
the Work performed on a unit price basis).  The Contractor's proposal shall itemize the quantities of 
each item of the Change in the Work for which there is an applicable unit price contained in the Contract 
Documents.  The quantities shall be itemized in relation to each specific Drawing.  Unit prices shall be 
applied to net differences of quantities of the same item.  Nothing herein contained shall preclude the 
Owner from requesting a lump sum proposal and a unit price proposal with respect to the same Change 
in the Work, in which event the Contractor shall submit both. 
 12.2.3. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a time and material 
basis, the same shall be performed, whether by the Contractor's forces or the forces of any of its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, at actual cost to the entity performing the Change in the Work 
(without any charge for  administration, clerical expense, supervision or superintendents of any nature 
whatsoever, except foremen directly involved in the Change in the Work, or the cost, use or rental of 
small tools, defined as tools with a cost or value of less than $1,000, or equipment owned by the 
Contractor or any of its related or affiliated companies), plus fifteen percent (15%) of gross wages 
(excluding payroll costs) of Job Site labor and direct material costs and six percent (6%) of rental costs 
(other than small tools or equipment owned by the Contractor or any of its related or affiliated 
companies) as the total overhead and profit.  Only the entity actually performing the Change in the 
Work or a portion thereof shall be entitled to a mark-up as aforesaid for overhead and profit, but the 
Contractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any Subcontractor, and a 
Subcontractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any Sub-subcontractor 
(only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may be included), for the Change in the 
Work as overhead and profit to the Contractor or Subcontractor.  The Contractor shall submit to the 
Owner daily time and material tickets, to include the identification number assigned to the Change in 
the Work, the location and description of the Change in the Work, the classification, names and social 
security numbers of the labor employed, the materials used, the equipment rented (not tools) and such 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 21 

other evidence of costs as the Owner may require.  The Owner may require authentication of all time 
and material tickets and invoices by persons designated by the Owner for such purpose.  The failure 
of the Contractor to secure any required authentication shall, if the Owner elects to treat it as such, 
constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for the cost of that portion of the Change in the 
Work covered by a non-authenticated ticket or invoice; provided, however, that the authentication of 
any such ticket or invoice by the Owner shall not constitute an acknowledgment by the Owner that the 
items thereon were reasonably required for the Change in the Work. 
 12.2.4. The Owner shall have no obligation or liability on account of a Change in the Work except 
as specifically provided in this Paragraph 12.2.  If the Contractor fails to render any proposal within ten 
(10) days after the date of the Owner's request pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. or such longer period 
of time established by the Owner in its request, the Owner may issue a unilateral Change Order for 
any such Change in the Work giving the Owner's reasonable estimate of the cost of the Change, which 
shall become automatically binding upon the Contractor.  Overhead and profit, as allowed under this 
Paragraph 12.2., shall be deemed to cover all costs and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including, 
without limitation, those for clean-up, protection, supervision, estimating, field operations, insurance, 
impacts, inefficiency, extended (Job Site and home office) overhead, unabsorbed (Job Site and home 
office) overhead, delays, acceleration (actual or constructive), ripple effect, small tools and security, 
which the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors may incur in the performance 
of or in connection with a Change in the Work and which are not otherwise specifically recoverable by 
them pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. 
 12.2.5. The Work pursuant to this Contract shall be performed by the Contractor at no extra cost 
to the Owner despite any order from the Owner which designates or contemplates a portion of the 
Work as a Change in the Work. 
12.3. CHANGES REQUIRING A DECREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result 
in a decrease in the Contract Sum, the Owner may request a quotation by the Contractor of the amount 
of such decrease for use in preparing a Change Order.  The Contractor's quotation shall be forwarded 
to the Owner within ten (10) days after the date of the Owner's request or such longer period of time 
established by the Owner therein and, if acceptable to the Owner, shall be incorporated in the Change 
Order.  If not acceptable, the parties shall make every reasonable effort to agree as to the amount of 
such decrease, which may be based on a lump sum properly itemized, on unit prices stated in the 
Contract Documents and/or on such other basis as the parties may mutually determine.  If the parties 
are unable to agree, the amount of such decrease shall be the total of the estimated reduction in actual 
cost of the Work, as determined by the Owner's Representative in its reasonable judgment.  If the 
Contractor fails to render any proposal within the time required herein, the Owner may issue a unilateral 
deductive Change Order giving the Owner's reasonable estimate of the deductive Change, which shall 
become automatically binding upon the Contractor. 
12.4. DISPUTES REGARDING CHANGES.  If any dispute should arise between the parties with respect 
to an increase or decrease in the Contract Sum as a result of a Change in the Work, the Contractor 
shall not suspend performance of any such Change in the Work or the Work itself unless otherwise 
ordered by the Owner in writing.  The Owner may, however, notify the Contractor of its determination 
regarding any such Change and, in the case of an increase, may thereafter pay to the Contractor up 
to 50% of the Owner's reasonable estimate of the value of the Change in the Work as its sole obligation 
with respect to any such Change pending resolution of the dispute.  The Contractor shall thereafter be 
subject to the terms of Paragraph 13.2. regarding its claim for any difference. 
12.5. AUDIT RIGHTS. The Contractor shall afford, and shall cause its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to afford, access to the Owner at all reasonable times to any accounting books and 
records, correspondence, instructions, invoices, receipts, vouchers, memoranda and other records of 
any kind relating to the Work, all of which each of them shall maintain for a period of at least four (4) 
years from and after the Date of Substantial Completion.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and 
Sub-subcontractors shall make the same available for inspection, copying and audit, in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting standards, within three (3) days following notification to the Contractor 
of the Owner's intent to audit, failing which any claims for an increase in the Contract Sum and/or 
extension of the Contract Time, as applicable, shall be waived.

Article 13 
CLAIMS 

13.1. CLAIMS FOR EXTENSIONS OF CONTRACT TIME.  No claim by the Contractor for an extension of 
the Contract Time or any Milestones shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 
13.1.  The Contractor shall not be entitled to any extension of the Contract Time or any Milestones as 
a result of any condition or cause, unless it shall have given written notice to the Owner pursuant to 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 22 

Paragraph 16.3. promptly, but in any event within fourteen (14) days following the commencement of 
each such condition or cause and stating the probable duration of the condition or cause and the 
Contractor’s request for an extension of time.  The Contractor shall deliver to the Owner, within thirty 
(30) days after the commencement of each condition or cause for which the Contractor has submitted 
a request for extension of time, supporting data to substantiate and justify the Contractor’s request, 
including, without limitation, an analysis showing the actual impact of the condition or cause on the 
Schedule and the critical path of construction activities, plus any other documentation or information 
as may be requested by the Owner or as may be necessary to substantiate the Contractor’s request.  
The Contractor hereby waives any claims for any such extensions not timely made or timely 
substantiated in accordance herewith.  If the Contractor timely makes any such claim and the parties 
are unable to agree as to whether or not the Contractor is entitled to an extension of time or the length 
of such extension regarding such claim, the Owner's Representative may, but shall not be required to, 
ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and determine and fix an extension of the time for 
completing the Work. 
13.2.  CLAIMS FOR INCREASES IN CONTRACT SUM. 
 13.2.1. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 12.2., no claim by the Contractor for an increase 
in the Contract Sum shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 13.2.  The 
Contractor shall give the Owner written notice pursuant to Paragraph 16.3. of any such claim promptly, 
but in any event not later than fourteen (14) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the 
claim (including, without limitation, any Owner determination pursuant to Article 12.4.), but (except in 
the event of emergencies pursuant to Paragraph 10.4.) prior to the incurring of any expenses by the 
Contractor.  Failure to give such notice, or to provide substantiation thereof as required below, shall 
constitute a waiver of the claim including, but not limited to, any and all damages, cost, impacts, 
inefficiency, extended overhead, unabsorbed overhead, ripple effect, or expenses of any nature 
whatsoever which the Contractor, or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may suffer or incur.  
Claims shall be made in writing and shall identify the instructions or other circumstances that are the 
basis of the claim and shall set forth the Contractor's best estimate of the dollar amount claimed.  
Within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim, the Contractor shall 
fix the amount of its claim with specificity and shall provide to the Owner supporting data to 
substantiate and justify the Contractor’s claim, including, without limitation, substantiation of all costs 
plus any other documentation or information as may be requested by the Owner or as may be necessary 
to substantiate the Contractor’s claim.  No claim shall be considered by the Owner if the Contractor has 
otherwise waived its rights to file a claim pursuant to the Contract Documents. 
13.3. NO OTHER CLAIMS.  The parties acknowledge that the provisions of Paragraphs 13.1. and 13.2. 
are included herein for the purpose of fixing and limiting the time within which, and the manner in 
which claims must be made; and that Paragraphs 13.1. and 13.2. do not grant to the Contractor any 
right to increases in the Contract Sum, or extensions in the Contract Time or any Milestones, not 
otherwise permitted or provided by the other terms and provisions of the Contract Documents. 

Article 14 
UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK; 

OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK 
14.1. UNCOVERING OF WORK. 
 14.1.1. If any portion of the Work should be covered contrary to the instructions or request of the 
Owner or the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall, if required by the Owner, 
uncover such portion of the Work for the Owner's observation and shall replace such Work all at the 
Contractor's expense. 
 14.1.2. If any portion of the Work should be covered prior to a specific request for observation or 
instruction by the Owner, the Owner may request to see such Work, and it shall be uncovered by the 
Contractor.  If such Work is found to be in accordance with the Contract Documents and without defect, 
the cost of uncovering and replacement shall, by appropriate Change Order, be charged to the Owner.  
If such Work is found to be defective or not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contractor 
shall bear such costs; provided, however, that if it is found that the condition was caused by a Separate 
Contractor employed as provided in Article 7, the Contractor shall have the right to seek reimbursement 
of the costs it incurs as aforesaid from said Separate Contractor.
14.2.  CORRECTION OF WORK. 
 14.2.1. The Owner shall have the authority to reject any portion of the Work which is defective or 
does not conform to the Contract Documents, and the Contractor shall promptly correct all Work  
rejected by the Owner, whether observed before or after the Date of Substantial Completion and 
whether or not fabricated, installed or completed.  In order that such corrective Work shall not interrupt 
or delay the Owner's schedule for completion of the Project or, if applicable, disturb the occupants of 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 23 

the completed Project, the Contractor shall perform such Work according to a schedule therefor 
established by the Owner (which may provide that the same be performed on overtime, shiftwork, 
Saturdays, Sundays and/or holidays), utilizing in the performance thereof such manpower as is 
necessary to complete the corrective Work in accordance with said schedule.  The Contractor shall bear 
all costs of correcting such rejected Work including, without limitation, compensation for any additional 
architectural and engineering services made necessary thereby. 
 14.2.2. If, within one (1) year after the Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (as determined 
by the Owner) or within such longer period of time as may be prescribed by law or by the terms of any 
applicable warranty or guarantee required by the Contract Documents, any of the Work is found to be 
defective or not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall correct it promptly 
after receipt of written instructions to that effect from the Owner unless the Owner has previously 
given the Contractor a written acceptance of such condition. 
 14.2.3. The Contractor shall remove from the Job Site all Work which is defective or non-
conforming and not corrected under Paragraph 5.4. or Subparagraphs 14.2.1. or 14.2.2. unless removal 
is waived by the Owner. 
 14.2.4. The Contractor shall bear the cost of making good all work of Separate Contractors (and 
any of the Owner's other structures or facilities) destroyed or damaged by such removal or correction. 
 14.2.5. If the Contractor does not remove such uncorrected defective or non-conforming Work 
within a reasonable time fixed by written instructions to that effect from the Owner, the Owner may 
remove it and store the materials and equipment at the expense of the Contractor.  If the Contractor 
does not pay the cost of such removal and storage within ten (10) days thereafter, the Owner may, 
upon ten (10) additional days written notification to the Contractor, sell such materials and equipment 
at public or private sale and account to the Contractor for the net proceeds thereof, after deducting all 
the costs that should have been borne by the Contractor, including compensation for any additional 
architectural and engineering services and attorneys' fees made necessary thereby.  If such proceeds 
of sale do not cover all costs which the Contractor should have borne, the difference shall be offset 
against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due 
to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such difference, the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay 
the same to the Owner.  The obligations of the Contractor under this Subparagraph 14.2.5. shall be in 
addition to, and not in limitation of, any obligations imposed on it by law, by any other provision of this 
Contract or by any warranty or guarantee under this Contract. 
 14.2.6. If the Contractor fails to correct any defective or non-conforming Work, the Owner may 
correct it in accordance with Paragraph 14.3.  In the event of a defect found after final acceptance of 
the Work by the Owner which the Contractor is obligated to correct pursuant to Subparagraph 14.2.2., 
the Owner may, at its option, after giving the Contractor an opportunity to correct such defect, cause 
such corrective Work to be performed by others and charge the Contractor with the cost thereof.  Such 
charge shall be due and payable by the Contractor upon demand. 
14.3.  OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK.   If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or fails to perform any provision of this Contract, and 
such default, neglect or non-performance shall continue for a period of 48 hours after written 
notification thereof from the Owner (or if such default, neglect or non-performance cannot be 
reasonably remedied within such 48-hour period, and Contractor does not (in the sole determination 
of Owner) undertake in good faith the remedy of the same within said period and thereafter proceed 
diligently to completion), then the Owner may, without prejudice to any other remedy the Owner may 
have, make good such deficiencies; provided, however, that in the event of an emergency, as 
determined by the Owner, no notification shall be required.  The Owner shall have the right to take 
possession of such portion of the Job Site as will enable it to make good such deficiencies and, in 
connection therewith, to utilize the materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery 
of the Contractor located on the Job Site.  If the Owner makes good any such deficiencies, the costs 
of correcting the same including, without limitation, compensation for additional architectural and 
engineering services made necessary by such default, neglect or non-performance, shall be offset 
against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due 
to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such costs, then the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay 
the difference to the Owner.
14.4.  ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE OR NON-CONFORMING WORK.   If the Owner prefers to accept 
defective or non-conforming Work, it may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in 
which case an appropriate amount shall be offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor; or, if the said appropriate amount of offset is determined after final payment (or if there is 
not then or thereafter due to the Contractor an amount sufficient to cover the offset available to the 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 24 

Owner), the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay the appropriate amount (or the difference after offset, 
as applicable) to the Owner. 

Article 15 
TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 

 
15.1.  TERMINATION BY CONTRACTOR. If the Owner should, without notifying the Contractor of its 
cause for doing so, fail or refuse to approve an Application for Payment or make payment thereon for 
a period of thirty (30) days after the same is required to be approved or paid pursuant to the Contract 
Documents, then the Contractor shall have the right, as its sole and exclusive remedy and upon 
fourteen (14) days prior written notice to the Owner, to terminate this Contract and recover from the 
Owner payment for all unpaid Work executed up to the date of termination, including any proven loss 
of reasonable profits sustained, based upon the percentage of Work completed through the date of 
termination.  If the Owner shall cure its said default within such fourteen (14) day period, then the 
Contractor's notice of termination shall thereby be rendered ineffective, and this Contract shall continue 
in full force and effect.  Prior to termination as aforesaid, the Contractor shall not delay or suspend the 
Work in whole or in part.  The Contractor may not terminate this Contract on the grounds that the 
cause given by the Owner for failing or refusing to pay is not in accordance with fact or law, it being 
understood and agreed that the Contractor's sole remedy in such event shall be to seek money 
damages.  The Contractor acknowledges that it can be adequately compensated by such money 
damages for any breach of this Contract which may be committed by the Owner.  Accordingly, and 
except as hereinabove provided, the Contractor expressly agrees that no default, act or omission of 
the Owner shall entitle the Contractor to cancel or rescind this Contract or suspend or abandon its 
performance of the Work. 
15.2. TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CAUSE. 
 15.2.1. If the Contractor should become insolvent, file any bankruptcy proceedings, make a 
general assignment for the benefit of creditors, suffer or allow appointment of a receiver, refuse, fail 
or be unable to make prompt payment to Subcontractors, disregard applicable laws, ordinances, 
governmental orders or regulations or the instructions of the Owner, or if the Contractor should 
otherwise be guilty of a violation of, or in default under, any provision of the Contract, then the Owner 
may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy available to the Owner and after giving the 
Contractor and its surety, if any, three (3) days written notice, terminate the Contract and the 
employment of the Contractor on the Project, take possession of the Job Site and of all materials, 
equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor and finish 
the Work by whatever method the Owner may deem expedient.  In addition, without terminating this 
Contract as a whole, the Owner may, under any of the circumstances set forth above, terminate any 
portion of this Contract (by reducing, in such manner the Owner deems appropriate, the scope of the 
Work to be performed by the Contractor) and complete the portion of this Contract so terminated in 
such manner as the Owner may deem expedient, taking possession of such part of the Job Site and 
utilizing such materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery owned by the 
Contractor as may be necessary to accomplish the same.  The Contractor hereby grants to the Owner 
the further right:  (a) to enter upon any premises or property other than the Job Site in order to take 
possession of any materials, tools, equipment, machinery or other items intended for incorporation in 
the Work (or any portion thereof) or for use in the performance thereof; and  (b) to receive an 
assignment of such subcontracts as the Owner deems necessary or desirable at the time of termination 
of this Contract or a portion thereof. 
 15.2.2. If this Contract is terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., the Contractor shall not 
be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed, and the Owner shall have the 
same right to retain monies owing to the Contractor as it would have to retain such monies from and 
against final payments.  Upon the completion of the Work, the Owner shall make payment to the 
Contractor, or the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner, as the case may be, as provided in Article 10 
of the Agreement.  If a portion of this Contract is terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., such 
termination shall not be treated as a reduction in the scope of the Work pursuant to Article 12.  Rather, 
in such event, the Owner shall offset against any monies then or thereafter due to the Contractor an 
amount determined by the Owner to be adequate to cover all costs and expenses it will incur in 
performing, or causing to be performed, the portion of this Contract so terminated.  If the Owner's 
cost and expenses prove to be less than the amount offset, the Contractor shall be entitled to the 
difference unless otherwise provided herein.  If the amount then or thereafter due to the Contractor is 
less than the amount to be offset and/or if the Owner's costs and expenses prove to exceed the amount 
offset, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner upon demand.



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 25 

 15.2.3. The remedies provided to the Owner in this Paragraph 15.2. are in addition to, and not in 
lieu of, any other rights or remedies available to the Owner under the Contract Documents, at law or 
in equity.  In the event of any breach of this Contract by the Contractor, and whether or not this 
Contract is terminated by the Owner, the Contractor shall be liable for all damages, losses, costs and 
expenses incurred by the Owner as a result thereof. 
15.3. TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE. Without limitation to the provisions of Paragraph 
15.2., the Owner shall have the right at any time, upon not less than three (3) days notice to the 
Contractor to terminate this Contract without cause and/or for the Owner's convenience.  Upon receipt 
of such notice of termination, the Contractor shall forthwith discontinue the Work and remove its 
equipment and employees from the Job Site.  In the event of termination under this Paragraph 15.3., 
the Contractor shall have the right, as its sole and exclusive remedy, to recover from the Owner 
payment for all unpaid Work executed up to the date of termination, including any proven loss of 
reasonable profits sustained based upon the percentage of Work completed through the date of 
termination.  In addition, without terminating this Contract as a whole, the Owner may, for its 
convenience, terminate a portion of this Contract (by reducing, in such manner as the Owner deems 
appropriate, the scope of the Work to be performed by the Contractor), in which event such termination 
of a portion of this Contract shall be treated as a reduction in the scope of the Work pursuant to 
Article 12. 

Article 16 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
16.1.  GOVERNING LAW. This Contract shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the 
laws of the State of Florida, to the exclusion of Florida rules of conflicts of laws. 
16.2.  ASSIGNABILITY; SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. 
 16.2.1. This Contract may be assigned by Owner at any time without Contractor's consent; without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, all warranties and guarantees in favor of Owner under the 
Contract Documents may be assigned without Contractor's consent by Owner to any party designated 
by Owner and such assignee may directly enforce any such warranty or guarantee.  The Contractor 
shall not assign this Contract in whole or in part without the written consent of the Owner, which 
consent the Owner may withhold in its sole discretion; nor shall this Contract be assignable by the 
Contractor by operation of law.  The Contractor shall not assign any monies due or to become due to 
it hereunder without the prior written consent of the Owner. 
 16.2.2. The Owner and the Contractor each binds itself and, to the extent permitted herein, its 
successors and assigns, to the other party and, to the extent permitted herein, the other party's 
successors and assigns, in respect to all covenants, agreements and obligations contained in the 
Contract Documents. 
16.3.  NOTICE.  All notices (whether or not designated as such herein) which are required under this 
Contract to be given between the parties pursuant to this paragraph shall be in writing and deemed 
given and, unless otherwise provided herein, effective when delivered personally to an officer of the 
party to be served (including the Contractor's Project Manager, in the case of the Contractor), when 
deposited in the United States mail, or in a sealed envelope, with postage thereon prepaid, sent by 
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to the appropriate party at the 
address set forth in the Agreement or such other address as may be designated by either party hereto 
by notice to the other, or when transmitted by wire or facsimile to the appropriate party at the aforesaid 
address (a complimentary confirming letter shall also be mailed to the appropriate party on the same 
date). 
16.4.  PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS. Unless waived or otherwise agreed by the Owner, the 
Contractor shall furnish (and if directed by the Owner shall require all or certain of its Subcontractors 
to furnish) a bond covering the faithful performance of this Contract (or any such subcontract), as 
revised or modified from time to time, and a bond covering the payment of all obligations arising 
thereunder in full compliance with the then current provisions of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes (or 
any successor thereto; or, if applicable, Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, or any successor thereto), 
each in the full Contract Sum, as revised or Modified from time to time, and with such sureties as may 
be approved by the Owner.  Each bond shall contain the following language:  "The provisions and 
limitations of Section 255.05 or of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes, whichever is applicable to the 
Contract, are incorporated herein by reference, provided, however, that in the event of any conflict 
between the provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 and those contained in this bond, the 
provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 shall govern."  If such bonds, or either of them, 
are stipulated in the bidding documents or in the Contract Documents, the premium therefor shall be 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 26 

paid by the Contractor (or appropriate Subcontractors); but if required or increased in amount pursuant 
hereto subsequent to award of the Contract or due to Changes in the Work, the premium therefor shall 
be reimbursed by the Owner.  The Contractor shall deliver promptly, and in any event no later than 
ten (10) days after notice of award, to the Owner any required bonds or amendments thereto.  The 
Contractor's failure to timely obtain and deliver the required bonds or amendments thereto shall 
constitute cause for the Owner to terminate this Contract (or for the Contractor to terminate any 
subcontract).  The Owner shall not be obligated to respond to, and the Contractor shall assure that the 
Owner is not sent, any job status inquiries from the Contractor, any surety, or any of their accountants 
or independent auditors. 
16.5.  MAINTENANCE OF HARMONIOUS RELATIONS.  The Contractor is hereby advised that any portion 
of the Project, or other projects in proximity to the Project may be subject to, and governed by, certain 
union or trade agreements.  It is the policy of the Owner to promote and maintain harmonious 
relationships in connection with the Project.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors shall follow this policy; and shall utilize only qualified persons or organizations in the 
performance of the Work.  A qualified person or organization is one:  which is not likely to promote 
labor unrest on the Project; which shall abide by all local, state and federal labor and employment 
relation rules, regulations and laws; whose financial stability is reasonably assured throughout the 
duration of the Contract; and whose commitments to other projects are not likely to interfere with its 
ability to perform its portion of the Work efficiently and cost effectively.  The Owner reserves the right 
to disapprove, or to require the removal of, any person or organization who is being considered for, or 
has received, an award to perform all or a portion of the Work but has failed to demonstrate the 
willingness or ability to follow this policy. 
16.6.  UNION AGREEMENTS.  Regardless of the expiration of any collective bargaining agreement during 
the term of this Contract which may affect the Contractor in any of its activities including, without 
limitation, with respect to the Work or the Project, the Contractor is obligated to man the job and 
properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent manner.  Upon notification of expected or actual 
labor disputes or job disruption arising out of any such collective bargaining negotiations, the expiration 
of any union or trade agreement or any other cause, the Contractor and its Subcontractors and 
Sub-subcontractors shall cooperate with the Owner concerning any legal, practical or contractual 
actions to be taken by the Owner in response thereto and shall perform any actions requested by the 
Owner to eliminate, neutralize or mitigate the effects of such actions on the progress of the Work and 
the impact of such actions on the public access to the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District or any 
of the properties or facilities located therein, irrespective of whether such properties are owned by the 
Owner or by a third party.  It is the Contractor's obligation, at the Contractor's own cost and expense, 
to take all steps available to prevent any persons performing the work from engaging in any disruptive 
activities such as strikes, picketing, slowdowns, job actions or work stoppages of any nature or ceasing 
to work due to picketing or other such activities, which steps shall include, without limitation, execution 
of an appropriate project agreement with appropriate unions prohibiting all such activities on or about 
the Project.  Notwithstanding any such occurrences, the Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligation 
to man the job and properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent manner. 
16.7.  USE OF OWNER'S NAME/CONFIDENTIALITY.  Neither the Contractor nor its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, by virtue of this Contract, shall acquire any right to use, and they shall not use, 
the name of the Owner, the Owner’s Representative (either alone or in conjunction with or as a part 
of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or designs of either of them or any 
of its related, affiliated or subsidiary companies: in any of their advertising, publicity or promotion; to 
express or imply any endorsement of their respective Work or services; or in any other manner 
whatsoever (whether or not similar to the foregoing uses hereinabove specifically prohibited).  The 
Contractor may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to, and acquire 
knowledge of or from, material, data, strategies, systems or other information relating to the Work, 
the Project, the Owner, the Owner’s Representative, its parent, affiliated, or related companies, which 
may not be accessible or known to the general public.  Any such knowledge acquired by the Contractor 
shall be kept confidential and shall not be used, published or divulged by the Contractor to any other 
person, firm or corporation, or in any advertising or promotion regarding the Contractor or its Work or 
services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first having obtained the written 
permission of the Owner, which permission the Owner may withhold in its sole discretion. The 
Contractor shall not be allowed to undertake or allow any photography on or about the Job Site or the 
Project absent written permission of the Owner, which permission the Owner may withhold in its sole 
discretion.  In the event of a breach by Contractor of its obligations under this Paragraph 16.7., Owner 
shall be entitled to an injunction restraining Contractor from disclosing or divulging in whole or in part 
any confidential information.  Further, any failure by Contractor to comply with this Paragraph 16.7. 
shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006979 
 

G - 27 

misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance 
of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or 
expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions 
pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  The Provisions of this 
Paragraph shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of the Contract. 
16.8.  GENERAL. 
 16.8.1. The captions of divisions, sections, articles, paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and the 
like in the Contract Documents are for convenience only and shall in no way define the content or limit 
the meaning or construction of the wording of the divisions, sections, articles, paragraphs, 
subparagraphs, clauses and the like.  The parties agree that the Contract Documents shall not be 
construed more strictly against any party regardless of the identity of their drafter. 
 16.8.2. Unless otherwise specified, article, paragraph and subparagraph references appearing in 
these General Conditions are to articles, paragraphs and subparagraphs herein. 
 16.8.3. Wherever this Contract obligates the Contractor hereunder to reimburse the Owner or 
others for attorneys' fees, such obligation shall not only include attorneys' fees incurred prior to and 
including litigation in the trial court, but also all attorneys' fees incurred in connection with any and all 
appellate proceedings, no matter to which court any appeal is taken and by whomever so taken. 
 16.8.4. Wherever this Contract obligates the Contractor to "indemnify" the Owner, such obligations 
shall include, but shall not be limited by, the following: (i) the Contractor shall indemnify the Owner 
and its supervisors, administrators, officers, directors, agents, employees, agents, successors and 
assigns and Owner's Representative, and its parent, related, affiliated and subsidiary companies and 
the officers, directors, agents, employees and assigns of each; (ii) the Contractor shall defend (if 
requested by the Owner) and hold each indemnitee harmless; (iii) in the event of any such requested 
defense, the Owner may choose its legal counsel, control the litigation including, without limitation, 
determining legal strategy, settlement strategy and whether or not to file any appeals; (iv) the 
Contractor shall not raise as a defense to its obligation to indemnify any comparative or contributing 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of any of those indemnified pursuant to 
any such provision, it being understood and agreed that no such comparative or contributing 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct shall relieve the Contractor from its liability 
to indemnify nor entitle the Contractor to any contribution, either directly or indirectly, by those 
indemnified; (v) no indemnification obligation hereunder shall be limited in any way to any limit on the 
amount or type of damage, compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or any 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor under any Worker's Compensation Act, disability benefit acts or 
other employee benefit acts; and (vi) all such indemnity provisions shall survive the expiration or sooner 
termination of this Contract.  
 16.8.5. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, the Owner may withhold any consents, 
approvals or waivers required of it pursuant to the Contract in its sole discretion. 
16.9. IMMIGRATION REFORM CONTROL ACT. All Contractors, Subcontractors, and Sub-subcontractors 
must adhere to the Immigration Reform Control Act of 1986 and shall maintain I-9 forms regarding all 
employees.  It is not the Owner's obligation to ensure compliance with this law, however, the Owner 
reserves the right to inspect and copy the Contractor's records in this regard upon request. 
16.10.  ADJACENT LAND AND LANDOWNERS.  To the extent the Work requires the Contractor to enter 
upon land owned by others than the Owner, or the Contractor is permitted to enter upon such land, 
then the Contractor shall, prior to entry, satisfy itself as to all conditions present upon such land and 
shall take all necessary precautions to protect all persons and property from injury or damage as a 
result of the Contractor’s entry upon such land and shall promptly repair any damage to the land and 
any property located thereon.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the owner(s) 
of such land from and against any and all claims, suits, judgments, damages, losses and expenses 
(including attorneys' fees) of any nature whatsoever to the extent caused by or arising out of the 
Contractor’s entry upon such land.  Nothing contained herein shall create any contractual relationship 
between the Contractor and the owner(s) of such land; however, it is acknowledged that the owner(s) 
of such land are intended third party beneficiaries of the obligations of the Contractor hereunder. 

<<END OF GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION>> 
 

 
END OF EXHIBIT G 



Exhibit H 
FORMS 

CONTRACT NO. C006979 
 

 

   
 

H - 1 

THIS EXHIBIT CONTAINS THE FOLLOWING: 

 
 Payment Bond 

 Performance Bond 

 Dual Obligee Rider 

 Consent of Surety for Partial Payment Application (SAMPLE) 

 Contractor’s Interim Affidavit (SAMPLE) 

 Contractor’s Request for Information (SAMPLE) 

 Directive (SAMPLE) 

 Close-Out Change Order Forms (SAMPLE) 

 

 
 
 
 



 

H - 2 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PAYMENT BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC. 
7020 Professional Parkway East, Suite 102 
Sarasota, Florida 34240 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  February 27, 2026 
Contract No.  C006979 
Project:  High Temp Hot Water Pipe Grouting/Abandonment North Service Area Project - Phase II 
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: Refer to Attachment A for project location. 
 
Contract Sum:  ONE MILLION, FIVE HUNDRED FORTY THOUSAND AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS 
DOLLARS ($1,540,000.00) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  February 27, 2026 
Amount:  ONE MILLION, FIVE HUNDRED FORTY THOUSAND AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS 
($1,540,000.00) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, to pay for labor, material, 
services, utilities, equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida 
Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, including, but 
not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which 
are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor promptly makes full payment to all Claimants, as hereinafter defined, for all labor, 

material, services, utilities and equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 
713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, 
including, but not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, 
and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, losses and expenses 
which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and fully reimburses and 
pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur in remedying any 
such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
3. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 



 

H - 3 

the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, from  their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
4. The Surety and the Contractor further agree that this bond shall inure to the benefit of, and may be 

sued directly upon by, any Claimant furnishing labor, materials, services, utilities or equipment or any 
other item for which a construction lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this 
Project. 

 
5. “Claimant” shall mean for purposes hereof all persons, firms, partnerships, corporations or other entities 

that would be entitled to claim a construction lien if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project. 
 
6. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
7. The sum of this Payment Bond is in addition to the sum of the Performance Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC.  
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:  

Print Name:  Print Name:  

Title:   Title:   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



H - 4

Attachment A – Project Location



 

H - 5 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC. 
7020 Professional Parkway East, Suite 102 
Sarasota, Florida 34240 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  February 27, 2026 
Contract No.  C006979 
Project:  High Temp Hot Water Pipe Grouting/Abandonment North Service Area Project - Phase II 
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: Refer to Attachment A for project location. 
 
Contract Sum: ONE MILLION, FIVE HUNDRED FORTY THOUSAND AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS 
($1,540,000.00) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  February 27, 2026 
Amount: ONE MILLION, FIVE HUNDRED FORTY THOUSAND AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS 
($1,540,000.00) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, for the performance of 
the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions, agreements, 
extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which are 
incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor fully performs the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, 

terms, conditions, agreements, extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and 
warranties thereof, and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, 
losses and expenses which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and 
fully reimburses and pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur 
in remedying any such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force 
and effect. 

 
3. The Surety further agrees that whenever the Contractor shall be, and is declared by Owner to be, in 

default under or in breach of the Contract (which shall include without limitation any breach by the 
Contractor of any of the provisions of the Contract) the Surety shall promptly remedy the default or 
breach and undertake to perform and complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and 



 

H - 6 

conditions.  The Surety’s obligations include, but are not limited to, (i) the responsibilities of the 
Contractor for correction of defective work, completion of the Contract and fulfillment of warranty 
obligations, (ii) additional legal, design professional and delay costs resulting from the Contractor’s 
default or breach or from the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph, and (iii) liquidated 
damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Contract, actual damages caused by delayed 
performance or non-performance of the Contractor or the Surety.  The Surety shall fully indemnify and 
hold harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees), which the 
Owner may incur as a result of the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph. 

 
4. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, from their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
5. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
6. The sum of this Performance Bond is in addition to the sum of the Payment Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC.  
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:   

Print Name:  Print Name:   

Title:                  Title: ___________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



H - 7

Attachment A – Project Location



 

H - 8 

DUAL OBLIGEE RIDER 
 
To be attached to and form a part of contract payment bond number _____________________ issued by  

______________________________________________________________________________ (Surety) 

On behalf of ______________GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC._______________ (Contractor)                        

In the amount of One Million, Five Hundred Forty Thousand and Zero One-Hundredths Dollars 

($1,540,000.00) and dated _______________ in favor of CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT 

DISTRICT. 

In consideration of the sum of One Dollar ($1.00), and other good and valuable consideration receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, the Undersigned hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S. Inc. is hereby added to said bond as additional Obligee. 
 

2. The Surety shall not be liable under this bond to the Obligee, or either of them unless the said 
Obligee, or either of them, shall make payments to the Principal strictly in accordance with the 
terms of the said contract as to payments, and shall perform all other obligations to be performed 
under said contract at the time and in the manner therein set forth. 
 

3. No suit, action or preceding by reason of any default whatever shall be brought on this bond after 
two (2) years from the day on which the final payment under said construction contract falls due. 
 

4. Aggregate liability of Surety hereunder to Obligee is limited to the penal sum above stated Surety, 
upon making payment hereunder, shall be subrogated to, and shall be entitled to an assignment 
of all rights of the payee with respect to the particular obligation discharged by the payment, either 
against principal or against and other party liable to the payee on the discharged obligation. 

 
 
 
Signed, sealed and dated this ___________ day of ____________________, 20________. 
 
         

Contractor: Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc. 
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 

Surety 
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 
 
 



H - 9 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
CONSENT OF SURETY FOR PARTIAL PAYMENT APPLICATION

(Date)______________________________

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT    
P.O. Box 690519
Orlando, Florida 32869

Re: Consent of Surety 
Bond #_________________________ 
Contract # C006979
Payment Req. No.: _______________

Dear Sir or Madam:
__________________________________________________________ (Surety) hereby consents to the 
payment of the amount of moneys due to _______________________________________ (Prime 
Contractor), by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT for which the necessary duly executed 
affidavits/releases of liens have not been provided.

This Consent of Surety is executed in lieu of the appropriated Affidavit and Release of Lien from 
____________________________________________ (Subcontractor/s - Supplier/s list if necessary) 
which the District’s Prime Contractor has not submitted with its Partial Payment Application.  The Surety 
executes this Consent for the amount of __________________, encompassing Work and/or labor 
performed, the provision of materials, equipment, and supplies through the _______ day of 
_________________, 20______, except for any applicable retainage.

_____________________________________________________________ (Surety) further acknowledges 
that payment by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT shall not be construed as a waiver 
of any of the District’s rights or those of any other named Obligee under the Payment and Performance 
Bonds; nor a determination by the District or those of any other named Obligee as to the merits of any 
controversy or dispute between the Prime Contractor and a Subcontractor/Supplier.

Sincerely,
__________________________________ 
Name
__________________________________ 
Title 
__________________________________ 
Signature of Attorney-in-Fact

Note: Documentation must be provided that reflects the Attorney-in-Fact’s authority to sign 
for the Surety.

NoNo

Surety) herebyurety)
_______________________________

for which the necessary dwhich the neces

priated Affidavit and Release ofpriated Affidavit and Release o
Subcontractor/s ontract - Supplier/s list er/s list 

d with itswith i Partial Payment ApplicatPartial Payment Applica
_____________, encompassing _____________, encompassing 

pment, and supplies through tment, and supplies through 
y applicable retainage.pplicable retaina

_____________________________________________
OURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICTSM OVERSIGHT DIS s

se of any other named Obligee uother named Obligee
he District or those of any other ne District or those of any other 

n the Prime Contractor and a Subce Prime Contractor and a Su

________________ _________

_____________________ ___________________ 

_________________________ ___________________
e of Attorneyof At -in-FactFac

ntation must bmust 



H - 10

CONTRACTOR’S INTERIM AFFIDAVIT

Page 1 of 2

From:  GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC.

To:      CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

The undersigned deposes and says:

1. That they are over the age of eighteen (18) years, have personal knowledge of the following facts, 
is authorized to make this Affidavit on behalf of the Contractor named above, and that this Affidavit 
is, in fact, made on behalf of said Contractor.

2. That this Affidavit is made with respect to Contract No.: C006979, dated February 27, 2026, for 
HIGH TEMP HOT WATER PIPE GROUTING/ABANDONMENT NORTH SERVICE AREA PROJECT - 
PHASE II. 

3. That all Work performed under the above Contract through the date of this Affidavit has been 
performed in accordance with the terms of said Contract.

4. That the Contractor covenants and warrants that all labor, materials, equipment, services and other 
items including, without limitation, all amounts due and owing to, or claimed by, all persons, firms, 
corporations, union welfare or benefit funds (if any), furnished pursuant to the above Contract and 
any additions or changes thereto, have been paid in full as of the date of this Affidavit, and that 
waivers of liens and waivers of claims through the date of this Affidavit have been obtained from 
all persons, firms, and corporations who have furnished services, labor, materials, equipment and 
supplies, except as otherwise indicated in Schedule A attached.

Contractor:  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.

By:  

Print Name

Print TitleSA
MPL

E
wledge owledge

med above, anded abo

C0069799, dateddated February 27February 27, , 
MENT NORTH SERVICE AREA PRSERVICE AREA PR

ntract through the date of this Atract through the date of this A
said Contract.aid Contract.

rants that all labor, materials, equipts that all labor, materials, equi
ll amounts due and owing to, or cll amounts due and owing to, or c

nefit funds (if any)fit funds (if any), furnished purs, fur
eto, have been paid in full as of thave been paid in full

s of claims through the date of this through the date of 
orporations who have furnished serporations who have furnished se

herwise indicated in Schedule A attwise indicated in Schedule A 

ContCo



H - 11

CONTRACTOR'S INTERIM AFFIDAVIT - SCHEDULE A

Page 2 of 2

Date: _____________________

From: GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC.

To: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Re: Contract No.: C006979, dated February 27, 2026, between CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM DISTRICT
and GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC.

The following are ALL the amounts due and owing to, or claimed by, all persons, firms, corporations and 
union welfare and benefit funds (if any) who have furnished services, labor, materials, equipment or supplies, 
with respect to the above-referenced Contract.  All amounts represent the total amount due and owing, or 
claimed, as of the date hereof and any contested, claimed, or unissued credits are specifically noted next to 
the amounts due and owing.

Amount Due
Name and Owing Notes

Please initial:    
Contractor

SA
MPL

E
FLORIDALORID

y, all persons, firms, corpll persons, firms
s, labor, materials, equipment omaterials, equipment o

present the total amount due and oal amount due and 
r unissued credits are specifically nounissued credits are specifically n

ount Dueount Due
and Owingand O P



H - 12

CONTRACTOR’S REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

RFI NO:  

DATE:  

DATE INFORMATION REQUIRED:  

SUBMITTED BY:    

SCHEDULE EFFECT IF THE RESPONSE IS NOT RECEIVED BY THE ABOVE REFERENCED
DATE: 

CATEGORY   Information not shown on the Contract Documents Contract Drawing Ref. 
  Interpretation of Contract Requirements Shop Drawing Ref   
  Conflict in Contract Requirements Specification Ref.  
  Coordination Problems Other:

SUBJECT: 

DESCRIPTION:  

By: 

ENGINEER/ARCHITECT ASSIGNMENT

To: Date: 

From: 

ENGINEER/ARCHITECT RESPONSE

REPLY:  

  

By: Date: 

RESPONSE TO CONTRACTOR

To: Date:  

Copy To: From: 

EFERENCEFEREN

Contract Drawing Ref. ract Drawing RefEShop Drawing Refrawing Ref   fESpecification Ref.on Ref.  EOther: E
PL

E
PLPLMPMPBy: MP

AM
SSIGNMENTSSIG

AMSAER/ARCHITECT RESPONSE/ARCHITECT RESPONSESSS



H - 13

DIRECTIVE NO.

CONTRACT NO: C006979 DATE: 

PROJECT:  High Temp Hot Water Pipe Grouting/Abandonment North Service Area Project - Phase II 

SUB-PROJECT:   

CONTRACTOR: Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.

ATTACHMENTS:

DESCRIPTION: 

Pursuant to the General Conditions of the Contract for Construction, you are hereby directed to proceed to 
perform the Work described above as indicated below.  All work is to be accomplished in accordance with 
the Contract Documents.  Any time extension associated with this Directive should be identified and a 
separate price stated to incorporate this change within the Contract completion date.  Accurate records of 
any additional work, which may result in a change to the Contract Sum or Contract Time must be 
maintained.  The implementation of all work now in process must be coordinated with the proposed revised 
conditions associated with this Directive.

The following is applicable to this Directive as marked:

_____ A. The work described above and in the accompanying attachments will not change the 
Contract Sum or Contract Time.

_____ B. The Contract Sum shall be increased/decreased by the sum of $_________ as a result of 
this Directive and the Contract Time shall be increased/decreased by ____ calendar days 
and shall be reflected in a Change Order to be signed by the parties.

_____ C. The amount of change, if any, to the Contract Sum or Contract Time is undetermined as 
of the date of the Directive.  Any such change amount shall be determined in accordance 
with the provisions of Article 12 of the General Conditions of the Contract for Construction.

_____ D. Proceed immediately with the changes on a time-and-materials basis.  Time tickets shall 
be submitted daily to the Owner’s Representative for verification.  A formal Change Order 
will be issued for the actual costs based upon the signed time tickets and material invoices 
plus the Contractor’s allowable mark-up as specified in the Contract Documents.

_____ E. The parties are unable to agree at this time as to whether the work described above 
constitutes a change in the scope of the work of the Contractor.  Such dispute shall be 
resolved in accordance with the applicable provisions in the Contract Documents.

Approved:  Recommended for Approval:

                                                                           
Central Florida Tourism Oversight District       Date Engineer/Architect  (insert company name) Date

Accepted:

Contractor: Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.  Date

Copy: Contract File
Engineer/Architect’s Project Manager:    
Owner’s Project Manager:  ________

SA
MPL

EEare hereby directare hereby direc
be accomplished in acce accomplished in

s Directive should be identctive should
ract completion date.  Accurate reion date.  Accurate r

e Contract Sum or Contract TimeContract Sum or Contract Tim
s must be coordinated with the propust be coordinated with the pro

ed:d:

d in the accompanying attachmein the accompanying attachme
me.e

be increased/decreased by the sumincreased/decrease
Contract Time shall be increased/ct Time shall be inc

ed in a Change Order to be signeded in a Change Order to be sign

change, if any, to the Contract Shange, if any, to the Contrac
of the Directive.  Any such changeDirective.  Any such change

provisions of Article 12 of the Generovisions of Article 12 of t

ed immediately with the changes immediately with the ch
submitted daily to the Owner’s Retted daily to the Owner’s 

will be issued for the actual costs bwill be issued for the actual costs 
plus the Contractor’s allowable plus the Contractor’s allowable

The parties are unable to re un
constitutes a change in stitutes a chang
resolved in accordancresolved in accordan



H - 14

CONTRACTOR:  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER: C006979
CHANGE ORDER NO. (Insert C.O. Number

Closeout Change Order
Attachment A

GENERAL RELEASE

CONTRACT NO. C006979

FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION OF THE SUM OF $   (Insert Amount of Final Payment, 
including all retainage withheld), as FINAL PAYMENT, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, 
GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC., the undersigned, hereby fully and forever releases, acquits and 
discharges CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT, the Owner’s Representative, the 
Architect/Engineer and their parent, related and affiliated companies, their agents, employees, consultants, 
architects, engineers, officers, directors, successors and assigns, all of whom are hereinafter referred to collectively 
as "Releasees", from all manner of action and causes of action, suits, claims, judgments, damages, liens, claims of 
lien and rights whatsoever, in law or in equity, now existing or which may hereafter accrue in favor of the 
undersigned including, without limitation, any and all liability arising out of or in connection with that certain 
construction Contract dated February 27, 2026, Contract No. C006979, between CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM 
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT and GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC. and all Work, labor and materials 
furnished, performed or provided pursuant thereto or otherwise for the  project.

The undersigned covenants that except for actions and suits based upon breaches of the terms of this 
Release, it shall not commence or prosecute any action or suit in law or in equity, against the Releasees, either 
collectively or individually, on account of any action or cause of action which now exists or which may hereafter 
accrue in its favor.

In addition to any other liability which shall accrue upon the breach of the covenants contained herein, 
undersigned shall be liable to pay all reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred by the Releasees in the defense 
of any such action or suit.

  Attested on this date ___________________. 

Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.  
(Contractor)

    
    

Signature

    
Print Name

Print Title
  

f whichwhic
and foreverand fo

the Owner’s Rhe Owner’s 
their agents, employheir agents, em

whom are hereinafter referredare hereinafter referred
, claims, judgments, damages, liegments, damages, lie

or which may hereafter accrue inr which may hereafter accrue i
 arising out of or in connection rising out of or in connection 

No. C0069796979, , between CENTRAL TRAL 
STRUCTORS, INC.STRUCTORS, INC. and all WorkWo

otherwise for the  project.therwise for the  project

for actions and suits based upon for actions and suits based upon
any action or suit in law or in equny action or suit in la

ny action or cause of action whichction or cause of ac

bility which shall accrue upon thelity which shall accrue upon
y all reasonable attorneys' fees andasonable attorneys' fees an

on this this date _________________date _____________



H - 15

CONTRACTOR:  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER:  C006979
CHANGE ORDER NO. (Insert C.O. Number)

Closeout Change Order
Attachment B – Page 1

CONTRACTOR'S AFFIDAVIT

From: GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC.

To: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

The undersigned deposes and says:

1. That they are over the age of eighteen (18) years, have personal knowledge of the following facts, 
is authorized to make this Affidavit on behalf of the Contractor named above, and that this Affidavit 
is, in fact, made on behalf of said Contractor.

2. That this Affidavit is made with respect to Contract No. C006979, dated February 27, 2026, for 
HIGH TEMP HOT WATER PIPE GROUTING/ABANDONMENT NORTH SERVICE AREA PROJECT - 
PHASE II. 

3. That all Work performed under the above Contract through the date of this Affidavit has been 
performed in accordance with the terms of said Contract.

4. That the Contractor covenants and warrants that all labor, materials, equipment, services and other 
items including, without limitation, all amounts due and owing to all persons, firms, corporations, 
union welfare or benefit funds (if any), furnished pursuant to the above Contract and any additions 
or changes thereto, have been paid in full as of the date of this Affidavit, and that waivers of lien 
through the date of this Affidavit have been obtained from all persons, firms, and corporations who 
have furnished services, labor, materials, equipment and supplies, except as otherwise indicated 
in Schedule A attached.

  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.  
(Contractor)

By: 

  
Print Name

Print Title

SA
MPL

Eersonal knowledge of thsonal knowledge 
tractor named above, and thnamed above, and th

ntract No. ract N C006979, datedated FebruaFebru
/ABANDONMENT NORTH SERVICDONMENT NORTH SERVIC

e above Contract through the databove Contract through the dat
e terms of said Contract.terms of said Contra

nts and warrants that all labor, matnd warrants that all 
imitation, all amounts due and own, all amounts due an

fit funds (if any), furnished pursuant funds (if any), furnished pursua
have been paid in full as of the dhave been paid in full as of t

of this Affidavit have been obtaines Affidavit have been obtain
d services, labor, materials, equip services, labor, materia

A attached.A attach



H - 16

CONTRACTOR:  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER:  C006979
CHANGE ORDER NO. (Insert C.O. Number)

Closeout Change Order
Attachment B – Page 2

CONTRACTOR'S AFFIDAVIT - SCHEDULE A

Date: (Insert Date)

From: Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.

To: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Re: Contract No.: C006979, dated February 27, 2026, between CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT
DISTRICT and GULFCOAST UTILITY CONSTRUCTORS, INC.

The following are ALL the amounts due and owing to all persons, firms, corporations and union welfare and benefit 
funds (if any) who have furnished services, labor, materials, equipment or supplies, with respect to the above 
referenced Contract.  All amounts represent the total amount due and owing as of the date hereof AND any 
contested, claimed, or unissued credits are specifically noted next to the amounts due and owing.

NAME AMOUNT DUE AND OWING OTHER

Please initial:    
     Contractor

SA
MPL

ENTRAL FLORIDA TOUTRAL FLORIDA T

firms, corporations and union welfarms, corporations and union welf
equipment or supplies, with respquipment or supplies, with resp

ount due and owing as of the dae and owing as of the da
ted next to the amounts due and oed next to the amounts due and

AMOUNT DUE AND OWINGMOUNT DUE AND O

MPL



H - 17

CONTRACTOR:  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER:  C006979
CHANGE ORDER NO. (Insert C.O. Number)

Closeout Change Order
Attachment C 

WAIVER OF CLAIM/WAIVER OF LIEN/LITIGATION LIST

CONTRACTOR:  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.

CONTRACT NO. C006979

All of the following have filed one or more of the following Notices:

(NONP) NOTICE OF NON-PAYMENT
(NOC) NOTICE OF CLAIM

(COL) CLAIM OF LIEN

Pursuant to the General Conditions, provide such releases, waivers, or satisfactions of Claims and Liens (or other 
documentation) in such form as the Owner may require for the following:

TYPE COMPANY FILING NOTICE UNDER AN ORDER GIVEN BY: 

Please initial:  
Contractor

SA
MPL

ET

vers, or satisfactions of Claims andrs, or satisfactions of Claims and
the following:owing:

UNDER AN NDER AN PL



H - 18

CONTRACTOR:  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER: C006979
CHANGE ORDER NO.  (Insert C.O. Number)

Closeout Change Order
Attachment D 

CONTRACTOR'S GUARANTEE TO OWNER

Date:  (Insert Date)

To: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Contract No: C006979

Project: HIGH TEMP HOT WATER PIPE GROUTING/ABANDONMENT NORTH SERVICE AREA PROJECT - PHASE II

In further consideration of the above-referenced Contract and pursuant to the provisions thereof, the undersigned 
hereby guarantees to the Owner, its successors and assigns, that all Work, as defined in the Contract Documents, 
whether performed or caused to be performed by the undersigned, shall be free from any defects in workmanship, 
materials and/or equipment and shall be in strict compliance with the Contract Documents.  If, within a period of 
one (1) year from the date of acceptance of the Work by the Owner (or such longer period of time as may be 
prescribed by law or otherwise specified in the Contract Documents), the Work or any portion thereof shall prove 
to be defective in workmanship, material and/or equipment, or in any way not in strict compliance with the Contract 
Documents, then the undersigned shall repair and/or, at the option of the Owner, replace at its own cost and 
expense all such defective or non-complying Work, together with any adjacent structures or facilities which have 
been displaced or damaged by so doing or which have been damaged as a result of any defect in workmanship, 
material and/or equipment or the failure of the Work to comply with the Contract Documents.  Such repairs and/or 
replacements shall be performed in accordance with all terms, conditions, covenants and provisions of the Contract 
Documents pursuant to which the Work was performed in the first instance, except that such repairs and/or 
replacements shall be without cost to the Owner, its successors or assigns.

Should the undersigned fail to perform its said repair and/or replacement obligations promptly after being given 
notice of its breach of this Guarantee, then the Owner may perform such corrective Work or cause it to be performed 
by others and charge the undersigned with the cost thereof, at Owner's option; provided, however, that if, in the 
sole judgment of the Owner, an emergency exists as a result of any such defective or non-complying Work which, 
in the Owner's opinion, requires more immediate corrective action than the undersigned is able to provide, then 
the Owner may, without notice to the undersigned, perform such corrective Work or cause it to be performed by 
others and charge the undersigned with the cost thereof.

  Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.  
(Contractor)

By:  

(Title) 
Local Representative to be contacted for service:

Contractor: Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
Name:  
Address: 7020 Professional Parkway East, Suite 102  

Sarasota, FL 34240
Telephone No.:     

SERVICE AREA PRSERVICE AREA P

t to the provisions thereof, the provisions thereof, th
Work, as defined in the Contractefined in the Contrac

d, shall be free from any defects in , shall be free from any defects in
with the Contract Documents.  If, wh the Contract Documents.  If, 

the Owner (or such longer periodner (or such longer period
Documents), the Work or any portDocuments), the Work or any po

ment, or in any way not in strict coment, or in any way not in strict com
/or, at the option of the Owner, r, at the option of the Owner, 

rk, together with any adjacent struk, together with any adjacent str
hich have been damaged as a resuch have been damag

he Work to comply with the ContraWork to comply with
dance withth all terms, conditions, coall terms, conditio

ork was performed in the first inork was performed in the first 
to the Owner, its successors or assthe Owner, its successors o

o perform its said repair and/or reperform its said repair a
uarantee, then the Owner may perfarantee, then the Owne

e undersigned with the cost thereodersigned with the cost t
Owner, an emergency exists as a rn emergency exists as a 

nion, requires more immediate corion, requires more immediate c
without notice to the undersignedwithout notice to the undersigned

arge the undersigned with the costrge the undersigned with



H - 19

Closeout Change Order
Attachment E

CONSENT OF SURETY TO FINAL PAYMENT

Date: __________________

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
1900 Hotel Plaza Boulevard
Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830

Attention: Contracting Officer

Dear Ms. Kimball: 

We are the surety for the "Contractor" under Performance and Payment Bonds issued in connection with 
Contract No. C006979, dated February 27, 2026, between the Contractor and the Owner pursuant to which 
Contract the Contractor is performing certain Work in connection with the construction of HIGH TEMP HOT 
WATER PIPE GROUTING/ABANDONMENT NORTH SERVICE AREA PROJECT - PHASE II.  We understand 
that the Contractor desires to be paid, subject to our consent, the retainage held by the Owner under the 
aforesaid Contract and any Change Orders.  Accordingly, please be advised as follows:

1. We hereby consent to the payment of the retainage as aforesaid.

2. Said payment shall in no way affect the aforesaid Payment and Performance Bonds or our 
obligations thereunder, all of which shall remain in full force and effect.

Sincerely, 

Name

Title 

THIS SPECIFIC FORMAT MUST BE SUBMITTED ON THE LETTERHEAD OF THE SURETY  

SA
MPL

E
rmance and Payment Bonds issuedmance and Payment Bonds issue

between the Contractor and the Owetween the Contractor and the O
Work in connection with the construk in connection with the constr

NORTH SERVICE AREA PROJECT ORTH SERVICE AREA PROJECT 
bject to our consent, the retainagect to our consent, t

ders.  Accordingly, please be advisAccordingly, please 

ent to the payment of the retainagnt to the payment of the retainag

ent shall in no way affect the aforen no way affect the afore
ns thereunder, all of which shall rens thereunder, all of 



B. Staffing Plan

Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
(727) 328-7882 7020 Professional Parkway E, Suite 102 www.gulfcoastutility.com

Sarasota, FL 34240

Gulfcoast Utility intends to assign the following team to manage and complete this project:

Jacob Alexander, President, (727) 460-5001, jalexander@gulfcoastutility.com
Tyler Morrell, Senior Project Manager, (727) 452-9456, tmorrell@gulfcoastutility.com
Elizabeth MacDonald, Project Manager, (941) 724-6721, emacdonald@gulfcoastutility.com
Roy Ashley, Superintendent, (727) 214-8462, rashley@gulfcoastutility.com

Gulfcoast intends to employ the following subcontractors to help complete this project:

Harper Limbach
Harper will perform the mechanical scope of the project, including all welding.
Representative: Marty Beebe (321) 377-5200, marty.beebe@harperlimbach.com

CJ Geo
CJ Geo will perform all of the grouting for the project.
Representative: Andrew Taliaferro, (757) 707-0849, andrewt@cjgeo.com

A Plus Dewatering
A Plus Dewatering will perform all dewatering as needed throughout the project.
Representative: John Ledig, (954) 263-9120, john@aplusdewatering.com

LandDesign
LandDesign will perform the design for S&S-required MOT plans.
Representative: Michael Cipolla, (561) 302-0514, mcipolla@landdesign.com

Exhibit I - Contractor Proposal

I - 1



E.   Approach and Methodology

Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
(727) 328-7882 7020 Professional Parkway E, Suite 102 www.gulfcoastutility.com

Sarasota, FL 34240

The approach and methodology that will be utilized during this project has been coordinated between 
Gulfcoast Utility and its subcontractors for the most efficient and effective completion based upon all available 
information. If site conditions or unknown factors arise during the construction phase of this project, Gulfcoast will 
coordinate with all parties to ensure appropriate, safe, and effective methods are in place to complete the scope of the 
project.

To begin, Gulfcoast will mobilize construction equipment to the worksite. Beginning with workpoint (WP) 
number 2 Gulfcoast will excavate and shore this location to expose the existing HTHW line. Gulfcoast will excavate up 
to 1’ below the bottom of the pipe to allow for Harper Limbach to weld on the caps, drains, and vents necessary at this 
location. As Harper is completing the mechanical installation at this location, Gulfcoast will mobilize to WP3 and begin 
excavation at this location. Once this location is shored and ready for Harper to complete their installation, Gulfcoast 
will return to WP2 to backfill and compact the excavation. This method will continue until all workpoints have been 
segmented and mechanical materials have been installed according to the details provided. 

There are a few workpoints that may require additional coordination, these workpoints will be completed one 
at a time. Gulfcoast has identified WP4, WP7, WP8, and WP11 as needing additional support to complete the 
excavation and mechanical installation. Each of these workpoints will require MOT setups with flagging and asphalt 
patching. During the excavation of these workpoints, Gulfcoast will setup a standard FDOT lane closure as shown in 
the RFP drawings; utilizing channelizing devices, road signs, and flaggers to always maintain flow of one lane of traffic. 
During non-working hours, Gulfcoast will have a steel plate installed to allow for normal traffic flow. Once the 
mechanical scope is complete at each of these workpoints the backfill and compaction will be complete and patching 
done to allow for normal traffic flow during grouting operations. WP7, WP8, and WP11 were all identified as points that 
may require dewatering. A dewatering permit will be secured through CFTOD P&E and coordination of wellpoint 
systems, discharge, and potential pond control will be filed through their office. Due to the added impact and scope of 
these excavations, Gulfcoast believes that each of these workpoints be complete and restored prior to moving to the 
next location.

Once all the workpoints have the necessary caps, vents, and drains, CJ Geo will mobilize to the site with all 
required grouting equipment. They will utilize the locations marked on the RFP drawings near WP2 and WP5 for laydown 
space during non-working hours for storing materials and equipment. CJ Geo will begin at WP2 and pump north towards 
WP1 and then south to WP3. They will then mobilize to WP4 and pump north to WP3 and south to WP5. They will 
continue this pattern until all 11 WPs are grouted and verified full through the vent and drain lines. Gulfcoast will provide 
a small hopper as required in the specified locations to collect any incidental grout from spilling. At the completion of 
the grouting, Gulfcoast will return to each workpoint and dig 18” below grade to allow for Harper to cut and cap the vent 
and drain lines.

CJ Geo will then demobilize their equipment at the end of the grouting operation. Harper Limbach at this point 
will finish the demolition of the CEP and exterior piping near the water bridge. While they are concluding the demolition 
portion, Gulfcoast will be backfilling and restoring the workpoints to their original condition or better. Once demolition 
is complete and the restoration has been finished this will conclude the construction phase. Gulfcoast will demobilize 
their equipment from the work site, and the project will be deemed complete.

Exhibit I - Contractor Proposal

I - 2



F.   Price Proposal

Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
(727) 328-7882 7020 Professional Parkway E, Suite 102 www.gulfcoastutility.com

Sarasota, FL 34240

Gulfcoast Utility is pleased to offer you this proposal to provide all required services to abandon the portions 
of the HTHW system associated with the High Temp Hot Water Pipe Grouting and Abandonment North Service Area 
Project. Please review the pricing below to complete the project as outlined in RFP #C006979. 

General Conditions $242,500

CEP & Exterior Demolition $80,500
Demolish piping in the CEP as specified in the RFP drawings.
Demolish exterior piping at the waterbridge location as specified in the RFP drawings.
First shift working hours assumed for all demolition activities.

Civil $600,800
All equipment and labor necessary to complete the excavation of each work point as shown 
on the drawings provided.
Excavations that exceed five feet in depth will be shored with an aluminum trench box 
and/or finn forms.
Each workpoint will be excavated as needed to expose 1’ below the bottom of the pipe to 
allow for the welding of the mechanical materials to be completed.
Excavation of up to two (2) workpoints at a time included. Coordination of workpoints that 
have traffic impact and/or dewatering impact will be completed one (1) at a time.
Backfill and compaction of each workpoint prior to grouting contractor mobilization.
At completion of grouting, excavation up to 18” below grade to allow for cutting and capping 
of vents and drains.
Restoration of each workpoint included. Each site will be restored to its original condition or 
better.
Minor asphalt patching included as required for WP7, WP11, WP8, and WP4. No full lane re-
pavement included.

Dewatering $58,000
Anticipated dewatering operations include installing a wellpoint system at WP11, WP7, and 
WP8.
Dewatering will include a 6” vacuum pump with a horseshoe wellpoint system to remove 
groundwater.
Gulfcoast will coordinate with CFTOD P&E to receive an approved dewatering permit prior to 
installation of wellpoint systems.
Pond pump down may be required at WP11 and WP7.
Gulfcoast to utilize nearby sanitary sewer systems for discharge as allowable by CFTOD.
Dewatering at all other workpoints is not included and not anticipated at this current time.

MOT $72,000
Maintenance of traffic will follow the FDOT standard plan details as provided in the RFP 
documents.
Gulfcoast will provide channelizing devices, road signs, and flaggers as needed for safe 
working spaces.
No arrow boards or concrete barrier wall are included at any workpoints.

Exhibit I - Contractor Proposal

I - 3



F.   Price Proposal

Gulfcoast Utility Constructors, Inc.
(727) 328-7882 7020 Professional Parkway E, Suite 102 www.gulfcoastutility.com

Sarasota, FL 34240

Impacted roadways will be steel plated during non-working hours to allow for normal traffic 
flow.
Gulfcoast anticipates flagging operations at WP11, WP7, WP8, and WP4. Flagging not
included at other workpoints.
MOT plans will be S&S if necessary, otherwise an Advanced MOT certified plan will be 
submitted where appropriate.

Mechanical $128,850
Furnish and install all injection points for grouting contractor to utilize during pumping.
Furnish and install all vent and drain lines as well as end caps to isolate piping sections and 
verify grouting completion.
Welding included. Welder certifications provided (B31.1).
Cut and cap of vent and drain lines at the conclusion of grouting activities (18” below grade).

Grouting $357,350
Mobilization to site with all required grouting equipment.
Grouting equipment to be staged and kept on-site at locations specified in provided 
drawings as designated lay down space.
Furnish and place up to 253 cubic yards of 30 PCF cellular concrete for pipe abandonment.
ASTM C495 testing of cylinders as required.
Additional material will incur additional cost of $175 per cubic yard.
Additional mobilizations will incur additional cost of $35,000 each.

Total proposed cost to complete project per RFP documents: $ 1,540,000

Exhibit I - Contractor Proposal

I - 4



Operations Division 320, Energy Production

Purpose:

References:

Appendices:

Scope:

Definitions:

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 1



Roles and Responsibilities:

o

o

o

o

o

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 2



o

o

o

Training

Procedure: 

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 3



Tag Numbers Added/Removed Reason for Change
Verified and Accepted By.

Sign OFF  

Final Removal Ordered By

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 4



Verified and Accepted By

Note 1

Note 2 

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 5



Appendix 1 

LOCKOUT / TAGOUT RECORD SHEET 

1 2 3 4 

5 7 

6 8 

9 10 11/  12 13/ 

16 17/ 14 15/ 

26 27 28 29 30 

1 18 19  20 21 22 23 24 25 
2 

3 

4 

Sheet 1

LOTO Number

Equipment / System to be tagged 

Written by 

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 6



Checked by 
Group Leader 
Number of Tags Issued 
Date & Time 

Date & Time 
Lock No
Item Tagged 
Required position 
Hanger Initials – initials of person hanging this LOTO point
2nd check Initials – initials of person checking this LOTO point is LOTO correctly
Removal Position – position LOTO point is to be in once LOTO is removed
Initials – initials of person removing and positioning LOTO point
Date Removed – date this LOTO point was cleared
Date – date that a LOTO point was added or removed
Time – time that a LOTO point was added or removed
Tag Numbers Added / Removed – enter LOTO tag numbers added or removed

: Locks, Tags and locking devices shall be used to isolate sources of energy within the normal 
boundaries of the scope of the repair.  It is permissible to use tags without locks, in accordance with Reference 
(1) Chapter 4.0.

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 7



Appendix 2 

Sheet 2

LOTO Identification Number

4 5 6 7
11

8 9 10

1

LOCKOUT / TAGOUT SIGN ON SHEET

2 3

(legibly ci rcle one)

When signing off:
Is the work complete?

When signing off:
Is the work complete?

(legibly ci rcle one)

When signing off:
Is the work complete?

(legibly ci rcle one)

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 8



Appendix 3 

Sheet 3

LOTO Identification Number

1 2 3
Accept 4 Release 5
Date Time Name Signature Date Time Name Signature

4a 4b 4c 4d 5a 5b 5c 5d

Group Leader Transfer Log

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 9



Appendix

Exhibit J - RCES Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) Program

J - 10



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT PROJECT 
SPECIFIC SAFETY PLAN REQUIREMENTS

Section 1. INTRODUCTION 

A Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) is a communication tool between contractors and the Owner’s 
Representative. Used correctly, the PSSP ensures that relevant project/site-specific safety information 
is identified, monitored and communicated to all involved with the project. 

Section 2. PURPOSE 

The PSSP will allow all those involved with the project to easily identify the existing and potential 
hazards associated with the scope of work and what methods the contractor shall utilize to mitigate 
the hazards to an acceptable level. 

This should not be an overly complex document. It should be easily referenced by all those working 
on the project. The document should be able to be used as part of the daily pre task planning and 
for onsite safety meetings (toolbox talks). 

The PSSP should not be a version of the company safety plan. It is Project / Site / Task specific. The 
PSSP shall include the applicable information commensurate with the size, complexity and risk level 
of the project. 

The PSSP shall make it clear that everyone on the project has the right to report hazards and unsafe 
practices without fear of reprisal. 

Contractor shall submit a PSSP to the Owner’s Representative for review prior to project 
commencement with appropriate time for review. The Owner’s Representative reserves the right to 
ask the Contractor to resubmit the PSSP if safety critical items related to the project are missing or 
incomplete. 

The submittal of the PSSP does not relieve the Contractor from any other submittals required by the 
Contract Documents, including but not limited to: 

Construction & Demolition Safety Plan

Crane Critical Lift Plan

Hazardous Materials Disposal Plan

Maintenance of Traffic Plan

Hurricane / Weather Contingency Plan

Section 3. FORMAT 

The Owner’s Representative will not dictate the exact format of the PSSP. However, there are four 
critical components of the PSSP: 

Responsibilities / Contacts
Scope of work
Job Safety Analysis (JSA)
Pre-Task / Daily Safety Planning

Exhibit K - CFTOD Project Specific Safety Plan (PSSP) Requirements

K - 1



Section 4. RESPONSIBIITIES / CONTACTS 

This section shall simply and clearly define the duties and responsibilities of the Contractor’s 
personnel regarding the work to be completed and safety and health program implementation. It 
should also include means to contact those listed (i.e. phone, email, etc.) 

Contractor’s President/Owner (of company) 

Contractor’s Project Manager 

Contractor’s Safety Manager (if applicable) 

Contractor’s Field Supervision/ Superintendent 

All of Contractor’s Subcontractors and Sub-Subcontractors (if any) 

Section 5. SCOPE OF WORK 

The Scope of Work shall include translating the contract scope of work into a specific detailed work 
plan. It shall identify location(s), means and methods of accomplishing the plan, anticipated sequence 
of events, equipment to be used, etc. Please note that this includes all work to be performed by the 
Contractor and Subcontractors of every tier. 

The scope shall also identify the following: 

Maximum height and depth of work activities 

Industrial hygiene issues 

Exposure to high hazard areas including but not limited to: 

o Water ways 

o Diving 

o Crane lifts 

o Energized electrical systems 

o Confined spaces 

o Temporary Traffic Control (“TTC”), formerly maintenance of traffic (“MOT”) 

o Guest areas 

Section 6. JOB SAFETY ANALYSIS (JSA) 

The JSA is a task/operation-driven document to ensure that the job task or operation receives proper 
safety planning prior to beginning work. In actuality, the JSA is a written work plan that incorporates 
safety procedures into the work practices The JSA should be prepared far enough in advance of the 
task or activity to ensure that changes or revisions will not affect the scheduled execution of the task 
or activity. A JSA is to be developed by the Contractor or Subcontractors for any high-hazard or high-
risk activity as identified by the Owner’s Representative in its sole and absolute discretion, the 
Contractor or all Subcontractors of every tier. 

The specific format of the JSA is to be determined by the Contractor, however, it must include the 
following information: 

Exhibit K - CFTOD Project Specific Safety Plan (PSSP) Requirements

K - 2



A breakdown of the job into successive steps involved with the work activity. 

Identification of the hazards and the potential incidents associated with each work activity. 

Identification of methods to reduce or eliminate the hazards and potential incidents.

Section 7. PRE-TASK PLANNING 

Pre-task Planning is an activity that occurs at the start of each day, prior to beginning any work shift 
during which work is to be performed by the Contractor or any Sub-contractor of any tier, as well as 
any time the daily cope of the work changes. It helps everyone involved in performing, supervising 
and overseeing the work to align the objectives to be accomplished before the day of work begins. 
A Pre-task Planning form is required to be completed and a meeting is required to be held with the 
crew by the supervisor prior to the start of each work shift. At a minimum, the supervisor will include 
the following in the Pre-task Planning: 

Identify the specific actions and work methods required to perform the work. 

Identify the specific hazards associated with the performance of the work and the measures 
necessary to eliminate or minimize the workers’ exposure to the hazard. 

Provide the necessary training needed to safely perform the work. 

Identify and provide the necessary tools, equipment, and PPE required to protect the workers 
from the hazards. 

Review any items that may be applicable to their work activity previously identified on the JSA. 

The Pre-Task Plan will be documented and kept in the work location for the duration of the shift or 
activity. As acknowledgment of its contents, the Pre-Task Plan must be signed by all members of the 
work crew and its supervisor, and others identified by, and in the sole and absolute discretion of, the 
Owner’s Representative. . 

Pre-Task Planning is not something that is to be submitted with the PSSP however it must be 
maintained on the jobsite throughout the project duration for review by the Owner’s Representative 
and, at the request of the Owner’s Representative, must be provided to the Owner’s Representative 
as part of the Contract Close-out documentation 

Exhibit K - CFTOD Project Specific Safety Plan (PSSP) Requirements

K - 3



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 7.2 Board Meeting Date: 02-27-2026 

Subject: Duplex Lift Station #46 Rehabilitation Project – Design 

Presented By: Chris Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services 

Department: Utility Services 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready): Approve Agenda Item 7.2 establishing the initial 
budget for the Duplex Lift Station #46 rehabilitation project in the amount of $256,830 consisting of (i) an 
allowance for RCES design\support services of $100,000; and (ii) professional services by CPH 
Consulting, LLC; and authorizing the District Administrator to execute the task work order for 
$142,573 plus a 10% contingency for unforeseen issues for a total of $156,830 

 

DISTRICT’S RELEVANT STRATEGIC GOALS: Operational Excellence
 
 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION: N/A 

BACKGROUND: 

LS-46 is a District duplex lift station located in the southeast section of the District and serves as the primary 
facility for wastewater transmission for customer-connected gravity sewer systems and other smaller lift 
stations. A condition assessment of the station identified several critical components that require 
replacement due to corrosion and deterioration. Upgrades to the station would bring the station up to our 
current standards for safety related to confined space entry, fall protection, monitoring, and electrical 
systems.  
The scope of work for the LS-46 rehabilitation and upgrade project includes, but is not limited to, the 
following: 

• Replacing existing submersible pumps with appropriately sized modern pumps.
• Installing a diesel backup pump to provide emergency pumping capability in place of the current

engine generator and fuel storage tank.
• Applying a protective lining system to the wet well walls and ceiling for rehabilitation of concrete

existing protective coatings.
• Providing a full station bypass to ensure continuous station operation during coating application and

other critical rehabilitation work within the wet well.
• Replacing and modifying the riser and discharge piping to enhance system performance and

eliminate the valve vault.
• Modifying the wet well interior to improve hydraulic efficiency.
• Replacing electrical systems, instrumentation, telemetry, and controls to bring the station up to

current standards and allow 24/7 monitoring in the RCES Control Room.

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS: 
This long-lived asset replacement project was identified among the list of twenty-two (22) projects requiring 
funding from the 2025 Bond issuance. The Utility Division seeks approval of the initial budget for project 
design. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
Funding will be from CFTOD Series 2025-1 Utility Revenue Bonds (Non-Taxable). 



   
 

   
 

PROCUREMENT REVIEW:  
The task work order will be reviewed and approved for compliance with the District’s procurement policies 
prior to issuance. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
N/A 
 
ALTERNATIVE:  

• Deny 
• Amend 
• Table 

 
SUPPORT MATERIALS:  

• N/A 
 



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 7.3 Board Meeting Date: 02/27/2026 

Subject: Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement Project – 
Construction 

Presented By: Christine Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services 

Department: Utility Services 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready): Approve Agenda Item 7.3 establishing a project 
budget of $6,567,630 for Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center A & B replacement 
project, along with an allowance for RCES design\support services of $100,000 and authorizing the District 
Administrator to execute Contract #C006965 with Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc. for 
construction services in the amount of $5,411,800 with 10% contingency for unforeseen issues for a total 
of $5,952,980 
 

DISTRICT’S RELEVANT STRATEGIC GOALS: Operational Excellence
 
 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION: Bid released to the Public - November 05, 2025 

BACKGROUND: 

The Studios North Central Energy Plant has eight (8) chillers and cooling towers that produce chilled water 
for District customers. The plant has four (4) 480-volt Motor Controls Centers designated A, B, C, and D. 

Motor Control Centers A and B supply dedicated power to each chiller motor, pump motor, fan motor and 
auxiliary transformer to serve the connected building loads at the Studios North Central Energy Plant. This 
project involves the replacement of Motor Control Centers A and B that are original to the plant and have 
reached the end of their useful life. 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS: 
On November 5, 2025, Invitation to Bid # C006965 was issued for construction services in support of the 
Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement Project – 
Construction.   

Two (2) bids were received as follows: 
Vendor’s Legal Name Vendor’s City/State Vendor’s Bid 

Electrical Engineering Enterprise, Inc. Orlando, FL $5,411,800 

Bluewater Telecommunications Orlando, FL $6,626,255 

Electrical Engineering Enterprise, Inc., was the lowest responsive and responsible bidder. The District 
intends to direct-purchase the project material for sales tax savings. The materials have long lead times and 
are not expected in before Q4 2025, and Q1 2026. 

The Utilities Division is currently requesting the following to be funded by the 2025-2 (Taxable) Bond 
issuance:  

• Approval of an overall project budget of $6,567,630;
• Approval of Contract #C006965 in the amount of $5,411,800 with Electrical Engineering



Enterprises, Inc. for Construction Services of $5,411,800; with a 10% contingency for unforeseen 
issues for a total amount of $5,952,980; 

• RCES Design Design/Support Services fee of $100,000

This long-lived asset replacement project was identified among the list of twenty-two (22) projects requiring 
funding from the 2025 Bond issuance.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  
Funding will be from CFTOD Series 2025-2 Utility Revenue Bonds (Taxable). 

PROCUREMENT REVIEW: This bid was reviewed and approved in compliance with the District’s 
procurement policies.  

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The contract will be reviewed and approved for form and legality by the District Counsel. 

ALTERNATIVE: 
• Deny
• Amend
• Table

SUPPORT MATERIALS: 
• Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc. - Contract #C006965



STUDIOS NORTH CENTRAL ENERGY PLANT 
MOTOR CONTROL CENTER (MCC) A & B 

REPLACEMENT  
CONTRACT NO.: C006965

PROJECT MANUAL
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT

Effective Date: February 27, 2026

Owner: Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
1900 Hotel Plaza Boulevard
Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830 

Owner’s Representative: Reedy Creek Energy Services
5300 N. Center Drive
Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830 

Engineer/Architect of Record: Salas O’Brien Florida, Inc.
3501 Quadrangle Boulevard, Suite 100 
Orlando, Florida 32817

Contractor: Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.
5316 E. Henry Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33610



 

  

 
PROJECT MANUAL 
Definition: The compilation of Documents listed herein is hereinafter referred to as the Project Manual. 
The following listed documents comprise the Project Manual entitled: 
 

Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement   
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT 

Contract Number: C006965 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
Exhibit A - Scope of Work and List of Contract Documents 
Exhibit B - Project Milestone Schedule 
Exhibit C - Recap of Contract Sum 
Exhibit D - Pending Alternates 
Exhibit E - Unit Price Schedule 
Exhibit F - Special Contract Conditions 
Exhibit G - General Conditions of the Contract for Construction 
Exhibit H - Forms 
Exhibit I - Specification Section 00 88 50 – List of Drawings and Specifications 
Exhibit J - Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements with Sample form 
Exhibit K - Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces 
Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out 
Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal 

If there is a conflict between the terms of this Agreement, Drawings, Project Specifications and the 
Exhibits, then the terms of this Agreement shall control, amend, and supersede any conflicting terms 
contained in the Drawings, Project Specifications and Exhibits.  

If there is a conflict between the Project Drawings, Specifications and the Exhibits, the precedence is: 
(1) Drawings, (2) Specifications, then (3) Exhibits.  

If there is a conflict between the terms of the Exhibits regarding the scope, the order of precedence 
is: (1) Exhibit A, (2) Exhibit F, (3) Exhibit G, then (4) Exhibit M.  

DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS: Drawings are separately bound.  For the List of Drawings and 
Specifications, refer to Specification Section 00850, entitled List of Drawings and Specifications, 
contained in the Project Manual, entitled Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center 
(MCC) A & B Replacement , dated August 29, 2025.  All Drawings and Specifications listed therein, and 
any applicable Addenda subsequently issued thereto, are specifically incorporated into the Project 
Manual by this reference. 

PROJECT FILES: Drawings, Specifications, and Requirements are available electronically                        
for viewing and download under the Invitation to Bid (“ITB”) No. C006965: Motor                        
Control Center A and B Replacement (Studios North Central Energy Plant) at 
https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/135015#bidDocs. All project files  
contained therein, and any applicable Addenda subsequently issued thereto, are specifically 
incorporated into the Project Manual by this reference. 

Project files available electronically at the link above: 
 Drawings: Studios North Central Energy Plant (SNCEP) MCC A And B Replacement 
 Specifications:  

o Project Specifications 
 Division 01 – General Requirements 
 Division 23 – Heating, Ventilating, And Air Conditioning (HVAC) 
 Division 26 – Electrical 

o RCES Electrical Construction Specifications Rev 4 
Project files included in Agreement and available electronically at the link above: 

 Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements 
 Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces 
 RCES Lock Out Tag Out

END OF TABLE OF CONTENTS - PROJECT MANUAL 



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 1 

STUDIOS NORTH CENTRAL ENERGY PLANT MOTOR CONTROL CENTER A & B REPLACEMENT  
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made by and between Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (herein referred 
to as the “Owner,” “District” or “CFTOD”), whose mailing address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box # 
690519, Orlando, Florida 32869, and Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc. (herein referred to as 
the “Contractor”), whose mailing address is 5316 E. Henry Avenue, Tampa, Florida 33610. 

W I T N E S S E T H

WHEREAS, Central Florida Tourism Oversight District issued Invitation to Bid (“ITB”) No. C006965 on 
November 5, 2025 for Motor Control Center (MCC) A and B replacement at the Studios North Central Energy 
Plant;  

WHEREAS, two (2) bidders responded, and Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc. was the lowest 
responsive and responsible bidder.  The Contractor was subsequently selected as the intended awardee for 
these services; and

In consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Article 1
DEFINITIONS: THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

1.1. The capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth in the General Conditions of 
the Contract for Construction (herein referred to as the “General Conditions”) unless a specific 
definition therefor is provided herein.  Unless otherwise specified, references herein to numbered 
articles and paragraphs are to those in this Agreement.  This Agreement shall be referred to 
throughout the Contract Documents as the “Agreement.” 

1.2. The Contract Documents consist of this Agreement, the Conditions of the Contract (General and 
Special), the Drawings, the Specifications, all Addenda (except portions thereof relating purely to 
any of the bidding forms or bidding procedures), all Modifications and all other documents identified 
in the “List of Contract Documents” included in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto. Such documents 
form the Contract and all are as fully a part thereof as if attached to this agreement or repeated 
herein.

Article 2
STATEMENT OF THE WORK

2.1. The totality of the obligations imposed upon the Contractor by this Article and by all other provisions 
of the Contract Documents, as well as the structures to be built and the labor to be performed, is 
herein referred to as the “Work.” 

2.2. Exhibit A, “Scope of Work and List of Contract Documents,” contains a brief description of the 
Project. 

2.3. The Contractor shall provide and pay for all materials, tools, equipment, labor and professional and 
nonprofessional services, and shall perform all other acts and supply all other things necessary to 
fully and properly perform and complete the Work.  The Contractor shall further provide and pay 
for all related facilities described in any of the Contract Documents, including all work expressly 
specified therein and such additional work as may be reasonably inferred therefrom, saving and 
excepting only such items of work as are specifically stated in the Contract Documents not to be 
the obligation of the Contractor. 



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 2

Article 3
OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE

3.1. Reedy Creek Energy Services, whose designated representative is Satchin Harripersad, and 
whose mailing address is Post Office Box 690519, Orlando, Florida 32869, shall act as the Owner's 
authorized representative (herein referred to as the "Owner’s Representative"); provided, however, 
that the Owner may, without liability to the Contractor, unilaterally amend this Article from time to 
time by designating a different person or organization to act as its representative and so advising 
the Contractor in writing, at which time the person or organization so designated shall be the 
Owner’s Representative for purposes of this Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in this 
Agreement, and until the Contractor is notified in writing to the contrary, all actions to be taken 
by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and instructions to be given by, all notices and other 
matters to be delivered to, all determinations and decisions to be made by and, in general, all other 
action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall be taken, given and made by, or delivered or 
given to, the Owner’s Representative in the name of and on behalf of the Owner; provided, 
however, that the Owner (and not the Owner’s Representative) shall be solely obligated to the 
Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the Contractor hereunder.

3.2. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the 
Contractor and the Owner’s Representative; provided, however, that the Owner’s Representative 
shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations of the Contractor to the Owner 
as imposed by this Agreement.

Article 4
THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER

4.1. The Architect/Engineer for the Project (herein referred to as the “A/E”) is Salas O’Brien Florida, 
Inc., whose mailing address is 3501 Quadrangle Boulevard, Suite 100 Orlando, Florida 32817.

Article 5
TIME OF COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION

5.1. The Contractor shall commence the Work promptly upon receipt of written Notice-to-Proceed 
(“NTP”) from the Owner and shall complete all Work within 35 Days after issuance of said 
NTP (such period of time is herein referred to as the “Contract Time”) and in accordance with such 
interim milestone dates (herein referred to as the “Milestones”) as may be specified in the Contract 
Documents.  The Contract Time and any such Milestones are of the essence of the Contract.

5.2. If any Work is performed by the Contractor prior to the execution of this Agreement based on 
receipt of written notice to proceed, all such Work performed shall be in accordance with and 
governed by the Contract Documents.

5.3. The Contractor acknowledges that the Owner has made no warranties to the Contractor, expressed 
or implied, that the Contractor will be able to follow a normal, orderly sequence in the performance 
of the Work or that there will be no delays in, or interference with, the Work.

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
Substantial Completion of the Work shall be achieved no later than 30 DAYS from the Notice-
to-Proceed. 

The Notice-to-Proceed is defined as the date the Owner provides the Notice to Contractor to begin 
the project. 

FINAL COMPLETION 
Final Completion of the Work shall be achieved no later than 35 DAYS from the Notice-to-
Proceed.



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 3 

Article 6
CONTRACT SUM

6.1. Provided that the Contractor shall strictly and completely perform all of its obligations under the 
Contract Documents, and subject only to additions and deductions by Change Order or as otherwise 
provided in the General Conditions, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor, in current funds and at 
the times and in the installments hereinafter specified, the lump sum amount of FIVE MILLION, 
FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN THOUSAND, EIGHT HUNDRED AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS 
DOLLARS ($5,411,800.00) (herein referred to as the “Contract Sum”) to cover the Contractor's 
profit and general overhead and all costs and expenses of any nature whatsoever (including, 
without limitation, taxes, labor and materials), foreseen or unforeseen, and any increases in said 
costs and expenses, incurred by the Contractor in connection with the performance of the Work, 
all of which costs and expenses shall be borne solely by the Contractor.

Article 7
APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT

7.1. The Contractor shall, on the twenty-fifth (25th) day of each calendar month (herein referred to as 
the “Payment Application Date”), deliver to the Owner an Application for Payment in accordance 
with the provisions of Article 9 of the General Conditions.  Before submitting the first Application 
for Payment, Contractor shall submit (and resubmit until approval is obtained) to the Owner's 
Representative for approval the “Schedule of Values,” generally following the Uniform Construction 
Index (CSI) cost analysis format but further broken down by facility, labor and material, all as 
required by the Owner's Representative.  Each item in the "Schedule of Values" shall only include 
its proper share of overhead and profit.  The Schedule of Values, when approved by the Owner's 
Representative, shall be used as a basis for the Contractor's Application for Payment

7.2. All invoices should reference the contract number and shall be addressed appropriately as outlined 
below:

District utility projects managed by Reedy 
Creek Energy Services (“RCES”)

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
C/O: Reedy Creek Energy Services - Utilities Division
Attention: Accounts Payable
P.O. Box 690519
Orlando, Florida 32869
All invoices shall be sent to 
wdw.rces.billing@disney.com

Article 8
PROGRESS PAYMENTS AND FINAL PAYMENT OF THE CONTRACT SUM

8.1. Based on the Contractor's Application for Payment, the Schedule of Values submitted by the 
Contractor and approved by the Owner, and the Owner’s approval of the Application for Payment 
pursuant to Article 9 of the General Conditions, the Owner shall make monthly payments to the 
Contractor on account of the Contract Sum.  Such monthly payments shall be made on or before 
the twenty-fifth (25th) day of each calendar month or the thirtieth (30th) day after receipt by the 
Owner of such documentation as the Owner may require pursuant to Article 9 of the General 
Conditions to substantiate the amount owed, whichever is later; provided, however, that the Owner 
shall have no obligation to make payment as aforesaid if it has withheld approval thereof as 
permitted under Subparagraph 9.3.1. of the General Conditions or if the Contractor has not 
submitted to the Owner all documentation required to substantiate the Application for Payment.  



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 4

Each such monthly payment shall be in an amount equal to ninety-five percent (95%) of the net 
amount allowed the Contractor for labor, materials and equipment incorporated or used in the 
Work (or suitably stored at the job site if the Owner has agreed in advance to pay for such stored 
materials and equipment) through the Payment Application Date, as indicated in the Owner's 
approval of the Application for Payment, after deducting any sums withheld by the Owner pursuant 
to the Contract Documents and the aggregate of all previous payments to the Contractor on 
account of the Contract Sum.  Upon Substantial Completion of the Work, as determined by the 
Owner, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor a sum sufficient to increase the aggregate payments 
theretofore made to the Contractor on account of the Contract Sum to ninety-five percent (95%) 
of the Contract Sum, less such retainage as the Owner shall determine is necessary for all 
incomplete Work, unsettled claims or other matters for which the Owner is permitted to withhold 
under the General Conditions.

8.2. Final payment, constituting the entire unpaid balance of the Contract Sum, shall be paid by the 
Owner to the Contractor within fourteen (14) days after completion of those items set forth in the 
Punch List, including, without limitation, approval by Owner of the final Application for Payment, 
and execution by the Contractor of the Close-out Change Order, in accordance with the General 
Conditions; provided, however, that final payment shall in no event be due unless and until the 
Contractor shall have complied with all provisions of the Contract Documents, including those 
contained in Subparagraph 9.4.2 of the General Conditions.

8.3. Return of Funds.  Contractor will return any overpayments due to unearned funds or funds 
disallowed pursuant to the terms of the Agreement that were disbursed to the Contractor. The 
Contractor must return any overpayment within forty (40) calendar days after either discovery by 
the Contractor, its independent auditor, or notification by the Owner of the overpayment.

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

Should the Contractor fail to achieve Substantial Completion by the date provided in the Contract, 
the Contractor shall pay and/or the District may retain from the compensation otherwise to be paid 
to the Contractor, as liquidated damages, the sum of $2,650.00 for each consecutive calendar day 
until Substantial Completion is achieved; said  sum is agreed upon as a reasonable and proper 
measure of damages which the District will sustain per diem by failure of the Contractor to complete 
work within the time as stipulated;  it being recognized by the District and the Contractor that the 
injury to the District which could result from a failure of the Contractor to complete on schedule is 
uncertain and cannot be computed exactly.  In no way shall costs for liquidated damages be 
construed as a penalty on the Contractor.  The liquidated damages referenced herein may also be 
assessed and collected against the Surety.  Liquidated damages do not apply to final completion 
dates.

Article 9
CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

9.1. The Contractor hereby represents and warrants to the Owner that:

A. it is duly licensed to observe and perform the terms, covenants, conditions and other provisions 
on its part to be observed or performed hereunder; 

B. it is experienced and skilled in the construction and work of the type described in, or required 
by, the Contract Documents;

C. all equipment and materials used in connection with the Work shall be new (except if otherwise 
required by the Specifications) and the equipment, the materials and the Work shall be of the 
best quality, free from faults and defects and shall strictly conform to the Contract Documents; 
and

D. it has, by careful examination satisfied itself as to:  (1) the nature, location and character of 
the job site including, without limitation, the surface and subsurface conditions of the land and 
all structures and obstructions thereon, both natural and manmade, surface water conditions 



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 5

of the Job Site and the surrounding area and, to the extent pertinent to the Work, all other 
conditions; (2) the nature, location and character of the general area in which the Job Site is 
located including, without limitation, its climatic conditions, the availability and cost of labor 
and the availability and cost of materials, tools and equipment; (3) the quality and quantity of 
all materials, supplies, tools, equipment, labor and professional services necessary to complete 
the Work in the manner required by the Contract Documents; and (4) all other matters or 
things which could in any manner affect the performance of the Work.  Without limitation on 
the foregoing, the Contractor recognizes the physical and operational restrictions on carrying 
on of the Work in or about the Project or the Job Site.

9.2. The Contractor accepts the relationship of trust and confidence established by this Agreement 
between it and the Owner.  It covenants with the Owner that it shall:  furnish its best skill and 
judgment and cooperate with the Owner in furthering the interests of the Owner; furnish efficient 
business administration and superintendence and an adequate supply of workmen, equipment, 
tools and materials at all times; and perform the work in the best and soundest way and in the 
most expeditious and economical manner consistent with the best interests of the Owner.

9.3. The Contractor warrants all labor, materials, and equipment furnished under the agreement are of 
the type and quality required for the Project, and installed in a good and workmanlike manner in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall guarantee the Work shall be free from 
any defects in workmanship for a period of not less than ONE (1) year from the date of final 
completion. Contractor shall guarantee the materials provided shall be free from any defects for 
the longer of: (A) ONE (1) year from the date of final completion; or (B) the period of warranty 
provided by any supplier or manufacturer. The Owner may withhold final payment until the 
Contractor provides complete written manufacturers' warranties to the Owner’s Representative at 
the end of the project.

Article 10
TERMINATION

10.1. Termination of the Contract by the Owner, with or without cause, and by the Contractor are 
provided for in Article 15 of the General Conditions.  If the Owner terminates the Contract pursuant 
to Paragraph 15.2. of the General Conditions, and the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds 
the costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Owner in finishing the Work, including 
compensation for any additional architectural, engineering, management and administrative 
services, such excess shall, upon the completion of the Work, be paid to the Contractor.  If such 
costs exceed such unpaid balance, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner upon 
demand.

Article 11
NON-FUNDING

11.1. In the event that budgeted funds for this Agreement are reduced, terminated, or otherwise become 
unavailable, Owner may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Contractor without 
penalty to Owner.  Owner shall be the final authority as to the availability of the funding.

Article 12
FORCE MAJEURE

12.1. Neither party shall be responsible for damages or delays caused by Force Majeure or other events 
beyond the reasonable control of the party and which could not reasonably have been anticipated 
or prevented.



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 6

12.2. Force Majeure includes, but is not limited to, war, terrorism, riots, epidemics, fire, acts of nature, 
strikes, lockouts, pandemics, court orders, and acts, orders, laws, or regulations of the government 
of the United States or the several states, prohibiting or impeding any part from performing its 
respective obligations.

12.3. If Force Majeure occurs, the parties shall mutually agree on the terms and conditions upon which 
services may continue. Should Contractor be delayed in the commencement, performance, or 
completion of the Work due to any of the conditions under this section, Contractor shall be entitled 
to an extension of time only, provided however, that in no event shall Contractor  be entitled to 
any increased costs, additional compensation, or damages of any type resulting from such Force 
Majeure delays.

Article 13
PUBLIC RECORDS

13.1. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Florida Public Records Act, Chapter 
119, Florida Statutes. Specifically, the Contractor shall:

A. Keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to perform the service.

B. Upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, provide the public agency 
with a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a 
reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in this chapter or as otherwise 
provided by law.

C. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
contract term and following completion of the contract if the Contractor does not transfer the 
records to the public agency.

D. Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the public agency all public records in 
possession of the Contractor or keep and maintain public records required by the public agency 
to perform the service. If the Contractor transfers all public records to the public agency upon 
completion of the contract, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are 
exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If the 
Contractor keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the contract, the Contractor 
shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored 
electronically must be provided to the public agency, upon request from the public agency’s 
custodian of public records, in a format that is compatible with the information technology 
systems of the public agency.

IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE OWNER’S CUSTODIAN OF 
PUBLIC RECORDS AT TELEPHONE NUMBER 407-939-3240, EMAIL 
ADDRESS PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG, MAILING 
ADDRESS CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT, 
ATTN: PUBLIC RECORDS ADMINISTRATOR, P.O. BOX 690519, 
ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32869.



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 7

Article 14
E-VERIFY COMPLIANCE

14.1. The Contractor and its subcontractors warrant compliance with all federal immigration laws and 
regulations that relate to their employees.  The Contractor agrees and acknowledges that the 
Owner is a public employer that is subject to the E-Verify requirements as set forth in Section 
448.095, Florida Statutes, and that the provisions of F.S. Sec. 448.095 apply to this Agreement.  
Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 10 hereof and Article 15 of the General Conditions of the 
Contract for Construction, which forms a part of this Agreement, if the Owner has a good faith 
belief that the Contractor has knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien who is not duly 
authorized to work by the immigration laws of the Attorney General of the United States for 
employment under this Agreement, the Owner shall terminate the Agreement.  If the Owner has 
a good faith belief that a subcontractor performing work under this Agreement knowingly hired, 
recruited or referred an alien who is not duly authorized to work by the immigration laws or the 
Attorney General of the United States for employment under this Agreement, the Owner shall 
promptly notify the Contractor and order the Contractor to immediately terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor.  The Contractor shall be liable for any additional costs incurred by the Owner 
as a result of termination of a contract based on Contractor’s failure to comply with E-Verify 
requirements referenced herein.

Article 15
SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES

15.1. By executing this Agreement, the Contractor certifies that it is eligible to bid on, submit a proposal 
for, enter into or renew a contract with the Owner for goods or services pursuant to Section 
287.135, Florida Statutes. Owner may terminate Agreement immediately upon discovering that 
Contractor: (A) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies or Other Entities that Boycott Israel 
List; (B) is engaged in a boycott of Israel; (C) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with 
Activities in Sudan List; (D) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Iran 
Terrorism Sectors List; or (E) has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or Syria. This 
Agreement may also be terminated immediately if the Contractor falsely certified or has become 
ineligible to bid and contract with local government entities under F.S. 287.135. If this Agreement 
is terminated by the Owner as provided above, the Owner reserves the right to pursue any and all 
legal remedies against the Contractor, including, but not limited to the remedies described in 
Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid 
only for the work completed as of the date of the Owner’s termination. Unless explicitly stated in 
this Section, no other damages, fees or costs may be assessed against the Owner for its termination 
of the Agreement pursuant to this Section.

Article 16
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

16.1. The Contract Documents shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State 
of Florida, to the exclusion of its rules concerning conflicts of laws, and shall constitute the entire and 
sole understanding of the parties hereto notwithstanding any prior oral or written statements, 
instructions, agreements, representations, or other communications.

16.2. Any legal proceeding of any nature brought by either party against the other to enforce any right or 
obligation under this Contract, or arising out of any matter pertaining to this Contract or the Work to 
be performed hereunder (a “Proceeding”), shall be submitted for trial, without jury, solely and 
exclusively before the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida; 
provided, however, that if such Circuit Court does not have jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall 
be submitted solely and exclusively before the United States District Court for the Middle District of 
Florida (Orlando Division); and provided further that if neither of such courts has jurisdiction, then 
such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and exclusively before any other court sitting in Orange 
County, Florida having jurisdiction.  The parties (A) expressly waive the right to a jury trial, (B) 



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 8

consent and submit to the sole and exclusive jurisdiction of the requisite court as provided herein 
and (C) agree to accept service of process outside the State of Florida in any matter related to a 
Proceeding in accordance with the applicable rules of civil procedure.

16.3. In the event that any provision of any of the Contract Documents is judicially construed to be 
invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall then be construed in a manner 
allowing its validity or, if this leads to an impracticable result, shall be stricken but, in either event, 
all other provisions of the Contract Documents shall remain in full force and effect. 

Article 17
NOTICES

17.1. Notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, may be delivered 
personally or by mail, telex, facsimile, cable, or courier service, and shall be deemed given when 
received by the addressee.  Notices shall be addressed as follows:

If to Owner: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519
Orlando, FL 32869
Attention:  Contracting Officer

If to Contractor: ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.
5316 E. Henry Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33610
Attention: Chris Steele

or to such other address as either party may direct by notice given to the other as hereinabove 
provided.

17.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice sent to the last designated address of the party to whom 
a notice may be or is required to be delivered under this Agreement shall not be deemed ineffective 
if actual delivery cannot be made due to a change of address of the party to whom the notice is 
directed or the failure or refusal of such party to accept delivery of the notice.

Article 18
ASSIGNMENT

18.1. This Agreement is for the services of Contractor and may not be assigned by Contractor in any 
fashion, whether by operation of law, or by conveyance of any type including, without limitation, 
transfer of stock in Contractor, without the prior written consent of Owner, which consent Owner 
may withhold in its sole discretion.  Owner retains the right to assign all or any portion of this 
Agreement at any time. Upon such assignment, and provided the Assignee shall, in writing, assume 
Owner's obligations under this Agreement, Owner shall be automatically released and discharged 
from any and all of its obligations under this Agreement, and Contractor shall thenceforth look 
solely to the Assignee for performance of Owner's obligations under this Agreement.

Article 19
EFFECTIVE DATE

19.1. Any Services performed or caused to be performed by Contractor prior to the effective date of this 
Agreement shall be deemed to have been performed under this Agreement when agreed to by the 
Owner.

Article 20
HEADINGS

20.1. The headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall 
not be construed in any manner for the purpose of interpreting the provisions thereof.



CONTRACT NO: C006965

Page 9

Article 21
ENTIRE AGREEMENT

21.1. This Agreement supersedes any and all discussions, understandings or other agreements, either 
oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the Services and contains all the 
covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the Services.  Each party to this 
Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, orally 
or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which are 
not embodied herein, and that no other agreement, statement, course of dealing usage of trade, 
or promise not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding or used to interpret this 
Agreement. Any modification or amendment of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing 
and signed by both parties. Any failure by Owner to require strict compliance with any provision of 
this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of such provision, and Owner may subsequently 
require strict compliance at any time, notwithstanding any prior failure to do so.

Article 22
PUBLIC CONSTRUCTION BOND

22.1. The Contractor must submit a recorded, Public Construction Bond in conformance with Florida 
Statute 255.05 for the Total Contract Sum Amount of FIVE MILLION, FOUR HUNDRED  
ELEVEN THOUSAND, EIGHT HUNDRED AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS 
($5,411,800.00) as security for the faithful performance of the work within the time set forth 
as required herein and for prompt payment to all persons defined in 713.01, Florida Statues, who 
furnish labor, services, or materials for the completion of the work provided herein. Bond must be 
recorded in the county where the project is located, which is Orange or Osceola County, Florida.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed effective as 
of the day and year first above written.

OWNER: CONTRACTOR:
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM             ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, 
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT INC.

Signature:   Signature: 
As authorized by the Board of Supervisors

Print Name:    S.C. Kopelousos                            Print Name: 

Title:    District Administrator                              Title: 

Date:    February 27, 2026   Date: 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 1 
  

I. Scope of Work: 

SECTION 1. SCOPE OF WORK OVERVIEW 

Contractor shall replace the existing 480V Motor Control Center (MCC) with a new switchboard system, 
enhancing reliability, safety, and operational efficiency. All the associated work is shown in the prints.  

This work will be executed in phases as per the Drawings. Project also includes plumbing work to install 
drainage under the starter/VFD cabinets, modification to the UPS circuit, modification to office space 
near the MCC area. Contractor shall also procure HVAC, door frame for the office and bathroom area 
as per the specifications. 

SECTION 2. SCOPE OF WORK 

2.1 Procurement 
All products shall be UL listed. 

A. Supply HVAC for the offices 
B. Supply a new door frame required for medication of the office. 
C. Supply of new 480V switchboard as per approved specifications and drawings. 
D. Ensure compliance with applicable standards (e.g., NEC, UL891, NEMA). 
E. Supply soft starter VFDs and FVNR starters cabinets. 
F. Include all required components: main breakers, feeder breakers, metering, protective 

relays, bus bars, and control accessories. 
G. Factory Acceptance Testing (FAT) prior to delivery. 
H. Delivery to site with all necessary documentation and certifications. 

2.2 Installation 
A. De-energization and safe removal of the existing MCC. 
B. Preparation of site including concrete pad (if required), cable trenching, and structural 

modifications. 
C. Installation of the new switchboard in accordance with the phased construction plan and 

drawings. 
D. Electrical terminations for incoming and outgoing feeders. 
E. Grounding and bonding per code. 
F. Coordination with other trades and systems (e.g., fire alarm, BMS, SCADA). 

2.3 Commissioning 
A. Pre-commissioning inspections and testing (IR testing, torque checks, continuity). 
B. Functional testing of all switchboard components. 
C. Function testing of VFDs, soft starters and FVNR starters. 
D. Verification of protection settings and control logic. 
E. Energization and load testing. 
F. Site Acceptance Testing (SAT) and final commissioning report. 
G. Providing a Training manual for operations and maintenance staff. 

2.4 Phased Construction 
A. Work will be executed in phases to minimize disruption to operations. 
B. Each phase will follow the sequence and layout defined in the provided in the drawings. 
C. Temporary power arrangements and cutover plans will be coordinated with the client. 
D. Detailed phasing schedule to be submitted and approved prior to mobilization. 

2.5 Deliverables 
A. New switchboard and accessories. 
B. VFDs and VFDs cabinets. 
C. Starters and starter cabinets. 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 2 
  

D. FAT and SAT documentation. 
E. As-built drawings and wiring diagrams. 
F. Operation and Maintenance manuals. 
G. Warranty certificates. 

2.6 Responsibilities 
A. Contractor: Full responsibility for procurement, installation, testing, commissioning, and 

documentation. 
B. Owner: Provide access to site, necessary permits, and coordination with facility operations. 

2.7 Standards and Codes 
A. NEC, UL891, NEMA, IEEE, and local electrical codes. 
B. Manufacturer’s installation and operation guidelines. 

SECTION 3. DISTRICT GUIDELINES 

The following applies to ALL contract work: 

3.1 The Contractor shall perform the basic services outlined within this Scope of Work between the 
hours of 7:00 AM and 5:00 PM, Monday through Friday, with the exception of 
mechanical/electrical tie-ins which may necessitate third shift sequencing to minimize impact to 
park operations. All mechanical/electrical tie-ins shall be coordinated with Owner prior to 
proceeding. All work hours are subject to change depending on the time of year and as a result 
of special events or holidays. 

3.2 Owner will designate where Contractor's crew will take breaks, lunches, and use restroom 
facilities. Employee personal vehicles will be parked only in areas designated by the Owner. 

3.3 Owner reserves the right to refuse any Contractor's employee who does not meet or conform to 
Owner’s policies. Contractor's employees shall be required to maintain a level a professional 
appearance at all times while performing required tasks in or out of guest view. This includes a 
level of professional hygiene that includes all Contractor-provided uniforms. 

3.4 Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the services, and shall provide all protection to prevent injury to all 
persons involved in any way in the Services. 

3.5 Any and all complaints or calls for assistance from Owner or its agents or representatives shall 
be responded to by Contractor within twenty-four (24) hours of Owner’s issuance of such 
complaints or calls and all repairs or work which precipitated such complaint shall be diligently 
and professionally completed by Contractor. 

3.6 Contractor shall cause all of its employees to behave in a friendly, respectable, and courteous 
manner towards Owner, guests, staff, and management. In the event the Owner believes that 
any of Contractor's employees are acting other than as herein required, or Owner or its agents 
determine that any of such employees are not performing their duties in a competent manner, 
Owner shall so advise Contractor and Contractor shall promptly arrange to correct the deficiencies 
or to replace such employee as reasonably approved by Owner. Contractor shall maintain 
continuous and regular communications with Owner concerning safety and other factors that 
relate to the performance requirements hereunder and concerning any injury or damage to 
guests or Contractor's employees that may result or occur in connection with the services to be 
provided by Contractor hereunder. 

3.7 All services shall be approved by and scheduled through the Owner or its authorized 
representative. 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 3 
  

3.8 Contractor shall make walk/ride-through reviews of the entire site related to visual observations 
and shall make repairs and adjustments necessary. Owner may attend the walk/ride-through. 

3.9 Contractor shall be required to provide response correspondence to any service requests sent 
via the Owner. 

3.10 All services, whether performed by the Contractor, its subcontractors, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them, and all applicable equipment, machinery, materials, tools, 
and like items used in the services, shall be in compliance with, and conform to: (a) all applicable 
laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, and orders of any public, quasi-public, or other governmental 
authority; and (b) all codes, rules, regulations, and requirements, of the Owner and its insurance 
carriers relating thereto. In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

3.11 The Contractor shall at all times keep the general area in which the services are to be performed 
clean and free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, 
hazardous waste), caused by performance of the services, and shall continuously throughout 
performance of the services remove and dispose of all such materials. The Owner may require 
the Contractor to comply with such standards, means, and methods of cleanup, removal, disposal 
as the Owner may make known to the Contractor and/or as required by any applicable laws. In 
the event the Contractor fails to keep clean of such rubbish and waste in the affected areas, and 
the Owner incurs the clean-up cost, the Owner will deduct the expenses incurred from any sums 
then or thereafter due the Contractor. 

SECTION 4. QUALITY CONTROL 

4.1 Contractor shall establish a quality control/quality assurance program specific to this contract 
scope and shall maintain and monitor the program throughout the life of the contract. 

4.2 The District will have the right at any stage of the operation to reject any or all work and material 
that in the Owner's opinion does not meet the requirements of this scope of services. 

SECTION 5. DAMAGES 

5.1 Any damages caused by the Contractor shall be repaired by the Contractor within twenty-four 
(24) hours, or shall be repaired by the Owner and back-charged at the current rate per man hour 
plus material plus twenty percent (20%) on material only. Any materials required to correct 
damages caused by the Contractor shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. 

5.2 Should the Owner elect to have the Contractor perform any work outside the scope of services, 
the Owner may request a lump sum proposal for the work or may direct the Contractor to proceed 
on a time and material basis. 

5.3 Contractor shall report all damages to the Owner immediately. 

SECTION 6. SAFETY 

6.1 All Contractors’ equipment shall be properly maintained with all safety equipment intact and 
operational. 

6.2 Contractor shall acquire all necessary certifications and ensure all employees hold such 
certifications as applicable for their work on the project. 

6.3 Contractor shall be responsible for the safety of its employees and shall, at a minimum, require 
applicable personal protective equipment (“PPE”) including, but not limited to, hard hat, safety 
vest, eye and hand protection. 

6.4 Contractor shall provide a Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) to Owner’s Construction Safety 
Consultant prior to start of any work to include the following: 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 4 
  

• Contractor company name and contact information; 
• Project number and name; 
• Summary of work to be performed; 
• Job hazards present and how to mitigate; 
• Personnel names to be working onsite; 
• Equipment to be utilized in performance of the work; and 
• Job hazard analysis (“JHA”). 

SECTION 7. LICENSING AND PERMITS 

7.1 Contractor must possess and maintain a State of Florida General or Electrical Contractors license 
for the contract. 

7.2 Subcontractors: Contractor is required to disclose a complete list of subcontractors on the 
Subcontractor List form. Contractor is not allowed to change or add sub-contractors without 
approval by the District. 
A. Contractor shall not subcontract any part of Work with any subcontractor not listed on the 

Subcontractor List without prior written approval of the District. The District may revoke 
approval of any Subcontractor when such Subcontractor evidences an unwillingness or 
inability to perform the Work in strict accordance with the Contract provisions. Contractor 
shall cause appropriate provisions inserted in all approved subcontracts relative to the Work 
to bind subcontractors to the terms of the Contractor’s Contract, insofar as applicable to the 
Work of subcontractors, and provide language regarding the termination of any subcontracts 
the District may exercise over the Contractor under provisions of this solicitation. 

B. District’s approval of a subcontractor shall not relieve the Contractor of any of their 
responsibilities, duties, and liabilities. The Contractor shall be solely responsible to the District 
for the acts, defaults, or omissions of their subcontractor and of such subcontractor’s 
Officers, Agents, and Employees each of whom shall for all purposes be deemed to be the 
agent or employee of the Contractor. 

C. It is the responsibility of the Contractor to require all subcontractors to maintain adequate 
insurance coverage, equal to the minimums of the Contractor. 

7.3 In order to use the District Building & Safety online permitting services to apply for permits, 
schedule inspections and obtain general permitting information, all users must be registered with 
the District in the main permitting system. All information must be verified and kept up to date 
throughout the year, including the main email address. Once established in our main permitting 
system, all approved users can then apply for a login registration with our online permitting 
system, Accela Citizen Access (ACA), at https://ca.rcid.org/citizenaccess. Additional information 
on how to register with ACA can be found in the ACA User’s Guide, available on the Building 
Department website page: https://www.oversightdistrict.org/doing-business/building-
department/.  NOTE: Contractor must provide Design Permit Number DP25-0007 when 
they submit their permit.  

SECTION 8. ADDENDA CLARIFICATIONS 

8.1 QUESTION Will you require third party commissioning? 

ANSWER Commissioning will be required by third party which will be hired by contractor 
and approved by RCES. 

8.2 QUESTION The RTAC and relays will need to be programed, bench tested and commission. 
Who is responsible for relay programming and commissioning? 

ANSWER RCES Operations will program and commission the Relay RTAC programming 
and commissioning but everything else will be commissioned by contractors. 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 5 
  

 

8.3 QUESTION The IR  Scan requires an Arc Flash Analysis to understand what arc flash rated 
clothing to wear. Will that be the responsibility of the contractor? 

ANSWER It will not be contractor responsibility to do any arc flash study on the gear. 
8.4 QUESTION E6.02 control wiring from CT to VFD FA. Plan does not show location for this 

destination. Please provide information needed to provide estimate. 
ANSWER Yes. The switch status will be added to the list on E6.02. 

8.5 

QUESTION 

E3.03 indicates provision and installation of new vibration switches at cooling 
tower for CT Fans 1 through 4. No description, detail or specification for the 
required switch has been provided. Please provide required vibration switch 
information/specifications. 

ANSWER The fire alarm is located on the plant side of the operations office wall directly  
across from the existing MCCA. 

8.6 
QUESTION 

E3.01 calls out CT1 and CT2 VFDs to B phase sequencing, E4.02 indicates that 
CT1 and CT2 are fed from Swbd A and therefore, should be in phase A. A 
similar but opposite condition is found on E3.01 for CT 3 and CT4. Please clarify. 

ANSWER CT-1 and 2 should be in the A phase, and CT-3 and 4 should be in the B Phase. 
8.7 

QUESTION 

During the site walk while looking at the north end of the plant as an example 
of the installation, it was noted that the CT Fan VFD's appear to have Fire Alarm 
Relay control. No Fire alarm control is indicated in the drawings for CT's 1-4. 
Please confirm Fire Alarm Control is not needed. If it is needed please provide 
FA drawings indicating requirements. 

ANSWER 
A dry contact is required for fire alarm input to trigger an emergency shutdown. 
Fire alarm drawings will be provided with the IFC set. Expect a monitored fire 
alarm relay to be connected to the VFDs for the cooling towers. 

8.8 

QUESTION 

E3.01 indicates new location for exhaust fan motor starters, during the site 
walk it was noticed that the exhaust fans are also operated by Fire Alarm relays, 
no reference to Fire Alarm has been included. Please provide Fire Alarm 
Drawings to document this work and its associated requirements. 

ANSWER 
The design intention is for the existing fire alarm wiring and modules currently 
associated with the exhaust fans to be re-located with the exhaust fan motor 
starters. Notes to this effect will be added to the IFC set. 

8.9 
QUESTION 

E3.01 indicates installing RTAC under phase A of sequencing, However, the 
location is occupied by the MCC relay equipment enclosure which will not be 
removed until phase B. Please advise. 

ANSWER Assume RTAC and PCW-4-SS/MPZB will swap locations. This will be reflected 
in the IFC package. 

8.10 

QUESTION 

Drawing E3.01 indicates providing and installing the RTAC. RTAC is described 
as a Hoffman rack only, with no equipment listed nor is there a detail drawing 
provided. Please specify who is providing equipment and if it is contractor 
supplied provide a detailed BoM and any additional requirements as may be 
needed. 

ANSWER 
The RTAC rack will be fully designed as part of the IFC package once there 
have been approved shop drawings, but for bidding purposes, the attached is 
the basis of design for the RTAC rack used on the North side of the plant. 

8.11 
QUESTION 

E6.02 indicates provision and installation of a 12 fiber cable. no specifications 
for fiber, cable termination have been provided. Please advise on required 
cable. 

ANSWER Single mode 12 strand and must be industrial rated. 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 6 
  

8.12 

QUESTION 

Drawing E3.01 provides proposed layout of new electrical equipment. Drawing 
does not indicate orientation of MainA, MainB, Tie, or ISO Tie switchboards. 
Are the fronts to face east with termination compartments to west, or the other 
way around. 

ANSWER 
The Design intent is for the front of MainA/MainB/Tie/ISO to face East (Plan 
North); however the orientation can be reversed if this allows for better 
alignment of the conduit sub-up window. 

8.13 

QUESTION 

ITB document indicates contractor provided site acceptance testing and 
commissioning, specification documents indicate compliance with NETA-ACS 
for acceptance. Is acceptance testing required to be performed/overseen by a 
third party provider? Are there additional requirements for commissioning 
beyond those delineated in the ITB? Is commissioning required to be 
performed/overseen by a third party provider? Please clarify. 

ANSWER 
Acceptance testing is required to be performed by the Contractor and overseen 
by the approved commissioning agent. Commissioning will be required by third 
party which will be hired by contractor and approved by RCES. 

8.14 

QUESTION 

E0.01 construction sequence indicates cutting and removing concrete for 
installation under-slab conduits and subsequent replacement of concrete slab 
and equipment pads. This will require additional cutting/ removal of concrete 
for installation of phase B conduit stub ups. Due to the limited space provided 
and the quantity of conduits in this space, of which require considerable 
"crossing" of phase A and B conduits, please advise on acceptable sequencing 
that considers, conduit stub up locations, crossing of phased conduits and 
safety while meeting phase requirements and underground feed requirements. 

ANSWER Alternative route or plans for conduit routing can be considered during planning 
and construction phase. 

8.15 

QUESTION 

E3.02 note A5, B5, A6 and B6 indicate installing conduit and wire from each 
starter to the RTAC and Marshaling cabinets, are the conduit runs w/ pull 
strings in addition to the conduits and wire as shown on the E6.02 conduit 
schedule? Please clarify. 

ANSWER 
Yes, The cabling/conduit in the table on sheet E6.02 is for the plant automation 
system, where the RTAC and associated cabling and conduits are for the power 
monitoring and controls system. 

8.16 

QUESTION 

Question E30.03 indicates supplying safety disconnects for the cooling tower 
fan motors with an auxiliary contact. Is the control wire and conduit described 
note A1 and B1 in addition to conduit and wires shown in the control wiring 
table on E6.02? Please advise. 

ANSWER Increase #14x10 cable for each VFD to #14x12 for each of the four VFDs to 
accommodate the disconnect aux contact. 

8.17 QUESTION Where is the drain down location? 

ANSWER Drain down location for existing pipe will not change. All we are doing is 
installing P trap. See sheet 9 and sheet 12 for details. 

8.18 QUESTION Question What is the plan/requirement for Dust control.    
ANSWER Wet cut, use Hepa filter vacuum, Visqueen plastic sheet. 

8.19 QUESTION What is the timeframe we have to shut off the after for install of the Valves? It 
was mentioned soldered on fittings are required. 

ANSWER 
Yes, solder fittings are required, and the shut-off valve will depend on park 
hours and the work schedule, but a typical 4 hours outage would normally be 
provided. 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 7 
  

8.20 QUESTION E3.01 sequencing vs the E0.01 sequencing, contain several conflicting 
scheduled items... RTAC, all CT VFD, MPZ A and B.....please clarify. 

ANSWER The sequence provided is firm and is subject to change based on site 
conditions. 

8.21 

QUESTION 

Specifications provided with bid package include references to sections 01 30 
00 - Admin Requirements , 01 40 00 - Quality Control , 01 78 00- closeouts, 
and 01 79 00 - training. These sections were not provided. Please provide 
referenced general specification sections. 

ANSWER 

Section 01 30 00 is not provided; however Admin Requirements are included 
in Sections 01 14 00, 01 78 23, 01 79 00, & 01 91 13. 
 
Section 01 40 00 is replaced with the included Section 01 44 00 in the STD 01 
- GENERAL REQUIREMENTS document. 
 
Section 01 78 00 is replaced with the included Section 01 70 00 in the STD 01 
- GENERAL REQUIREMENTS document. 
 
Section 01 79 00 is included, but the title is wrong. Correct title is: 
Demonstration and Testing. 

8.22 

QUESTION 

Gear Manufacturer requests information and or clarifications in order to 
complete quote. (Manufacturer RFI questions outlined below) 
1. 40HP Cooling Tower Fan motors are believed to be permanent magnet. 

a. EP to provide output reactors, same as last time 
b. Take exception to Sine Wave Filters in Spec 

2.  
a. We are happy to offer a quote for this in the future when we learn what 
it is. 

3. “PNL MPZA & B” are Mini Power-Zone transformers, shown as Contractor  
Supplied. 

a. We can provide a quote for these Square D transformers 
b. MPUB30T2FJ 
c.  

4. PCH-5 Chilled Water Pump provisions were previously built into C&D project 
and may be redundant or mislabeled, please advise. 
5. RTAC / Comm Rack panel is shown on Disney one-line diagram as Contractor 
Supplied, but the details of what is required are sparse. 

a. We are continuing to quote based on components provided for C&D 
b. Certain SEL parts and features provided in C&D are obsolete 
c. 
would be preferred 

6. We will have to go back over the spec to determine if certain Switchboard 
features provided for C&D are required this time, EP should not assume this 
project is the same as last time. 

a. Metering Web Enabled Communications 
b. PXG900 Gateway 
c. Ethernet Switch 
d. External RJ45 Port 
e. Metering PXG1K 
f. 7” Display, Control, ARMS, and Setpoint APP 
g. PXR20 LSI Trip Units w/ Modbus & Relays 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 8 
  

 
 
II. List of Contract Documents: 
 

A. DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS: Drawings are separately bound.  For the List of Drawings and 
Specifications, refer to Specification Section 00850, entitled List of Drawings and Specifications, 
contained in the Project Manual, entitled Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center 
(MCC) A & B Replacement , dated August 29, 2025.  All Drawings and Specifications listed therein, 
and any applicable Addenda subsequently issued thereto, are specifically incorporated into the 
Project Manual by this reference. 

B. PROJECT FILES: Drawings, Specifications, and Requirements are available electronically                        
for viewing and download under the Invitation to Bid (“ITB”) No. C006965: Motor                        
Control Center A and B Replacement (Studios North Central Energy Plant) at 
https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/135015#bidDocs. All project files  
contained therein, and any applicable Addenda subsequently issued thereto, are specifically 
incorporated into the Project Manual by this reference. 

Project files available electronically at the link above: 

h. PRL-MPM CT Sensors for CB’s 
7. Marshalling Cabinet BOM shows mainly Allen Bradley parts. 

a. EP to quote cost of providing AB, but would request substitutions such as 
Phoenix Contact or equal. 

8. Enclosure size for 200HP VFD’s must increase to 90”x60”x24” to 
 

a. Building plans show limited space for 200HP VFD’s, concrete slab may 
 

b. Please advise if 60” width is acceptable 
c. Previously 90”x48”x24” 

9. Enclosure size for 40HP VFD’s must increase to 72”x48”x18” to accommodate 
addition of 3 contactor bypass. 

a. Please advise if new enclosure size is acceptable 
b. Previously 72”x36”x18” 

ANSWER 

1. Yes the motor are permanent magnet motors and Output reactor will be 
provided for cooling tower motor. 
2. Panel HA is existing to remain. The scope includes demolishing the existing 
conductors to the panel, reconfigure and extending the existing conduit to the 
new SWBD A, and installation of new feeder conductors. 
3. Yes, MPZ A and B are specified as Square D Mini Power-Zone. The provided 
part number matches the design intent. 
4. PCHD-5 was included in the C&D Project. PCH-5 is part of this project as 
indicated in the drawings. 
5. Details built of rack and equipment will be based on shop drawings coming 
from vendors. 
6. All the part no will be approved by RCES and consultants during construction 
phase. 
7. During procurement alternative to obsolete equipment can be suggested for 
approval. 
8. Phoenix contactor can be considered during procurement phase. 
9. Enclosure sizes and spacing will be adjusted based on the shop drawings 
received and will be provided in IFCs 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND LIST OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

A - 9 
  

 Drawings: Studios North Central Energy Plant (SNCEP) MCC A And B Replacement 
 Specifications:  

o Project Specifications 
 Division 01 – General Requirements 
 Division 23 – Heating, Ventilating, And Air Conditioning (HVAC) 
 Division 26 – Electrical 

o RCES Electrical Construction Specifications Rev 4 
Project files included in Agreement and available electronically at the link above: 

 Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements 
 Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces 
 RCES Lock Out Tag Out 

 
C. This Exhibit A - Scope of Work and List of Contract Documents, 9 pages 

D. Exhibit B - Project Milestone Schedule, 1 page 

E. Exhibit C - Recap of Contract Sum, 1 page 

F. Exhibit D - Pending Alternates, 1 page 

G. Exhibit E - Unit Price Schedule, 1 page 

H. Exhibit F - Special Contract Conditions, 15 pages 

I. Exhibit G - General Conditions of the Contract for Construction, 27 pages 

J. Exhibit H - Forms, 19 pages 
 Payment Bond 
 Performance Bond 
 Dual Obligee Rider 
 Consent of Surety for Partial Payment Application (SAMPLE) 
 Contractor’s Interim Affidavit (SAMPLE) 
 Contractor’s Request for Information (SAMPLE) 
 Directive (SAMPLE) 
 Close-Out Change Order Forms (SAMPLE) 

K. Exhibit I - Specification Section 00 88 50 – List of Drawings and Specifications, 5 pages 

L. Exhibit J - Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements with Sample form, 5 pages 

M. Exhibit K - Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces, 3 pages 

N. Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out, 10 pages 

O. Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal, 39 pages 

 

 

 
 

END OF EXHIBIT A 



EXHIBIT B 
PROJECT MILESTONE SCHEDULE 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

 B - 1 
 

  

The Contractor agrees to commence and complete the Work in strict accordance with the Project Milestone 
Schedule for performance of the work, as provided below:  
 

MILESTONE DESCRIPTION START DATE COMPLETION DATE 

Material Acquisition Period 12-18 months lead time.                
Expected Q4 2026, Q1 2027 

Notice-to-Proceed Day 1 Day 1 

Substantial Completion Day 1 30 Days from          
Notice-to-Proceed 

Final Completion Day 30 35 Days from          
Notice-to-Proceed 

 
Contractor must schedule a showing of the final completed Project prior to the 
maximum time allotted for the completion of work. Prior to any Work being performed 
the Contractor must coordinate with the District Representative for access. 

  
 
 

 
END OF EXHIBIT B 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



EXHIBIT C 
RECAP OF CONTRACT SUM 
CONTRACT NO.: C006965 

 

 C - 1 
  

 
The Contract Sum is based solely on the Contractor’s proposed Base Bid Lump Sum Amount of 
$5,411,800.00 complete the project per the Drawings. 
 
 

END OF EXHIBIT C 



EXHIBIT D 
PENDING ALTERNATES 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

 D - 1 
 

 
THERE ARE NO PENDING ALTERNATES 

 
 

END OF EXHIBIT D 



EXHIBIT E 
UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE  

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

E - 1 
 

 
THERE ARE NO UNIT PRICES. 

 
 

END OF EXHIBIT E 
 

 
  



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS: 

I. General Safety Requirements, Contractor Parking and Access, Break Areas 
II. Construction Site Minimum Personal Protective Equipment (“PPE”) and Clothing Requirements 
III. Reserved 
IV. Asbestos/Cadmium or Lead/CFCs 
V. Confined Spaces 
VI. Hazardous and Chemical Waste Disposal 
VII. Electrical Safety Policy 
VIII. Lock out/Tag out (“LOTO”) 
IX. Fall Protection 
X. Aerial Work Platforms (“AWP”) 
XI. Ladders 
XII. Trenching and Excavation 
XIII. Utility Locates 
XIV. Mobile Cranes 
XV. Heavy Equipment Operations 
XVI. Diving Operations 
XVII. RCES Power Outage Scheduling Requirements for Contractors 
 
 
DEFINITIONS: 

The following is a list of defined terms and their corresponding meaning as they appear within this 
document: 

Contractor: The word, Contractor, as it appears within this document, means the Contractor or the 
Consultant as named and as defined within the Agreement.  The Contractor’s, rights, privileges, duties and 
obligations, as set forth herein also apply to each of its Sub-contractors and Sub-subcontractors and the 
suppliers of each and to the Consultant and each of its Sub-consultants and Sub-subconsultants and the 
suppliers of each. 

Owner: The word, Owner, as it appears within this document, means the Owner, acting on its own behalf, 
or the Owner’s Representative, acting on the Owner’s behalf, each as named and defined within the 
Agreement, together with their designated representative(s). 
 
  
I. GENERAL SAFETY REQUIREMENTS, CONTRACTOR PARKING AND ACCESS, BREAK AREAS  

The Owner is dedicated to establishing and maintaining a safe work environment on all of its sites. 
Accordingly, the Contractor is obligated to strictly abide by the safety regulations and requirements 
set forth within these Special Contract Conditions.  Flagrant disregard for safety regulations and 
requirements by the Contractor may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate 
suspension of all relevant work activities and permanent removal of the responsible party, individual 
(or both) from the Owner’s property. 

All workers must maintain appropriate and respectful behavior at all times. The following behaviors 
are not allowed and may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate removal from 
the property: 

a) Fighting 
b) Horseplay 
c) Possession of firearms 
d) Possession/use of alcohol/drugs 

 
 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 2 

Work performed must be planned and communicated prior to starting and must incorporate safety 
into the planning. This shall take the form of a Project Site-Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”), a hazard 
analysis, pre-task planning, etc.  The type of planning used should be based on the complexity of 
the project and the associated safety hazards. Do not begin work before safety measures are in 
place and training is complete. Any changes to the PSSP must be communicated to the Owner. 
All workers, including managers and supervisors, shall have the proper training and instruction on 
general safety requirements for the project as well as any task or equipment specific training 
required to complete the project. This also includes temporary workers. Awareness-type training is 
not sufficient where task or equipment specific training is required. 

No one shall knowingly be permitted to work while their ability or alertness is so impaired by 
fatigue, illness, or other cause that they may expose themselves or others to injury. 

All jobsite emergencies shall be reported immediately. For fire or medical emergencies, call 911 
and ask for CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT. Report all emergencies to an 
immediate supervisor, the project manager and the Owner. 

All work-related materials must be stored in an orderly fashion, keeping exits, access ways, 
walkways and sidewalks unobstructed. Work areas must be kept as clean and free of debris as 
practicable. Trashcans must be provided for refuse. 

Smoking, “vaping”, and smokeless tobacco use will be permitted in designated areas only. The 
Owner reserves the right to designate these areas on a project. 

Workers shall not engage in any activity, including cell phone usage, which diverts their attention 
while actually engaged in performing work. This includes operating vehicles and equipment. If cell 
phone usage is the primary means of communication, then it must be used in hands-free mode. 
The use of ear buds is prohibited. 

No one shall ride in a vehicle or mobile equipment unless they are on a seat, with the exceptions 
of aerial work platforms (AWPs”) and other equipment designed to be ridden while standing. Riding 
in the back of pick-ups shall not be allowed. 

Seatbelts must be used when provided in any type of vehicle, including but not limited to, personal 
vehicles, industrial trucks, haulage, earth moving, and material handling vehicles. Seatbelts must 
also be used in a personal transport vehicle (“PTV”) if so equipped. 

Posted speed limits and other traffic signs shall be observed at all times. Stop for personnel in 
and/or entering a crosswalk as they have the right of way. 

Do not pass or drive around busses when they are loading, unloading, or stopped in a driving lane. 

Park in authorized areas only. Do not block or obstruct intersections, fire lanes or fire hydrants, 
traffic lanes, pedestrian walkways, driveways or parking lot entrances. Vehicles parked in 
unauthorized places may be towed without notice at the vehicle owner’s expense. 

Fresh drinking water must be provided at construction job sites. If a cooler is used instead of 
bottled water, then it must be maintained in a sanitary condition, be capable of being tightly closed, 
equipped with a tap, and clearly marked as to its content. Disposable cups must be provided. 
Trashcans must be provided for the disposable cups and/or bottles. 

Portable restrooms and hand washing facilities must be provided, if needed, and must be 
maintained in a clean and sanitary condition. Portable restrooms must meet Florida Administrative 
Code 64E-6.0101. The Owner reserves the right to determine the location of these facilities. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 3 

II. CONSTRUCTION SITE MINIMUM PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT (“PPE”) AND CLOTHING 
REQUIREMENTS 

The Contractor shall require that all workers within the construction limits always wear/utilize 
personal protective equipment (“PPE”), including but not limited to the following: hard hats, safety 
glasses, high visibility vests or shirts, construction/work-grade footwear and long pants. Additional 
PPE shall be utilized when other specific hazards are present as defined by the Project Specific 
Safety Plan (“PSSP”). All PPE must meet current Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(“OSHA”) and American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) requirements. The Owner reserves 
the right of final decision, in its sole and absolute discretion, as to whether the PPE utilized meets 
project requirements. “Cowboy” and similar novelty hard hats are not permitted. Sleeveless shirts 
are not permitted. All high-visibility clothing is to be monitored closely to ensure that all items 
retain the protective qualities provided by the manufacturer. Vests and shirts that have become 
faded are to be replaced and shall not be worn while performing work on the Owner’s job site. 
Shirts designed to be worn by the general public, such as those endorsing sports teams or other 
products or services, even if they are yellow, green, or orange, are not considered high-visibility 
shirts and do not meet the requirements set forth herein.  In the event that any of the requirements 
set forth within this Section conflict with the requirements set forth elsewhere within this document 
or within any of the Contract Documents, the more stringent requirements shall apply. 

III. RESERVED 

IV. ASBESTOS/CADMIUM OR LEAD/CFCs 

 
 A. ASBESTOS 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that Asbestos-Containing Materials 
(“ACM”) and/or Presumed Asbestos-Containing Materials (“PACM”), including without 
limitation, thermal system insulation, and sprayed on or troweled on surfacing material 
that is presumed to contain asbestos, exists or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor 
may be performing Work or services in or near areas that contain ACM and/or PACM as 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for 
communicating existing conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and 
employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner and Contractor agree 
that the quantities of ACM and/or PACM referred to in the Contract Documents are 
approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant 
to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration Asbestos Standards, 29 CFR Parts 
1910, 1915, and 1926. 

 B. CADMIUM and/or LEAD 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that cadmium and/or lead exists, 
or may exist, at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services in 
or near areas that contain cadmium and/or lead as specified in the Contract Documents.  
Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing conditions to 
all subcontractors and employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the cadmium and/or lead referred to in the Contract Documents 
are described for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant to the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration Cadmium Standard 29 CFR 1926.63 and/or Lead 
Standard 29 CFR 1926.62. 

 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 4 

 C. CHLOROFLUOROCARBONS (CFCs) 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) 
exist, or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services 
in or near areas that contain CFCs as specified in the Contract Documents.  Should the 
Contractor’s work result in (i) any loss or release of CFCs from any source, including any 
equipment or containers, or (ii) any addition by Contractor of CFCs to any equipment or 
container, then Contractor shall provide all necessary documentation concerning such loss, 
release or addition, including the quantities of CFCs affected, to the Owner.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the quantities of CFCs referred to in the Contract Documents 
are approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification to the 
Contractor. 

 D. USE OF ASBESTOS/LEAD/CADMIUM CONTAINING MATERIALS 

Contractor shall not utilize or install any asbestos, lead, or cadmium-containing products 
on the Owner’s property or within the scope of Work or services contemplated by this 
Agreement.  It is the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain appropriate Material Safety 
Data Sheets for all materials to be used, and verify that the products do not contain 
asbestos, lead or cadmium.  This requirement extends to any materials that may be 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Specification of a particular material by the Owner 
in the Contract Documents does not relieve the Contractor from its responsibility to verify 
that the specified material does not contain asbestos, lead or cadmium.  If a specified 
material does contain asbestos, lead or cadmium, then Contractor shall notify Owner 
immediately, and submit a proposed alternate material to be used in lieu of the specified 
material.  Contractor shall submit Material Safety Data Sheets for all installed products, as 
part of the As-Built package.  If Contractor installs any product containing asbestos, lead 
or cadmium, without previously obtaining the written consent of the Owner, Contractor 
shall be responsible for all costs associated with removal of the asbestos, lead, or cadmium 
containing material. 

V. CONFINED SPACES 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that permit-required confined spaces exist 
or may exist at the Job Site and that the Contractor may be performing Work or Services in or near 
permit-required confined spaces as specified in the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall fully 
comply with the requirements of 29 CFR Part 1910.146 in connection with all Work in any permit-
required confined space (“PRCS”), as defined by OSHA.  The Contractor must have a written 
confined space program when performing Permit Required Confined Space (“PRCS”) entry. 
Accordingly, site specific conditions related to confined space entry must be addressed in the 
Contractor’s Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”). In support of the Contractor’s preparation the 
PSSP, the Contractor shall obtain from the Owner the following information:  (i) the elements that 
make the space in question a permit-required confined space, including the hazards identified and 
the Owner’s experience with the space, and (ii) any precautions or procedures that the Owner has 
implemented for the protection of employees in or near any PRCS where the Contractor’s personnel 
will be working.  

The Contractor shall provide its own confined space permits when working on the Owner’s job site. 
All workers entering a confined space must have training commensurate with the role or task they 
will be performing. This includes: entrant, attendant entry supervisor, air monitoring, rescue, site-
specific training for those workers exposed to hazards posed by PRCS, but who may not be 
performing work inside of confined space or supporting confined space entry. 

Confined spaces that have been evaluated and designated by the Owner as a PRCS will be treated 
as such, despite whether or not the Contractor agrees or disagrees with that designation. Trenches 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 5 

may also be treated as a PRCS under certain conditions. The Owner reserves the right to designate 
any trench as a PRCS in its sole and absolute discretion.   

Alternate entry procedures or reclassification may be used if all requirements of 29CFR1926.1200 
are met. When certain conditions described in the OSHA standard are met, the Contractor may use 
alternate entry procedures for worker entry into a PRCS, however, the Contractor must first consult 
with the Owner prior to using any alternate entry procedures. 

The Owner shall provide information to the Contractor respecting any known hazards associated 
with a given PRCS.  However, it is ultimately the Contractor’s responsibility to determine, with 
reasonable certainty, the existence of any and all hazards prior to any worker’s entry into the 
confined space.  The Owner is NOT responsible for providing additional services prior to or during 
entry into a given confined space, including but not limited to: atmospheric monitoring, emergency 
response services, including rescue, attendants or entry supervisors. 

The Owner reserves the right to order the immediate discontinuation of the performance of work 
and the immediate removal of the Contractor’s personnel from a confined space if an unsafe 
condition or behavior is observed. In such instances, the space will be immediately evacuated until 
concerns are resolved to the satisfaction of the Owner. 

When both the Owner’s personnel and the Contractor’s personnel will be working in or near any 
PRCS, prior to entering such PRCS, the Contractor shall coordinate entry operations with the Owner.  
The Contractor shall inform the Owner at the conclusion of the entry operations regarding the 
PRCS program followed and regarding any hazards encountered or created within any PRCS during 
entry operations.  The Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing 
conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and to the employees thereof.   

VI. HAZARDOUS AND CHEMICAL WASTE DISPOSAL. 

All hazardous, regulated, universal and chemical wastes generated by the Contractor during the 
performance of the Work shall be managed in accordance with applicable federal, state and local law 
and regulations, including but not limited to Title 40 CFR Subchapter I, Parts 260 through 265, 273, 
279, 302; Title 49 CFR Chapter I, Subchapter A and Rule 62-730 of the Florida Administrative Code 
as applicable to "Large Quantity Generators of Hazardous Wastes".  Packaging, labeling, storage and 
disposal of such wastes shall also comply with Owner’s policies, which are available from Owner.  
Such wastes must be properly placed in U.S. Department of Transportation approved packaging, with 
appropriate markings at the time of generation.  Packages containing such wastes must be labeled 
to identify the contents, date of accumulation and the Contractor’s name and telephone number.  
Such packages must be stored at a secure location and not exposed to weather.  Upon completion 
of the Project or before 60 days has elapsed from the date of the first accumulation of wastes in each 
specific container, whichever is earlier, Contractor shall contact Owner to arrange for disposal.  Owner 
will arrange for the disposal of such wastes by Owner’s approved hazardous waste disposal vendor.  
Upon Owner’s receipt of the invoice for disposal costs, a copy of the invoice will be forwarded to the 
Contractor and Contractor shall reimburse Owner therefor. The Contractor shall be responsible for all 
packaging, storage, and labeling costs. 

VII. ELECTRICAL SAFETY POLICY 

Implicit on all electrical work performed at any of the Owner’s properties is the Contractor’s (and 
its Subcontractor's and Sub-subcontractor's) strict compliance with the Owner’s Electrical Safety 
Policy (“Policy”). 

The Policy is that all electrical work sshall be performed de-energized as a standard work practice.  
This Policy applies to the Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, Subconsultants, Sub-
subconsultants and anyone who performs electrical work on or near electrical conductors or circuit 
parts which are or may be energized.  Contractor is expected to exercise good judgment and take 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 6 

personal responsibility for reducing the hazard risk to its lowest level and to ensure strict 
compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, regulations and rules. 

The Contractor agrees that its employees and agents and the employees of any Subcontractor, 
Sub-subcontractor, Subconsultant, Sub-subconsultant or anyone who performs electrical work as 
described herein shall adhere to all posted warnings, wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (“PPE”) and protective clothing and use appropriate tools until exposed energized 
electrical conductors or circuit parts are verified to be at a zero energy state.  For systems up to 
1000V, the zero-energy state shall be verified by the Contractor and those greater than 1000V shall 
be verified by the Owner. Any work performed within six feet (6’) of systems greater than 1000V 
at a zero energy state and where there are exposed cables, all personnel shall wear a minimum of 
8cal daily wear Flash Resistant Clothing (FRC). 

In the narrowly limited circumstances when exposed energized parts are not de-energized, 
excluding diagnostic testing that cannot be performed de-energized, a documented job briefing 
must first be completed by the Contractor and submitted to the Owner for approval.  The intent of 
the briefing is to provide notification for performing energized work to the Owner prior to 
performing the work.  The job briefing shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 Validation for energized work 
 Hazards associated with scheduled work such as working in roadways or work performed 

within boundary, etc. 
 Work procedures 
 Energy source controls such as physical barriers or meter verification 
 PPE to be utilized 
 Job work plan summary 
 A complete list of the names of all individuals involved in the work/briefing 

The Contractor understands and agrees that the Owner, throughout the term of the Contract, may 
review the Contractor's, Subcontractor's, and Sub-subcontractor's safe work plan to confirm for its 
operations and the safety and wellbeing of its employees, guests and invitees that adequate 
contingency plans have been considered in the event of an inadvertent interruption of electrical 
service. 

Contractor shall establish or shall cause its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to establish 
appropriate boundaries to restrict access around the Work based on the type of hazard present as 
called for in NFPA 70. The boundaries shall be either: 

A flash protection boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of four feet away (600V, 600A max) from 
the exposed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts where the potential exists for an arc 
flash to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different flash boundary is 
appropriate.  Persons must not cross the flash protection boundary unless they are wearing the 
appropriate PPE and are under direct supervision of a qualified person. 

A limited approach boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of three feet six inches (3’6”) away from the 
exposed fixed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts, 600V max, where the potential exists 
for an electric shock to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different limited 
approach boundary is appropriate. The purpose of the limited approach boundary is to advise 
unqualified persons that an electrical shock hazard exists and to reduce the risk of contact with an 
exposed energized conductor.  Only qualified persons and immediately supervised unqualified 
persons are allowed to cross the limited approach boundary. 

The Contractor understands and agrees that it is the responsibility of the Contractor to ensure 
compliance with all applicable safety laws, codes regulations and rules as well as adherence to the 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 7 

Policy for all electrical work. The Owner reserves the right to observe and/or audit the Contractor’s 
(or its Subcontractor's or Sub-subcontractor's) work without notice.  The Contractor expressly 
understands and unequivocally agrees that any failure to strictly comply with any applicable safety 
laws, codes, regulations, and the rules of this Policy constitutes a material breach of the Contract 
and may result in an immediate work stoppage or termination of the Contract at no additional cost 
to the Owner. 

VIII. LOCK OUT/TAG OUT (“LOTO”) 

The Contractor shall have and maintain a program consisting of energy control procedures, 
employee training and periodic inspections prior to performing Lock Out/Tag Out (“LOTO”). The 
program shall have steps for notification, shutting down, isolating, blocking and securing machines, 
applying LOTO devices, dissipating stored energy equipment or facilities to control hazardous 
energy. It shall also have steps for the removal and transfer of LOTO devices and tags. 

The Contractor must verify by testing that the machine or equipment has been isolated and secured 
from all energy sources before work begins. All affected personnel must be notified prior to starting.  

Proper PPE must be worn in accordance with NFPA70E as referenced in RCES Electrical Safety, 
latest revision. 

LOTO devices shall indicate the identity of the employee applying the device(s) as well as their 
department/company, contact number and date if the work will extend beyond one shift. A lock 
and tag must be used for all energy isolation. LOTO devices shall be standardized by color, shape 
or size and shall not be used for any other purpose. LOTO devices shall only be used for performing 
service or maintenance on equipment, not to be used for any other use. LOTO shall be performed 
only by the person(s) who are performing the service or maintenance. Each person performing 
LOTO must have individual locks and tags. 

Before LOTO devices are removed by the worker who applied the device(s), the work area shall be 
inspected to ensure that nonessential items have been removed, all workers have been safely 
positioned or removed, and affected workers have been notified of re-energization of the 
equipment. 

Hot tap operations for pressurized pipelines carrying natural gas, steam or water do not require 
LOTO if it is demonstrated that: 

a)  Continuity of service is essential, and 
b) Shutdown of the system is impractical, and 
c) Procedures are documented and followed, and 
d)  Special equipment is used to provide effective protection for workers 

Systems shall be de-energized and taken to a zero-energy state using applicable LOTO procedures 
and verified before work begins. Work on an energized system (e.g. diagnostic testing that cannot 
be performed de-energized) shall require validation accepted by the Owner and project manager. 

If an equipment/machine is not capable of accepting a lock, a tag may be used without a lock as 
long as additional means can be used to prevent accidental activation of the device (e.g., removal 
of a lever, handle, switch, or valve). 

Group LOTO is permitted when all of the following are met: 
a) A single authorized employee must assume the overall responsibility for the control of 

hazardous energy for all workers in the group.  
b) Authorized employees must have knowledge and training in the following: 

 Skills necessary for the safe application, use and removal of energy-isolating devices. 
 Hazardous energy source recognition. 
 Type and magnitude of the hazardous energy sources in the workplace. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 8 

 Energy-control procedures, including methods and means to isolate and control energy 
sources. 

The authorized employee must communicate and implement LOTO procedures, coordinate the 
operation to all affected workers, and verify that all LOTO procedural steps have been taken. 

Each worker must affix their own personal LOTO device and tag to the group LOTO device or group 
lockbox before work begins. 

The authorized employee must not remove the group LOTO device until each worker in the group 
has removed their personal LOTO device. The authorized employee will be the first lock on and the 
last lock off unless their responsibilities have been handed over to another authorized employee. 

The authorized employee must make sure that there is a continuity of LOTO protection during a 
shift change. It is the responsibility of the oncoming worker to verify the machine, equipment or 
facilities is still in a zero-energy state. If there will be a lapse in time between the outgoing worker 
removing their LOTO device and the oncoming worker placing their LOTO device, the oncoming 
authorized employee must repeat the LOTO process and place their personal LOTO device on the 
machine, equipment or system. 

In the event that a worker leaves the jobsite without removing their LOTO device and cannot be 
located, and it is necessary to restore the equipment to its normal operating state, the LOTO device 
may be removed after all of the following have been completed: 

a)  Contractor has had no success in contacting the worker to determine if they are available to 
remove the LOTO device. 

b) Contractor’s supervisory personnel, the authorized person, and the Owner have determined 
that it is safe to re-energize the machine, equipment or facility. 

c)  The authorized person has notified all affected individuals that the machine, equipment or 
facility is being reenergized. 

d)  After removal of the LOTO device, the Contractor must notify the worker whose lock was 
removed, prior to their return to work, that their LOTO device was removed and the machine, 
equipment or facility has been reenergized. 

When the Contractor is performing work on existing machines, equipment or facilities owned and 
operated by the Owner, the Owner’s responsible Project/Engineering Management and responsible 
Contractor supervisory personnel shall inform each other of their respective LOTO programs. The 
Owner reserves the right to determine if the Contractor’s LOTO program meets the Owner’s 
requirements.  

IX.  FALL PROTECTION 

The Contractor shall provide training to all affected workers regarding the proper use of fall 
protection systems. Workers using fall protection improperly (e.g. harness slightly loose, D-ring in 
the wrong position on the back, etc.) can correct the condition and then continue working. 
Repeated misuse or misuse which results in an extremely hazardous condition (e.g. using an 
improper anchor point, using the wrong type or length of lanyard, etc.) will be considered cause 
for the Owner to demand an immediate stop to the performance of all related work (hereinafter 
deemed a “STOP WORK” condition), and the Contractor shall then immediately discontinue the 
performance of such work. When workers are observed being exposed to an unmitigated fall 
hazard, it will also be considered a STOP WORK condition. Work will not resume until the Contractor 
has reevaluated the situation and developed corrective measures to ensure the hazard(s) will not 
occur again. 

Fall restraint systems shall be used instead of fall arrest systems whenever feasible. These systems 
allow a person to reach an area to perform their duties but prevent them from reaching a point 
where a fall could occur. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 9 

Self-retracting lifelines or lanyards (“SRLs”) must be anchored at the height of the harness D-ring 
or above. It should be positioned directly overhead in order to prevent swing falls. When it isn’t 
feasible to anchor overhead, and anchorage is only possible below the D-Ring, then fall protection 
equipment specifically designed for that application must be used. All SRLs must be used in 
accordance with the SRL manufacturer’s instructions. 

The Contractor shall use anchorage connection points designated by the Owner when available. If 
no such designated anchorages are available, then the Contractor’s qualified person must select 
structures suitable as fall protection anchorage points for their workers. 

Fall protection is not required when using portable ladders unless the ladder cannot be placed to 
prevent slipping, tilting or falling. If ladders must be used under these circumstances (e.g. lifts are 
not feasible), a Personal Fall Arrest System (“PFAS”), independent of the ladder, must be used. 
Working height on portable ladders is limited to twenty-five feet (25’). 
The use of a ladder, or similar, in close proximity (i.e., ladder length plus 4 feet) to a guardrail or 
parapet may create an exposure to the fall hazard. Fall protection must be provided by raising the 
height of the guardrail/parapet or a PFAS, independent of the ladder, must be used. Ladders or 
work platforms with a built-in guarded work platform do not require additional fall protection. 

Workers shall be protected from falling into excavations five feet (5’) or more in depth. 

protection. 

Fall protection is required for work conducted six feet (6’) or more above water. Where fall 
protection completely prevents falling into the water, personal flotation devices (PFDs) are not 
required. 

X. AERIAL WORK PLATFORMS (“AWP”) 

All operators must be trained in safe and proper AWP operation. Training documents must be 
provided to the Owner immediately upon the Owner’s request.  

Written permission from the manufacturer is required before modifications, additions or alterations 
can be made to an AWP. 

Operators shall be responsible for following the requirements of the AWP operating manual and 
ensuring that the vehicle is in proper operating condition. Operators shall immediately report any 
item of non-compliance to a supervisor for corrective action. AWPs that are not in proper operating 
condition shall be immediately removed from service until repaired. The key shall be removed from 
the vehicle and a tag shall be attached to the control panel to identify the machine as “out of 
service” the vehicle shall not to be operated until it has been repaired. 

The primary purpose of AWP equipment is to raise personnel and necessary tools to a temporary 
height for work; the AWP shall not be used as a crane. AWP equipment is not designed to lift 
materials except on the platform and within the manufacturer’s capacity limits. Lifting items on the 
guardrails or by attaching them to the AWP equipment in any manner not approved by the 
manufacturer is strictly prohibited. 

AWP occupants shall wear a fall restraint system, which includes a safety harness along with a 
fixed lanyard or self-retracting lifeline (“SRL”) of appropriate length (e.g. 3 feet). If the AWP is 
being used at heights of 18 ft. or less, then a SRL shall be utilized. The fall restraint system shall 
be connected to an anchorage point provided by the manufacturer at all times when the AWP is in 
use.  

Transfer at Height (in or out of the basket/platform) is permitted however one hundred percent 
(100%) tie-off is required during the maneuver. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 10 

Some AWPs are equipped with an external fall protection system. These systems are either a halo 
system or rigid rail engineered to safely allow personnel to exit the basket with 270-degree (270°) 
mobility around the basket. These systems are designed to provide an anchorage for fall arrest 
and can be used as such. Fall restraint is also an option depending upon the situation. When an 
individual is attached outside of the AWP basket, the AWP shall be emergency stopped and the 
basket shall not be moved. If an individual must reach an area that is not within the current radius 
of the attached fall protection system (harness/lanyard) they shall re-enter the AWP basket, move 
the unit to a closer location, emergency stop the AWP and then exit the basket to perform the 
given task from the new location.  

XI.  LADDERS 

Consideration must be given to the method of transporting tools and materials to the work location. 
Workers are not permitted to hand-carry items up the ladder. Hands must be free to climb the 
ladder. 

Ladders placed in areas such as passageways, walkways, doorways or driveways, or where they 
can be displaced by workplace activities or traffic should be barricaded to prevent accidental 
movement. 

Never place a ladder in front of doors unless the door is locked and access is controlled. 

Never climb the back-bracing of a step/A-frame ladder unless it is a twin (double-sided) ladder. 

Only one person is permitted on a ladder at a time, unless it is designed for two-person use. 

Do not use ladders as scaffold. 

All manufacturer stickers/labels must be affixed and in readable condition. 

Prior to each use, the Contractor must visually check the ladder for the following: 
a) Free of cracks, splits, and corrosion. 
b) Steps/rungs free of oil/grease. 
c) Steps/rungs firmly attached to side rails. 
d) Steps/rungs not bent. 
e) Safety feet/base and other moveable hardware in good working condition. 
f) Ropes/pulleys in good condition (extension ladders). 

Temporary fixes shall not be used to make repairs to a damaged ladder. Any repair to a ladder 
must be with manufacturer approved parts or kits. Any accessories used with a ladder must be 
approved by the manufacturer. 

Work shall not be performed from a permanent fixed ladder unless a fall protection system, such 
as a ladder climbing device, is installed and used. 

Extension, straight, and portable ladders cannot be made of wood (except job-made ladders on 
construction sites); fiberglass is preferred. Ladders made of aluminum cannot be used for electrical 
work or near energized equipment. 

The working height for an extension shall be limited to under 25 feet.  

Workers shall not sit, kneel, step, or stand on the pail shelf, top cap, or the first step below the top 
cap of an A-frame/step ladder. 

If ladders are used within 1.5 times their height to a leading edge or drop in elevation (measured 
horizontally), fall protection devices must be used. 

Do not use an A-frame/step ladder to transition to another elevated work surface unless it has 
been specifically designed for this. 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 11 

Use ladders correctly. Do not over-reach. Prevent belt buckles from extending outside the side rails 
of the ladder. A-frame/step ladders should be used only for front-facing work. Do not perform 
“side-load” work. 

XII. TRENCHING AND EXCAVATION 

Utility locate tickets must be obtained prior to breaking ground by each and every contractor 
performing trenching/excavation and the operator performing the trenching/excavation must have 
reviewed the ticket. Third party locates may also be required for trenching/excavations located 
beyond the utility provider’s service point.  

All soil shall be considered as Class C soil. Class A and B soils do not exist on property. All sloping 
of trenches must be at a 1.5:1.0 ratio. Benching is not allowed in Class C soil.  

Any shoring, bracing, shielding or trench boxes used must be in good condition. Tabulated data 
must be made available upon request.  

Trenches or excavations that have a hazardous atmosphere or the potential to contain a hazardous 
atmosphere must be monitored by the competent person and may have to be treated as a confined 
space if appropriate.  

The Contractor must provide appropriate barricades to protect people from falling or driving into 
the trench or excavation.  Lighted and/or reflective barricades are preferable at night. Caution tape 
is not a sufficient barricade. Barricades must be placed at least six feet (6’) from the edge of the 
trench or excavation. Trenches and excavation that are left open and unattended shall be 
barricaded until work resumes. These barricades shall be checked at least daily to ensure no 
changes have occurred. 

XIII. UTILITY LOCATES 

Routine Locate Tickets: 
The Contractor must request the locate ticket a minimum of three (3) full business days before 
digging. 

If the dig site is in an area that is under water, the Contractor must call for the locate ten (10) full 
business days before digging. 

Locate ticket requests can be submitted anytime on-line at Sunshine One but must be submitted 
to Reedy Creek Energy Services (RCES) between 7:00 AM and 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, 
excluding weekends and holidays. 

Obtain a completed locate ticket through Sunshine State One Call of Florida (“SSOCOF”) by calling 
811. 

Call the Reedy Creek Energy Services (RCES) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. 

Provide the Sunshine One Call locate ticket number. 

Mark up the RCES supplied map to show limits of excavation. 

The Contractor is expressly forbidden from performing any excavation work until it has received 
and reviewed the RCES Utility Locate Office response and notes for utility presence, conflicts or 
special conditions. 

Emergency Locate Tickets:  
An emergency is defined as any condition constituting a clear and present danger to life or property; 
a situation caused by the escape of any substance transported by means of an underground facility; 
any interruption of vital public service or communication caused by any break or defect in an 
underground facility; or any impairment of public roads or utilities that requires immediate repair 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 12 

(collectively, incident(s)), as determined by the authority having jurisdiction within the area where 
the incident has occurred. Difficulties experienced by the Contractor in properly scheduling the 
performance of planned work activities will not constitute justification for obtaining an emergency 
locate ticket. 

During the hours of 7:00 AM to 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, call the Reedy Creek Energy 
Services (RCES) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. Call the SSOCOF at 811 or 1-800-432-
4770. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Utility Locate Office 

The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance from 
the RCES Utility Locate Office 

On weekdays between 4:00 PM and 7:00 AM, or Weekends and Holidays: Call the RCES Control 
Room Emergency Number at 407-824-4185. Provide the nature of the emergency and exact 
location. Contact SSOCOF at 811. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Control 
Room. The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance 
from the RCES Control Room. 

No excavation will be permitted until the excavator has submitted a Locate Ticket request and 
received clearance as described above. 

Each company that performs digging must obtain and follow their own locate ticket. The excavator 
shall have a copy of the locate ticket at the excavation site. 

Requirements must be communicated directly to the person(s) performing the digging. 

Exposed underground utilities must be protected. 

Each company must locate utilities when cutting or drilling into concrete. 

Secondary utilities must be considered when performing digging activities. 

The Contractor shall IMMEDIATELY STOP EXCAVATION if an underground facility is contacted 
(even if there is no noticeable damage) and immediately notify the Owner of such. Warning signs 
that indicate the potential of contacting a buried, underground utility include buried red concrete, 
unpainted buried concrete, wooden boards, warning tape, etc. 

It is important to understand tolerance zones. Locate marks show the approximate location of 
underground facilities. The lines can actually be located anywhere within the tolerance zone. 
Proceed cautiously when digging within 24 inches on either side of the locate marks. 

When any mechanized equipment is used within the tolerance zone, supervisory personnel shall 
be present to supervise the operation. 

XIV. MOBILE CRANES 

Operators must be certified on the specific type of crane they are operating. Certification must 
come from an accredited crane operator testing organization, such as The National Commission for 
the Certification of Crane Operators (“NCCCO”). 

A Lift Plan shall be submitted on all critical lifts and should be completed and submitted for review 
and acceptance, with the exception of emergency lifts, 72 hours, prior to lift. 

A critical lift plan is required for the following lifts: 
a)  
b) Two or more cranes involved in the lift or adjacent to each other 
c) Hoisting personnel 
d) Lift from floating platform, barge, or vessel 
e) Any lift where boom intersects within 20 feet of monorail 
f) Any lift deemed critical by the Owner 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 13 

g) Any lift where boom intersects within 25 feet of a populated area 

A critical lift plan should include a Pre-Lift Crane Data Worksheet, step-by-step work instructions, 
a list of all personnel involved and their assignments, and a diagram of the lift and swing area. A 
3-D plan or comparable CAD rendering is preferable. A rigging plan is required to be submitted for 
critical lifts. If the crane will be set up on top of, or within 10-feet of a tunnel, manhole, or utility 
vault; or within 10-feet of a seawall, bridge, or water’s edge, Ground Bearing Pressures (GBP) for 
each outrigger (below the crane mats) must be submitted with the lift plan. 

The use of a crane to hoist personnel is prohibited except where it can be demonstrated that 
conventional means of reaching the work area (scaffold, ladders, aerial lifts, etc.) would be more 
hazardous or is not possible due to worksite conditions. Hoisting personnel shall comply with all 
parts of 29 CFR 1926.1431. 

The crane hook or other part of the load line may be used as an anchor for a personal fall arrest 
system where all of the following requirements are met: 

a) Approved by a qualified person 
b) Equipment operator must be at the worksite 
c) No load is suspended from the load line when the personal fall arrest system is anchored to 

it or the hook. 

Tag lines must be used for all lifts to control the load unless the use of a tag line is deemed unsafe 
or unfeasible. The decision to not use a tag line must be included in the lift plan and accepted by 
the Owner. 

All crane operations near, adjacent to, or within 10 feet of the monorail or skyway transportation 
system, require a special precautions are taken. All work must be coordinated with the Owner prior 
to commencing.  Any contact with anything associated with these systems must be reported 
immediately to the Owner. At no time will any materials be lifted over the systems. A spotter is 
required when a crane travels under the systems 

Barricades and notices should be used to prevent people from entering the fall zone (the area 
where the load will land if dropped). No one is allowed to be under a suspended load, with the 
exception of steel workers working in accordance with 29 CFR 1926.753(d). 

In congested areas where barriers are not feasible, an audible signal (horn, whistles, etc.) must 
precede each lift to alert nearby personnel working in the proximity of the crane that the lift is in 
progress. Evening lifts may use alternative signaling methods in lieu of audible signals, if requested.  

The qualified signal person shall be the only person signaling the crane operator; however, anyone 
can signal a stop if there is a perceived emergency situation. 

XV. HEAVY EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS 

The operator must not wear earbuds or headphones while operating heavy equipment. These 
devices may create a distraction and may prevent the operator from hearing important sounds in 
the work area (e.g. backup alarms, evacuation horns, etc.). They do not serve as hearing protection 
or attenuation which may be needed when operating heavy equipment. 

Unless the cab is totally enclosed, the operator must wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (PPE) which may include safety glasses, hearing or respiratory protection. When exiting 
the cab in a construction zone, the operator must wear the required site PPE.  Seat belts are 
required at all times.  

Chase (escort) vehicles/Spotters are required when: 
a) Heavy equipment travels to and from work zones 
b) Anticipated pedestrian or vehicle traffic intrudes within the safe work zone, in the judgment 

of the operator 



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 14 

c) Space is restricted, and a safe work zone cannot be maintained 
d) The back-up alarm is muted 
e) Safe movement is in question 
f) Overhead hazards are present 

The equipment shall be operated at a safe speed. Equipment inspections shall be documented and 
available upon request. 

Check the area for overhead utility lines to ensure the equipment will remain at least 10 feet away 
from the lines at all times. 

Avoid backing up the equipment unless it is absolutely necessary. Attempt to always travel forward 
if possible. Backing up the equipment usually does not present a clear field of view. 

Never allow an individual to ride on running boards or any other part of the equipment. Only the 
operator should be on the equipment. 

Maintain three points of contact when exiting or entering the vehicle. 

Never exit a running vehicle. The vehicle must be turned off if the operator is leaving the cab. 

Remove keys from unattended vehicles. 

Always park the vehicle on level ground. Lower buckets, shovels, dippers, etc. and set the parking 
brake. 

XVI. DIVING OPERATIONS 

Before conducting dive operations, a job hazard assessment shall be developed by the Contractor 
and submitted to the Owner in the form of a dive plan (“Dive Plan”). A complete Dive Plan shall be 
developed and documented for each diving operation. The primary purpose of the Dive Plan is to 
provide a written document capturing the details of the dive operations. The Owner must approve 
all Dive Plans prior to beginning the dive operations. Dive Plans shall be reviewed on a periodic 
basis to ensure they remain relevant for the actual diving activity and have been updated as 
warranted (i.e., staff safety concerns are conveyed, new equipment or procedures are to be 
implemented, or an injury/incident has occurred).  

The Dive Plan shall include the following:  

a) Site & project information 

b) Immediate contact name(s) and telephone number(s) 

c) Information regarding personnel involved, including the Designated Person in Charge 
(“DPIC”), dive team roles and qualifications, assignment of responsibilities and verification 
of training records, and the verification of the physical fitness of dive team members 

d) Minimum equipment requirements 

e) Sequence of basic job steps and the recommended safe operational procedures and 
protection. Known and/or potential hazards, including environmental, surface, overhead and 
underwater conditions and hazards, including any anticipated hazardous conditions or 
confined spaces 

f) Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operations that may interfere with the dive 
or that pose a safety hazard to dive team members (i.e., watercraft, ride vehicles, chemicals, 
potentially dangerous aquatic wildlife and other types of hazards) 

g) Limited access or penetration situations. A diver entering a pipe, tunnel, wreck, or similarly 
enclosed or confining structure, (other than a habitat).  



EXHIBIT F 
SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

F - 15 

Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operation that may interfere with the dive or that 
pose a safety hazard to dive team members shall require that proper controls be developed, 
documented and implemented to ensure the dive area is secured from such hazards impeding 
and/or entering the area.  

A diver-carried reserve breathing supply that meets the emergency air volume requirements for 
the dive profile with a separate first and second stage regulator shall be provided to each diver for 
all diving operations.   

XVII. RCES POWER OUTAGE SCHEDULING REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS 

Contractors shall provide a minimum three (3) week construction planning schedule to Reedy Creek 
Energy Services (“RCES”) Project Management on a weekly basis identifying all anticipated work 
including utility outages. 

a) A minimum seven (7) day notice will be required for scheduling utility outages to facilitate 
construction.  

b) Any contractor concern with available work duration window and expected task list shall be 
discussed with RCES Project Management before scheduling the utility outage.  

c) All utility outages shall be coordinated with the property owner impacted.  
d) Dates and utility outage duration shall be agreed upon between contractors, customers, 

RCES Project Management and RCES Electrical Operations.  
e) Contractors will be notified by RCES Project Management whether the requested utility 

outage schedule is approved or denied.  
f) In the event the scheduled utility outages need to be canceled due to weather, emergencies 

or customer requests, contractors will be notified, and contractors shall provide revised 
project schedule coordinating with RCES Project Management to plan for future power 
outages. 

 
 
 
 

<<END OF SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS>> 
 
 
 
 

END OF EXHIBIT F 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 1 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Paragraph Title Page 
Article 1 - DEFINITIONS 

1.1. THE CONTRACT 3 
1.2. THE OWNER 3 
1.3. THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 3 
1.4. THE CONTRACTOR 3 
1.5. SUBCONTRACTOR; SUB-SUBCONTRACTOR 3 
1.6. THE JOB SITE 4 
1.7. THE PROJECT 4 
1.8. WORK; CONTRACT TIME; CONTRACT SUM  4 
1.9. PROVIDE 4 
1.10. PLANS 4 
1.11. SPECIFICATIONS 4 
1.12. THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER 4 

Article 2 - THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
2.1. EXECUTION, INTENT AND INTERPRETATIONS 4 
2.2. COPIES FURNISHED; OWNERSHIP 5 
2.3. NO ORAL WAIVER 5 

Article 3 - OWNER 
3.1. EASEMENTS 5 
3.2. ACCESS 5 

Article 4 - THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 
4.1. CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS 5 
4.2. ROLE 5 

Article 5 - CONTRACTOR 
5.1. REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 5 
5.2. SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES 6 
5.3. MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT 6 
5.4. WARRANTY 7 
5.5. TAXES; FEES AND LICENSES; ROYALTIES AND PATENTS 7 
5.6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 7 
5.7. TESTS 7 
5.8. GENERAL 8 

Article 6 – SUBCONTRACTORS 
6.1. GENERAL 8 
6.2. AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS 8 
6.3. SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS 9 
6.4. PAYMENTS TO SUBCONTRACTORS 9 

Article 7 - SEPARATE CONTRACTS 
7.1. OWNER'S RIGHT TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS 9 
7.2. MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTORS 9 

Article 8 - TIME 
8.1. DEFINITIONS 10 
8.2. PROGRESS AND COMPLETION; SCHEDULING 11 
8.3. DELAYS, EXTENSIONS OF TIME AND OVERTIME 11 
8.4. TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF WORK 12 

Article 9 - PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
9.1. APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT; PASSAGE OF TITLE 12 
9.2. APPROVALS OF APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT 13 
9.3. PAYMENTS WITHHELD; OWNER'S RIGHT TO MAKE DIRECT PAYMENTS FOR WORK 13 
9.4. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT 14 
9.5. BENEFICIAL USE AND OCCUPANCY; PARTIAL SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 15 

 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 2 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Paragraph Title Page 
Article 10 - PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 

10.1. RESPONSIBILITY FOR SAFETY AND HEALTH 16 
10.2. PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY; RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS 17 
10.3. SURFACE OR SUBSURFACE WATER 17 
10.4. EMERGENCIES 17 
10.5. CLEANUP 18 
10.6. OWNER'S STANDARDS 18 

Article 11 - INSURANCE; INDEMNIFICATION 
11.1. COMMERCIAL INSURANCE/INDEMNIFICATION 18 

Article 12 - CHANGES IN THE WORK 
12.1. CHANGE ORDERS AND DIRECTIVES 19 
12.2. CHANGES REQUIRING AN INCREASE IN CONTRACT SUM 19 
12.3. CHANGES REQUIRING A DECREASE IN CONTRACT SUM 21 
12.4. DISPUTES REGARDING CHANGES 21 
12.5. AUDIT RIGHTS 21 

Article 13 – CLAIMS 
13.1. CLAIMS FOR EXTENSIONS OF CONTRACT TIME 21 
13.2. CLAIMS FOR INCREASES IN CONTRACT SUM 22 
13.3. NO OTHER CLAIMS 22 

Article 14 - UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK;  
OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK           

14.1. UNCOVERING OF WORK 22 
14.2. CORRECTION OF WORK 22 
14.3. OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK 23 
14.4. ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE OR NON-CONFORMING WORK 24 

Article 15 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 
15.1. TERMINATION BY CONTRACTOR 24 
15.2. TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CAUSE 24 
15.3. TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE 25 

Article 16 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
16.1. GOVERNING LAW 25 
16.2. ASSIGNABILITY; SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 25 
16.3. NOTICE 25 
16.4. PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS 25 
16.5. MAINTENANCE OF HARMONIOUS RELATIONS 26 
16.6. UNION AGREEMENTS 26 
16.7. USE OF OWNER'S NAME/CONFIDENTIALITY 26 
16.8. GENERAL 27 
16.9. IMMIGRATION REFORM CONTROL ACT 27 
16.10. ADJACENT LAND AND LANDOWNERS 27 

 
 
 
 
 

END OF TABLE OF CONTENTS 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 3 

Article 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1. THE CONTRACT.  The Contract for Construction (referred to herein as the "Contract") is the sum 
of all Contract Documents.  It represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties 
hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral.  
The Contract may be amended or modified only by a Modification, as defined below. 
 1.1.1. The Contract Documents consist of those documents specified in Paragraph 1.2. of the 
Agreement or otherwise referred to in these General Conditions of the Contract for Construction.  The 
Contract Documents do not include bidding documents, such as the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid, 
the Instructions to Bidders, sample forms, the Contractor's Bid or portions of Addenda as and to the 
extent that they may relate to any of the bidding documents or bidding procedure. 
 1.1.2. An Addendum is a written or graphic instrument issued by the Owner prior to the execution 
of the Agreement which sets forth additions, deletions or other revisions to the Contract Documents or 
clarifications thereof. 
 1.1.3. A Modification may be accomplished by:  (a) a Change Order; (b) a Directive; or (c) any 
other written amendment to the Contract signed by both parties.  A Modification may be made only 
after execution of the Agreement.  No Directive shall be construed as a Change Order or other 
Modification unless it expressly states. 
 1.1.4. A Change Order is a written Modification executed by both parties (except in the event of 
a unilateral Change Order as herein provided) and consisting of additions, deletions or other changes 
to the Contract.  A Change Order may be accompanied by and/or may identify additional or revised 
Drawings, sketches or other written instructions, which become and form a part of the Contract 
Documents by virtue of the executed Change Order.  Except as otherwise provided in Subparagraph 
1.1.5., a Change in the Work, or a change in the Contract Time or the Contract Sum shall become the 
subject of a Change Order. 
 1.1.5. A Directive is a written document issued by the Owner and consisting of additions, 
deletions, clarifications or other written instructions issued by the Owner with respect to the 
performance of the Work or the activities of the Contractor on the Job Site or the property of the 
Owner.  A Directive may include, but shall not be limited to, a bulletin, an engineering change, or other 
orders or instructions.  Directives may become the subject of a Change Order, either singularly or 
collectively.  Directives shall become the subject of a Change Order if they involve a Change in the 
Work, or a change in the Contract Time or the Contract Sum. 
1.2. THE OWNER.  The Owner is the person or organization identified as such in the Agreement.  The 
term "Owner," whenever it appears in the Contract Documents, means the Owner and/or the Owner's 
Representative acting on behalf or for the benefit of the Owner (except as otherwise specified in the 
Contract Documents or as the context otherwise requires); provided, however, that with respect to any 
provisions of the Contract which require the Contractor to provide insurance for the protection of the 
Owner or to release the Owner from, or waive, any claims the Contractor may have against it, the term 
"Owner" shall mean the Owner and its supervisors, officers, employees, agents and assigns and the 
Owner’s Representatives and its parent, related, affiliated and subsidiary companies, and the officers, 
directors, agents, employees and assigns of each. 
1.3. THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE. The Owner's Representative is the person or organization 
designated from time to time by the Owner to act as its representative as identified in Article 3 of the 
Agreement or the most current Modification thereto. 
1.4. THE CONTRACTOR. The Contractor is the person or organization identified as such in the 
Agreement.  The Contractor shall designate a sufficient number of Project representatives that there 
shall be at least one authorized representative on the Job Site at all times in which the Work is being 
performed including, without limitation, a project manager (herein referred to as the "Project Manager") 
who shall at all times have authority to act (in all capacities necessary for the Work) for and bind the 
Contractor. 
1.5. SUBCONTRACTOR; SUB-SUBCONTRACTOR. 
1.5.1.  A Subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct contract with the Contractor to 
perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any materials or equipment to be incorporated in, 
or utilized in connection with, the Work. 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 4 

 1.5.2. A Sub-subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct or indirect contract (on any 
tier) with a Subcontractor to perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any materials or 
equipment to be incorporated in, or utilized in connection with, the Work. 
1.6. THE JOB SITE.  The Job Site shall mean the area in which the Work is to be performed and such 
other areas as may be designated by the Owner for the storage of the Contractor's materials and 
equipment. 
1.7. THE PROJECT. The Project is the total construction of which the Work may be the whole or a part. 
1.8. WORK; CONTRACT TIME; CONTRACT SUM.  The Work, the Contract Time and the Contract Sum 
are as defined in Articles 2, 5 and 6, respectively, of the Agreement. 
1.9. PROVIDE.  Except as the context otherwise requires, the term "provide" means to furnish, 
fabricate, complete, deliver, install and erect including all labor, materials, equipment, apparatus, 
appurtenances and expenses, necessary to complete in place, ready for operation or use under the 
terms of the Specifications. 
1.10. PLANS.   Wherever the words "Plan" or "Plans" are used in the Contract Documents, they shall be 
construed as having the same meaning as Drawing or Drawings (as referred to in the Agreement). 
1.11. SPECIFICATIONS.   The Specifications shall include those referred to in the Agreement. 
1.12. THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER.  The person or entity having a direct contract with the Owner to 
design the Project or a portion thereof and to produce the Project Plans and Specifications or portion 
thereof, as identified in Article 4 of the Agreement or the most current Modification thereto, together 
with its subconsultants. 
 

Article 2 
THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

 
2.1. EXECUTION, INTENT AND INTERPRETATIONS. 
 2.1.1. The Contractor warrants and represents that, in executing the Agreement and undertaking 
the Work, it has not relied upon any oral inducement or representation by the Owner, the Owner's 
Representative, the Architect/Engineer or any of their officers or agents as to the nature of the Work, 
the Job Site, the Project conditions or otherwise. 
 2.1.2. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by any one shall be as 
binding as if required by all.  If the Contract Documents do not specifically allow the Contractor a choice 
as to quality or cost of items to be furnished, but could be interpreted to permit such choice, subject 
to confirmation or approval by the Owner, they shall be construed to require the Contractor to furnish 
the best quality.  Words and abbreviations which have well-known technical or trade meanings are 
used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meanings. 
 2.1.3. Where conflict exists within or between parts of the Contract Documents, or between the 
Contract Documents and either applicable industry standards or applicable codes, ordinances or other 
legal requirements, the more stringent requirements shall apply; otherwise, the following order of 
precedence shall be used:  the Agreement; the Special Conditions; the General Conditions; the 
Specifications; the Drawings.  If the Contractor is required to perform any extra or corrective Work to 
comply with the preceding sentence, it shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Sum or 
Contract Time, and no claim shall result from such compliance.  Subject to confirmation or approval by 
the Owner, large scale Drawings take precedence over smaller scaled Drawings, figured dimensions on 
the Drawings take precedence over scaled dimensions, and noted items on the Drawings take 
precedence over graphic representations. 
 2.1.4. The organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and the 
arrangement of Drawings, are not intended to influence the Contractor in its division of the Work 
among Subcontractors or its establishment of the extent of the Work to be performed by any trade. 
 
 2.1.5. The Contractor shall submit a written request to the Owner for any interpretations 
necessary for the proper execution or progress of the Work.  Such interpretations shall be issued in 
writing. 
 2.1.6. The Contract Documents reflect conditions as they are believed to exist, but it is not 
intended or to be inferred that the conditions as shown thereon constitute a representation by or on 
behalf of the Owner that such conditions actually exist.  The Contractor shall inspect the Job Site and 
conduct any tests or surveys it deems necessary or desirable prior to the commencement of the Work 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 5 

and shall accept full responsibility for any loss sustained by it as a result of any variances between the 
conditions as shown on the Contract Documents and the actual conditions revealed during the progress 
of the Work or otherwise.  The Contract Sum shall in no event be increased by reason of any such 
variance unless otherwise specifically provided herein. 
 2.1.7. The Contractor shall develop and maintain current "as-built" Plans to be provided to the 
Owner in accordance with Subparagraph 9.4.2. The Owner may inspect and copy such Plans at any 
time during the course of the Work. 
2.2. COPIES FURNISHED; OWNERSHIP.   All Contract Documents and copies thereof furnished by the 
Owner, the Owner's Representative or the Architect/Engineer are and shall remain the Owner's 
property.  They are not to be published or used by the Contractor on any other project and, with the 
exception of one complete set for the Contractor, are to be returned to the Owner upon completion of 
the Work. 
2.3. NO ORAL WAIVER.  The provisions of this Contract cannot be amended, modified, varied or waived 
in any respect except by a Modification signed by the Owner.  The Contractor is hereby given notice 
that no person has authority to orally waive, or to release the Contractor from, any of the Contractor's 
duties or obligations under or arising out of this Contract.  Any waiver, approval or consent granted to 
the Contractor shall be limited to those matters specifically and expressly stated thereby to be waived, 
approved or consented to and shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligation to obtain any future 
waiver, approval or consent.  Despite any prior waiver, approval or consent as to any particular matter, 
the Owner may at any time require strict compliance with the Contract Documents as to any other 
matter. 

Article 3 
OWNER 

3.1. EASEMENTS. The Owner shall obtain and pay for any easements required for permanent 
structures. 
3.2. ACCESS. The Owner shall at all times have access to the Work at each and every stage of 
preparation and progress. The Contractor shall provide facilities (including, without limitation, 
roadways) for such access. 

Article 4 
THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 

4.1. CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS.   Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any 
contractual relationship between the Owner's Representative and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that the Owner's Representative shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations of 
the Contractor to the Owner as imposed by the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, the 
Owner's rights pursuant to Paragraph 7.2. and Articles 10 and 11 of these General Conditions). 
4.2. ROLE.  Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, and until the Contractor is 
notified in writing to the contrary, all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions 
and instructions to be given by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and 
decisions to be made by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall 
be taken, given and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner's Representative in the name of and 
on behalf of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner's Representative) shall 
be solely obligated to the Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the Contractor 
hereunder. If the Owner's Representative is an organization, then it shall, in turn, act through such 
person or persons as it may designate in writing from time to time. Only those designated are 
authorized to grant on behalf of the Owner any approval, consent or waiver with respect to the Contract 
Documents or the Work, or to otherwise act for the Owner in any capacity whatsoever. 

Article 5 
CONTRACTOR 

 
5.1. REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. In addition to the representations and warranties contained 
in Article 9 of the Agreement, the Contractor acknowledges that prior to execution of the Agreement it 
has thoroughly reviewed and inspected the Contract Documents.  The Contractor further acknowledges 
that it has satisfied itself regarding any error, inconsistency, discrepancy, ambiguity, omission, 
insufficiency of detail or explanation and has assured itself of the adequacy and accuracy of each of 
the Contract Documents, as well as the compatibility of any combination thereof, as they relate to one 
another and to the scope of Work and the Schedule.  The Contractor hereby warrants and represents 
to the Owner that the Contract Documents are suitable and adapted for the Work and guarantees their 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 6 

sufficiency for their intended purpose.  The Owner shall not be responsible or liable to the Contractor 
for, and the Contractor hereby waives, any claims for changes, delays, accelerations, inefficiencies, 
impacts, and any other costs, damages, losses, or expenses of any nature whatsoever, resulting from 
any error, inadequacy, inaccuracy, inconsistency, insufficiency, unsuitability, discrepancy, ambiguity, 
omission, or insufficiency of detail or explanation in the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall 
perform no portion of the Work at any time without approved Contract Documents or, where required, 
shop drawings, product data, or samples, for such portions bearing the A/E's appropriate action stamp.  
Work performed in violation of this provision shall be at the Contractor's risk.  Nothing in this Paragraph 
5.1 shall in any way limit the effects of Article 9 of the Agreement. 
 
5.2. SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES. 
 5.2.1. The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using its best skill and attention. The 
Contractor shall be solely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
coordination, scheduling (subject to Article 8) and procedures, for all cleanup and for all safety and 
weather precautions and programs, in connection with the Work. 
 5.2.2. The Contractor shall employ a competent Project Manager and necessary assistants who 
shall be in attendance at the Job Site during the progress of the Work and who shall be satisfactory to 
the Owner. The Contractor shall remove any of its employees or agents (including, without limitation, 
the Project Manager) from the Project upon instruction from the Owner.  The Project Manager shall 
not be changed except with the consent of the Owner unless the Project Manager ceases to be in the 
Contractor's employ.   
 5.2.3. The Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its 
employees.  It shall also be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its Subcontractors 
and Sub-subcontractors, their agents and employees, and other persons performing any of the Work, 
in the same manner as if they were the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by the 
Contractor. 
 5.2.4. The Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligations to perform the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents either by the activities or duties of the Owner in its administration of the 
Contract, including, without limitation, by any inspections or tests required or performed under 
Paragraph 5.7., or by approvals or other similar action with regard to shop drawings or submittals (of 
any type), or by the activities of persons other than the Contractor with respect to the Project.  Further, 
notwithstanding the fact that a dispute, controversy or other question may have arisen between the 
parties hereto relating to the execution or progress of the Work, the interpretation of the Contract 
Documents, the payment of any monies, the delivery of any materials or any other matter whatsoever, 
the Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligations to pursue the Work diligently under the Contract 
Documents pending the determination of such dispute, controversy or other question. 
 5.2.5. The Contractor shall establish, implement and supervise the submission of shop drawings 
and other submittals (of any type) in accordance with the Schedule and any Milestones.  The Contractor 
shall note any variances between any such shop drawings or other submittals and the Contract 
Documents for the benefit of the Owner at the time of submission. 
5.3. MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT. 
 5.3.1. The Contractor shall, if directed by the Owner, cause any or all materials and equipment 
to be manufactured in advance, and be warehoused either at the factory or elsewhere at the 
Contractor's cost.  The Contractor shall cause all materials and equipment to be delivered to the Job 
Site in accordance with any schedule or schedules therefor established from time to time and approved 
by the Owner and, in any event, in a manner which will assure the timely progress and completion of 
the Work but will not encumber the Job Site unreasonably.  Materials delivered to the Job Site for 
incorporation in the Work shall not be removed from the Job Site without the consent of or unless 
directed by the Owner. 
 5.3.2. The Owner may, from time to time during the performance of the Work and without any 
liability or obligation whatsoever to the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, 
direct the Contractor to relocate, or cause to be relocated, to any other location on or off the Job Site, 
as designated by the Owner, any materials, equipment, office or storage trailers, storage sheds or the 
like brought onto the Owner's property by the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors, with which directions the Contractor shall promptly comply.  Should such relocation 
not be completed within the time therefor established by the Owner, the Owner may accomplish such 
relocation and offset the costs incurred by it in accomplishing the same against any amounts then or 
thereafter due to the Contractor. 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 7 

  5.3.3. The Contractor shall give, or shall require its Subcontractors and their Sub-subcontractors 
to give, full and accurate quality, performance and delivery status reports, in a form satisfactory to the 
Owner, regarding any materials and equipment, or such other data with respect thereto as may be 
requested by the Owner, and shall obtain for the Owner the written assurances of any manufacturer 
that its material or equipment is designed, and appropriate, for the use intended. 
5.4. WARRANTY.  The Contractor warrants to the Owner that all materials and equipment furnished 
under this Contract shall be new unless otherwise specified, and that all Work shall be of good quality, 
free from faults and defects and in conformance with the Contract Documents. All Work not  conforming 
to these standards may be considered defective. This warranty is not limited by the provisions of 
Paragraph 14.2. of these General Conditions or Article 9 of the Agreement. All warranties and 
guarantees from Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors (including, without limitation, manufacturers) 
shall be assignable to the Owner regardless of whether it is stated therein, and the Contractor agrees 
to assign all such warranties and guarantees to the Owner and deliver them pursuant to Subparagraph 
9.4.2. The Contractor's obligations under this Paragraph shall survive the expiration or sooner 
termination of the Contract. 
5.5. TAXES; FEES AND LICENSES; ROYALTIES AND PATENTS. 
 5.5.1. The Contractor shall pay, or cause to be paid, all import duties and sales, consumer, use, 
excise, value added and ad valorem taxes required to be paid in connection with the Work or upon 
materials, tools or equipment brought to the Job Site or used in the Work.  If any of the foregoing 
taxes are not paid in a timely manner, the Owner may withhold the amount of any such taxes from 
any amounts owing to the Contractor under the Contract Documents, submit the amount withheld to 
the appropriate taxing authority on behalf of the Contractor or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors 
and offset said amount against the Contract Sum. 
 5.5.2. The Contractor shall secure and pay for all governmental fees, permits and licenses which 
the Owner is not specifically required to provide and pay for under the Contract Documents. 
 5.5.3. The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees incident to the use of any invention, 
design, process or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others, all of which 
shall be deemed included in the Contract Sum.  The Contractor shall not unlawfully use or install any 
patented or copyrighted article, and any such unlawful use or installation shall be considered or deemed 
to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or 
of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is 
responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without 
limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions for infringement of, or otherwise 
related to, any patent rights or copyrights, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails 
to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, 
costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset or back-charge all of said items or 
amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due 
under the Contract have already been paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are 
not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the 
Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner. In the event of any injunction or legal action 
arising out of any such infringement which has the effect of delaying the Work, the Owner may require 
the Contractor to substitute such other articles of like kind as will make it possible to proceed with and 
complete the Work, and all costs and expenses occasioned thereby shall be borne by the Contractor. 
5.6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  The Contractor shall, at its cost and expense, comply with each and 
every Federal, state and local law, ordinance, code, rule and regulation, as well as the lawful order or 
decree of any public or quasi-public authority, bearing on the performance of the Work specifically 
including, but not limited to, those specified in Subparagraph 10.1.2., and all applicable building codes.  
It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to familiarize itself with all of the same, and any 
performance of the Work by or on behalf of the Contractor which is not in compliance therewith shall 
be at the Contractor's sole risk and expense.  The Contractor shall notify the Owner prior to execution 
of the Contract (and, without limiting the duty of such prior notice, continuously thereafter) of any 
instances where the Contract Documents are, or where the Contractor believes the Contract Documents 
are, not in compliance with the same. 
5.7. TESTS. 
 5.7.1. If the Contract Documents, or any laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or any orders or 
decrees of any public or quasi-public authority having jurisdiction, or common practice in the industry, 
require or dictate that the Contractor have any portion of the Work inspected, tested or approved, the 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 8 

Contractor shall advise the Owner in a timely manner  (in writing, if practicable)  of its readiness and 
of the date arranged so that the Owner may observe such inspection, testing or approval.  The 
Contractor shall bear all costs of such inspections, tests and approvals except as otherwise specified. 
 5.7.2. The Owner may require any special inspection, testing or approval of the Work not included 
under Subparagraph 5.7.1., or any more stringent inspection, testing or approval thereof, in which 
event it shall instruct the Contractor to order such inspection, testing or approval, and the Contractor 
shall advise the Owner in a timely manner (in writing, if practicable) as in Subparagraph 5.7.1.  If such 
inspection or testing reveals any failure of the Work or the performance thereof to comply with the 
more stringent of:  (a) the requirements of the Contract Documents; (b) applicable industry standards; 
or (c) applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations or orders or decrees of any public or quasi-
public authority having jurisdiction, or reveals any defect in the Work, the Contractor shall bear the 
costs of such inspection or testing and all costs to correct the Work to the satisfaction of the Owner, 
which, if incurred by the Owner, may be offset by the Owner against any amounts then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor.  If such inspection or testing proves that the Work was performed properly, the 
Owner shall bear the costs of such inspection or testing. 
 5.7.3. Required certificates of inspection, testing or approval shall be secured by the Contractor 
and promptly delivered by it to the Owner. 
5.8. GENERAL.  The duties and responsibilities of the Contractor as set forth in this Article 5 are in 
addition to, and not in lieu of, other duties and responsibilities of the Contractor enumerated elsewhere 
in these Contract Documents. 

Article 6 
SUBCONTRACTORS 

6.1. GENERAL.   Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual relationship 
between the Owner or the Owner's Representative and any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor.  
However, it is acknowledged that the Owner and Owner's Representative are intended third party 
beneficiaries of the obligations of the Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors related to the Work and 
the Project. 
6.2. AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS. 
 6.2.1. The Contractor shall, prior to awarding any subcontract, notify the Owner in writing of the 
names of all Subcontractors proposed for the several parts of the Work and shall include with any such 
notice the completed insurance information form and any insurance certificates required by this 
Contract for any proposed Subcontractor. The Owner may also require such lists and information 
regarding any proposed Sub-subcontractors.  The Contractor shall also advise the Owner in writing of 
any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor with which it shares any business relationship or financial 
interest, and of the nature and extent of any such relationship or interest.  No Subcontractor or Sub-
subcontractor shall be engaged if objected to by the Owner; provided, however, that if the Owner does 
not take exception to a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor in writing within fifteen (15) days of its 
receipt of such notification, such Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be deemed acceptable to 
the Owner.  The Owner shall not be liable to the Contractor in any manner arising out of the Owner's 
objection to a proposed Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor.  The Contractor shall not terminate the 
employment of a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor engaged in the Work prior to the expiration of 
that subcontract without good cause shown and the Owner's prior approval after reasonable notice of 
the Contractor's intent to terminate. 
 6.2.2. The Owner may, without any responsibility or liability whatsoever, require the Contractor 
to utilize any person or organization for any portion of the Work as a Subcontractor or a Sub-
subcontractor (herein referred to as a "Nominated Subcontractor" or "Nominated Sub-subcontractor") 
provided the Owner gave notice of its intention to nominate any such Subcontractor or Sub-
subcontractor prior to execution of the Agreement.  The Contractor shall assume full responsibility for 
any such Nominated Subcontractor or Nominated Sub-subcontractor. 
 6.2.3. In the event the Owner and Contractor agree that the Owner may participate in any 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor procurement activities, provided the Owner has informed the 
Contractor and allowed the Contractor the opportunity to participate and concur with such activities, 
the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for the results of any such activities including, without 
limitation, full responsibility for the Subcontractors' or Sub-subcontractors' awarded portions of the 
Work as a result thereof. 
 6.2.4. The Owner may assign to the Contractor any contracts or purchase orders entered into 
between the Owner and any other person or organization in any way related to the Project or the Work, 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 9 

at any time, in which event the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for such person or 
organization  and  its  portion  of  the  Work  as  if  such  person  or  organization  was  originally  a 
Subcontractor.  Such assignment may occur by Change Order or other Modification to the Contract, 
and any increase in the Contract Sum shall be governed by Article 12. 
6.3. SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS. 
 6.3.1. All subcontracts and sub-subcontracts shall be in writing. Each subcontract and sub-
subcontract shall contain a reference to this Contract and shall incorporate the terms and conditions 
hereof to the full extent applicable to the portion of the Work covered thereby.  Each Subcontractor 
must agree, for the benefit of the Owner, to be bound by, and to require each of its Sub-subcontractors 
to be bound by, such terms and conditions to the full extent applicable to its portion of the Work. 
 6.3.2. Each subcontract shall provide for its termination by the Contractor if, in the Owner's 
opinion, the Subcontractor fails to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents insofar as 
the same may be applicable to its portion of the Work; and each Subcontractor shall be required to 
insert a similar provision in each of its  sub-subcontracts.  In the event of any such failure by a 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents, such 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, as the case may be, shall, upon the Owner’s request, be removed 
immediately from the Work and shall not again be employed on the Work.  Any such failure (specifically 
including, without limitation, a failure to pay for labor (including applicable fringe benefits) or materials) 
by a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, 
recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized 
by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all 
damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, 
without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, 
incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any 
such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right 
to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Contract have already been paid or if the 
sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner. 
6.4. PAYMENTS TO SUBCONTRACTORS. 
 6.4.1. Unless the Owner otherwise agrees or the Contract Documents otherwise provide, the 
Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor, upon receipt of payments from the Owner, an amount equal 
to the percentage of completion allowed to the Contractor on account of such Subcontractor's portion 
of the Work, less a percentage thereof equal to the percentage retained from payments to the 
Contractor.  The Contractor shall also require each Subcontractor to make similar payments due to any 
Sub-subcontractor. 
 6.4.2. If the Owner fails to approve a Contractor's Application for Payment, as hereinafter 
provided, for any cause which is the fault of the Contractor and not the fault of a particular 
Subcontractor, the Contractor shall nevertheless pay that Subcontractor for its portion of the Work to 
the extent completed, less the retained percentage, such payment to be made no later than the date 
payment to the Contractor would otherwise have been made by the Owner. 
 6.4.3. The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor its proper share of any insurance monies 
received by the Contractor under Article 11, and it shall require each Subcontractor to make similar 
payments due to a Sub-subcontractor. 

Article 7 
SEPARATE CONTRACTS 

7.1. OWNER'S RIGHT TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS.  The Owner reserves the right to award 
other contracts in connection with the Project or other work on the Job Site on any terms and conditions 
which the Owner may from time to time determine in its sole discretion (hereinafter referred to as 
"Separate Contracts"; and such other contractors are hereinafter referred to as "Separate 
Contractors"). 
7.2. MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTORS. 
 7.2.1. The Contractor shall afford all Separate Contractors and the Owner reasonable opportunity 
for the introduction and storage of their materials and equipment and for the execution of their work 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 10 

and shall properly cooperate, connect and coordinate the Work with such other work as shall be in the 
best interest of the Project as determined by the Owner. 
 7.2.2.   If the execution or result of any part of the Work depends upon any work of the Owner or 
of any Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall, prior to proceeding with the Work, inspect and 
promptly report to the Owner in writing any apparent discrepancies or defects in such work of the 
Owner or of any Separate Contractor that render it unsuitable for the proper execution or result of any 
part of the Work.  Failure of the Contractor to inspect and report shall constitute an acceptance of the 
Owner's or Separate Contractor's work as fit and proper to receive the Work, except as to defects which 
may develop in the Owner's or Separate Contractor's work after completion of the Work and which the 
Contractor could not have discovered by its inspection prior to completion of the Work. 
 7.2.3. Should the Contractor cause damage to the work or property of the Owner or of any 
Separate Contractor on the Project, or to other work on the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the 
Owner's or any Separate Contractor's work, the Contractor shall be liable for the same; and, in the 
case of a Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall attempt to settle said claim with such Separate 
Contractor prior to such Separate Contractor's institution of litigation or other proceedings against the 
Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the dispute, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, 
arbitrate the dispute, in which event the decision of the Owner shall be final and binding on the parties 
to the dispute.  Any such damage to the work or property of the Owner or of any Separate Contractor 
on the Project, or to other work on the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the Owner's or any Separate 
Contractor's work shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or 
intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor 
in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, 
judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any 
claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such damage, delay or interference, 
including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ 
fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, 
any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the 
right to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Contract have already been paid or if the 
sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner. 
 7.2.4. Should any Separate Contractor cause damage to the Work or to the property of the 
Contractor or cause delay or interference with the Contractor's performance of the Work, the Contractor 
shall present to such Separate Contractor any claims it may have as a result of such damage, delay or 
interference (with an information copy to the Owner) and shall attempt to settle its claim against such 
Separate Contractor prior to the institution of litigation or other proceedings against such Separate 
Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the dispute, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, 
arbitrate the dispute, in which event the decision of the Owner shall be final and binding on the parties 
to the dispute.  In no event shall the Contractor seek to recover from the Owner, the Owner's 
Representative or the Architect/Engineer, and the Contractor hereby represents that it will not seek to 
recover from them, any costs, expenses or losses incurred by the Contractor as a result of any damage 
to the Work or property of the Contractor or any delay or interference caused or allegedly caused by 
any Separate Contractor. 
 7.2.5. If a dispute arises between the Contractor and any Separate Contractor as to the 
responsibility for cleaning as required by the Contract Documents, the Owner may clean and charge 
the cost thereof to the responsible contractor, or apportion it among the several responsible 
contractors, as the Owner shall determine to be just. 

Article 8 
TIME 

8.1. DEFINITIONS. 
 8.1.1. Whenever the word "day" is used in the Contract Documents, it shall mean a calendar day 
unless otherwise specifically provided. 
 8.1.2. The Date of Commencement of the Work is the date established in a written notice to 
proceed.  If there is no notice to proceed, it shall be the date of the Agreement or such other date as 
may be established by the Owner in writing. 
 8.1.3. The Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (or "Substantial Completion") is the date, 
certified by the Owner, when all construction is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 11 

Documents that the Owner may, if it elects, occupy and use the Work or designated portion thereof 
for the purpose for which it was intended. 
8.2. PROGRESS AND COMPLETION; SCHEDULING. 
 8.2.1. All times and dates stated in the Contract Documents including, without limitation, those 
for the Commencement, prosecution, Milestones, Substantial Completion and final completion of the 
Work and for the delivery and installation of materials and equipment, are of the essence of the 
Contract. 
 8.2.2. The Contractor shall begin the Work on the Date of Commencement and shall perform the 
Work diligently, expeditiously and with adequate resources so as to meet all Milestones and complete 
all the Work within the Contract Time. The scheduling of the Work shall be performed and monitored 
by the Contractor utilizing a method to be chosen by the Owner. The Contractor (and its 
Subcontractors, if the Owner requires) shall furnish all scheduling information requested by the Owner 
(in such form and detail as requested for the particular portion of the Work; herein referred to as the 
"Schedule" or "Schedules") within two (2) weeks of the Owner's request, shall revise the same from 
time to time thereafter when requested by the Owner, and shall attend such meetings concerning 
scheduling as the Owner may call from time to time.  The Contractor shall comply with any Schedule 
or Schedules established by it and approved by the Owner, or established by the Owner with respect 
to the Commencement, performance, Milestones or completion of the whole or various portions of the 
Work.  With respect to any portion of the Work for which a Schedule has not been established, the 
Contractor shall commence such portion of the Work within three (3) days of the date on which the 
Owner directs such commencement and shall thereafter prosecute and complete the same with all due 
diligence or as otherwise directed by the Owner.  Neither the scheduling information submitted by the 
Contractor or its Subcontractors, the acceptance or approval thereof by the Owner nor the 
establishment or implementation of, or failure to establish or implement, Schedules by the Owner shall 
relieve the Contractor of its obligation to perform and complete the Work in a timely manner or to 
otherwise perform in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 8.2.3. Float or slack time associated with any one chain of activities is defined as the amount of 
time between earliest start date and latest start date or between earliest finish date and latest finish 
date for such activities, as set forth in an approved Schedule for the Work (assuming the critical path 
method is used), including any revisions or updates thereto.  Float or slack time is not for the exclusive 
use or benefit of either the Owner or the Contractor.  However, if float time associated with any chain 
of activities is expended but not exceeded by any actions attributable to the Owner, the Contractor 
shall not be entitled to an extension in the Contract Time. 
8.3. DELAYS, EXTENSIONS OF TIME AND OVERTIME. 
 8.3.1. The time during which the Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by the 
acts or omissions of the Owner, the Owner's Representative, acts of God, unusually severe and 
abnormal climatic conditions or other conditions beyond the Contractor's control and which the 
Contractor could not reasonably have foreseen and provided against, shall be added to the Contract 
Time stated in the Agreement; provided, however, that no claim by the Contractor for an extension of 
time for such delays shall be considered unless made in accordance with Paragraph 13.1. 
 8.3.2. The Owner and the Owner's Representative shall not be obligated or liable to the 
Contractor for, and the Contractor hereby expressly waives any claims against them, on account of, 
any damages, costs or expenses of any nature whatsoever which the Contractor, its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors may incur as a result of any delays, interferences, suspensions, rescheduling, 
changes in sequence, congestion, disruptions or the like, arising from or out of any act or omission of 
the Owner, or any of the events referred to in Subparagraph 8.3.1. above, it being understood and 
agreed that the Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy in such event shall be an extension of the 
Contract Time, but only if claim is properly made in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 13.1. 
 8.3.3. Whenever, in the opinion of the Owner, the Work falls behind Schedule due to the fault of 
the Contractor, the Contractor shall, to the extent necessary to meet said Schedule, increase its labor 
force and/or provide overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, and Sunday and/or holiday work, and shall have 
each Subcontractor do likewise, all at no additional cost to or compensation from the Owner.  Further, 
the Owner shall have the right to offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor, 
or to be reimbursed by the Contractor for, any additional costs the Owner may incur as a direct result 
of said increase in labor force or overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 
 8.3.4. The Owner may, in its sole discretion and for any reason, direct the Contractor to accelerate 
the Schedule of performance by providing overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 12 

and/or by having all or any Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors designated by the Owner provide 
overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 
  8.3.4.1. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by the 
Contractor's own forces pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and exclusive obligation 
to the Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account thereof shall be to reimburse the 
Contractor for the direct cost to the Contractor of the premium time (or shift differential for any extra 
shifts) for all labor utilized by the Contractor in such overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday 
work (but not for the straight time costs of such labor, together with any Social Security and state or 
federal unemployment insurance taxes in connection with such premium time (or shift differential for 
any extra shifts). 
  8.3.4.2. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by a 
Subcontractor pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and exclusive obligation to the 
Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account thereof shall be to reimburse the Contractor 
for the direct cost to the Subcontractor for the premium time (or shift differential for any extra shifts) 
of all labor utilized in such overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work (but not for the 
straight time cost of such labor), together with any Social Security and state or federal unemployment 
insurance taxes in connection with such premium time. 
  8.3.4.3. Anything in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, should the Owner's 
direction to the Contractor to accelerate the Schedule of performance pursuant to this Subparagraph 
8.3.4. require the Contractor's or a Subcontractor's forces to work in excess of fifty (50) hours per week 
for a period in excess of four (4) consecutive weeks, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor, for each 
consecutive week after the fourth consecutive week in which the same forces are required to work in 
excess of fifty (50) hours, an additional amount equivalent to ten percent (10%) of the gross wages of 
Job Site labor, less payroll costs as defined in Subparagraph 12.2.1., paid to such forces on account of 
such overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4. Such 
acceleration shall be referred to as "Extended Acceleration", and the payment described herein shall 
be the sole and exclusive remedy for such Extended Acceleration including, without limitation, all 
inefficiencies, impacts, added supervision and overhead, ripple effect or any other costs or expenses 
of any kind.  Anything in this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owner shall 
have no obligation to make payments on account of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work 
ordered pursuant hereto unless: (a) the Contractor shall submit to the Owner, for the Owner's review 
and approval, duly authenticated time tickets evidencing the hours of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday work performed pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. by the end of the day on which 
performed and recapped in summary form; and (b) the Contractor shall include with its request for 
reimbursement a duplicate of each of the foregoing time tickets and such other substantiation of costs 
reimbursable hereunder as the Owner may require. If overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday work is performed in part pursuant to Subparagraph 8.3.3. and in part pursuant to this 
Subparagraph 8.3.4.3., the provisions of this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. calling for payments by the Owner 
on account thereof shall only apply to such work performed pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. 
8.4. TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF WORK.  The Owner shall have the authority to suspend the Work, 
in whole or in part, for such periods and such reasons as it may deem necessary or desirable, in its 
sole discretion including, without limitation:  (a) unsuitable weather; (b) other conditions considered 
unfavorable for the suitable prosecution of the Work; (c) special events; and/or (d) other conditions 
considered adverse to the best interests of the Owner.  Any such suspension shall be in writing to the 
Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately obey such orders of the Owner and shall not resume the 
Work until ordered in writing by the Owner.  No such temporary suspension of the Work, for periods 
of time up to thirty (30) consecutive days, shall be the basis of a claim by the Contractor for any 
increase in the Contract Sum or for any other damages, losses, costs or expenses whatsoever, all of 
which claims the Contractor hereby expressly waives.  The Contractor shall be entitled to an extension 
of the Contract Time not to exceed the length of time that the Work was suspended provided the claim 
is submitted in accordance with Paragraph 13.1. and the suspension is not due to an act or omission 
of the Contractor, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor. 

Article 9 
PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 

9.1. APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT; PASSAGE OF TITLE. 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 13 

 9.1.1.  The "Payment Application Date" shall be that day of each calendar month designated in the 
Agreement when the Contractor shall deliver the "Application for Payment," as hereinafter defined, to 
the Owner. 
 9.1.2.  The "Application for Payment" shall be an invoice prepared by the Contractor and submitted 
to the Owner in accordance with the Contract Documents.  It shall show in detail all monies properly 
payable to the Contractor in accordance with the previously approved Schedule of Values, including 
those items of labor, materials and equipment used or incorporated in the Work (and, if the Owner has 
agreed in advance in writing, suitably stored at the Job Site) through and including the Payment 
Application Date. The Application for Payment shall have, as attachments, waivers of mechanics' and 
materialmen's liens by the Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors as of the date of 
submission of the Application for Payment, which waivers shall conform in all material respects with 
the then current provisions of  Part I,  Chapter 713,  Florida Statutes  (or any successor  thereto), and 
such other evidence of performance of the Work, the costs thereof and payment therefor as the Owner 
may deem necessary or desirable. 
 9.1.3. The Contractor warrants that title to all Work, materials and equipment covered by an 
Application for Payment shall pass to the Owner, free and clear of all liens, claims, security interests or 
encumbrances, upon the sooner occurrence of: (a) the delivery of any such materials or equipment to 
the Job Site; or (b) the tender of payment of the applicable Application for Payment by the Owner to 
the Contractor; and that no Work, materials or equipment covered by an Application for Payment shall 
have been acquired, whether by the Contractor or by any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, subject 
to an agreement under which an interest therein or an encumbrance thereon is retained by the seller 
or otherwise imposed by the Contractor or such other person.  The passage of title to the Owner as 
provided herein shall not alter or limit the obligations and duties of the Contractor with respect to the 
Work and the materials or equipment incorporated therein or used in connection therewith as set forth 
in the Contract Documents. 
9.2. APPROVALS OF APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT. 
 9.2.1. If the Contractor has submitted an Application for Payment in the manner prescribed in 
the Contract Documents, the Owner shall, with reasonable promptness, approve the same (or such 
portions thereof covering amounts it determines to be properly due) or shall state in writing its reasons 
for withholding its approval (whether of all or a part). 
 9.2.2. The Owner's approval of an Application for Payment shall not constitute a representation 
by the Owner that the conditions precedent to the Contractor's entitlement to payment have been 
fulfilled, nor shall approval of an Application for Payment by the Owner be deemed a representation by 
the Owner:  (a) that it has made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or 
quantity of the Work; (b) that it has reviewed the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
coordination or procedures, or the cleanliness of the Job Site, or the safety precautions and programs, 
in connection with the Work; (c) that it has made any examination to ascertain how or for what 
purposes the Contractor has used the monies previously paid on account of the Contract Sum. 
 9.2.3. No approval of an Application for Payment, progress payment or any beneficial, partial or 
entire use or occupancy of the Project by the Owner shall constitute an acceptance of any Work which 
is not in accordance with the Contract Documents; and regardless of approval of an Application for 
Payment by the Owner, the Contractor shall remain totally obligated and liable for the performance of 
the Work in strict compliance with the Contract Documents. 
 9.2.4. Subject to the Owner's rights to offset or withhold as set forth in these General Conditions, 
after the Owner has approved an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, it shall make payment 
of the amount approved to the Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents. 
9.3. PAYMENTS WITHHELD; OWNER'S RIGHT TO MAKE DIRECT PAYMENTS FOR WORK. 
 9.3.1. The Owner may withhold its approval of an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, 
or nullify the whole or any part of an approval previously given, if it determines that the Application for 
Payment covers portions of the Work which have not, in fact, been completed, or that it includes 
amounts for claims allegedly made but not actually made (or subsequently withdrawn), and/or for 
which payment is not then due or if, and to the extent that, it deems it necessary or desirable to protect 
itself against loss or damage due to: (a) defective Work not remedied; (b) Contractor, Subcontractor, 
Sub-subcontractor or third party claims, disputes or liens or reasonable evidence indicating such claims, 
disputes or liens; (c) failure or alleged failure of the Contractor to make payments to Subcontractors 
(or of Subcontractors to make payments to Sub-subcontractors) as required by the Contract 
Documents, or failure to provide lien waivers for previous payments; (d) inability, or reasonable doubt 
as to the ability, of the Contractor to complete the Work within the Contract Time, for the unpaid 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 14 

balance of the Contract Sum or within the estimates prepared by the Contractor and submitted to and 
approved by the Owner; (e) damage to the Owner or a Separate Contractor; (f) unsatisfactory 
prosecution of the Work by the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors; (g) failure of the 
Contractor to maintain the Job Site in a clean and safe condition; (h) failure of the Contractor to meet 
any other monetary obligation imposed upon it pursuant to the Contract Documents; or (i) failure of 
the Contractor to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents. 
 9.3.2. The Owner after giving the Contractor appropriate notice, may make payments on account 
of labor, materials and/or equipment for the Work directly to the Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors 
or persons entitled to the same in lieu of paying the Contractor therefor or make joint payment to any 
such person and the Contractor.  Any amounts so paid shall be credited against the Contract Sum.  No 
such payment shall create any relationship between the recipient thereof and the Owner, nor any duty 
on the part of the Owner.  The Contractor shall cooperate with the Owner to facilitate any such direct  
payments and shall provide such evidence as the Owner may request for purposes of determining any 
amount to be so paid.  If the Owner elects to make such payments as a result of a failure on the part 
of the Contractor to perform in accordance with the Contract, or as a result of a request from the 
Contractor that the Owner make such payments, then the Owner may offset or credit the amount of 
its administrative costs incurred in making said such payments against the Contract Sum or render an 
invoice to the Contractor for such administrative costs, which invoice the Contractor shall pay promptly. 
9.4. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT. 
 9.4.1. At such time as the Contractor deems the Work to be Substantially Complete, the 
Contractor shall notify the Owner and prepare and submit to the Owner a list of items to be completed 
and/or corrected and its final bill, including itemized projected amounts for any portions of the Work 
not yet completed. The failure to include any items on such list shall not alter the responsibility of the 
Contractor to complete and/or correct the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  When 
the Owner, on the basis of an inspection, confirms the notification from the Contractor that the Work 
is Substantially Completed or, without being notified by the Contractor, determines that the Work is 
Substantially Completed, it shall prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Substantial 
Completion which may state the responsibilities of the Owner and the Contractor for maintenance, 
heat, utilities and insurance and it shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the Certificate of 
Substantial Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, in the form provided by the 
Owner, which sets forth those items determined by the Owner to require completion or correction, as 
applicable, and fix the time within which the Contractor shall complete or correct the items listed and 
complete all obligations required by the Contract Documents and submit to the Owner all documents 
and other matters required by the Contract Documents to be submitted by the Contractor upon 
completion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List 
shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's rights or remedies under the Contract Documents nor 
release the Contractor of its obligations to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents.  The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall constitute a demand for an Application for 
Payment (including all costs, claims or fees for any outstanding Change Orders, or any other matter 
which the Contractor has not previously waived pursuant to the General Conditions, and itemized 
projections for any incomplete Work), and the Contractor shall be deemed conclusively to have waived 
the right to payment of any such item, fee or cost of any kind not billed to the Owner within thirty (30) 
days of delivery to the Contractor of the Certificate of Substantial Completion.  The issuance of the 
Certificate of Substantial Completion shall not constitute a waiver of any rights of the Owner, including 
without limitation the right to those retainages permitted by the Contract Documents.  If the Contractor 
does not complete and/or correct the items listed in the Punch List within the time fixed therein, the 
Owner shall have the right to accomplish the same and offset all costs thereof against any amounts 
then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor are 
not sufficient to cover such costs, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner.  The Owner's 
decision as to the Date of Substantial Completion shall be final and binding. 
 9.4.2. Within a reasonable time following the Owner's receipt of written notification from the 
Contractor that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance and that the Contractor has 
completed all items set forth on the Punch List, including, delivery of the final Application for Payment, 
the Owner shall make such inspection and, when the Work is found to be acceptable under the Contract 
Documents and the Contract fully performed, shall certify completion of the Punch List, including 
approval of the final Application for Payment; provided, however, Owner shall not be required to certify 
completion of the Punch List and, therefore, neither final payment nor any retainage shall become due, 
until the Contractor submits to the Owner:  (a) an affidavit, in a form approved by the Owner, that all 
payrolls, bills for materials and equipment and other indebtednesses connected with the Work for which 
the Owner or its property might in any way be responsible have been paid in full or otherwise satisfied; 
(b) consent of sureties, if any, to final payment; (c) all Contract Documents (except one set thereof to 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 15 

be retained by the Contractor), including, without limitation, a completed set of as-builts and record 
documents (as defined in and to the extent required by the Specifications); (d) such other data as the 
Owner may require establishing payment or satisfaction of all obligations of the Contractor in 
connection with the Work including, without limitation, receipt of final satisfaction and releases and 
waivers of lien and releases of any and all claims by the Contractor, Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors, conforming in all material respects with the then current provisions of Part I, Chapter 
713, Florida Statutes (or any successor thereto) and evidencing performance of the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents; (e) a release of the Owner and its insurers from and against any claims 
under the insurance required to be provided by the Owner hereunder (except to the extent of any 
claims theretofore timely filed which are owing but unpaid) and a release of the Owner from and against 
any claims between the Contractor and a separate contractor; (f) any governmental certificates 
required by the Contract Documents or otherwise to evidence compliance of the Contractor and the 
Work with applicable laws, ordinances, rules, codes, regulations and the Contract Documents; and (g) 
warranties, guarantees, assignments thereof, and maintenance or other manuals, required by the 
Specifications in the forms approved by the Owner, in favor of the Owner and such other persons as   
the Owner may direct (notwithstanding the foregoing, by execution of the Agreement, the Contractor 
shall be deemed to have guaranteed to the Owner the matters contained in the attached form of 
guarantee incorporated by reference into the Agreement); and (h) a fully and properly executed Close-
out Change Order, with all of its fully and properly executed Exhibits, in the form attached to the 
Agreement. 
 9.4.3. The making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims or rights by the 
Owner. 
 9.4.4. The acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the Contractor 
and shall constitute a general release of the Owner, the Owner's Representative and the 
Architect/Engineer by the Contractor. 
 9.4.5. If any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor refuses to furnish any release, satisfaction or 
waiver of lien required at any time by the Owner under Paragraphs 9.1., 9.3. or 9.4., or files a claim of 
lien against the Owner's property, the Contractor shall, if requested by the Owner and at the 
Contractor's expense, furnish a bond (separate and apart from any other bond provided by the 
Contractor hereunder) satisfactory to the Owner to exempt the Owner and its property from and against 
any such lien.  The Contractor authorizes the Owner, and shall cause its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to authorize the Owner, to check directly with any suppliers of labor and material with 
respect to any item chargeable to the Owner's property, to confirm balances due and to obtain sworn 
statements and waivers of lien, all if the Owner elects.  If any lien remains unsatisfied after all payments 
are made to the Contractor, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner on account of all monies that 
the latter may be compelled to pay in discharging such lien, including all costs and attorneys' fees. 
9.5. BENEFICIAL USE AND OCCUPANCY; PARTIAL SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION. 
 9.5.1. The Owner reserves the right, at its option and convenience, to occupy or otherwise make 
use of all or any part of the Project or equipment at any time prior to completion of the Work upon two 
(2) days written notice to the Contractor (referred to herein as "Beneficial Occupancy"). The Owner 
shall use its best efforts to prevent such occupancy from interfering with the performance of the 
remaining Work; provided, however, that the Owner shall not be liable for any delays or additional 
costs of any nature caused by such occupancy. 
 9.5.2. Beneficial Occupancy shall not constitute acceptance by the Owner or the Owner's 
Representative of the completed Work or any portion thereof, shall not relieve the Contractor of its full 
responsibility for correcting defective Work and repairing the Work, shall not be deemed to be the 
equivalent of completion of the Work, shall not relieve the Contractor from its obligation to complete 
the Punch List, and shall not entitle the Contractor to any increase in the Contract Sum. 
 9.5.3. Anything in this Paragraph 9.5. to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owner may certify 
any portion of the Work to be occupied or used hereunder to be Substantially Completed and shall 
prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Partial Substantial Completion for such portion of 
the Work.  The Owner shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the Certificate of Partial 
Substantial Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, in the form provided by the 
Owner, and, upon the Contractor's timely completion or correction of the items on the Punch List and 
the Owner's approval thereof, accept that portion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to prepare and 
deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's rights or remedies 
under the Contract Documents nor release the Contractor of its obligations to complete the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. The provisions of Paragraph 9.4., except as they relate to 
the Contractor's obligations to complete or correct the Work in accordance with the Contract 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 16 

Documents, shall not apply to such Partial Substantial Completion, but the provisions of Subparagraph 
14.2.2. shall apply to the portion of the Work which the Owner certifies to be Substantially Completed. 

Article 10 
PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 

10.1.  RESPONSIBILITY FOR SAFETY AND HEALTH. 
 10.1.1. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety and 
anti-substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work, and shall provide all 
protection to prevent injury to all persons involved in any way in the Work and all other persons, 
including, without limitation, the employees, agents, guests, visitors, invitees and licensees of the 
Owner who may visit or be affected thereby.  These precautions shall include, but in no event be limited 
to:  the posting of danger signs and personal notification to all affected persons of the existence of a 
hazard of whatever nature; the furnishing and maintaining of necessary traffic control barricades and 
flagman services; the use, or storage, removal and disposal of required explosives or other hazardous 
materials only under the supervision  of qualified personnel  and after first obtaining permission  of all 
applicable governmental authorities; and the maintenance of adequate quantities of both hose and 
operable fire extinguishers at the Job Site.  The Contractor shall set forth in writing its safety and anti-
substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work and, if requested by the 
Owner, submit the same to the Owner for review.  The Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, make 
suggestions and recommendations to the Contractor with respect thereto. 
 10.1.2. All Work, whether performed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, 
or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and all equipment, appliances, machinery, 
materials, tools and like items incorporated or used in the Work, shall be in compliance with, and 
conform to:  (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public 
or other governmental authority relating to the safety of persons and their protection against injury, 
specifically including, but in no event limited to, the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970, as amended, and all rules and regulations now or hereafter in effect pursuant to said Act; and 
(b) all codes, rules, regulations and requirements of the Owner and its insurance carriers relating 
thereto.  In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 
 10.1.3. The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of its organization at the Job Site as 
the Project Safety Officer, whose duties it shall be to enforce the Contractor's safety and anti-substance 
abuse programs, to assure compliance with Subparagraph 10.1.2 and to prevent accidents.  This person 
shall be the Contractor's Project Manager unless otherwise designated in writing by the Contractor and 
approved by the Owner.  The Contractor shall further cause each of its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to designate a responsible supervisory representative to assist the Contractor's Project 
Safety Officer Representative in the performance of his or her duties as aforesaid. 
 10.1.4. Should the Contractor fail to provide a safe area for the performance of the Work or any 
portion thereof, the Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to suspend Work in the unsafe 
area.  All costs of any nature (including, without limitation, overtime pay) resulting from the suspension, 
by whomsoever incurred, shall be borne by the Contractor. 
 10.1.5. The Contractor shall provide to each worker on the Job Site the proper safety equipment 
for the duties being performed by that worker and will not permit any worker on the Job Site who fails 
or refuses to use the same.  The Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to order the 
Contractor to send a worker home for the day or to discharge a worker for his or her failure to comply 
with safe practices or anti-substance abuse policies, with which order the Contractor shall promptly 
comply. 
 10.1.6.  Any failure of the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors or anyone directly 
or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be responsible, to comply 
with the provisions of Paragraph 10.1. shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, 
recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized 
by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all 
damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, 
without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, 
incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any 
such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right 
to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Contract have already been paid or if the 
sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 17 

hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner.  
The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities under this Paragraph 10.1. should the Owner 
act or fail to act pursuant to its rights hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby assume, nor be deemed 
to have assumed, any responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the Contractor by this Contract, or in 
any other manner whatsoever. 
 10.1.7 The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities under this Paragraph 10.1. should 
the Owner act or fail to act pursuant to its rights hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby assume, nor 
be deemed to have assumed, any responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the Contractor by this 
Contract, or in any other manner whatsoever. 
10.2.  PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY; RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS. 
 10.2.1. The Contractor shall, throughout the performance of the Work, maintain adequate and 
continuous protection of all Work and temporary facilities against loss or damage from whatever cause, 
shall protect the property of the Owner and third parties from loss or damage from whatever cause 
arising out of the performance of the Work and shall comply with the requirements of the Owner and 
its insurance carriers and with all applicable laws, codes, rules and regulations with respect to the 
prevention of loss or damage to property as a result of fire or other hazards.  The Owner may, but 
shall not be required to, make periodic patrols of the Job Site as a part of its normal security program.  
In such event, however, the Contractor shall not be relieved of its aforesaid responsibilities. 
 10.2.2. Until final acceptance of the Work by the Owner pursuant to Paragraph 9.4. (unless and 
to the extent otherwise set forth in a Certificate of Substantial Completion), the Contractor shall have 
full and complete charge and care of and, except as otherwise provided in this Subparagraph 10.2.2., 
shall bear all risk of loss of, and injury or damage to, the Work or any portion thereof (specifically 
including Owner-furnished supplies, equipment or other items to be utilized in connection with, or 
incorporated in, the Work) from any cause whatsoever.  The Contractor shall rebuild, repair, restore 
and make good all losses of, and injuries or damages to, the Work or any portion thereof (specifically 
including Owner-furnished supplies, equipment or other items to be utilized in connection with, or 
incorporated in, the Work) before final acceptance of the Work.  Such rebuilding, repair or restoration 
shall be at the Contractor's sole cost and expense unless the loss, injury or damage requiring such 
rebuilding, repair or restoration:  (a) is directly due to errors in the Contract Documents which were 
not discovered by the Contractor and which the Contractor could not have discovered through the 
exercise of due diligence; (b) is caused by the Owner (unless (i) the Contractor has waived its rights 
of subrogation against the Owner on account thereof as provided in the Contract Documents, or (ii) 
such loss or damage would be covered by any policy or policies of insurance which the Contractor is 
required to maintain hereunder, whether the Contractor actually maintains such insurance or not, or 
(iii) is otherwise covered by a policy or policies of insurance maintained by the Contractor, whether or 
not required hereunder); or (c) is caused by a hazard against which the Owner is required to insure 
under the provisions of Article 11 hereof; provided, however, that if the loss, injury or damage would 
not have occurred but for the negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any of its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of 
them may be liable, the rebuilding, repair or restoration shall be at the Contractor's cost and expense 
to the extent of the deductible on said insurance. 
10.3.  SURFACE OR SUBSURFACE WATER. Surface or subsurface water or other fluid shall not be 
permitted to accumulate in excavations or under structures.  Should such conditions develop or be 
encountered, the water or other fluid shall be controlled and suitably disposed of by means of 
temporary pumps, piping, drainage lines and ditches, dams or other methods approved by the Owner 
in writing.  The proposed location and coordination of temporary channels and conduits conducting 
accumulated water from the Job Site shall be submitted to the Owner for its prior written approval.  All 
such work shall be done at the sole expense of the Contractor. 
10.4.  EMERGENCIES.  In any emergency affecting the safety of persons or property, or in the event of 
a claimed violation of any federal or state safety or health law or regulation, arising out of or in any 
way connected with the Work or its performance, the Contractor shall act immediately to prevent 
threatened damage, injury or loss or to remedy said violation, whichever is applicable, failing which 
the Owner may immediately take whatever action it deems necessary, including, but not limited to, 
suspending the Work as provided in Paragraph 8.4.  Any failure by the Contractor to act or remedy a 
violation shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional 
wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the 
performance of the Work. The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, 
losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, 
lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure to act or remedy a violation, 
including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 18 

fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, 
any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the 
right to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Contract have already been paid or if the 
sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the Owner.  If 
the Contractor shall be entitled to any additional compensation or extension of time claimed on account 
of emergency work not due to the fault or neglect of the Contractor or its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, it shall be handled as a claim as provided in Article 13. 
10.5.  CLEANUP.  The Contractor shall at all times keep the Job Site clean and free from accumulation 
of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, hazardous waste), caused by his 
performance of the Work, and shall continuously throughout performance of the Work remove and 
dispose of all such materials from the Job Site and the Project.  The Owner may require the Contractor 
to comply with such standards, means and methods of cleanup, removal or disposal as the Owner may 
make known to the Contractor.  In the event the Contractor fails to keep the Job Site clean and free 
from such waste or rubbish, or to comply with such standards, means and methods, the Owner may 
take such action and offset any and all costs or expenses of whatever nature paid or incurred by the 
Owner in undertaking such action against any sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  The 
Contractor shall notify the Owner in advance of the generation, importation, storage, transportation or 
disposal, of any hazardous waste, toxic materials or contaminants of any type in connection with the 
Project. 
10.6.  OWNER'S STANDARDS.  The Owner reserves the right, but assumes no duty, to establish and 
enforce standards, and to change the same from time to time, for the protection of persons and 
property, with which the Contractor shall comply, and to review the efficiency of all protective measures 
taken by the Contractor.  The exercise of or failure to exercise any or all of these acts by the Owner 
shall not relieve the Contractor of its duties and responsibilities under this Contract, and the Owner 
shall not thereby assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any such duties or responsibilities of the 
Contractor. 

Article 11 
INSURANCE 

11.1.  COMMERCIAL INSURANCE/INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall at its expense procure and 
maintain during the life of this Agreement (and shall require the same from its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors) the following types and minimum amounts of insurance: 

11.1.1. Commercial General Liability Insurance including liability assumed under written contract, 
bodily injury, property damage, personal and advertising injury, and products/completed operations 
liability written on an occurrence basis with minimum combined single limits for bodily injury and 
property damage of $1,000,000 per occurrence. This coverage must be maintained for two (2) years 
after contract expiration;  

11.1.2. Automobile Liability coverage for all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles written on an 
occurrence basis, with minimum combined single limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;   

11.1.3. Workers’ Compensation Insurance providing statutory benefits and Employer’s Liability 
Insurance with minimum limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;  

11.1.4. Umbrella Liability on a follow-form basis providing coverage excess of the underlying 
policies required by 11.1.1., 11.1.2., and 11.1.3. above in an amount of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence; 

11.1.5. If Contractor is providing any kind of professional service or advice including design, 
architectural, surveying, legal, financial, accounting or similar then Contractor will also carry 
Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence.  This insurance may be on a claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that precedes 
the first date of work or services under this agreement and is maintained for at least two (2) years 
following the conclusion of work. 

11.1.6. If Contractor is using, transporting or disposing of any hazardous materials, potentially 
harmful materials, chemicals, waste or similar then Contractor will also carry Pollution Liability insurance 
with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  This insurance may be on a claims-made form if 
there is a retroactive date that precedes the first date of work or services under this agreement and is 
maintained for at least two (2) years following the conclusion of work. 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 19 

11.1.7. If work will include the use or operation of any crane, total limit of Umbrella liability 
insurance will be at least $4,000,000. 

11.1.8. If Contractor is using any kind of aircraft including unmanned aerial vehicles (drones) then 
use must be approved by Owner and liability insurance satisfactory to Owner must be obtained. 

11.1.9. Contractor is not required to commercially insure its owned, rented or borrowed machinery, 
tools, equipment, office trailers, vehicles, and other property but agrees that Owner is not responsible 
for and Contractor holds Owner harmless for loss, damage or theft of such items. 
11.2.  All insurance required under this Article shall be with companies and on forms authorized to 
issue insurance in Florida and with an insurer financial strength rating from AM Best of no less than A- 
or an equivalent rating from a similar, recognized ratings agency unless such requirements are waived, 
in writing, by the Owner’s Risk Manager.  Certificates of insurance (or copies of policies, if required by 
the Owner) shall be furnished to the Owner at vendors@oversightdistrict.org. 
11.3.  CANCELLATION.  All such insurance required by this Article shall provide that the coverage 
thereunder may not be reduced or canceled unless thirty (30) days unrestricted prior written notice 
thereof is furnished to Contractor, who agrees to promptly relay any such notice received to Owner.    
11.4.  ADDITIONAL INSUREDS.  Each liability policy required herein (except Workers’ Compensation or 
Professional Liability) shall schedule as Additional Insureds, on a primary and non-contributory basis, 
the Owner and its affiliated entities and their supervisors, officers, employees, agents and assigns.   
11.5. WAIVERS. The Contractor hereby waives, and will require its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to waive and to require its and their insurers to waive their rights of recovery or 
subrogation against the Owner and its affiliated entities, supervisors, officers, employees, agents and 
assigns.  
11.6. CLAIMS.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors shall assist and 
cooperate in every manner possible in connection with the adjustment of all claims arising out of the 
operations conducted under or in connection with the Work and shall cooperate with the insurance 
carrier or carriers of the Owner and of the Contractor, its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors in all 
litigated claims and demands which arise out of said operations and which the said insurance carrier 
or carriers are called upon to adjust or resist. 
11.7.  INDEMNIFICATION.  The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner and its 
appointed board supervisors, officers, employees, and volunteers from and against liabilities, damages, 
losses and costs including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees to the extent caused by the 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct (which includes, without limitation, any 
failure of the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors to perform and complete 
the Services in strict compliance with the Contract Documents, unless such failure has been specifically 
waived by the District in writing upon final acceptance of the Services) of the Contractor or any persons 
employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Agreement, including without 
limitation, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor (or their employees), utilized by the Contractor in 
the performance of the Services. The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement. 

Article 12 
CHANGES IN THE WORK 

12.1.  CHANGE ORDERS AND DIRECTIVES. The Owner may, without affecting the validity of the 
Contract Documents or any term or condition thereof, issue Change Orders, or Directives, or give other 
orders and instructions regarding the Work which may have the effect of ordering extra work or other 
changes in the Work by altering, adding to or deducting from the Work, modifying the method or 
manner of its performance or otherwise (herein sometimes referred to as "Changes in the Work").  The 
Contractor shall comply with all such orders and instructions issued by the Owner.  In any such event, 
the Contract Sum shall, where applicable, be increased or decreased in the manner hereinafter set 
forth; provided, however, that if the Contractor should proceed with a Change in the Work upon an 
oral order, by whomsoever given, it shall constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for an 
increase in the Contract Sum or extension of the Contract Time on account thereof.  Upon receipt of 
any such Change Order, or Directive or other order or instructions, the Contractor shall promptly 
proceed with the Change in the Work, even though the amount of any resultant increase or decrease 
in the Contract Sum has not yet been determined.  All Changes in the Work shall be performed in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 
12.2.  CHANGES REQUIRING AN INCREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result 
in an increase in the Contract Sum, the Owner shall have the right to require the performance thereof 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 20 

on a lump sum basis, a unit price basis or a time and material basis, all as hereinafter more particularly 
described. 
 12.2.1. If the Owner elects to have any Change in the Work performed on a lump sum basis, its 
election shall be based on a lump sum proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor to the 
Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but the Owner's 
request for a lump sum proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner to have the Change in 
the Work performed on a lump sum basis).  The Contractor's proposal shall be itemized and segregated 
by labor and materials for the various components of the Change in the Work (no aggregate labor total 
will be acceptable) and shall be accompanied by signed proposals of any Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors who will perform any portion of the Change in the Work and of any persons who will 
furnish materials or equipment for incorporation therein. The portion of the proposal relating to labor, 
whether by the Contractor's forces or those of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may only 
include reasonably anticipated gross wages of Job Site labor, including foremen, who will be directly 
involved in the Change in the Work (for such time as they will be involved), plus payroll costs (including 
Social Security, federal or state unemployment insurance taxes and fringe benefits in connection with 
such labor required by union and/or trade agreements if applicable) and up to fifteen percent (15%) 
of such anticipated gross wages, but not payroll costs, as overhead and profit for any such entity 
actually performing the Change in the Work or a portion thereof.  The portion of the proposal relating 
to materials may only include the reasonably anticipated direct costs to the Contractor, its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors (as applicable) of materials to be purchased for incorporation in 
the Change in the Work, plus transportation and applicable sales or use taxes, and up to fifteen percent 
(15%) of said direct material costs as overhead and profit for the entity actually supplying the materials. 
The proposal may further include the Contractor's or its Subcontractor's or Sub-subcontractor's 
reasonably anticipated direct rental costs in connection with the Change in the Work (either actual 
rates or discounted local published rates), plus up to six percent (6%) thereof as overhead and profit 
for the entity actually incurring such costs.  If any of the items included in the lump sum proposal are 
covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, the Owner may elect to use these unit 
prices in lieu of the similar items included in the lump sum proposal, in which event an appropriate 
deduction will be made in the lump sum amount prior to the application of any allowed overhead and 
profit percentages.  No overhead and profit shall be applied to any unit prices.  The lump sum proposal 
may only include up to six percent (6%) of the amount which the Contractor will pay to any 
Subcontractor, and up to six percent (6%) of the amount which a Subcontractor will pay to any Sub-
subcontractor, for the Change in the Work as overhead and profit to the Contractor or Subcontractor 
(only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may be included). 
 12.2.2. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a unit price basis, its 
election shall be based on a unit price proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor to the 
Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but the Owner's 
request for a unit price proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner to have the Change in 
the Work performed on a unit price basis).  The Contractor's proposal shall itemize the quantities of 
each item of the Change in the Work for which there is an applicable unit price contained in the Contract 
Documents.  The quantities shall be itemized in relation to each specific Drawing.  Unit prices shall be 
applied to net differences of quantities of the same item.  Nothing herein contained shall preclude the 
Owner from requesting a lump sum proposal and a unit price proposal with respect to the same Change 
in the Work, in which event the Contractor shall submit both. 
 12.2.3. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a time and material 
basis, the same shall be performed, whether by the Contractor's forces or the forces of any of its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, at actual cost to the entity performing the Change in the Work 
(without any charge for  administration, clerical expense, supervision or superintendents of any nature 
whatsoever, except foremen directly involved in the Change in the Work, or the cost, use or rental of 
small tools, defined as tools with a cost or value of less than $1,000, or equipment owned by the 
Contractor or any of its related or affiliated companies), plus fifteen percent (15%) of gross wages 
(excluding payroll costs) of Job Site labor and direct material costs and six percent (6%) of rental costs 
(other than small tools or equipment owned by the Contractor or any of its related or affiliated 
companies) as the total overhead and profit.  Only the entity actually performing the Change in the 
Work or a portion thereof shall be entitled to a mark-up as aforesaid for overhead and profit, but the 
Contractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any Subcontractor, and a 
Subcontractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any Sub-subcontractor 
(only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may be included), for the Change in the 
Work as overhead and profit to the Contractor or Subcontractor.  The Contractor shall submit to the 
Owner daily time and material tickets, to include the identification number assigned to the Change in 
the Work, the location and description of the Change in the Work, the classification, names and social 
security numbers of the labor employed, the materials used, the equipment rented (not tools) and such 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 21 

other evidence of costs as the Owner may require.  The Owner may require authentication of all time 
and material tickets and invoices by persons designated by the Owner for such purpose.  The failure 
of the Contractor to secure any required authentication shall, if the Owner elects to treat it as such, 
constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for the cost of that portion of the Change in the 
Work covered by a non-authenticated ticket or invoice; provided, however, that the authentication of 
any such ticket or invoice by the Owner shall not constitute an acknowledgment by the Owner that the 
items thereon were reasonably required for the Change in the Work. 
 12.2.4. The Owner shall have no obligation or liability on account of a Change in the Work except 
as specifically provided in this Paragraph 12.2.  If the Contractor fails to render any proposal within ten 
(10) days after the date of the Owner's request pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. or such longer period 
of time established by the Owner in its request, the Owner may issue a unilateral Change Order for 
any such Change in the Work giving the Owner's reasonable estimate of the cost of the Change, which 
shall become automatically binding upon the Contractor.  Overhead and profit, as allowed under this 
Paragraph 12.2., shall be deemed to cover all costs and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including, 
without limitation, those for clean-up, protection, supervision, estimating, field operations, insurance, 
impacts, inefficiency, extended (Job Site and home office) overhead, unabsorbed (Job Site and home 
office) overhead, delays, acceleration (actual or constructive), ripple effect, small tools and security, 
which the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors may incur in the performance 
of or in connection with a Change in the Work and which are not otherwise specifically recoverable by 
them pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. 
 12.2.5. The Work pursuant to this Contract shall be performed by the Contractor at no extra cost 
to the Owner despite any order from the Owner which designates or contemplates a portion of the 
Work as a Change in the Work. 
12.3. CHANGES REQUIRING A DECREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result 
in a decrease in the Contract Sum, the Owner may request a quotation by the Contractor of the amount 
of such decrease for use in preparing a Change Order.  The Contractor's quotation shall be forwarded 
to the Owner within ten (10) days after the date of the Owner's request or such longer period of time 
established by the Owner therein and, if acceptable to the Owner, shall be incorporated in the Change 
Order.  If not acceptable, the parties shall make every reasonable effort to agree as to the amount of 
such decrease, which may be based on a lump sum properly itemized, on unit prices stated in the 
Contract Documents and/or on such other basis as the parties may mutually determine.  If the parties 
are unable to agree, the amount of such decrease shall be the total of the estimated reduction in actual 
cost of the Work, as determined by the Owner's Representative in its reasonable judgment.  If the 
Contractor fails to render any proposal within the time required herein, the Owner may issue a unilateral 
deductive Change Order giving the Owner's reasonable estimate of the deductive Change, which shall 
become automatically binding upon the Contractor. 
12.4. DISPUTES REGARDING CHANGES.  If any dispute should arise between the parties with respect 
to an increase or decrease in the Contract Sum as a result of a Change in the Work, the Contractor 
shall not suspend performance of any such Change in the Work or the Work itself unless otherwise 
ordered by the Owner in writing.  The Owner may, however, notify the Contractor of its determination 
regarding any such Change and, in the case of an increase, may thereafter pay to the Contractor up 
to 50% of the Owner's reasonable estimate of the value of the Change in the Work as its sole obligation 
with respect to any such Change pending resolution of the dispute.  The Contractor shall thereafter be 
subject to the terms of Paragraph 13.2. regarding its claim for any difference. 
12.5. AUDIT RIGHTS. The Contractor shall afford, and shall cause its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to afford, access to the Owner at all reasonable times to any accounting books and 
records, correspondence, instructions, invoices, receipts, vouchers, memoranda and other records of 
any kind relating to the Work, all of which each of them shall maintain for a period of at least four (4) 
years from and after the Date of Substantial Completion.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and 
Sub-subcontractors shall make the same available for inspection, copying and audit, in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting standards, within three (3) days following notification to the Contractor 
of the Owner's intent to audit, failing which any claims for an increase in the Contract Sum and/or 
extension of the Contract Time, as applicable, shall be waived.

Article 13 
CLAIMS 

13.1. CLAIMS FOR EXTENSIONS OF CONTRACT TIME.  No claim by the Contractor for an extension of 
the Contract Time or any Milestones shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 
13.1.  The Contractor shall not be entitled to any extension of the Contract Time or any Milestones as 
a result of any condition or cause, unless it shall have given written notice to the Owner pursuant to 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 22 

Paragraph 16.3. promptly, but in any event within fourteen (14) days following the commencement of 
each such condition or cause and stating the probable duration of the condition or cause and the 
Contractor’s request for an extension of time.  The Contractor shall deliver to the Owner, within thirty 
(30) days after the commencement of each condition or cause for which the Contractor has submitted 
a request for extension of time, supporting data to substantiate and justify the Contractor’s request, 
including, without limitation, an analysis showing the actual impact of the condition or cause on the 
Schedule and the critical path of construction activities, plus any other documentation or information 
as may be requested by the Owner or as may be necessary to substantiate the Contractor’s request.  
The Contractor hereby waives any claims for any such extensions not timely made or timely 
substantiated in accordance herewith.  If the Contractor timely makes any such claim and the parties 
are unable to agree as to whether or not the Contractor is entitled to an extension of time or the length 
of such extension regarding such claim, the Owner's Representative may, but shall not be required to, 
ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and determine and fix an extension of the time for 
completing the Work. 
13.2.  CLAIMS FOR INCREASES IN CONTRACT SUM. 
 13.2.1. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 12.2., no claim by the Contractor for an increase 
in the Contract Sum shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 13.2.  The 
Contractor shall give the Owner written notice pursuant to Paragraph 16.3. of any such claim promptly, 
but in any event not later than fourteen (14) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the 
claim (including, without limitation, any Owner determination pursuant to Article 12.4.), but (except in 
the event of emergencies pursuant to Paragraph 10.4.) prior to the incurring of any expenses by the 
Contractor.  Failure to give such notice, or to provide substantiation thereof as required below, shall 
constitute a waiver of the claim including, but not limited to, any and all damages, cost, impacts, 
inefficiency, extended overhead, unabsorbed overhead, ripple effect, or expenses of any nature 
whatsoever which the Contractor, or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may suffer or incur.  
Claims shall be made in writing and shall identify the instructions or other circumstances that are the 
basis of the claim and shall set forth the Contractor's best estimate of the dollar amount claimed.  
Within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim, the Contractor shall 
fix the amount of its claim with specificity and shall provide to the Owner supporting data to 
substantiate and justify the Contractor’s claim, including, without limitation, substantiation of all costs 
plus any other documentation or information as may be requested by the Owner or as may be necessary 
to substantiate the Contractor’s claim.  No claim shall be considered by the Owner if the Contractor has 
otherwise waived its rights to file a claim pursuant to the Contract Documents. 
13.3. NO OTHER CLAIMS.  The parties acknowledge that the provisions of Paragraphs 13.1. and 13.2. 
are included herein for the purpose of fixing and limiting the time within which, and the manner in 
which claims must be made; and that Paragraphs 13.1. and 13.2. do not grant to the Contractor any 
right to increases in the Contract Sum, or extensions in the Contract Time or any Milestones, not 
otherwise permitted or provided by the other terms and provisions of the Contract Documents. 

Article 14 
UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK; 

OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK 
14.1. UNCOVERING OF WORK. 
 14.1.1. If any portion of the Work should be covered contrary to the instructions or request of the 
Owner or the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall, if required by the Owner, 
uncover such portion of the Work for the Owner's observation and shall replace such Work all at the 
Contractor's expense. 
 14.1.2. If any portion of the Work should be covered prior to a specific request for observation or 
instruction by the Owner, the Owner may request to see such Work, and it shall be uncovered by the 
Contractor.  If such Work is found to be in accordance with the Contract Documents and without defect, 
the cost of uncovering and replacement shall, by appropriate Change Order, be charged to the Owner.  
If such Work is found to be defective or not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contractor 
shall bear such costs; provided, however, that if it is found that the condition was caused by a Separate 
Contractor employed as provided in Article 7, the Contractor shall have the right to seek reimbursement 
of the costs it incurs as aforesaid from said Separate Contractor.
14.2.  CORRECTION OF WORK. 
 14.2.1. The Owner shall have the authority to reject any portion of the Work which is defective or 
does not conform to the Contract Documents, and the Contractor shall promptly correct all Work  
rejected by the Owner, whether observed before or after the Date of Substantial Completion and 
whether or not fabricated, installed or completed.  In order that such corrective Work shall not interrupt 
or delay the Owner's schedule for completion of the Project or, if applicable, disturb the occupants of 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 23 

the completed Project, the Contractor shall perform such Work according to a schedule therefor 
established by the Owner (which may provide that the same be performed on overtime, shiftwork, 
Saturdays, Sundays and/or holidays), utilizing in the performance thereof such manpower as is 
necessary to complete the corrective Work in accordance with said schedule.  The Contractor shall bear 
all costs of correcting such rejected Work including, without limitation, compensation for any additional 
architectural and engineering services made necessary thereby. 
 14.2.2. If, within one (1) year after the Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (as determined 
by the Owner) or within such longer period of time as may be prescribed by law or by the terms of any 
applicable warranty or guarantee required by the Contract Documents, any of the Work is found to be 
defective or not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall correct it promptly 
after receipt of written instructions to that effect from the Owner unless the Owner has previously 
given the Contractor a written acceptance of such condition. 
 14.2.3. The Contractor shall remove from the Job Site all Work which is defective or non-
conforming and not corrected under Paragraph 5.4. or Subparagraphs 14.2.1. or 14.2.2. unless removal 
is waived by the Owner. 
 14.2.4. The Contractor shall bear the cost of making good all work of Separate Contractors (and 
any of the Owner's other structures or facilities) destroyed or damaged by such removal or correction. 
 14.2.5. If the Contractor does not remove such uncorrected defective or non-conforming Work 
within a reasonable time fixed by written instructions to that effect from the Owner, the Owner may 
remove it and store the materials and equipment at the expense of the Contractor.  If the Contractor 
does not pay the cost of such removal and storage within ten (10) days thereafter, the Owner may, 
upon ten (10) additional days written notification to the Contractor, sell such materials and equipment 
at public or private sale and account to the Contractor for the net proceeds thereof, after deducting all 
the costs that should have been borne by the Contractor, including compensation for any additional 
architectural and engineering services and attorneys' fees made necessary thereby.  If such proceeds 
of sale do not cover all costs which the Contractor should have borne, the difference shall be offset 
against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due 
to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such difference, the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay 
the same to the Owner.  The obligations of the Contractor under this Subparagraph 14.2.5. shall be in 
addition to, and not in limitation of, any obligations imposed on it by law, by any other provision of this 
Contract or by any warranty or guarantee under this Contract. 
 14.2.6. If the Contractor fails to correct any defective or non-conforming Work, the Owner may 
correct it in accordance with Paragraph 14.3.  In the event of a defect found after final acceptance of 
the Work by the Owner which the Contractor is obligated to correct pursuant to Subparagraph 14.2.2., 
the Owner may, at its option, after giving the Contractor an opportunity to correct such defect, cause 
such corrective Work to be performed by others and charge the Contractor with the cost thereof.  Such 
charge shall be due and payable by the Contractor upon demand. 
14.3.  OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK.   If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or fails to perform any provision of this Contract, and 
such default, neglect or non-performance shall continue for a period of 48 hours after written 
notification thereof from the Owner (or if such default, neglect or non-performance cannot be 
reasonably remedied within such 48-hour period, and Contractor does not (in the sole determination 
of Owner) undertake in good faith the remedy of the same within said period and thereafter proceed 
diligently to completion), then the Owner may, without prejudice to any other remedy the Owner may 
have, make good such deficiencies; provided, however, that in the event of an emergency, as 
determined by the Owner, no notification shall be required.  The Owner shall have the right to take 
possession of such portion of the Job Site as will enable it to make good such deficiencies and, in 
connection therewith, to utilize the materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery 
of the Contractor located on the Job Site.  If the Owner makes good any such deficiencies, the costs 
of correcting the same including, without limitation, compensation for additional architectural and 
engineering services made necessary by such default, neglect or non-performance, shall be offset 
against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due 
to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such costs, then the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay 
the difference to the Owner.
14.4.  ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE OR NON-CONFORMING WORK.   If the Owner prefers to accept 
defective or non-conforming Work, it may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in 
which case an appropriate amount shall be offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor; or, if the said appropriate amount of offset is determined after final payment (or if there is 
not then or thereafter due to the Contractor an amount sufficient to cover the offset available to the 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 24 

Owner), the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay the appropriate amount (or the difference after offset, 
as applicable) to the Owner. 

Article 15 
TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 

 
15.1.  TERMINATION BY CONTRACTOR. If the Owner should, without notifying the Contractor of its 
cause for doing so, fail or refuse to approve an Application for Payment or make payment thereon for 
a period of thirty (30) days after the same is required to be approved or paid pursuant to the Contract 
Documents, then the Contractor shall have the right, as its sole and exclusive remedy and upon 
fourteen (14) days prior written notice to the Owner, to terminate this Contract and recover from the 
Owner payment for all unpaid Work executed up to the date of termination, including any proven loss 
of reasonable profits sustained, based upon the percentage of Work completed through the date of 
termination.  If the Owner shall cure its said default within such fourteen (14) day period, then the 
Contractor's notice of termination shall thereby be rendered ineffective, and this Contract shall continue 
in full force and effect.  Prior to termination as aforesaid, the Contractor shall not delay or suspend the 
Work in whole or in part.  The Contractor may not terminate this Contract on the grounds that the 
cause given by the Owner for failing or refusing to pay is not in accordance with fact or law, it being 
understood and agreed that the Contractor's sole remedy in such event shall be to seek money 
damages.  The Contractor acknowledges that it can be adequately compensated by such money 
damages for any breach of this Contract which may be committed by the Owner.  Accordingly, and 
except as hereinabove provided, the Contractor expressly agrees that no default, act or omission of 
the Owner shall entitle the Contractor to cancel or rescind this Contract or suspend or abandon its 
performance of the Work. 
15.2. TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CAUSE. 
 15.2.1. If the Contractor should become insolvent, file any bankruptcy proceedings, make a 
general assignment for the benefit of creditors, suffer or allow appointment of a receiver, refuse, fail 
or be unable to make prompt payment to Subcontractors, disregard applicable laws, ordinances, 
governmental orders or regulations or the instructions of the Owner, or if the Contractor should 
otherwise be guilty of a violation of, or in default under, any provision of the Contract, then the Owner 
may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy available to the Owner and after giving the 
Contractor and its surety, if any, three (3) days written notice, terminate the Contract and the 
employment of the Contractor on the Project, take possession of the Job Site and of all materials, 
equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor and finish 
the Work by whatever method the Owner may deem expedient.  In addition, without terminating this 
Contract as a whole, the Owner may, under any of the circumstances set forth above, terminate any 
portion of this Contract (by reducing, in such manner the Owner deems appropriate, the scope of the 
Work to be performed by the Contractor) and complete the portion of this Contract so terminated in 
such manner as the Owner may deem expedient, taking possession of such part of the Job Site and 
utilizing such materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery owned by the 
Contractor as may be necessary to accomplish the same.  The Contractor hereby grants to the Owner 
the further right:  (a) to enter upon any premises or property other than the Job Site in order to take 
possession of any materials, tools, equipment, machinery or other items intended for incorporation in 
the Work (or any portion thereof) or for use in the performance thereof; and  (b) to receive an 
assignment of such subcontracts as the Owner deems necessary or desirable at the time of termination 
of this Contract or a portion thereof. 
 15.2.2. If this Contract is terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., the Contractor shall not 
be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed, and the Owner shall have the 
same right to retain monies owing to the Contractor as it would have to retain such monies from and 
against final payments.  Upon the completion of the Work, the Owner shall make payment to the 
Contractor, or the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner, as the case may be, as provided in Article 10 
of the Agreement.  If a portion of this Contract is terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., such 
termination shall not be treated as a reduction in the scope of the Work pursuant to Article 12.  Rather, 
in such event, the Owner shall offset against any monies then or thereafter due to the Contractor an 
amount determined by the Owner to be adequate to cover all costs and expenses it will incur in 
performing, or causing to be performed, the portion of this Contract so terminated.  If the Owner's 
cost and expenses prove to be less than the amount offset, the Contractor shall be entitled to the 
difference unless otherwise provided herein.  If the amount then or thereafter due to the Contractor is 
less than the amount to be offset and/or if the Owner's costs and expenses prove to exceed the amount 
offset, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner upon demand.



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 25 

 15.2.3. The remedies provided to the Owner in this Paragraph 15.2. are in addition to, and not in 
lieu of, any other rights or remedies available to the Owner under the Contract Documents, at law or 
in equity.  In the event of any breach of this Contract by the Contractor, and whether or not this 
Contract is terminated by the Owner, the Contractor shall be liable for all damages, losses, costs and 
expenses incurred by the Owner as a result thereof. 
15.3. TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE. Without limitation to the provisions of Paragraph 
15.2., the Owner shall have the right at any time, upon not less than three (3) days notice to the 
Contractor to terminate this Contract without cause and/or for the Owner's convenience.  Upon receipt 
of such notice of termination, the Contractor shall forthwith discontinue the Work and remove its 
equipment and employees from the Job Site.  In the event of termination under this Paragraph 15.3., 
the Contractor shall have the right, as its sole and exclusive remedy, to recover from the Owner 
payment for all unpaid Work executed up to the date of termination, including any proven loss of 
reasonable profits sustained based upon the percentage of Work completed through the date of 
termination.  In addition, without terminating this Contract as a whole, the Owner may, for its 
convenience, terminate a portion of this Contract (by reducing, in such manner as the Owner deems 
appropriate, the scope of the Work to be performed by the Contractor), in which event such termination 
of a portion of this Contract shall be treated as a reduction in the scope of the Work pursuant to 
Article 12. 

Article 16 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
16.1.  GOVERNING LAW. This Contract shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the 
laws of the State of Florida, to the exclusion of Florida rules of conflicts of laws. 
16.2.  ASSIGNABILITY; SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. 
 16.2.1. This Contract may be assigned by Owner at any time without Contractor's consent; without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, all warranties and guarantees in favor of Owner under the 
Contract Documents may be assigned without Contractor's consent by Owner to any party designated 
by Owner and such assignee may directly enforce any such warranty or guarantee.  The Contractor 
shall not assign this Contract in whole or in part without the written consent of the Owner, which 
consent the Owner may withhold in its sole discretion; nor shall this Contract be assignable by the 
Contractor by operation of law.  The Contractor shall not assign any monies due or to become due to 
it hereunder without the prior written consent of the Owner. 
 16.2.2. The Owner and the Contractor each binds itself and, to the extent permitted herein, its 
successors and assigns, to the other party and, to the extent permitted herein, the other party's 
successors and assigns, in respect to all covenants, agreements and obligations contained in the 
Contract Documents. 
16.3.  NOTICE.  All notices (whether or not designated as such herein) which are required under this 
Contract to be given between the parties pursuant to this paragraph shall be in writing and deemed 
given and, unless otherwise provided herein, effective when delivered personally to an officer of the 
party to be served (including the Contractor's Project Manager, in the case of the Contractor), when 
deposited in the United States mail, or in a sealed envelope, with postage thereon prepaid, sent by 
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to the appropriate party at the 
address set forth in the Agreement or such other address as may be designated by either party hereto 
by notice to the other, or when transmitted by wire or facsimile to the appropriate party at the aforesaid 
address (a complimentary confirming letter shall also be mailed to the appropriate party on the same 
date). 
16.4.  PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS. Unless waived or otherwise agreed by the Owner, the 
Contractor shall furnish (and if directed by the Owner shall require all or certain of its Subcontractors 
to furnish) a bond covering the faithful performance of this Contract (or any such subcontract), as 
revised or modified from time to time, and a bond covering the payment of all obligations arising 
thereunder in full compliance with the then current provisions of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes (or 
any successor thereto; or, if applicable, Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, or any successor thereto), 
each in the full Contract Sum, as revised or Modified from time to time, and with such sureties as may 
be approved by the Owner.  Each bond shall contain the following language:  "The provisions and 
limitations of Section 255.05 or of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes, whichever is applicable to the 
Contract, are incorporated herein by reference, provided, however, that in the event of any conflict 
between the provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 and those contained in this bond, the 
provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 shall govern."  If such bonds, or either of them, 
are stipulated in the bidding documents or in the Contract Documents, the premium therefor shall be 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 26 

paid by the Contractor (or appropriate Subcontractors); but if required or increased in amount pursuant 
hereto subsequent to award of the Contract or due to Changes in the Work, the premium therefor shall 
be reimbursed by the Owner.  The Contractor shall deliver promptly, and in any event no later than 
ten (10) days after notice of award, to the Owner any required bonds or amendments thereto.  The 
Contractor's failure to timely obtain and deliver the required bonds or amendments thereto shall 
constitute cause for the Owner to terminate this Contract (or for the Contractor to terminate any 
subcontract).  The Owner shall not be obligated to respond to, and the Contractor shall assure that the 
Owner is not sent, any job status inquiries from the Contractor, any surety, or any of their accountants 
or independent auditors. 
16.5.  MAINTENANCE OF HARMONIOUS RELATIONS.  The Contractor is hereby advised that any portion 
of the Project, or other projects in proximity to the Project may be subject to, and governed by, certain 
union or trade agreements.  It is the policy of the Owner to promote and maintain harmonious 
relationships in connection with the Project.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors shall follow this policy; and shall utilize only qualified persons or organizations in the 
performance of the Work.  A qualified person or organization is one:  which is not likely to promote 
labor unrest on the Project; which shall abide by all local, state and federal labor and employment 
relation rules, regulations and laws; whose financial stability is reasonably assured throughout the 
duration of the Contract; and whose commitments to other projects are not likely to interfere with its 
ability to perform its portion of the Work efficiently and cost effectively.  The Owner reserves the right 
to disapprove, or to require the removal of, any person or organization who is being considered for, or 
has received, an award to perform all or a portion of the Work but has failed to demonstrate the 
willingness or ability to follow this policy. 
16.6.  UNION AGREEMENTS.  Regardless of the expiration of any collective bargaining agreement during 
the term of this Contract which may affect the Contractor in any of its activities including, without 
limitation, with respect to the Work or the Project, the Contractor is obligated to man the job and 
properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent manner.  Upon notification of expected or actual 
labor disputes or job disruption arising out of any such collective bargaining negotiations, the expiration 
of any union or trade agreement or any other cause, the Contractor and its Subcontractors and 
Sub-subcontractors shall cooperate with the Owner concerning any legal, practical or contractual 
actions to be taken by the Owner in response thereto and shall perform any actions requested by the 
Owner to eliminate, neutralize or mitigate the effects of such actions on the progress of the Work and 
the impact of such actions on the public access to the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District or any 
of the properties or facilities located therein, irrespective of whether such properties are owned by the 
Owner or by a third party.  It is the Contractor's obligation, at the Contractor's own cost and expense, 
to take all steps available to prevent any persons performing the work from engaging in any disruptive 
activities such as strikes, picketing, slowdowns, job actions or work stoppages of any nature or ceasing 
to work due to picketing or other such activities, which steps shall include, without limitation, execution 
of an appropriate project agreement with appropriate unions prohibiting all such activities on or about 
the Project.  Notwithstanding any such occurrences, the Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligation 
to man the job and properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent manner. 
16.7.  USE OF OWNER'S NAME/CONFIDENTIALITY.  Neither the Contractor nor its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, by virtue of this Contract, shall acquire any right to use, and they shall not use, 
the name of the Owner, the Owner’s Representative (either alone or in conjunction with or as a part 
of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or designs of either of them or any 
of its related, affiliated or subsidiary companies: in any of their advertising, publicity or promotion; to 
express or imply any endorsement of their respective Work or services; or in any other manner 
whatsoever (whether or not similar to the foregoing uses hereinabove specifically prohibited).  The 
Contractor may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to, and acquire 
knowledge of or from, material, data, strategies, systems or other information relating to the Work, 
the Project, the Owner, the Owner’s Representative, its parent, affiliated, or related companies, which 
may not be accessible or known to the general public.  Any such knowledge acquired by the Contractor 
shall be kept confidential and shall not be used, published or divulged by the Contractor to any other 
person, firm or corporation, or in any advertising or promotion regarding the Contractor or its Work or 
services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first having obtained the written 
permission of the Owner, which permission the Owner may withhold in its sole discretion. The 
Contractor shall not be allowed to undertake or allow any photography on or about the Job Site or the 
Project absent written permission of the Owner, which permission the Owner may withhold in its sole 
discretion.  In the event of a breach by Contractor of its obligations under this Paragraph 16.7., Owner 
shall be entitled to an injunction restraining Contractor from disclosing or divulging in whole or in part 
any confidential information.  Further, any failure by Contractor to comply with this Paragraph 16.7. 
shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful 



EXHIBIT G 
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION – OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO.: C006965 
 

G - 27 

misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance 
of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or 
expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions 
pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  The Provisions of this 
Paragraph shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of the Contract. 
16.8.  GENERAL. 
 16.8.1. The captions of divisions, sections, articles, paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and the 
like in the Contract Documents are for convenience only and shall in no way define the content or limit 
the meaning or construction of the wording of the divisions, sections, articles, paragraphs, 
subparagraphs, clauses and the like.  The parties agree that the Contract Documents shall not be 
construed more strictly against any party regardless of the identity of their drafter. 
 16.8.2. Unless otherwise specified, article, paragraph and subparagraph references appearing in 
these General Conditions are to articles, paragraphs and subparagraphs herein. 
 16.8.3. Wherever this Contract obligates the Contractor hereunder to reimburse the Owner or 
others for attorneys' fees, such obligation shall not only include attorneys' fees incurred prior to and 
including litigation in the trial court, but also all attorneys' fees incurred in connection with any and all 
appellate proceedings, no matter to which court any appeal is taken and by whomever so taken. 
 16.8.4. Wherever this Contract obligates the Contractor to "indemnify" the Owner, such obligations 
shall include, but shall not be limited by, the following: (i) the Contractor shall indemnify the Owner 
and its supervisors, administrators, officers, directors, agents, employees, agents, successors and 
assigns and Owner's Representative, and its parent, related, affiliated and subsidiary companies and 
the officers, directors, agents, employees and assigns of each; (ii) the Contractor shall defend (if 
requested by the Owner) and hold each indemnitee harmless; (iii) in the event of any such requested 
defense, the Owner may choose its legal counsel, control the litigation including, without limitation, 
determining legal strategy, settlement strategy and whether or not to file any appeals; (iv) the 
Contractor shall not raise as a defense to its obligation to indemnify any comparative or contributing 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of any of those indemnified pursuant to 
any such provision, it being understood and agreed that no such comparative or contributing 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct shall relieve the Contractor from its liability 
to indemnify nor entitle the Contractor to any contribution, either directly or indirectly, by those 
indemnified; (v) no indemnification obligation hereunder shall be limited in any way to any limit on the 
amount or type of damage, compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or any 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor under any Worker's Compensation Act, disability benefit acts or 
other employee benefit acts; and (vi) all such indemnity provisions shall survive the expiration or sooner 
termination of this Contract.  
 16.8.5. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, the Owner may withhold any consents, 
approvals or waivers required of it pursuant to the Contract in its sole discretion. 
16.9. IMMIGRATION REFORM CONTROL ACT. All Contractors, Subcontractors, and Sub-subcontractors 
must adhere to the Immigration Reform Control Act of 1986 and shall maintain I-9 forms regarding all 
employees.  It is not the Owner's obligation to ensure compliance with this law, however, the Owner 
reserves the right to inspect and copy the Contractor's records in this regard upon request. 
16.10.  ADJACENT LAND AND LANDOWNERS.  To the extent the Work requires the Contractor to enter 
upon land owned by others than the Owner, or the Contractor is permitted to enter upon such land, 
then the Contractor shall, prior to entry, satisfy itself as to all conditions present upon such land and 
shall take all necessary precautions to protect all persons and property from injury or damage as a 
result of the Contractor’s entry upon such land and shall promptly repair any damage to the land and 
any property located thereon.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the owner(s) 
of such land from and against any and all claims, suits, judgments, damages, losses and expenses 
(including attorneys' fees) of any nature whatsoever to the extent caused by or arising out of the 
Contractor’s entry upon such land.  Nothing contained herein shall create any contractual relationship 
between the Contractor and the owner(s) of such land; however, it is acknowledged that the owner(s) 
of such land are intended third party beneficiaries of the obligations of the Contractor hereunder. 

<<END OF GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION>> 
 

 
END OF EXHIBIT G 



Exhibit H 
FORMS 

CONTRACT NO. C006965 
 

 

   
 

H - 1 

THIS EXHIBIT CONTAINS THE FOLLOWING: 

 
 Payment Bond 

 Performance Bond 

 Dual Obligee Rider 

 Consent of Surety for Partial Payment Application (SAMPLE) 

 Contractor’s Interim Affidavit (SAMPLE) 

 Contractor’s Request for Information (SAMPLE) 

 Directive (SAMPLE) 

 Close-Out Change Order Forms (SAMPLE) 

 

 
 
 
 



 

   
 

H - 2 

 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

PAYMENT BOND 
 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC. 
5316 E. Henry Avenue 
Tampa, Florida 33610 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  February 27, 2026 
Contract No.  C006965 
Project:  Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement   
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: Refer to Attachment A for project location. 
 
Contract Sum:  FIVE MILLION, FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN THOUSAND, EIGHT HUNDRED AND ZERO ONE-
HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($5,411,800.00) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  February 27, 2026 
Amount: FIVE MILLION, FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN THOUSAND, EIGHT HUNDRED AND ZERO ONE-
HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($5,411,800.00) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, to pay for labor, material, 
services, utilities, equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida 
Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, including, but 
not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which 
are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor promptly makes full payment to all Claimants, as hereinafter defined, for all labor, 

material, services, utilities and equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 
713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, 
including, but not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, 
and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, losses and expenses 
which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and fully reimburses and 
pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur in remedying any 
such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 



 

H - 3 

3. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 
may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, from  their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
4. The Surety and the Contractor further agree that this bond shall inure to the benefit of, and may be 

sued directly upon by, any Claimant furnishing labor, materials, services, utilities or equipment or any 
other item for which a construction lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this 
Project. 

 
5. “Claimant” shall mean for purposes hereof all persons, firms, partnerships, corporations or other entities 

that would be entitled to claim a construction lien if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project. 
 
6. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
7. The sum of this Payment Bond is in addition to the sum of the Performance Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.   
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:  
Print Name:  Print Name:  

Title:   Title:   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



H - 4

Attachment A – Project Location



 

   
 

H - 5 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC. 
5316 E. Henry Avenue 
Tampa, Florida 33610 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  February 27, 2026 
Contract No.  C006965 
Project:  Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement   
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: Refer to Attachment A for project location. 
 
Contract Sum: FIVE MILLION, FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN THOUSAND, EIGHT HUNDRED AND ZERO ONE-
HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($5,411,800.00) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  February 27, 2026 
Amount: FIVE MILLION, FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN THOUSAND, EIGHT HUNDRED AND ZERO ONE-
HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($5,411,800.00) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, for the performance of 
the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions, agreements, 
extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which are 
incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor fully performs the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, 

terms, conditions, agreements, extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and 
warranties thereof, and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, 
losses and expenses which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and 
fully reimburses and pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur 
in remedying any such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force 
and effect. 

 
3. The Surety further agrees that whenever the Contractor shall be, and is declared by Owner to be, in 

default under or in breach of the Contract (which shall include without limitation any breach by the 
Contractor of any of the provisions of the Contract) the Surety shall promptly remedy the default or 
breach and undertake to perform and complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and 



 

H - 6 

conditions.  The Surety’s obligations include, but are not limited to, (i) the responsibilities of the 
Contractor for correction of defective work, completion of the Contract and fulfillment of warranty 
obligations, (ii) additional legal, design professional and delay costs resulting from the Contractor’s 
default or breach or from the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph, and (iii) liquidated 
damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Contract, actual damages caused by delayed 
performance or non-performance of the Contractor or the Surety.  The Surety shall fully indemnify and 
hold harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees), which the 
Owner may incur as a result of the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph. 

 
4. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, from their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
5. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
6. The sum of this Performance Bond is in addition to the sum of the Payment Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC. 
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:   
Print Name:  Print Name:   

Title:                  Title: ___________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



H - 7

Attachment A – Project Location



 

H - 8 

DUAL OBLIGEE RIDER 
 
To be attached to and form a part of contract payment bond number _____________________ issued by  

______________________________________________________________________________ (Surety) 

On behalf of ______            ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC           _______ (Contractor)                        

In the amount of FIVE MILLION, FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN THOUSAND, EIGHT HUNDRED AND ZERO ONE-

HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($5,411,800.00)  and dated February 27, 2026 in favor of CENTRAL FLORIDA 

TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT. 

In consideration of the sum of One Dollar ($1.00), and other good and valuable consideration receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, the Undersigned hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S. Inc. is hereby added to said bond as additional Obligee. 
 

2. The Surety shall not be liable under this bond to the Obligee, or either of them unless the said 
Obligee, or either of them, shall make payments to the Principal strictly in accordance with the 
terms of the said contract as to payments, and shall perform all other obligations to be performed 
under said contract at the time and in the manner therein set forth. 
 

3. No suit, action or preceding by reason of any default whatever shall be brought on this bond after 
two (2) years from the day on which the final payment under said construction contract falls due. 
 

4. Aggregate liability of Surety hereunder to Obligee is limited to the penal sum above stated Surety, 
upon making payment hereunder, shall be subrogated to, and shall be entitled to an assignment 
of all rights of the payee with respect to the particular obligation discharged by the payment, either 
against principal or against and other party liable to the payee on the discharged obligation. 

 
 
 
Signed, sealed and dated this ___________ day of ____________________, 20________. 
 
         

Contractor: Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc. 
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 

Surety 
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 
 
 



H - 9 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
CONSENT OF SURETY FOR PARTIAL PAYMENT APPLICATION

(Date)______________________________

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
P.O. Box 690519
Orlando, Florida 32869

Re: Consent of Surety 
Bond #_________________________ 
Contract # C006965
Payment Req. No.: _______________

Dear Sir or Madam:
__________________________________________________________ (Surety) hereby consents to the 
payment of the amount of moneys due to _______________________________________ (Prime 
Contractor), by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT for which the necessary duly executed 
affidavits/releases of liens have not been provided.

This Consent of Surety is executed in lieu of the appropriated Affidavit and Release of Lien from 
____________________________________________ (Subcontractor/s - Supplier/s list if necessary) 
which the District’s Prime Contractor has not submitted with its Partial Payment Application.  The Surety 
executes this Consent for the amount of __________________, encompassing Work and/or labor 
performed, the provision of materials, equipment, and supplies through the _______ day of 
_________________, 20______, except for any applicable retainage.

_____________________________________________________________ (Surety) further acknowledges 
that payment by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT shall not be construed as a waiver 
of any of the District’s rights or those of any other named Obligee under the Payment and Performance 
Bonds; nor a determination by the District or those of any other named Obligee as to the merits of any 
controversy or dispute between the Prime Contractor and a Subcontractor/Supplier.

Sincerely,
__________________________________ 
Name
__________________________________ 
Title
__________________________________ 
Signature of Attorney-in-Fact

Note: Documentation must be provided that reflects the Attorney-in-Fact’s authority to sign 
for the Surety.

NoNo

Surety) herebySurety)
_______________________________

for which the necessary dwhich the neces

opriated Affidavit and Release ofpriated Affidavit and Release o
Subcontractor/s ontract - Supplier/s list er/s list 

d with itswith i Partial Payment ApplicatPartial Payment Applica
______________, encompassing _____________, encompassing 

pment, and supplies through tment, and supplies through 
y applicable retainage.pplicable retaina

_____________________________________________
OURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICTSM OVERSIGHT DIS s

ose of any other named Obligee uother named Obligee
he District or those of any other nhe District or those of any other 

n the Prime Contractor and a Subche Prime Contractor and a Su

________________ _________

_____________________ ____________________ 

_________________________ ___________________
e of Attorneyof At -in-FactFac

ntation must bmust 



H - 10

CONTRACTOR’S INTERIM AFFIDAVIT

Page 1 of 2

From:  ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.

To:      CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

The undersigned deposes and says:

1. That they are over the age of eighteen (18) years, have personal knowledge of the following facts, 
is authorized to make this Affidavit on behalf of the Contractor named above, and that this Affidavit 
is, in fact, made on behalf of said Contractor.

2. That this Affidavit is made with respect to Contract No.: C006965, dated February 27, 2026, for 
Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement. 

3. That all Work performed under the above Contract through the date of this Affidavit has been 
performed in accordance with the terms of said Contract.

4. That the Contractor covenants and warrants that all labor, materials, equipment, services and other 
items including, without limitation, all amounts due and owing to, or claimed by, all persons, firms, 
corporations, union welfare or benefit funds (if any), furnished pursuant to the above Contract and 
any additions or changes thereto, have been paid in full as of the date of this Affidavit, and that 
waivers of liens and waivers of claims through the date of this Affidavit have been obtained from 
all persons, firms, and corporations who have furnished services, labor, materials, equipment and 
supplies, except as otherwise indicated in Schedule A attached.

Contractor:  Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.

By:  

Print Name

Print TitleSA
MPL

E
ledgeedge

d above, and abov

00696565, , dateddated February 27Feb
(MCC) A & B ReplacementB Repla . 

ct through the date of this Affidathrough the date of this Affida
Contract.ct.

s that all labor, materials, equipmenthat all labor, materials, equipme
mounts due and owing to, or claimeounts due and owing to, or claime

funds (if any), furnished pursuantfunds (if any), furnished pursuant
have been paid in full as of the dhave been paid in full

claims through the date of this Affms through the date
ations who have furnished servicewho have furnished s

ise indicated in Schedule A attachese indicated in Schedule A attac

Contracto

By:By



H - 11

CONTRACTOR'S INTERIM AFFIDAVIT - SCHEDULE A

Page 2 of 2

Date: _____________________

From: ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.

To: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Re: Contract No.: C006965, dated February 27, 2026, between CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM DISTRICT
and ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.

The following are ALL the amounts due and owing to, or claimed by, all persons, firms, corporations and 
union welfare and benefit funds (if any) who have furnished services, labor, materials, equipment or supplies, 
with respect to the above-referenced Contract.  All amounts represent the total amount due and owing, or 
claimed, as of the date hereof and any contested, claimed, or unissued credits are specifically noted next to 
the amounts due and owing.

Amount Due
Name and Owing Notes

Please initial:    
Contractor

SA
MPL

E
ORIDORID

all persons, firms, coll persons, firms, 
labor, materials, equipment materials, eq

esent the total amount due and ootal amount due and 
unissued credits are specifically notnissued credits are specifically not

unt Duent Due
nd Owingnd Owing P



H - 12

CONTRACTOR’S REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

RFI NO:  

DATE:  

DATE INFORMATION REQUIRED:  

SUBMITTED BY:    

SCHEDULE EFFECT IF THE RESPONSE IS NOT RECEIVED BY THE ABOVE REFERENCED
DATE: 

CATEGORY   Information not shown on the Contract Documents Contract Drawing Ref. 
  Interpretation of Contract Requirements Shop Drawing Ref   
  Conflict in Contract Requirements Specification Ref.  
  Coordination Problems Other:

SUBJECT: 

DESCRIPTION:  

By: 

ENGINEER/ARCHITECT ASSIGNMENT

To:  Date: 

From: 

ENGINEER/ARCHITECT RESPONSE

REPLY:  

  

By: Date: 

RESPONSE TO CONTRACTOR

To:  Date:  

Copy To: From: 

EFERENCEFEREN

Contract Drawing Ref. ract Drawing RefEShop Drawing Refrawing Ref   fESpecification Ref.on Ref.  EOther: E
PL

E
PLPLMPMPBy: MP

AM
SSIGNMENTSSIG

AMSAER/ARCHITECT RESPONSE/ARCHITECT RESPONSESSS



H - 13

DIRECTIVE NO.

CONTRACT NO: C006965 DATE:  

PROJECT:  Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement  

SUB-PROJECT:   

CONTRACTOR: Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.

ATTACHMENTS:

DESCRIPTION: 

Pursuant to the General Conditions of the Contract for Construction, you are hereby directed to proceed to 
perform the Work described above as indicated below.  All work is to be accomplished in accordance with 
the Contract Documents.  Any time extension associated with this Directive should be identified and a 
separate price stated to incorporate this change within the Contract completion date.  Accurate records of 
any additional work, which may result in a change to the Contract Sum or Contract Time must be 
maintained.  The implementation of all work now in process must be coordinated with the proposed revised 
conditions associated with this Directive.

The following is applicable to this Directive as marked:

_____ A. The work described above and in the accompanying attachments will not change the 
Contract Sum or Contract Time.

_____ B. The Contract Sum shall be increased/decreased by the sum of $_________ as a result of 
this Directive and the Contract Time shall be increased/decreased by ____ calendar days 
and shall be reflected in a Change Order to be signed by the parties.

_____ C. The amount of change, if any, to the Contract Sum or Contract Time is undetermined as 
of the date of the Directive.  Any such change amount shall be determined in accordance 
with the provisions of Article 12 of the General Conditions of the Contract for Construction.

_____ D. Proceed immediately with the changes on a time-and-materials basis.  Time tickets shall 
be submitted daily to the Owner’s Representative for verification.  A formal Change Order 
will be issued for the actual costs based upon the signed time tickets and material invoices 
plus the Contractor’s allowable mark-up as specified in the Contract Documents.

_____ E. The parties are unable to agree at this time as to whether the work described above 
constitutes a change in the scope of the work of the Contractor.  Such dispute shall be 
resolved in accordance with the applicable provisions in the Contract Documents.

Approved:  Recommended for Approval:

                                                                           
Central Florida Tourism Oversight District       Date Engineer/Architect  (insert company name) Date

Accepted:

Contractor: Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc. Date

Copy: Contract File
Engineer/Architect’s Project Manager:    
Owner’s Project Manager:  ________

SA
MPL

EEare hereby directare hereby direc
be accomplished in acce accomplished in

is Directive should be identictive should be identi
ract completion date.  Accurate rion date.  Accurate r

e Contract Sum or Contract TimeContract Sum or Contract Tim
s must be coordinated with the proust be coordinated with the pro

ed:d:

d in the accompanying attachmein the accompanying attachme
me.e

be increased/decreased by the sumincreased/decrease
Contract Time shall be increased/ct Time shall be inc

ed in a Change Order to be signeded in a Change Order to be sign

change, if any, to the Contract Shange, if any, to the Contrac
of the Directive.  Any such changeDirective.  Any such change

provisions of Article 12 of the Generovisions of Article 12 of t

ed immediately with the changes immediately with the ch
submitted daily to the Owner’s Retted daily to the Owner’s 

will be issued for the actual costs bwill be issued for the actual costs 
plus the Contractor’s allowable plus the Contractor’s allowable

The parties are unable to re un
constitutes a change in stitutes a chang
resolved in accordancresolved in accordan



H - 14

CONTRACTOR:  Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER: C006965
CHANGE ORDER NO. (Insert C.O. Number) 

Closeout Change Order
Attachment A

GENERAL RELEASE

CONTRACT NO. C006965

FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION OF THE SUM OF $   (Insert Amount of Final Payment, 
including all retainage withheld), as FINAL PAYMENT, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, 
ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC., the undersigned, hereby fully and forever releases, acquits and 
discharges CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT, the Owner’s Representative, the 
Architect/Engineer and their parent, related and affiliated companies, their agents, employees, consultants, 
architects, engineers, officers, directors, successors and assigns, all of whom are hereinafter referred to collectively 
as "Releasees", from all manner of action and causes of action, suits, claims, judgments, damages, liens, claims of 
lien and rights whatsoever, in law or in equity, now existing or which may hereafter accrue in favor of the 
undersigned including, without limitation, any and all liability arising out of or in connection with that certain 
construction Contract dated February 27, 2026, Contract No. C006965, between CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM 
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT and ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC. and all Work, labor and materials 
furnished, performed or provided pursuant thereto or otherwise for the  project.

The undersigned covenants that except for actions and suits based upon breaches of the terms of this 
Release, it shall not commence or prosecute any action or suit in law or in equity, against the Releasees, either 
collectively or individually, on account of any action or cause of action which now exists or which may hereafter 
accrue in its favor.

In addition to any other liability which shall accrue upon the breach of the covenants contained herein, 
undersigned shall be liable to pay all reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred by the Releasees in the defense 
of any such action or suit.

  Attested on this date ___________________. 

Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.  
(Contractor)

    
    

Signature

    
Print Name

Print Title
  

SA
MPL

E
f whichwhic

y and foreveand f
the Owner’s Rthe Owner’s 

their agents, employheir agents, em
whom are hereinafter referredare hereinafter referred

, claims, judgments, damages, liegments, damages, lie
or which may hereafter accrue inor which may hereafter accrue i

arising out of or in connection rising out of or in connection 
No. C0069656965, , between CENTRAL TRAL 

ENTERPRISES, INC.ENTERPRISES, INC and all Worll Wo
otherwise for the  project.therwise for the  project

for actions and suits based upon for actions and suits based upon
any action or suit in law or in equny action or suit in la

ny action or cause of action whichction or cause of ac

bility which shall accrue upon thelity which shall accrue upon
y all reasonable attorneys' fees andasonable attorneys' fees an

on this this date _________________date _____________



H - 15

CONTRACTOR:  Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER:  C006965
CHANGE ORDER NO. (Insert C.O. Number)

Closeout Change Order
Attachment B – Page 1

CONTRACTOR'S AFFIDAVIT

From: ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.

To: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

The undersigned deposes and says:

1. That they are over the age of eighteen (18) years, have personal knowledge of the following facts, 
is authorized to make this Affidavit on behalf of the Contractor named above, and that this Affidavit 
is, in fact, made on behalf of said Contractor.

2. That this Affidavit is made with respect to Contract No. C006965, dated February 27, 2026, for the 
Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement project.

3. That all Work performed under the above Contract through the date of this Affidavit has been 
performed in accordance with the terms of said Contract.

4. That the Contractor covenants and warrants that all labor, materials, equipment, services and other 
items including, without limitation, all amounts due and owing to all persons, firms, corporations, 
union welfare or benefit funds (if any), furnished pursuant to the above Contract and any additions 
or changes thereto, have been paid in full as of the date of this Affidavit, and that waivers of lien 
through the date of this Affidavit have been obtained from all persons, firms, and corporations who 
have furnished services, labor, materials, equipment and supplies, except as otherwise indicated 
in Schedule A attached.

  Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.  
(Contractor)

By: 

  
Print Name

Print Title

ersonal knowledge of thsonal knowledge 
tractor named above, and th named above, and th

ract No. ct No. C006965, dateded February February
ontrol Center (MCC) A & B Replaceenter (MCC) A & B Replace

bove Contract through the date obove Contract through the date 
erms of said Contract.ms of said Contra

and warrants that all labor, materiand warrants that all la
itation, all amounts due and owingon, all amounts due

funds (if any), furnished pursuant tany), furnished pursu
ave been paid in full as of the dateve been paid in full as of the da

this Affidavit have been obtained fhis Affidavit have been obtain
ervices, labor, materials, equipmes, labor, materials, equipm

attached.



H - 16

CONTRACTOR:  Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER:  C006965
CHANGE ORDER NO. (Insert C.O. Number)

Closeout Change Order
Attachment B – Page 2

CONTRACTOR'S AFFIDAVIT - SCHEDULE A

Date: (Insert Date)

From: ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.

To: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Re: Contract No.: C006965, dated February 27, 2026, between CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT
DISTRICT and ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC.

The following are ALL the amounts due and owing to all persons, firms, corporations and union welfare and benefit 
funds (if any) who have furnished services, labor, materials, equipment or supplies, with respect to the above 
referenced Contract.  All amounts represent the total amount due and owing as of the date hereof AND any 
contested, claimed, or unissued credits are specifically noted next to the amounts due and owing.

NAME AMOUNT DUE AND OWING OTHER

Please initial:    
     Contractor

SA
MPL

ENTRAL FLORIDA TOUTRAL FLORIDA T

firms, corporations and union welfarms, corporations and union welf
equipment or supplies, with respquipment or supplies, with resp

ount due and owing as of the dae and owing as of the da
ted next to the amounts due and oed next to the amounts due and

AMOUNT DUE AND OWINGMOUNT DUE AND O

MPL



H - 17

CONTRACTOR:  Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER:  C006965
CHANGE ORDER NO. (Insert C.O. Number)

Closeout Change Order
Attachment C 

WAIVER OF CLAIM/WAIVER OF LIEN/LITIGATION LIST

CONTRACTOR:  Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.

CONTRACT NO. C006965

All of the following have filed one or more of the following Notices:

(NONP) NOTICE OF NON-PAYMENT
(NOC) NOTICE OF CLAIM

(COL) CLAIM OF LIEN

Pursuant to the General Conditions, provide such releases, waivers, or satisfactions of Claims and Liens (or other 
documentation) in such form as the Owner may require for the following:

TYPE COMPANY FILING NOTICE UNDER AN ORDER GIVEN BY: 

Please initial:  
Contractor

SA
MPL

ET

vers, or satisfactions of Claims andrs, or satisfactions of Claims and
the following:owing:

UNDER AN NDER AN PL



H - 18

CONTRACTOR:  Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.
CONTRACT NUMBER: C006965
CHANGE ORDER NO.  (Insert C.O. Number)

Closeout Change Order
Attachment D 

CONTRACTOR'S GUARANTEE TO OWNER

Date:  (Insert Date)

To: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

Contract No: C006965

Project: Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement  

In further consideration of the above-referenced Contract and pursuant to the provisions thereof, the undersigned 
hereby guarantees to the Owner, its successors and assigns, that all Work, as defined in the Contract Documents, 
whether performed or caused to be performed by the undersigned, shall be free from any defects in workmanship, 
materials and/or equipment and shall be in strict compliance with the Contract Documents.  If, within a period of 
one (1) year from the date of acceptance of the Work by the Owner (or such longer period of time as may be 
prescribed by law or otherwise specified in the Contract Documents), the Work or any portion thereof shall prove 
to be defective in workmanship, material and/or equipment, or in any way not in strict compliance with the Contract 
Documents, then the undersigned shall repair and/or, at the option of the Owner, replace at its own cost and 
expense all such defective or non-complying Work, together with any adjacent structures or facilities which have 
been displaced or damaged by so doing or which have been damaged as a result of any defect in workmanship, 
material and/or equipment or the failure of the Work to comply with the Contract Documents.  Such repairs and/or 
replacements shall be performed in accordance with all terms, conditions, covenants and provisions of the Contract 
Documents pursuant to which the Work was performed in the first instance, except that such repairs and/or 
replacements shall be without cost to the Owner, its successors or assigns.

Should the undersigned fail to perform its said repair and/or replacement obligations promptly after being given 
notice of its breach of this Guarantee, then the Owner may perform such corrective Work or cause it to be performed 
by others and charge the undersigned with the cost thereof, at Owner's option; provided, however, that if, in the 
sole judgment of the Owner, an emergency exists as a result of any such defective or non-complying Work which, 
in the Owner's opinion, requires more immediate corrective action than the undersigned is able to provide, then 
the Owner may, without notice to the undersigned, perform such corrective Work or cause it to be performed by 
others and charge the undersigned with the cost thereof.

Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.  
(Contractor)

By:  

(Title)
Local Representative to be contacted for service:

Contractor: Electrical Engineering Enterprises, Inc.
Name:  
Address: 5316 E. Henry Avenue  

Tampa, Florida 33610
Telephone No.:     

SA
MPL

EB Replacement  B Replacement  

t to the provisions thereof, the provisions thereof, th
Work, as defined in the Contractefined in the Contrac

d, shall be free from any defects in , shall be free from any defects in
with the Contract Documents.  If, wh the Contract Documents.  If, 

the Owner (or such longer periodner (or such longer period
Documents), the Work or any portDocuments), the Work or any po

ment, or in any way not in strict coment, or in any way not in strict com
/or, at the option of the Owner, r, at the option of the Owner, 

rk, together with any adjacent struk, together with any adjacent str
hich have been damaged as a resuch have been damag

the Work to comply with the ContraWork to comply with
dance withith all terms, conditions, coall terms, conditio

ork was performed in the first inork was performed in the first 
to the Owner, its successors or assthe Owner, its successors o

o perform its said repair and/or reperform its said repair a
uarantee, then the Owner may perfarantee, then the Owne

e undersigned with the cost thereodersigned with the cost t
Owner, an emergency exists as a rn emergency exists as a 

nion, requires more immediate corion, requires more immediate c
without notice to the undersignedwithout notice to the undersigned

arge the undersigned with the cosrge the undersigned with



H - 19

Closeout Change Order
Attachment E

CONSENT OF SURETY TO FINAL PAYMENT

Date: __________________

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
1900 Hotel Plaza Boulevard
Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830

Attention: Contracting Officer

Dear Ms. Kimball: 

We are the surety for the "Contractor" under Performance and Payment Bonds issued in connection with 
Contract No. C006965, dated February 27, 2026, between the Contractor and the Owner pursuant to which 
Contract the Contractor is performing certain Work in connection with the construction of the Studios North 
Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement project.  We understand that the 
Contractor desires to be paid, subject to our consent, the retainage held by the Owner under the aforesaid 
Contract and any Change Orders.  Accordingly, please be advised as follows:

1. We hereby consent to the payment of the retainage as aforesaid.

2. Said payment shall in no way affect the aforesaid Payment and Performance Bonds or 
our obligations thereunder, all of which shall remain in full force and effect.

Sincerely, 

Name

Title

THIS SPECIFIC FORMAT MUST BE SUBMITTED ON THE LETTERHEAD OF THE SURETY  

SA
MPL

E
rformance and Payment Bonds issformance and Payment Bonds iss

6, between the Contractor and the etween the Contractor and the
n Work in connection with the consWork in connection with the cons

er (MCC) A & B Replacement(MCC) A & B Repla pro
to our consent, the retainage held consent, the retainag

Accordingly, please be advised as fccordingly, please be advised a

nsent to the payment of the retainnt to the payment of the reta

ment shall in no way affect the afoment shall in no way 
bligations thereunder, all of which gations thereunder, all of



Exhibit I - Specification Section 00 88 50 – List of Drawings and Specifications

I - 1



Exhibit I - Specification Section 00 88 50 – List of Drawings and Specifications

I - 2



Exhibit I - Specification Section 00 88 50 – List of Drawings and Specifications

I - 3



Exhibit I - Specification Section 00 88 50 – List of Drawings and Specifications

I - 4



Exhibit I - Specification Section 00 88 50 – List of Drawings and Specifications

I - 5



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT PROJECT 
SPECIFIC SAFETY PLAN REQUIREMENTS

Section 1. INTRODUCTION 

A Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) is a communication tool between contractors and the Owner’s 
Representative. Used correctly, the PSSP ensures that relevant project/site-specific safety information 
is identified, monitored and communicated to all involved with the project. 

Section 2. PURPOSE 

The PSSP will allow all those involved with the project to easily identify the existing and potential 
hazards associated with the scope of work and what methods the contractor shall utilize to mitigate 
the hazards to an acceptable level. 

This should not be an overly complex document. It should be easily referenced by all those working 
on the project. The document should be able to be used as part of the daily pre task planning and 
for onsite safety meetings (toolbox talks). 

The PSSP should not be a version of the company safety plan. It is Project / Site / Task specific. The 
PSSP shall include the applicable information commensurate with the size, complexity and risk level 
of the project. 

The PSSP shall make it clear that everyone on the project has the right to report hazards and unsafe 
practices without fear of reprisal. 

Contractor shall submit a PSSP to the Owner’s Representative for review prior to project 
commencement with appropriate time for review. The Owner’s Representative reserves the right to 
ask the Contractor to resubmit the PSSP if safety critical items related to the project are missing or 
incomplete. 

The submittal of the PSSP does not relieve the Contractor from any other submittals required by the 
Contract Documents, including but not limited to: 

Construction & Demolition Safety Plan

Crane Critical Lift Plan

Hazardous Materials Disposal Plan

Maintenance of Traffic Plan

Hurricane / Weather Contingency Plan

Section 3. FORMAT 

The Owner’s Representative will not dictate the exact format of the PSSP. However, there are four 
critical components of the PSSP: 

Responsibilities / Contacts
Scope of work
Job Safety Analysis (JSA)
Pre-Task / Daily Safety Planning

Exhibit J - Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements with Sample Form

J - 1



Section 4. RESPONSIBIITIES / CONTACTS 

This section shall simply and clearly define the duties and responsibilities of the Contractor’s 
personnel regarding the work to be completed and safety and health program implementation. It 
should also include means to contact those listed (i.e. phone, email, etc.) 

Contractor’s President/Owner (of company)

Contractor’s Project Manager

Contractor’s Safety Manager (if applicable)

Contractor’s Field Supervision/ Superintendent

All of Contractor’s Subcontractors and Sub-Subcontractors (if any)

Section 5. SCOPE OF WORK 

The Scope of Work shall include translating the contract scope of work into a specific detailed work 
plan. It shall identify location(s), means and methods of accomplishing the plan, anticipated sequence 
of events, equipment to be used, etc. Please note that this includes all work to be performed by the 
Contractor and Subcontractors of every tier. 

The scope shall also identify the following: 

Maximum height and depth of work activities

Industrial hygiene issues

Exposure to high hazard areas including but not limited to:

o Water ways

o Diving

o Crane lifts

o Energized electrical systems

o Confined spaces

o Temporary Traffic Control (“TTC”), formerly maintenance of traffic (“MOT”)

o Guest areas

Section 6. JOB SAFETY ANALYSIS (JSA) 

The JSA is a task/operation-driven document to ensure that the job task or operation receives proper 
safety planning prior to beginning work. In actuality, the JSA is a written work plan that incorporates 
safety procedures into the work practices The JSA should be prepared far enough in advance of the 
task or activity to ensure that changes or revisions will not affect the scheduled execution of the task 
or activity. A JSA is to be developed by the Contractor or Subcontractors for any high-hazard or high-
risk activity as identified by the Owner’s Representative in its sole and absolute discretion, the 
Contractor or all Subcontractors of every tier. 

The specific format of the JSA is to be determined by the Contractor, however, it must include the 
following information: 

Exhibit J - Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements with Sample Form

J - 2



A breakdown of the job into successive steps involved with the work activity.

Identification of the hazards and the potential incidents associated with each work activity.

Identification of methods to reduce or eliminate the hazards and potential incidents.

Section 7. PRE-TASK PLANNING 

Pre-task Planning is an activity that occurs at the start of each day, prior to beginning any work shift 
during which work is to be performed by the Contractor or any Sub-contractor of any tier, as well as 
any time the daily cope of the work changes. It helps everyone involved in performing, supervising 
and overseeing the work to align the objectives to be accomplished before the day of work begins. 
A Pre-task Planning form is required to be completed and a meeting is required to be held with the 
crew by the supervisor prior to the start of each work shift. At a minimum, the supervisor will include 
the following in the Pre-task Planning: 

Identify the specific actions and work methods required to perform the work.

Identify the specific hazards associated with the performance of the work and the measures
necessary to eliminate or minimize the workers’ exposure to the hazard.

Provide the necessary training needed to safely perform the work.

Identify and provide the necessary tools, equipment, and PPE required to protect the workers
from the hazards.

Review any items that may be applicable to their work activity previously identified on the JSA.

The Pre-Task Plan will be documented and kept in the work location for the duration of the shift or 
activity. As acknowledgment of its contents, the Pre-Task Plan must be signed by all members of the 
work crew and its supervisor, and others identified by, and in the sole and absolute discretion of, the 
Owner’s Representative. . 

Pre-Task Planning is not something that is to be submitted with the PSSP however it must be 
maintained on the jobsite throughout the project duration for review by the Owner’s Representative 
and, at the request of the Owner’s Representative, must be provided to the Owner’s Representative 
as part of the Contract Close-out documentation 

Exhibit J - Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements with Sample Form

J - 3



Example Format: 

PROJECT SPECIFIC SAFETY PLAN

  
CContract #  

  

CContractor:  DDate:    

11.1.1 Contacts / Responsibilities: 
Name  Title      

Name  
Name  
Name  
Name  

-  

  
 
 
 

Coordinator 
 

Jamie Borr RCID  JBorr@RCID.org 407-947-5545
   321-388-3921

1.1.2  

1.1.3 Job Safety Analysis (JSA) and Hazard/Risk Matrix: (Hazard Matrix should resemble example below) 

  Task        
 

 

 

 

1.1.4 Attach Pre-task Planning Form (Include items outlined in PSSP Narrative) 

SA
MP
LE

Exhibit J - Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements with Sample Form

J - 4

PROJECT SPECIFIC SAFETY PLAN GUIDELINES



NNarrative Overview: 

1.1.1 Contacts / Responsibilities: This section shall simply and clearly define the duties and responsibilities of the Contractor’s 
personnel regarding the work to be completed and safety and health program implementation. It should also include means 
to contact those listed (i.e. phone, email, etc.)  

 
ntendent 

-  

1.1.2  This section can be a few paragraphs longs and should be a narrative of the how the contractor intends to 
complete the contract scope.  The section shall include translating the contract scope of work into a specific detailed work 
plan. It shall identify location(s), means and methods of accomplishing the plan, anticipated sequence of events, equipment 
to be used, etc.    

The scope shall also identify the following: 
 

Industrial hygiene issues
limited to: 

o water ways
o diving 
o crane lifts 
o
o confined spaces
o
o guest areas

1.1.3  : -

activity to ensure t
- -risk activity as identified by the Owner’s 

Representative in its sole and abs  

 
work activity. 

 
 

all  

1.1.4 - -
-contractor of any tier, as well as any time the daily cope of the 

accomplis -
he 

following in t -  
Identify the specific actions and work methods required to perform the work. 

 

 
Review any items that may be applicable to their work activity previousl  

-
- nd

others identified by, and in the sole and absolute discretion of, the Owner’s Representative. 
-

w by the Owner’s Representative and, at the request of the Owner’s Representative, 
must be provided to the Owner’s Representative as part of the Contract Close-out documentation

SA
MP
LE

Exhibit J - Project Specific Safety Plan Requirements with Sample Form

J - 5

PROJECT SPECIFIC SAFETY PLAN GUIDELINES



Purpose: To establish and communicate the minimum safety expectations for entering and working in confined spaces while 
working with Reedy Creek Energy Services (RCES).  A confined space has a limited or restricted means of entrance/egress, is 
large enough and so configured that a worker can bodily enter and perform assigned work, and is not designed for continuous 
human occupancy.

Who Needs to Know: All contractors / operating partners working in or near confined spaces while working with RCES. 

Hazard Severity Ranking: A hazard is a condition or practice with the potential to cause harm.  Hazards classified as H4/H5 
are those with high severity that have the potential to cause a fatality, total disability, dismemberment, and life-altering 
changes that are typically irreversible unless all proper precautions are taken.  

Standards: Performing work in a confined space shall meet or exceed the requirements of 29CFR1926.1200 – Subpart AA – 
Confined Spaces in Construction.

Critical 29 CFR 1926 Elements: (The designation of certain requirements as critical does not alleviate the Contractor from 
complying with ALL applicable aspects of 29CFR1926)

1. Contractors shall determine what kinds of spaces their employees will be in, what hazards could be there, and how
those hazards will be mitigated.

2. Alternate entry procedures or reclassification may be used if all requirements of 29CFR1926.1200 are met.

3. Each employee whose work is regulated by this standard shall have proper training.  Training shall be in a language
and vocabulary that the employee understands.

4. Contractor shall have a written confined space program that meets OSHA requirements for employees that will
enter permit-required confined spaces (PRCS).

5. Effective steps shall be taken to prevent employees from entering PRCS, if employees will not need to enter those
spaces.

6. General contractor shall coordinate entry activities with both RCES and sub-contractors.

7. Contractor(s) shall have a competent person to evaluate the site and identify and classify confined spaces.  The
competent person shall be able to recognize those conditions that require a confined space permit:

Contains, or has the potential to contain, a hazardous atmosphere
Contains a material that has a potential for engulfing the entrant
Has an internal configuration such that an entrant could be trapped or asphyxiated by inwardly converging
walls, or by a floor which slopes downward and tapers to a smaller cross-section
Contains any other recognized serious safety or health hazard

8. Provide continuous atmospheric monitoring and continuous monitoring of engulfment hazards during entry.

9. Contractor must have a rescue plan that meets the requirements established by 29 CFR 1926.1200.  Contractor shall
arrange for rescue and emergency services for employees who enter PRCS.

HAZARD SEVERITY
H-4/H-5Contractor Safety Expectation

Confined Spaces 3/13/2018

Exhibit K - Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces

K - 1



If relying on the local fire department for emergency services, the contractor shall arrange for the fire
department to provide advance notice if they will be unable to respond for a period of time.

RCES Clarifications and Additional Requirements: 

1. Contractors, including subs, will have a written confined space program when performing PRCS entry at RCES.  Site
specific conditions related to confined space entry must be addressed in the Project Specific Safety Plan (PSSP).

2. Contractors and subs shall provide their own confined space permits when working with RCES.

3. All workers entering a confined space must have training commensurate with the role or task they will be performing.
This includes:

Entrant
Attendant
Entry supervisor
Air monitoring

Rescue
Site-specific training for workers exposed to hazards posed
by PRCS, but not performing work inside of confined space
or supporting confined space entry

4. Confined spaces that have been evaluated and designated by RCES as permit required will be treated as such even if
contractor disagrees with that designation.  Trenches may be treated as confined spaces under certain conditions.
Alternate entry procedures or reclassification may be used if all requirements of 29CFR1926.1200 are met.

5. When certain conditions described in the OSHA standard are met, the employer may use alternate entry procedures
for worker entry into a permit space.  RCES must be involved in the decision to use alternate entry procedures.

6. RCES is responsible for providing information to Contractor on any known hazards associated with the space.

7. RCES is NOT responsible for providing additional services during entry, including but not limited to:

Atmospheric monitoring
Emergency response services including rescue
Attendants or Entry Supervisors

8. All equipment for atmospheric monitoring must be calibrated according to manufacturer’s recommendations prior to
use and must, at a minimum, test for oxygen deficiency and enrichment, flammable gases, hydrogen sulfide and
carbon monoxide.  Any other known or suspected atmospheric hazard must also be tested for prior to and during
entry.

9. Atmospheric monitoring equipment will, at a minimum, have alarms set for the 8-hour time-weighted average (TWA)
and short term exposure limit (STEL).  Monitors shall have simultaneous and multiple alarm indicators, such as audible,
visible and/or vibrating alarms to indicate hazardous conditions.

10. Atmospheric testing must be conducted prior to any attempt to ventilate the space and before entry.  Monitoring shall
be conducted every four feet to detect any possible layers or areas with higher vapor concentration than the rest of
the space.

11. Ventilation may be utilized to control hazardous atmospheres and maintain acceptable entry conditions.  General
dilution ventilation and/or local exhaust ventilation may be used to maintain acceptable entry conditions, as verified
by monitoring.

12. No one shall enter a confined space to attempt rescue unless they have been trained and equipped for confined space
rescue operations.  If it can be performed safely, attendants will only use non-entry rescue techniques to perform
rescue if they have been trained to do so.

13. Spaces that have an internal configuration that would prevent non-entry rescue shall have a rescue plan.  Entry rescue
will be only performed by a rescue team able to perform the responsibilities and meet the qualifications outlined in
the OSHA standard.  Most contractors will not have the capability to perform entry rescue; they will have to partner
with an outside organization to provide rescue.  The rescue team must have the proper training and equipment and be
available to respond in a timely manner.

14. RCES reserves the right to stop work being performed and remove contractor personnel from a confined space if an
unsafe condition or behavior is observed.  The space will be evacuated until concerns are resolved.

Exhibit K - Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces

K - 2



15. Contractors will debrief RCES about any hazards encountered or created during the confined space entry by either
themselves or their subs.

Revision History 

Rev Description of Change Owner Effective Date 

0 Preliminary Draft N/A 2017 Nov 09 

A Updated to reference RCES Manager, Utility 
Integration 

2018 Jan 30 

B Changes based on review and comments from RCID Manager, Utility 
Integration 

2018 Mar 13 

Exhibit K - Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces

K - 3



Operations Division 320, Energy Production

Purpose:

References:

Appendices:

Scope:

Definitions:

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 1



Roles and Responsibilities: 

o

o

o

o

o

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 2



o

o

o

Training

Procedure: 

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 3



Tag Numbers Added/Removed Reason for Change
Verified and Accepted By.

Sign OFF  

Final Removal Ordered By

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 4



Verified and Accepted By

Note 1

Note 2 

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 5



Appendix 1 

LOCKOUT / TAGOUT RECORD SHEET 

1 2 3 4 

5 7 

6 8 

9 10 11/  12 13/ 

16 17/ 14 15/ 

26 27 28 29 30 

1 18 19  20 21 22 23 24 25 
2 

3 

4 

Sheet 1

LOTO Number

Equipment / System to be tagged 

Written by 

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 6



Checked by 
Group Leader 
Number of Tags Issued 
Date & Time 

Date & Time 
Lock No
Item Tagged 
Required position 
Hanger Initials – initials of person hanging this LOTO point
2nd check Initials – initials of person checking this LOTO point is LOTO correctly
Removal Position – position LOTO point is to be in once LOTO is removed
Initials – initials of person removing and positioning LOTO point
Date Removed – date this LOTO point was cleared
Date – date that a LOTO point was added or removed
Time – time that a LOTO point was added or removed
Tag Numbers Added / Removed – enter LOTO tag numbers added or removed

: Locks, Tags and locking devices shall be used to isolate sources of energy within the normal 
boundaries of the scope of the repair.  It is permissible to use tags without locks, in accordance with Reference 
(1) Chapter 4.0.

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 7



Appendix 2 

Sheet 2

LOTO Identification Number

4 5 6 7
11

8 9 10

1

LOCKOUT / TAGOUT SIGN ON SHEET

2 3

(legibly ci rcle one)

When signing off:
Is the work complete?

When signing off:
Is the work complete?

(legibly ci rcle one)

When signing off:
Is the work complete?

(legibly ci rcle one)

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 8



Appendix 3 

Sheet 3

LOTO Identification Number

1 2 3
Accept 4 Release 5
Date Time Name Signature Date Time Name Signature

4a 4b 4c 4d 5a 5b 5c 5d

Group Leader Transfer Log

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 9



Appendix

Exhibit L - RCES Lock Out Tag Out

L - 10



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 1



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 2



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 3



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 4



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 5



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 6



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 7



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 8



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 9



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 10



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 11



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 12



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 13



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 14



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 15



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 16



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 17



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 18



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 19



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 20



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 21



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 22



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 23



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 24



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 25



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 26



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 27



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 28



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 29



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 30



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 31



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 32



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 33



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 34



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 35



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 36



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 37



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 38



Exhibit M - Contractor Proposal

M - 39



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 7.4 Board Meeting Date: 2/27/2026 

Subject: Contract #C006106 – World Drive North Phase III CM/CEI Professional Services Agreement – 
Change Order #3 

Presented by: Craig Sandt, Director of Construction Management 

Department: Public Works 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready): Approve Agenda Item 7.4 Change Order #3 to 
Contract #C006106 for the World Drive North Phase III construction engineering inspection services with 
Consor Engineering, LLC and authorize the District Administrator to execute the change order in the 
amount of $2,087,595.52, plus $49,869.57 in reimbursables totaling $2,137,465.09 

RELEVANT STRATEGIC GOALS: Quality of Place 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION: N/A 

BACKGROUND: 
The World Drive North Phase III project involves extending the four-lane divided World Drive and 
replacing the existing Floridian Way from south of Seven Seas Drive to north of Maple Road. Key project 
elements include three roundabouts, a single-span bridge, and the relocation of a portion of Seven Seas 
Drive. 

The overall project was originally intended to be awarded as a single package; however, funding 
availability required the construction to be split into two separate phases, which significantly extended the 
total project duration. Furthermore, the construction timeline was impacted by complex sequencing of 
additional utility work within a constrained corridor and the subsequent initiation of a major resort 
development adjacent to the roadway. Additional factors contributing to the schedule extension included 
expanded work at the Grand Floridian entrances and the mid-construction addition of a new force main. 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS: 
On February 22, 2023, the Board authorized Contract #C006106 with Consor Engineering, LLC for 
professional CM/CEI services. While the initial contract was scheduled to conclude on September 30, 
2026, the various project challenges and scope additions detailed above have shifted the construction 
completion date to December 21, 2027. 

To ensure continuous project oversight, staff requested a cost analysis from the consultant to align their 
services with the revised construction schedule. This analysis resulted in an additional cost of 
$2,087,595.52, plus $49,869.57 in reimbursables for a total of $2,137,465.09. This increase has been 
vetted by the Public Works Construction Management Team, and staff recommends approval of Change 
Order #3 to maintain essential engineering and inspection services through project completion. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
There will be no change in the overall budget for the World Drive North Phase III project. Funding for 
this request is provided through the RCID 2016-2024 Transportation Projects Ad Valorem Bonds. 



PROCUREMENT REVIEW: 
This purchase has been reviewed and approved for compliance with the District's procurement policies. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The contract will be reviewed for form and legality by the District Counsel. 

ALTERNATIVE: 
• Deny
• Amend
• Table

SUPPORT MATERIALS: 
• Consor Engineering, LLC - Change Order #3 to Contract #C006106



Page 1 of 2

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
10450 TURKEY LAKE ROAD, BOX #690519

ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32869

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT CHANGE ORDER

PROJECT: World Drive North Phase III CM/CEI Services DATE: _________________

TO: Consor Engineers, LLC CONTRACT NO.: C006106
15310 Park Row
Houston, Texas 77084 CHANGE ORDER NO.: 3

Change Order Summary:

ADD 447 Days and $2,137,465.09 for continuous project oversight and to align services with the 
revised construction schedule of the World Drive North Phase III project
All other terms and conditions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect

Contract Status:
Fee provided by original Agreement:                                                                                     $4,821,123.23
Fee provided by previous Change Orders:                                                   $2,412,971.09  
Fee provided by this Change Order No. [3]:                                                                      $2,087,595.52  
TOTAL REVISED FEE:                                                                                                      $9,321,689.84

Reimbursable Expenses provided by original Agreement:                                                $321,049.73  
Reimbursable Expenses provided by previous Change Orders:                                                    $0.00  
Reimbursable Expenses provided by this Change Order No. [3]:                                                 $49,869.57
TOTAL REVISED REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES:                                                                            $370,919.30  

Original Contract Time:                                                                                      September 30, 2026  
Contract Time prior to the Change Order:                                                              September 30, 2026
Adjustment in Contract Time by this Change Order No. [3]:                                                  447 Days
ADJUSTED CONTRACT TIME INCLUDING THIS CHANGE ORDER:                             December 21, 2027

   
Compensation for Additional Services: 
Consultant is hereby authorized additional compensation, as defined by Article 2 of the Agreement, in the 
amount of $2,087,595.52 as itemized on the following page and an additional Reimbursable Expense 
allowance of $49,869.57, for the complete and satisfactory performance of the additional services set 
forth below.

Scope of Additional Services:   
Consultant shall perform continuous project oversight of the World Drive North Phase III project until 
project completion.

Schedule:
Consultant’s Services, including any additional Services hereby authorized, shall be completed on or before
December 21, 2027, it being understood that time is of the essence in this Change Order.

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District’s Owner’s Representative: Craig Sandt
Phone Number: 407-828-2270



 Contract No.:  C006106 
Change Order No.: 3 

Page 2 of 2 

Terms and Conditions:  
This Change Order shall be governed by the terms and conditions of the Agreement for Professional 
Services No. C006106, dated March 14, 2023, and supersedes all prior negotiations, qualifications, and 
terms for the changes in scope specifically set forth in this Change Order. 

The total amount of this Change Order is fair, reasonable and mutually agreeable, and includes all applicable 
taxes, insurance, bond or corporate guarantee, delivery, supervision, overhead, profit, labor, labor impact, 
materials, changes, cardinal change, delays, acceleration, inefficiency and cumulative impact, or any claims, 
lawsuits, actions or causes of action therefor, and the Consultant hereby waives, releases and forever 
discharges any and all claims, lawsuits, actions or causes of action for such items associated with or related 
to the Services covered by this Change Order.  Without limitation on the foregoing, the parties hereto 
specifically acknowledge that it is their intent to hereby waive, release and forever discharge any and all 
cardinal change or cumulative impact claims, whether known or unknown, whether in law or in equity, 
whether contingent or non-contingent, and whether past, present or future, arising out of or in connection 
with this Change Order. 

OWNER:  CONSULTANT: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT 
DISTRICT f/k/a Reedy Creek Improvement District 

CONSOR ENGINEERS, LLC 

 

Signature:     Signature:   
                As authorized by the Board of Supervisors 

Print Name:    S.C. Kopelousos                             Print Name:    

 
Title:    District Administrator                               Title:    

 
Date:    February 27, 2026    Date:   



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 7.5           Board Meeting Date: 2/27/2026 

Subject: Contract #C006910 – World Drive North Phase 3 Area Development Landscape Design 
Presented by: Craig Sandt, Director of Construction Management  

Department: Public Works 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready): Approve Agenda Item 7.5 Contract #C006910 with 
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. for the World Drive North Phase 3 area development landscaping 
design and authorize the District Administrator to execute the contract in the amount of $468,743.21 plus 
10% contingency for a total amount of $515,618 
 

RELEVANT STRATEGIC GOALS: Quality of Place 
 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION: Bid Released to the Public: October 14, 2025 
 

 
BACKGROUND:  
The area development design for the World Drive North Phase 3 project focuses on the aesthetic and 
functional integration of the corridor between Maple Road and south of Seven Seas Drive. The selected 
consultant will be responsible for a comprehensive design package that includes earthen landscape berms, 
diverse plantings (trees, shrubs, and ground cover), and the integration of marquee signage. 
 
A critical component of this scope is the 3D design development and the design of an irrigation system 
integrated into the full progression of construction documents. This project ensures that the newly 
expanded roadway maintains a high standard of "Quality of Place" while providing necessary 
infrastructure like yard drains and coordinated site elements. 
 
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS: 
On October 14, 2025, the District released Letter of Interest #C006910 to solicit professional design 
services for this scope. Four consulting firms submitted proposals and delivered presentations to a five-
member evaluation committee. The committee evaluated each firm based on their scope understanding, 
management approach, technical qualifications, and performance during a live Q&A session. 

Following the evaluation process, the scoring results were as follows: 

 

Consultant Location Final Round Scoring 
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. Orlando, Florida   95/100 
Cotleur & Hearing  Orlando, Florida 91/100 
LandDesign Orlando, Florida 89/100 
Vanasse Hangen Brustlin, Inc. Orlando, Florida 88/100 

 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., was the highest scoring proposer. Staff recommends approval of 
Contract #C006910 with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 



FISCAL IMPACT: 
There will be no change in the overall budget for the World Drive North Phase III project. Funding for 
this request is provided through the RCID 2016-2024 Transportation Projects Ad Valorem Bonds. 
 
PROCUREMENT REVIEW: 
This purchase has been reviewed and approved for compliance with the District's procurement policies. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The contract will be reviewed for form and legality by the District Counsel.  
 
ALTERNATIVE: 

• Deny 
• Amend 
• Table 

 
SUPPORT MATERIALS:  

• Final Selection Results – LOI 
• Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. - Contract # C006910 

 





CONTRACT NO. C006910 
  

Page 1 
 

AREA DEVELOPMENT LANDSCAPE DESIGN FOR WORLD DRIVE NORTH PHASE 3 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) shall be effective commencing  February 27, 2026, between Central 
Florida Tourism Oversight District (herein referred to as the “Owner,” “District” or “CFTOD”), whose 
mailing address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519, Orlando, Florida 32869, and Kimley-Horn and 
Associates, Inc. (herein referred to as the “Consultant”), whose mailing address is 421 Fayetteville Street, 
Suite 600, Raleigh, North Carolina 27601. 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, Central Florida Tourism Oversight District issued Letter of Interest (“LOI”) No. C006910 on 
October 24, 2025 for Area Development Landscape Design for World Drive North Phase 3;  

WHEREAS, four (4) proposers responded, and Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. was the highest ranked 
proposer.  The Consultant was subsequently selected as the intended awardee for these services; and 

WHEREAS Owner desires to commission the services of a consultant to perform the hereinafter 
described services, and Consultant desires to be so commissioned.   

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and obligations herein 
contained, the parties agree as follows: 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES. 
A. Description of Services: A description of the nature and scope of services to be performed by 

Consultant under this Agreement (“Services”) is set forth in Exhibit A.  Owner retains the right to 
reduce any portion of Consultant's Services. In such event, Owner shall be entitled to a 
proportionate reduction to the Compensation, as defined in Section 3. 

B. Additional Services: Owner may, from time to time, authorize Consultant in writing to perform 
additional services (“Additional Services”), in which event Consultant shall perform same.  Any such 
Additional Services shall be set forth in an Amendment to this Agreement which shall be executed 
by both parties and which shall be governed by the terms and conditions of this Agreement unless 
otherwise expressly set forth therein. Any additional Services performed by Consultant prior to 
execution by both parties of an Amendment shall be done at Consultant’s sole risk and shall not 
be compensated by Owner. 

2. CONTRACT TIME.  
A. Consultant shall commence the Services on February 27, 2026 and shall complete the Services 

on or before October 3, 2027 (“Schedule”) or as otherwise directed by Owner, and within the 
times established for the Deliverables set forth in Exhibit A. 

B. Acceleration: Consultant shall accelerate performance of its Services in the manner directed by 
Owner in the event that Owner, in its sole discretion, determines that such acceleration is necessary 
to maintain the Schedule. 

3. COMPENSATION.  
Fixed Fee Amount. 

A. Owner shall pay Consultant a lump sum, fixed fee amount of FOUR HUNDRED SIXTY-EIGHT 
THOUSAND, SEVEN HUNDRED FORTY-THREE AND TWENTY-ONE ONE-HUNDREDTHS 
DOLLARS ($468,743.21) (“Contract Sum”) as total compensation for the complete and 
satisfactory performance of the Services in accordance with the Schedule and Rate Schedule.  The 
Fixed Fee Amount shall include, but not be limited to, Consultant’s profit, overhead, employee 
burden, taxes, labor, materials, and any and all costs and expenses of any nature, incurred by 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 2  

Consultant in connection with the performance of Consultant’s Services hereunder, all of which 
shall be borne solely by Consultant. 

B. Monthly Progress Payments. The compensation amount under this section shall be paid by Owner  
monthly for Services in equal monthly installments of the Fixed Fee Amount, based upon the 
completed Services invoiced by Consultant and approved by Owner. Consultant shall invoice Owner 
on the first day of each calendar month. Compensation is subject to the express terms of this 
Agreement and any applicable Federal and/or state laws. 

C. Project Schedule and Progress Reports (if requested by Owner). A progress report and updated 
project schedule must be submitted with each monthly pay request indicating the percentage of 
services completed to date. This report will serve as support for payment to Consultant and the 
basis for payment in the event project is suspended or abandoned. 

D. Pricing Documentation. Consultant shall provide any and all documentation required by Owner in 
connection with labor, materials, and equipment incurred. Any pricing submitted for materials, 
equipment, or services provided by a subconsultant or supplier must be accompanied by 
comprehensive documentation to support the cost. This documentation shall include, but is not 
limited to, the following: (i) Manufacturer/Supplier Cost Data: Copies of actual quotes, invoices, or 
documented cost breakdowns from the manufacturer or supplier, detailing material costs, labor, 
equipment, and any other direct or indirect costs; and (ii) Subconsultant Proposals: Copies of all 
subconsultant proposals received for any portion of the Work. 

E. Invoice Form and Address. All invoices shall (i) be in the form required by Owner (ii) reference the 
contract number, (iii) display the Fixed Fee Amount, (iv) itemize each Amendment and amount 
being billed against those Amendments in the invoice, (v) itemize all amounts previously invoiced 
and paid, and (vi) include complete documentation and substantiation for all amounts invoiced. 
Invoices shall be addressed appropriately as outlined below: 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight 
District (“District” or “CFTOD”) projects  
Central Florida Tourism Oversight District  
Attention: Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 
All invoices shall be sent to 
ap@oversightdistrict.org 

F. Amendments to Services. The Fixed Fee Amount shall be proportionally adjusted to reflect any 
changes in the scope of Services as set forth in an Amendment, and the Schedule shall be equitably 
adjusted by way of said Amendment to the extent impacted thereby. Consultant shall not be 
entitled to compensation for additional Services unless Consultant has obtained prior written 
authorization in an Amendment to perform such additional Services. 

G. Return of Funds.  Consultant will return any overpayments due to unearned funds or funds 
disallowed pursuant to the terms of the Agreement that were disbursed to the Consultant. The 
Consultant must return any overpayment within forty (40) calendar days after either discovery by 
the Consultant, its independent auditor, or notification by the Owner of the overpayment. 

4. PROJECT CONSTRUCTION BUDGET.  RESERVED 

5. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION.  
A. The Consultant shall at its expense procure and maintain during the life of this Agreement (and 

shall require the same from its Subconsultants, subcontractors, and Sub-subconsultants) the 
following types and minimum amounts of insurance: 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 3  

i. Commercial General Liability Insurance including liability assumed under written contract, 
bodily injury, property damage, personal and advertising injury, and products/completed 
operations liability written on an occurrence basis with minimum combined single limits for 
bodily injury and property damage of $1,000,000 per occurrence. This coverage must be 
maintained for two (2) years after contract expiration;  

ii. Automobile Liability coverage for all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles written on an 
occurrence basis, with minimum combined single limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;   

iii. Workers’ Compensation Insurance providing statutory benefits and Employer’s Liability 
Insurance with minimum limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;  

iv. Umbrella Liability on a follow-form basis providing coverage excess of the underlying policies 
required by i, ii, and iii above in an amount of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

v. If Consultant is providing any kind of professional service or advice including design, 
architectural, surveying, legal, financial, accounting or similar then Consultant will also carry 
Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence.  This insurance may be on a claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that 
precedes the first date of work or services under this agreement and is maintained for at 
least two (2) years following the conclusion of services. 

vi. If Consultant is using, transporting or disposing of any hazardous materials, potentially 
harmful materials, chemicals, waste or similar then Consultant will also carry Pollution 
Liability insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  This insurance may be 
on a claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that precedes the first date of work or 
services under this agreement and is maintained for at least two (2) years following the 
conclusion of services. 

vii. If services will include the use or operation of any crane, total limit of Umbrella liability 
insurance will be at least $4,000,000. 

viii. If Consultant is using any kind of aircraft including unmanned aerial vehicles (drones) then 
use must be approved by Owner and liability insurance satisfactory to Owner must be 
obtained. 

ix. If Consultant is providing information technology software or services, then Consultant must 
also carry Cyber Liability Insurance with limits not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence or 
claim.  Coverage shall be sufficiently broad to respond to the duties and obligations as is 
undertaken by Consultant in this agreement and shall include, but not be limited to, claims 
involving infringement of intellectual property, infringement of copyright, trademark, trade 
dress, invasion of privacy violations, information theft, damage to or destruction of electronic 
information, release of private information, alteration of electronic information, extortion and 
network security.  The policy shall provide coverage for breach response costs as well as 
regulatory fines and penalties as well as credit monitoring expenses with limits sufficient to 
respond to these obligations. 

x. Consultant is not required to commercially insure its owned, rented or borrowed machinery, 
tools, equipment, office trailers, vehicles, and other property but agrees that Owner is not 
responsible for and Consultant holds Owner harmless for loss, damage or theft of such items. 

B. All insurance required under this Section shall be with companies and on forms authorized to issue 
insurance in Florida and with an insurer financial strength rating from AM Best of no less than A- 
or an equivalent rating from a similar, recognized ratings agency unless such requirements are 
waived, in writing, by the Owner’s Risk Manager.  Certificates of insurance (or copies of policies, if 
required by the Owner) shall be furnished to the Owner at vendors@oversightdistrict.org. 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 4  

C. CANCELLATION. All such insurance required by this Section shall provide that the coverage 
thereunder may not be reduced or canceled unless thirty (30) days unrestricted prior written notice 
thereof is furnished to Consultant, who agrees to promptly relay any such notice received to 
Owner.    

D. ADDITIONAL INSUREDS. Each liability policy required herein (except Workers’ Compensation or 
Professional Liability) shall schedule as Additional Insureds, on a primary and non-contributory 
basis, the Owner and its affiliated entities and their supervisors, officers, employees, agents and 
assigns.   

E. WAIVERS. The Consultant hereby waives, and will require its Subconsultants and Sub-
subconsultants to waive and to require its and their insurers to waive their rights of recovery or 
subrogation against the Owner and its affiliated entities, supervisors, officers, employees, agents 
and assigns.  

F. CLAIMS. The Consultant and its Subconsultants and Sub-subconsultants shall assist and cooperate 
in every manner possible in connection with the adjustment of all claims arising out of the 
operations conducted under or in connection with the Services and shall cooperate with the 
insurance carrier or carriers of the Owner and of the Consultant, its Subconsultants and Sub-
subconsultants in all litigated claims and demands which arise out of said operations and which the 
said insurance carrier or carriers are called upon to adjust or resist. 

G. DESIGN PROFESSIONAL INDEMNIFICATION. Per Florida Statute, §725.08, the Consultant/Design 
Professional shall indemnify and hold harmless the District and its appointed board supervisors, 
officers, employees, and volunteers from and against liabilities, damages, losses, and costs, 
including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees, to the extent caused by the negligence 
recklessness, or intentionally wrongful conduct of the Consultant and other persons employed or 
utilized by the Consultant in the performance of, and contemplated by this Agreement, and to the 
extent that the services rendered pursuant to the Agreement were services of a “Design 
Professional” as defined in Florida Statute, §725.08(4). The provisions of this paragraph shall 
survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

6. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION.  
A. Termination for Convenience: Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, Owner 

shall, in its sole discretion and with or without cause, have the right to terminate this Agreement 
for convenience upon seven (7) days prior written notice to Consultant.  

B. Termination by Owner for Cause: Owner shall have the right to terminate this Agreement 
immediately, in whole or in part, upon the failure of Consultant to carry out any obligation, term, 
or condition of this Agreement. Any notice of termination given to Consultant by Owner shall be 
effective immediately, unless otherwise provided therein, upon the occurrence of any one or more 
of the following events: 
(i) Consultant fails to properly perform any of the services set forth in the Scope of the Agreement; 

or 

(ii) Consultant fails to complete the work required within the time stipulated in the Agreement; or  
(iii) Consultant fails to meet milestones in the Agreement and/or gives the Owner reason to believe 

that Consultant cannot or will not perform to the requirements of the Agreement. 
C. Consultant’s Opportunity to Cure Default: Owner may, in its sole discretion, provide Consultant 

with an opportunity to cure the violations set forth in Owner’s notice of default to Consultant. 
Consultant shall commence to cure the violations immediately and shall diligently and continuously 
prosecute such cure to completion within a reasonable time as determined by Owner. If the 
violations are not corrected within the time determined to be reasonable by Owner or to the 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 5  

reasonable satisfaction of Owner, Owner may, without further notice, declare Consultant to be in 
breach of this Agreement and pursue all remedies available at law or equity, to include termination 
of this Agreement without further notice. 

D. In the event of termination, Owner's sole obligation and liability to Consultant, if any, shall be to 
pay to Consultant that portion of the amount earned by it, plus any earned amounts for extra 
Services performed pursuant to Sections 1 and 3, through the date of termination. 

7. NON-FUNDING. In the event that budgeted funds for this Agreement are reduced, terminated, or 
otherwise become unavailable, Owner may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Consultant 
without penalty to Owner.  Owner shall be the final authority as to the availability of the funding. 

8. FORCE MAJEURE. 
A. Neither party shall be responsible for damages or delays caused by Force Majeure or other events 

beyond the reasonable control of the party and which could not reasonably have been anticipated 
or prevented. 

B. Force Majeure includes, but is not limited to, war, terrorism, riots, epidemics, fire, acts of nature, 
strikes, lockouts, pandemics, court orders, and acts, orders, laws, or regulations of the government 
of the United States or the several states, prohibiting or impeding any part from performing its 
respective obligations. 

C. If Force Majeure occurs, the parties shall mutually agree on the terms and conditions upon which 
services may continue. Should Consultant be delayed in the commencement, performance, or 
completion of the Services due to any of the conditions under this section, Consultant shall be 
entitled to an extension of time only, provided however, that in no event shall Consultant  be 
entitled to any increased costs, additional compensation, or damages of any type resulting from 
such Force Majeure delays. 

9. CONSULTANT RESPONSIBILITIES. Except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Agreement, 
the following provisions are the responsibility of the Consultant:    
A. Consultant shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 

procedures and safety precautions or programs incident thereto.    
B. Consultant shall competently and efficiently supervise, inspect, and direct all work to be performed 

under this Agreement, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as 
may be necessary to perform the work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  

C. Consultant is duly licensed to observe and perform the terms, covenants, conditions and other 
provisions on its part to be observed or performed under this Agreement. 

D. Standard of Care. Consultant shall perform all Services in a timely, efficient, and cost-effective 
manner. The quality of these Services shall be in accordance with the professional standards and 
the degree of skill and care ordinarily exercised by consultants in the same profession under similar 
circumstances. Consultant shall, at no additional cost to the Owner, re-perform any Services that 
fail to satisfy this standard of care. This standard of care shall govern all Consultant performance, 
regardless of any other provision in this Agreement. 

E. The Deliverables shall not call for the use of nor infringe any patent, trademark, service mark, 
copyright or other proprietary interest claimed or held by any person or interest absent prior 
express written consent from the Owner.  

F. Consultant shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, statutes, rules, codes, 
ordinances, agency regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public or other government 
authority including without limitation the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 6  

1990 (“ADA”), as same may be amended from time to time, which have jurisdiction and which are 
current at the time Consultant renders Services hereunder. 

10. KEY EMPLOYEES. Employees of Consultant listed on the Staffing Plan in Exhibit C are considered 
Key Employees, Consultant acknowledges that Owner has relied upon and hired Consultant because of 
the involvement of such individuals. Consultant agrees that such Key Employees shall be assigned to 
perform the Services. Consultant shall not remove any Key Employees from the performance of the 
Services absent prior written consent of Owner. 

11. DELIVERABLES. “Deliverables” shall mean all drawings, specifications, data, ideas, designs, concepts, 
sketches, artwork, molds, models, tooling, programs, software, reports, improvements, inventions, 
original works of authorship or other tangible or intangible work product in whole or in part conceived, 
produced, commissioned or acquired by Consultant in connection with the Services.  Consultant shall 
supply all Deliverables to Owner in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The 
Agreement Number, specification number, item number, and any other required identification must 
appear on all Deliverables submitted to Owner.  Consultant is and shall be fully responsible for the 
preparation and accuracy of all Deliverables and the strict compliance of the Deliverables with all 
requirements hereof.  Owner’s review, approval, action or inaction taken on the Deliverables is for 
Owner’s convenience and/or to express Owner’s opinion and shall not relieve or discharge Consultant 
either expressly or by implication from its responsibilities and obligations hereunder. 

12. OWNERSHIP OF DELIVERABLES. 
A. Title to all Deliverables shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of Owner when 

produced, whether or not fixed in a tangible medium of expression. In the event of early 
termination of the Services hereunder, Consultant shall deliver to Owner all Deliverables whether 
complete or not. 

B. Without limiting the foregoing, Consultant agrees that any Deliverables shall be deemed to be 
"works made for hire" for Owner as the author, creator, or inventor upon creation; provided, 
however, that in the event and to the extent that such Deliverables are determined not to constitute 
"works made for hire" as a matter of law, Consultant hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers such 
property, and all right, title and interest therein, whether now known or hereafter existing, including 
but not limited to patents and copyrights, to Owner and its successors and assigns.  Consultant 
grants to Owner all rights including, without limitation, reproduction, manufacturing and moral 
rights, throughout the universe in perpetuity and in all languages and in any and all media whether 
now or hereafter known, with respect to such Deliverables.  Consultant acknowledges that Owner 
is the motivating force and factor, and for purposes of copyright or patent, has the right to such 
copyrightable or patentable Deliverables produced by Consultant under this Agreement.  Consultant 
shall deliver all Works to Owner promptly upon their completion or the sooner termination of 
Consultant's services hereunder.  Consultant agrees to execute any and all documents and do such 
other acts as requested by Owner to further evidence any of the transfers, assignments and 
exploitation rights provided for herein. 

C. The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 
13. BOOKS AND RECORDS. Consultant shall maintain, in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, comprehensive books and records relating to all Services performed under this Agreement, 
which shall be retained by Consultant for a period of at least four (4) years from and after the 
completion of all Services.  Owner, or its authorized representatives, shall have the right to audit such 
books and records at all reasonable times upon two days prior notice to Consultant. 

14. PROMOTION/CONFIDENTIALITY. The Consultant, by virtue of this Agreement, shall acquire no 
right to use, and shall not use, the name of the Owner or the Owner’s Representative  (either alone or 
in conjunction with or as a part of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or 
designs of either of them or any related, affiliated or subsidiary companies:  in any advertising, publicity 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 7  

or promotion; to express or imply any endorsement of the Consultant's Work or Services; or in any 
other manner whatsoever (whether or not similar to the uses hereinabove specifically prohibited).  
Consultant may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to and acquire knowledge 
regarding plans, concepts, designs, materials, data, systems and other information of or with respect 
to Owner or Owner’s Representative, or any subsidiaries or affiliated companies thereof, which may 
not be accessible or known to the general public (“Confidential Information”).  Confidential Information 
that is specific as to techniques, equipment, processes, products, concepts or designs, etc. shall not be 
deemed to be within the knowledge of the general public merely because it is embraced by general 
disclosures in the public domain. Any knowledge acquired by Consultant from such Confidential 
Information or otherwise through its engagement hereunder shall not be used, published or divulged 
by Consultant to any other person, firm or corporation, or used in any advertising or promotion 
regarding Consultant or its services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first 
having obtained the written permission of Owner, which permission Owner may withhold in its sole 
discretion.  Consultant specifically agrees that the foregoing confidentiality obligation applies to, but is 
not limited to, any information disclosed to Consultant in any document provided to Consultant 
pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement, including but not limited to solicitations except to 
the extent Consultant must disclose such information to compile and prepare its proposed price for 
work or services performed hereunder.  The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or 
earlier termination of this Agreement. 

15. SUBCONSULTANT.  If Consultant, as part of the performance of its Services hereunder, is required 
to commission other consultants (“Subconsultant”), then the following provisions shall apply: 

A. Owner reserves the right to approve or disapprove the use of any Subconsultant for this 
Agreement; 

B. Consultant shall direct and coordinate the services of any Subconsultant commissioned by 
Consultant; 

C. Consultant shall bear full responsibility under this Agreement for all services of its Subconsultant(s), 
including without limitation each Subconsultant's negligent errors and omissions; 

D. The costs of all Subconsultants’ services for the performance of Additional Services compensated 
on a time-and-materials or cost-reimbursable basis shall be billed to Owner without markup; 

E. Owner shall have no obligation to pay, or be responsible in any way, for the payment of any monies 
to any Subconsultant, except as may otherwise be required by law; 

F. All agreements between Consultant and any Subconsultants shall reflect the terms of this 
Agreement and require the Subconsultant, to the extent of the Services to be performed by the 
Subconsultant, to assume toward the Consultant all the obligations which Consultant by this 
Agreement assumes towards the Owner, it being understood that nothing herein shall in any way 
relieve Consultant from any of its duties under this Agreement. 

G. Owner shall be a third party beneficiary of all obligations under all agreements between Consultant 
and any Subconsultants; provided, however, that nothing contained herein or therein shall create 
any contractual relationship between Owner and any Subconsultant or any obligation of Owner to 
any Subconsultant. 

16. NOTICE. 
A. Notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing, may be delivered personally 

to an officer or designated representative of the party to be served or sent by first class mail, 
facsimile to be confirmed by first class mail, or messenger services and shall be deemed given 
when received by the addressee.  Notices shall be addressed as follows: 
 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 8  

If to Owner:  CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
Attention: Contracting Officer 
10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box # 690519 
Orlando, FL  32869 

 
         If to Consultant: Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 

Attention: B. Kelley Klepper 
                                        421 Fayetteville Street, Suite 600 
                                        Raleigh, North Carolina 27601 

or to such other address as either party may direct by written notice given to the other as 
hereinabove provided. 

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice sent to the last designated address of the party to whom 
a notice may be or is required to be delivered hereunder shall not be deemed ineffective if actual 
delivery cannot be made due to an unnoticed change of address of the party to whom the notice 
is directed or the failure or refusal of such party to accept delivery of the notice. 

17. THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE. 

A. The Owner's authorized representative (herein referred to as the “Owner's Representative”) shall 
be  {cmsrespindividual348} whose mailing address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519, 
Orlando, Florida 32869; provided, however, that the Owner may, without liability to the Consultant, 
unilaterally amend this Section from time to time by designating a different person or organization 
to act as its representative and so advising the Consultant in writing, at which time the person or 
organization so designated shall be the Owner's Representative for purposes of this 
Agreement.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, and until the Consultant is notified 
in writing to the contrary, all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and 
instructions to be given by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and 
decisions to be made by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner 
shall be taken, given and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner’s Representative in the 
name of and on behalf of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner’s 
Representative) shall be solely obligated to the Consultant for all sums required to be paid by the 
Owner to the Consultant hereunder. 

B. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the 
Consultant and the Owner’s Representative; provided, however, that the Owner’s Representative 
shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations of the Consultant to the Owner 
as imposed by this Agreement. 

18. NO AGENCY. It is the express intention of the parties that Consultant is an independent contractor 
and not an employee, agent, joint venturer or partner of Owner.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be 
interpreted or construed as creating or establishing the relationship of employer and employee between 
Owner and Consultant or any employee or agent of Consultant.  Both parties acknowledge that 
Consultant is not an employee for state or federal tax purposes.  Consultant shall retain the right to 
perform services for others during the term of this Agreement. 

19. PUBLIC RECORDS. The Consultant shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Florida Public 
Records Act, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. Specifically, the Consultant shall: 
A. Keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to perform the service. 
B. Upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, provide the public agency with 

a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable 
time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in this chapter or as otherwise provided by 
law. 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 9  

C. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
contract term and following completion of the contract if the Consultant does not transfer the 
records to the public agency. 

D. Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the public agency all public records in 
possession of the Consultant or keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to 
perform the service. If the Consultant transfers all public records to the public agency upon 
completion of the contract, the Consultant shall destroy any duplicate public records that are 
exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If the Consultant 
keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the contract, the Consultant shall meet all 
applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored electronically must be 
provided to the public agency, upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, 
in a format that is compatible with the information technology systems of the public agency. 

IF THE CONSULTANT HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONSULTANT’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING TO 
THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE OWNER’S CUSTODIAN OF 
PUBLIC RECORDS AT TELEPHONE NUMBER 407-939-3240, EMAIL 
ADDRESS PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG, MAILING 
ADDRESS CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT, 
ATTN: PUBLIC RECORDS ADMINISTRATOR, P.O. BOX 690519, 
ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32869. 
20. E-VERIFY COMPLIANCE. The Consultant and its subconsultants warrant compliance with all federal 

immigration laws and regulations that relate to their employees.  The Consultant agrees and 
acknowledges that the Owner is a public employer that is subject to the E-Verify requirements as set 
forth in Section 448.095, Florida Statutes, and that the provisions of F.S. Sec. 448.095 apply to this 
Agreement.  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section hereof, if the Owner has a good faith belief 
that the Consultant has knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien who is not duly authorized to 
work by the immigration laws of the Attorney General of the United States for employment under this 
Agreement, the Owner shall terminate the Agreement.  If the Owner has a good faith belief that a 
subconsultant performing work under this Agreement knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien 
who is not duly authorized to work by the immigration laws or the Attorney General of the United States 
for employment under this Agreement, the Owner shall promptly notify the Consultant and order the 
Consultant to immediately terminate the contract with the subconsultant.  The Consultant shall be liable 
for any additional costs incurred by the Owner as a result of termination of a contract based on 
Consultant’s failure to comply with E-Verify requirements referenced herein. 

21. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. By executing this Agreement, the Consultant certifies that it is eligible 
to bid on, submit a proposal for, enter into, or renew a contract with the Owner for goods or services 
pursuant to Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. Owner may terminate Agreement immediately upon 
discovering that Consultant: (A) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies or Other Entities that 
Boycott Israel List; (B) is engaged in a boycott of Israel; (C) has been placed on the Scrutinized 
Companies with Activities in Sudan List; (D) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with 
Activities in Iran Terrorism Sectors List; or (E) has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or 
Syria. This Agreement may also be terminated immediately if the Consultant falsely certified or has 
become ineligible to bid and contract with local government entities under F.S. 287.135. If this 
Agreement is terminated by the Owner as provided above the Owner reserves the right to pursue any 



 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

 
 

 

Page 10  

and all legal remedies against the Consultant, including, but not limited to the remedies described in 
Section 287.135, Florida Statutes; and the Consultant shall be paid only for services completed as of 
the date of the Owner’s termination. Unless explicitly stated in this Section, no other damages, fees or 
costs may be assessed against the Owner for its termination of the Agreement pursuant to this Section. 

22. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 
A. The Contract Documents shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State 

of Florida, to the exclusion of its rules concerning conflicts of laws, and shall constitute the entire and 
sole understanding of the parties hereto notwithstanding any prior oral or written statements, 
instructions, agreements, representations, or other communications. 

B. Any legal proceeding of any nature brought by either party against the other to enforce any right 
or obligation under this Agreement, or arising out of any matter pertaining to this Agreement, the 
Contract Documents or the Services to be performed hereunder (a “Proceeding”), shall be 
submitted for trial, without jury, solely and exclusively before the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial 
Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida; provided, however, that if such Circuit Court does not 
have jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and exclusively before the United 
States District Court for the Middle District of Florida (Orlando Division); and provided further that 
if neither of such courts has jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and 
exclusively before any other court sitting in Orange County, Florida, having jurisdiction.  The parties 
(i) expressly waive the right to a jury trial, (ii) consent and submit to the sole and exclusive 
jurisdiction of the requisite court as provided herein and (iii) agree to accept service of process 
outside the State of Florida in any matter related to a Proceeding in accordance with the applicable 
rules of civil procedure. 

C. If any provision of the Contract Documents is judicially construed to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such provision shall then be construed in a manner allowing its validity or, 
if this leads to an impracticable result, shall be stricken but, in either event, all other provisions of 
the Contract Documents shall remain in full force and effect. 

23. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement is for the services of Consultant and may not be assigned by 
Consultant, nor shall it be assignable by operation of law, without the prior written consent of Owner, 
which consent Owner may withhold in its sole discretion.  Owner reserves the right to assign or novate 
all or any portion of this Agreement and Consultant agrees to execute all documents that are required 
(if any) to effectuate such assignment or novation. 

24. EFFECTIVE DATE.  Any Services performed or caused to be performed by Consultant prior to the 
effective date of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been performed under this Agreement when 
agreed to by the Owner. 

25. HEADINGS.  The headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 
and shall not be construed in any manner for the purpose of interpreting the provisions thereof. 

26. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
A. This Agreement supersedes any and all discussions, understandings or other agreements, either 

oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the Services and contains all the 
covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the Services.  Each party to this 
Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, orally 
or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which are 
not embodied herein, and that no other agreement, statement, course of dealing usage of trade, 
or promise not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding or used to interpret this 
Agreement. Any modification or amendment of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing 
and signed by both parties. 



CONTRACT NO. C006910 

Page 11 

B. Any failure by Owner to require strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement shall not be
construed as a waiver of such provision, and Owner may subsequently require strict compliance at
any time, notwithstanding any prior failure to do so.

27. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

A. The Contract Documents which comprise the entire understanding between the Owner and
Consultant shall only include this Agreement and those documents listed in this section as Exhibits
to the Agreement.  Each Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference for all purposes.
Exhibit A:  Scope of Services and Deliverables (A-1 through A-10)
Exhibit B:  Rate Schedule and Staff Hour Allocation (B-1 through B-4)
Exhibit C:  Consultant Proposal (C-1 through C-40)

B. If there is a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the Exhibits, then the terms of this
Agreement shall control, amend, and supersede any conflicting terms contained in the Exhibits.

C. If there is a conflict between the terms of the Exhibits the order of precedence is as follows:
(1) Exhibit A, then (2) Exhibit C.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed on the day and 
year first above written. 

OWNER CONSULTANT 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

Signature: Signature: 
   As authorized by the Board of Supervisors 

Print Name:    S.C. Kopelousos Print Name: 

Title:    District Administrator    Title: 

Date:    February 27, 2026 Date: 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 1 
 

 
SECTION 1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Consultant shall provide the following Services: 
1.1 Project Description 

The Consultant shall prepare concept design, schematic design, design development, construction 
drawings and material specifications for an area development construction package for the                     
World Drive North Phase 3 project. The Consultant shall remain under contract with Central                   
Florida Tourism Oversight District to provide other contract administrative services as described    
herein. 

1.2 Summary of Scope 
The project includes but is not limited to the following 
design elements: (i) earthen landscape berms; (ii) trees; 
(iii) shrubs; (iv) ground cover; (v) yard drains; (vi) marquee 
sign integration; (vii) 3D design development; (viii) 
irrigation design and integration of its work product into the 
SD, DD, and CD designs. The scope of the project is 
generally contained within the future right of ways for World 
Drive North Phase 3 between Maple Road and South of 
Seven Seas Drive along Floridian Way, as described in the 
Limits of Work image on the right. 
A. Special attention to the landscape in and around 

specific project elements shall be as follows: 
• Screening of ponds  
• Magnolia Palm Drive  
• Magnolia Golf Course  
• Berms 
• Bridge approaches 
• NB, SB & Seven Seas Drive Connection to Floridian 

Way  
• Grand Floridian Resort 
• Polynesian Village Resort  
• Island Tower Resort  
• Shades of Green Sign  
• Interior of Roundabout 
• Magic Kingdom Parking Lot 
• Grand Floridian Back of House 

B. The Services shall also include: 
1. Identification of utility conflicts that will impact the 

irrigation and plantings. 
2. Coordination with the separate Shades of Green 

graphic designer and incorporation of its design into 
the Consultant’s structural landscape and irrigation, 
electrical, and hardscape design of the sign. 

3. Electrical engineering of power and communication systems for irrigation controllers and any 
other approved electrical components. 

4. Coordination with roadway designers on best maintenance practices of the final roadway 
design. 

5. Review of roadway design for drainage recommendations incorporating area development 
design. 

LIMITS OF WORK 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 2 
 

1.3 Scope of Services 
A. Discipline 

1. Landscape Architecture 
2. Electrical Engineering 
3. Irrigation Design 
4. Civil Engineering (Site Grading) 

B. Drawing Standards 
1. All drawings shall be generated using the latest version of AutoCAD for the SD, DD and CD 

level drawings. 
2. All drawings and specifications shall be produced in accordance with the Area Development 

Standards Section 00100 of the Project Manual.  What is this?? The Specifications shall be 
included on the plan sheets. 

3. Consultant shall generate, at a minimum, 3D isometric views of the following in full color: 
a. View from all access points to Roundabouts 1, 2 and 3. 
b. Views of entry and exits of the following Resorts: Grand Floridian Resort; Island Tower 

Resort; and Shades of Green. 
c. Views of the length from both directions of the World Drive North Phase 3 roadway 

project corridor. 
4. All final drawings to be delivered on 22” x 34” drawing size. 
5. Consultant shall coordinate project title block with Owner and Owner’s consultants. 
6. In order to expedite the electronic review process and to minimize the expense associated 

with creating and transmitting paper documents, the Owner subscribes to multiple web-
based, centralized file sharing and document control services, known separately as 
NewForma® and BIM360® or others as the Owner may identify from time to time. 
Accordingly, the Consultant shall process all documents supporting the project to which the 
Consultant’s contract pertains, either BIM360® or NewForma®, as directed by the Owner. 

7. Drawing contents shall meet the requirements described in the Epcot Building Code, CFTOD 
Irrigation and Landscape Specifications, CFTOD Land Development Regulations, and WDW 
Irrigation and Landscape Specifications.  

1.4 Meetings 
Bi-Weekly design progress meetings throughout the Concept, SD, DD, and Construction Document 
Design phases at the Owner’s office/Microsoft Teams. 

1.5 Schedule 
The Consultant shall complete all design and review activities in strict accordance with the Project 
Milestone Schedule included herein. 

1.6 Owner Provided Documents 
Owner provided PDF drawings from the World Drive North Phase 3 Projects. These drawings are 
available electronically for viewing and download under the Letter of Interest (“LOI”) No. C006910: 
Area Development Landscape Design for World Drive North Phase 3 at 
https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/134479#bidDocs and will also be 
provided in AutoCAD.  

Consultant shall study all background information provided by Owner and determine what additional 
survey, if any, is required to complete its design. Owner will provide additional survey data if required. 

1.7 Engineer Estimate 
Consultant shall prepare an engineering cost estimate for the project based upon the preliminary 
engineering plans, including all cost of improvements, preliminary right of way estimates, etc. 

 

 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 3 
 

1.8 Permit Requirements 
The Consultant is required to obtain all federal, state and local permits required to complete the 
World Drive North Phase 3 Area Development Design scope of services. This includes but may not 
be limited to the following: 
• Utility Locate Permits 
• CFTOD Right of Way Use Permit 
• RCES Utility Services 
• WDW Environmental 
• Electrical Permit 
• Building Permit 

SECTION 2. DELIVERABLES 

The Consultant shall prepare the following deliverables: 
2.1 Assemble Base Data and Site Analysis 

A. Consultant shall receive and assemble available base data provided by the Owner for preparation 
of the concept landscape plan. Base data is comprised of up-to-date topographic and boundary 
survey, and As-Builts. Consultant shall also review available existing site conditions, existing 
utility and drainage plans, environmental and wetland reports and other available background 
information provided by the Owner. A topographic survey shall be provided in CADD format. 
1. Monorail Proximity Construction Plan shall be reviewed and adhered to when developing the 

basis of design. 

B. Consultant shall complete a site visit to the property and become familiar with the site and 
surrounding development and take photographs. 

C. Consultant shall prepare and analyze site photographs of World Drive North Phase 3 indicating 
the existing plant palette used with the intention of continuing the same plant palette in the 
affected landscape areas. 

D. Deliverables shall include the following: 
1. Assembly and review of base data and topographic survey and preparation of base map; 
2. Preparation of site opportunities and issues analysis exhibit; and 
3. Analysis of existing site photographs. 

2.2 Concept Design Documents 
A. Overall Project site plan showing the ROW and all future roadways, roundabouts, and entrance 

configuration clearly defining the limits of work. 
1. Include key for planting schedule. 
2. General landscape layout including: tree placement, shrub bed design, and sod limits. 
3. Identify areas of proposed earthen berming and landscape screening. 
4. Existing utilities in the vicinity of the work. 
5. Shades of Green marquee sign footprint. 

2.3 Schematic Design Documents 
A. Provide a basis of design report and code summary. 
B. Area Development Drawings. 

1. Overall Project site plan showing the ROW and all future roadways and bridges clearly 
defining the Limits of the Work. 
a. Include key for enlarged individual plan sheets. 
b. Include irrigation POC’s and other above ground wet pipe utilities. 
c. Include electrical service meters, transformers, switches, and other related equipment. 

Provide screening plans which also accommodate service access. 
d. Include ground mounted post signs and traffic regulatory signs. 

2. Grading plans with sufficient contour lines and spot elevations to convey design intent. 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 4 
 

3. Planting plan for Trees and standard planting details. 
4. Planting plan for Shrubs and standard planting details. 
5. Other standard details for construction. 
6. SD Level landscape, irrigation, grading, and structural design of Shade of Green marquee 

sign. 
7. Sod plan. 
8. Incorporate Irrigation Mainline layout. 
9. Incorporate Irrigation POC plan and details. 
10. Incorporate Irrigation controller plan. 
11. Layout drawings using NGVD 29 Disney plane coordinate system. 
12. Identification of possible utility conflicts. 
13. SD level storm water pollution prevention controls. 
14. Coordinate with RCES to document and illustrate the POC for reclaimed water. 
15. Coordinate with RCES to document and illustrate the POC for electrical power. 
16. Complete USR forms for electrical services, reclaimed water and submit them to 

RCES. Provide copy of each USR to the Owner. 
C. Electrical Engineering  

1. Provide preliminary layout drawings for lighting, electrical power, communications, and 
include power needs. 

2. Insert typical POC details for utility services into the design documents. 
3. All electrical engineered drawings must show conformance to Epcot Code. 
4. All specified electrical devices shall be UL approved. 

2.4 3-D Modeling 
A. Provide a three-dimensional model based on approved SD drawings. The model shall be provided 

in SketchUp or equivalent. At a minimum, the model shall present a comprehensive view of: 
1. View from all access points to Roundabouts 1, 2 and 3. 
2. Views of entry and exits of the following Resorts; Grand Floridian Resort; Island Tower 

Resort; Shades of Green. 
3. Views of the length from both directions of the World Drive North Phase 3 roadway project 

corridor. 
2.5 Design Development 

A. Elaborate on all of the SD documents described above. 
B. Add site line studies at intersections to demonstrate compliance with applicable FDOT regulations 

concerning site lines. 
C. Add tables for trees and shrubs providing quantities and complete sizing criteria. 
D. Provide final grading plans. 
E. Provide additional details and sections and elevations reflecting updated information and 

coordination with sub consultants. 
F. Provide photo references for plant materials. 
G. DD Level landscape, irrigation, hardscape, electrical, grading and structural design of Shade of 

Green marquee sign. 
H. Conduct pre-submittal reviews with CFTOD Planning & Engineering and CFTOD Building and 

Safety. 
         I.    DD level written technical specifications. 

J. Resolve any utility conflicts, sign conflicts, or other conflicts. 
K. Electrical power needs. 
L. Design all directional bore crossings for electrical, communication and irrigation. In coordination 

with RCES utility offset guidelines. 
 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 5 
 

2.6 100% Construction Drawings 
A. Elaborate on all of the DD documents. 
B. Finalize all Shades of Green marquee sign area development. 
C. Provide additional details and sections and elevations reflecting updated information and 

coordination with sub consultants. 
D. Provide completed erosion control drawings and completed SWPPP. 
E. Provide completed agronomist report, recommendations for soil amendments, and schedule for 

soil amendment. 
F. Provide electrical engineering calculations for voltage drop. 
G. Provide photo references for plant materials. 
H. Provide complete plant schedules including materials and color selections and size. 
I. 100% construction drawings shall be signed and sealed by a professional Landscape Architect, 

Civil Engineer and Electrical Engineer as warranted by discipline. 
J. Consultant shall apply for all applicable permits from the CFTOD Planning & Engineering 

Department, CFTOD Building and Safety Department, and WDW Environmental. 
2.7 CA Phase Services 

A. Meet with Owner and selected Area Development Contractor for 24 one-hour update meetings, 
throughout the construction phase to review progress and discuss challenges. 

B. Landscape architects services shall be provided during the construction phase for periodic 
landscape bed, tree and shrub layout site inspections and answers to RFI’s. 

2.8 Design Review Milestones               
A. Concept Plan Submittal 

1. World Drive North Phase 3  
2. When the Consultant has completed the Concept Design phase, the Consultant shall formally 

submit the drawings and all other required and appropriate documents to Owner for review. 
The Consultant shall incorporate all design review comments from the Owner into the 
concept design and re-submit them to the Owner for verification. When the Owner provides 
written confirmation that the concept design documents have been completed, the 
Consultant shall exit the Concept Design Phase and Proceed to the SD Phase. 

B. SD Documents Submittal 
1. World Drive North Phase 3  
2. When the Consultant has completed the SD design phase, the Consultant shall formally 

submit the drawings and all other required and appropriate documents to the Owner for 
review. The Consultant shall incorporate all design review comments from the Owner into 
the Schematic Design documents and re-submit them to the Owner for verification. When 
the Owner provides written confirmation that the SD design Documents have been 
completed, the Consultant shall exit the SD Design Phase and Proceed to the DD Phase. 

C. DD Documents Submittal 
1. World Drive North Phase 3  
2. When the Consultant has completed the DD design phase, the Consultant shall formally 

submit the drawings and all other required and appropriate documents to the Owner for 
review. The Consultant shall incorporate all design review comments from the Owner into 
the DD Design Documents and re-submit them to the Owner for verification. When the Owner 
provides written confirmation that the DD Design Documents have been completed, the 
Consultant shall exit the DD Phase and Proceed with the CD Phase. 

D. CD Documents Submittal 
1. World Drive North Phase 3  
2. When the Consultant has completed the CD design phase, the Consultant shall formally 

submit the drawings and all other required and appropriate documents to the Owner for 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 6 
 

review. The Consultant shall incorporate all design review comments from the Owner into 
the CD documents and re-submit them to the Owner for verification. When the Owner 
provides written confirmation that the CD Documents have been completed, the Consultant 
shall exit the CD Phase and Proceed with the permitting and construction of the project. 

2.9 Deliverable Format and Requirements 
A. CFTOD generally follows FDOT requirements regarding plan production, folder structure, file 

naming convention and levels/layers and symbology requirements as identified in the FDOT 
Design Manual and FDOT Cadd Manual. 

B. Plans sets will utilize the roadway baselines for layout and alignments of the proposed 
improvements. Plan sheets showing improvements outside of the roadway plan sheets will be 
coordinated with the roadway designer to maintain project consistency. 

C. Consultant may use either Microstation or AutoCAD for plan production. Cadd files converted 
between formats will be coordinated so there are no changes in the alignment of the 
improvements. 

D. All design cadd files shall be geo-referenced correctly in the project datum and true to scale. Any 
cadd files used for specific plan details or similar items that are not geo-referenced or true to 
scale shall be specifically noted as such within the file. 

E. Consultant shall provide Cadd files (2D), 3D Utility Model and PDF files (11 x 17) for all 
Deliverables. 

SECTION 3. PROJECT MANAGEMENT 
This task involves the following: 
3.1 Bi-weekly Status Meetings 

This involves holding bi-weekly design meetings with CFTOD and the Consultant. Sixteen (16) such 
meetings are anticipated over the duration of this design project. 

3.2 Schedule 
Within ten (10) business days after the notice to Proceed, and prior to the Consultant beginning 
work, the Consultant shall submit a detailed project activity or event schedule to CFTOD for review 
and comment. 

3.3 Key Personnel 
The consultant’s work shall be performed and directed by the key personnel identified in the proposal 
presentations by the Consultant. Any changes in the indicated personnel shall be subject to review 
and approval by CFTOD. 

3.4 Misc. Management Tasks 
Stakeholder coordination, separate specific design meetings, assume 6 meetings beyond those 
identified in the above scope. 

3.5 Quality Control 
The consultant shall be responsible for the professional quality, technical accuracy and coordination 
of all surveys, designs, drawings, specifications and other services furnished by the consultant under 
this contract. This includes production and implementation of QA/QC plan. Consultant shall be 
responsible for thoroughly reviewing all existing plans and conditions of World Drive Phase 3 
Construction and utility plans with emphasis on grading/drainage, utility locations and elevations. 
Consultant’s QA/QC shall also include Sub-consultant review, response to comments and any 
resolution meetings if required. The District reserves the right to audit the Consultants QA/QC 
documentation at their discretion. 

3.6 Supervision: Includes all effort required to supervise all technical tasks. 
A. The Consultant must maintain staffing levels and personnel qualifications necessary to complete 

the required activities for this Scope of Services.  



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 7 
 

3.7 Coordination 
Includes all efforts to coordinate with all disciplines of the project team, including subconsultants. 

3.8 Invoicing 
Invoices shall be submitted promptly according to contract requirements, typically monthly in 
frequency. Along with the invoice the Consultant shall prepare a memo of work performed within the 
invoice period for review and payment. 

3.9 Meeting Exhibits 
General exhibits as required for various stakeholder, agency and CFTOD meetings. 

SECTION 4. SPECIFICATIONS 

4.1 Provided below is a list of standards. This list is by no means all inclusive, but suggestive of the 
regulations governing the Consultant's performance. The Consultant shall comply with all applicable 
Federal, State and Local Regulations in performance of services. 

4.2 The Consultant shall ensure that all documents, studies and construction plans, as applicable, are 
prepared in accordance with the latest editions of the standards, which include, but are not limited 
to, publications such as: 
• AASHTO, "A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets" 
• FDOT Soils and Foundations Handbook 
• FDOT Flexible and Rigid Pavement Design Manuals 
• FHWA Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
• FDOT Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction 
• FDOT Design Manual 
• FDOT Florida Greenbook 
• FDOT Basis of Estimates Manual 
• FDOT Construction Project Administration Manual 
• Federal Highway Program Manual 
• FDOT Drainage Manual 
• FDOT Sample, Testing and Reporting Guide 
• FDOT Structures Manual 
• AASHTO Roadside Design Guide 
• FDOT Standard Plans for Road Construction 
• FDOT Standard Plans for Bridge Construction 
• FDOT CADD Manual 
• CFTOD Land Development Regulations 
• EPCOT Building Code 
• RCES Electrical Construction Specifications 
• RCES Underground Construction Rules in the Vicinity of CFTOD Electric Utilities 
• RCES Utility Specifications and Construction Standards (including Electric, Natural Gas & Water, 

Wastewater & Reclaimed Water) 
• CFTOD Traffic Signal Equipment Standards 
• CFTOD District IT Fiber Standards 
• South Florida Water Management District’s Environmental Resource Permit Applicant’s Handbook 

Volume I and II 
• CFTOD Landscape and Irrigation Specifications and Standard Details 
• CFTOD Land Development Regulations 

4.3 List of Informational Items       
• World Drive North Phase 3 Plans (100% Plans) 

o ITS 
o Lighting 
o Roadway 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 8 
 

o Roll Plots 
o Signing 
o Structures 
o Utilities 

• Project Files - Supplemental Attachments and Specifications  
Project files are available electronically for viewing and download under the Letter of Interest 
(“LOI”) No. C006910: Area Development Landscape Design for World Drive North Phase 3 at 
https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/134479#bidDocs. All project files  
contained therein, and any applicable Addenda subsequently issued thereto, are specifically 
incorporated into the Agreement by this reference. 
o Limits of Work Exhibit 
o CFTOD Irrigation Specifications (SECTION 32 84 23 LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION) 
o CFTOD Landscape Specifications (SECTION 32 93 00 PLANTING) 
o CFTOD Land Development Regulations 
o Monorail Proximity Construction Plan 
o CFTOD Irrigation Details 
o CFTOD Landscape Details 
o World Drive North Phase III - Construction Drawings 
o World Drive North Phase III - CPM Schedule 
o Roll plot files 
 WDN PH 3_EXHIBIT_2023-04-14 
 World Drive Phase 3 Overall Exhibit 

SECTION 5. ADDENDA CLARIFICATIONS 

5.1 No golf course plans or area development plans are available for adjacent projects at this time. 

5.2 No tree survey or existing irrigation drawings are available at this time. 
5.3 No hardscape design is currently planned within the World Drive North Phase III Construction 

Contract. The successful Landscape Design firm will be tasked with designing the landscape and 
irrigation that will go in the center of the roundabouts. 

5.4 RE: Separate points-of-connection (Grand Floridian, Polynesian, Shades, and roadway) for the 
irrigation systems:   At this time, CFTOD anticipates multiple WDW points of connections, a separate 
Shades of Green point of connection, and multiple CFTOD roadway points of connection. 

5.5 CFTOD will provide the approved graphic design for the Shades of Green marquee sign. The 
Landscape Architect (Consultant) shall be responsible for the structural design and permitting, 
landscape, irrigation, electrical, and hardscape design of the sign. 

5.6 RE: Overall roll plot of the Phase 3 limits of construction:  Two roll plot files for consultant’s reference 
have been uploaded to the Documents tab labeled WDN PH 3_EXHIBIT_2023-04-14 and World Drive 
Phase 3 Overall Exhibit. These files are available at the link above under the Project Files. 

SECTION 6. ELECTRICAL SAFETY POLICY 
6.1 Implicit on all electrical work performed at any of the Owner’s properties is the Consultant’s (and its 

Subconsultant's and Sub-subconsultant's) strict compliance with the Owner’s Electrical Safety Policy 
(“policy”). 

6.2 The policy is that all electrical work shall be performed de-energized as a standard work practice.  
This policy applies to the Consultant, its Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, Subconsultants, Sub-
subconsultants and anyone who performs electrical work on or near electrical conductors or circuit 
parts which are or may be energized.  Consultant is expected to exercise good judgment and take 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 9 
 

personal responsibility for reducing the hazard risk to its lowest level and to ensure strict compliance 
with all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, regulations and rules. 

6.3 The Consultant agrees that its employees and agents and the employees of any of its Subcontractors, 
Sub-subcontractors, Subconsultants, Sub-subconsultants or anyone who performs electrical work as 
described herein shall adhere to all posted warnings, wear appropriate personal protective equipment 
(“PPE”) and protective clothing and use appropriate tools until exposed energized electrical 
conductors or circuit parts are verified to be at a zero energy state. 

6.4 In the narrowly limited circumstances when exposed energized parts are not de-energized, excluding 
diagnostic testing that cannot be performed de-energized, a documented job briefing shall be 
completed.  The intent of the briefing is to provide notification for performing energized work to the 
Owner’s Representative prior to performing the work.  The job briefing shall include, but not be 
limited to, the following: 
• Validation for energized work 
• Hazards associated with scheduled work such as working in roadways or work performed within 

boundary, etc. 
• Work procedures 
• Energy source controls such as physical barriers or meter verification 
• Personal protective equipment to be utilized 
• Job work plan summary 
• Record of the names of all workers involved in the work/briefing 

6.5 The Consultant understands and agrees that the Owner, throughout the term of the Agreement, may 
review the Consultant's, Subconsultant's, and Sub-subconsultant's safe work plan(s) to confirm for 
its operations and the safety and wellbeing of its cast, guests and invitees that adequate contingency 
plans have been considered in the event of an inadvertent interruption of electrical service. 

6.6 Consultant shall establish or shall cause its Subconsultants or Sub-subconsultants to establish 
appropriate boundaries to restrict access around the work based on the type of hazard present.  A 
flash protection boundary shall be established by the qualified person of the Consultant or its 
Subconsultants or Sub-subconsultants a minimum of four feet away (600V, 600A max) from the 
exposed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts where the potential exists for an arc flash to 
occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different flash boundary is appropriate.  
Persons must not cross the flash protection boundary unless they are wearing the appropriate PPE 
and are under direct supervision of a qualified person. 

6.7 A limited approach boundary shall be established by the qualified person of the Consultant or its 
Subconsultants or Sub-subconsultants a minimum of three feet six inches (3’-6”) away from the 
exposed fixed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts, 600V max, where the potential exists 
for an electric shock to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different limited 
approach boundary is appropriate. The purpose of the limited approach boundary is to advise 
unqualified persons that an electrical shock hazard exists and to reduce the risk of contact with an 
exposed energized conductor.  Only qualified persons and immediately supervised unqualified 
persons are allowed to cross the limited approach boundary. 

6.8 The Consultant understands and agrees that it is the responsibility of the Consultant to ensure 
compliance with all applicable safety laws, codes regulations and rules as well as adherence to the 
policy for all electrical work. The Owner reserves the right to observe and/or audit the Consultant’s 
(or its Subconsultants’ or Sub-subconsultants’) work without notice.  The Consultant expressly 
understands and unequivocally agrees that any failure to strictly comply with any applicable safety 
laws, codes, regulations, and the rules of this policy is a material breach of the Agreement and may 
result in an immediate work stoppage or termination of the Agreement at no additional cost to the 
Owner. 
 
 



EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

A - 10 
 

 
SECTION 7. MILESTONE SCHEDULE 

 
N

TP
 

Selection 8-01-26   
Negotiation 8-01-26 15-02-26 

Notice to Proceed 27-02-26 27-02-26 

BA
SE

 

Receive Base Files & Generate Base Model 1-03-26 14-03-26 

Generate Constraints Map 15-03-26 30-03-26 

Generate Opportunities & Constraints Report 1-04-26 7-04-26 

CO
N

CE
PT

 

Concept Design Drawings Submittal 
(Includes 2 Reviews with WDW) 

7-04-26 21-04-26 

Owner Review Period 21-04-26 28-04-26 
Incorporate Owner's Comments 1-05-26 7-05-26 
Finalize Concept Design Drawings (Owner Approved)   14-05-26 

SD
 

Submit Schematic Design Drawings to Owner 
(Begin UAO Submittals & RCES Utility Permit) (Includes 2 
Reviews with WDW) 

15-05-26 7-06-26 

Owner Review Period 7-06-26 14-06-26 

Incorporate Owner's Comments 15-06-26 28-06-26 
Finalize Schematic Design Drawings 
(Owner Approved)   

30-06-26 

DD
 

Submit Design Development Drawings 
(Includes 3-D Model) 
(Submit Building & Electrical Permits, CFTOD ROW, WDW 
Env. Permits) 
(Includes 1 Review with WDW) 

1-07-26 24-07-26 

Owner Review Period 24-07-26 7-08-26 

Incorporate Owner's Comments 
(Includes 3-D Review Comments) 

7-08-26 26-08-26 

Finalize Design Development Drawings 
(Owner Approved)   

26-08-26 

CD
 

Submit Construction Drawings to Owner 
(Includes 1 Review with WDW) 

26-08-26 9-09-26 

Owner Review Period 9-09-26 16-09-26 

Incorporate Owner's Comments 16-09-26 25-09-26 
Finalize Construction Drawings (Owner Approved) 

  
25-09-26 

Po
st

-D
es

ig
n Bidding & Award 25-09-26 15-02-27 

Construction & CA Services 15-02-27 16-09-27 
Punch List   16-09-27 

Final Acceptance   3-10-27 

 
 
 

END OF EXHIBIT A 
 



EXHIBIT B 
RATE SCHEDULE AND STAFF HOUR ALLOCATION 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

B - 1 

I. Schedule of Billing Rates: The following establishes the hourly billing rates in effect throughout the 
Agreement.   

 

Labor Classification Fully Loaded 
Hourly Rate 

 Labor Classification Fully Loaded 
Hourly Rate 

Project Manager $206.30 Engineer 2 $232.88 
Chief Landscape $335.67 Engineer 1 $175.63 
Sr. Landscape $253.55 Engineering Intern $166.85 
Project Landscape $241.87 Chief Scientist $260.95 
Landscape Architect $186.29 Sr. Environmental Specialist $176.19 
Landscape Designer $147.30 Chief Designer $229.86 
Sr. Engineer 2 $311.32 CADD/Comp. Tech $126.58 
Sr. Engineer 1 $295.69 Graphic Designer $174.65 
Chief Engineer 2 $360.91 Secretarial/Clerical $121.34 
Chief Engineer 1 $325.31   

 
II: Itemization of the Fee: The following itemizes the Fee and corresponds to completion of the Scope of 

Services set forth in Exhibit A: 
 

Labor Classification Total Hours 
(all tasks) 

Fully Loaded 
Hourly Rate 

Total Fixed 
Fee 

Project Manager 248 $206.30 $51,162.07 
Chief Landscape 72 $335.67 $24,168.33 
Sr. Landscape 24 $253.55 $6,085.12 
Project Landscape 40 $241.87 $9,674.65 
Landscape Architect 219 $186.29 $40,798.38 
Landscape Designer 456 $147.30 $67,170.85 
Sr. Engineer 2 65 $311.32 $20,236.02 
Sr. Engineer 1 35 $295.69 $10,349.32 
Chief Engineer 2 29 $360.91 $10,466.32 
Chief Engineer 1 25 $325.31 $8,132.68 
Engineer 2 70 $232.88 $16,301.87 
Engineer 1 251 $175.63 $44,084.02 
Engineering Intern 30 $166.85 $5,005.46 
Chief Scientist 20 $260.95 $5,218.99 
Sr. Environmental Specialist 20 $176.19 $3,523.86 
Chief Designer 20 $229.86 $4,597.14 
CADD/Comp. Tech 226 $126.58 $28,606.16 
Graphic Designer 10 $174.65 $1,746.46 
Secretarial/Clerical 70 $121.34 $8,494.11 

TOTAL SALARY AMOUNT $365,821.81 
Subconsultant: Hines, Inc. $64,501.40 

Subconsultant: Buholtz Professional Engineering, Inc. $38,420.00 
TOTAL FIXED FEE $468,743.21 

 
 
NOTE: The fully loaded hourly rates above cover Consultant’s profit, overhead, direct expenses, and all 
costs of any nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, taxes, labor and materials). 
 
 



EXHIBIT B 
RATE SCHEDULE AND STAFF HOUR ALLOCATION 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

B - 2 

STAFF HOUR ALLOCATION 

Staff Classification 
Pr

oj
ec

t M
an

ag
er

 

Ch
ie

f L
an

ds
ca

pe
 

Sr
. L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

Pr
oj

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
Ar

ch
ite

ct
 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

Sr
. E

ng
in

ee
r 2

 

Sr
. E

ng
in

ee
r 1

 

Ch
ie

f E
ng

in
ee

r 2
 

Ch
ie

f E
ng

in
ee

r 1
 

En
gi

ne
er

 2
 

En
gi

ne
er

 1
 

En
g.

 I
nt

er
n 

Ch
ie

f S
ci

en
tis

t 

Sr
. E

nv
. S

pe
ci

al
is

t 

Ch
ie

f D
es

ig
ne

r 

CA
D

D
/C

om
p.

 T
ec

h 

G
ra

ph
ic

 D
es

ig
ne

r 

Se
cr

et
ar

ia
l/

Cl
er

ic
al

 

Total 
Hours 

Task 1 - Project Management 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

1.1 Review Existing 
Documents & Plans 5 5 5   10  10            35 

1.2 Field Reviews 10 10    10              30 
1.3 Coordination w/ 
Separate Consultants 5                5   10 

1.4 Coordination w/ 
Sub-Consultants 5                5   10 

1.5 Project Budget, 
Schedule, Meetings 30 5                 20 55 

Task 2 - Create Background Files 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

2.1 Data Gathering 5    5 5      5 10    5 10  45 
2.2 File Conversion 
and Compilation 

    5 5           5   15 

2.3 Incorporation of 
Separate Survey Data 

    5 5           5   15 

Task 3 - Basis of Design 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

3.1 Generate 
Constraints Map 

    5 10     5   5 5  10   40 

3.2 Generate 
Opportunity & 
Constraints Map 

5 5 5   10           10   35 

3.3 Code Check & 
Summary 5   10  10    10       10   45 

Task 4 - Concept Plans 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

4.1  Overall Site  
Plan  (Includes 
Shades of Green 
Footprint  & Utilities) 

2 5   5 5        5 5  5   32 

4.2 Grading Plan 2 5   5 5    10  5    20 5   57 
4.3 Tree Plan 2 5   5 10           5   27 
4.4 Shrub Plan 2 5   5 10           5   27 
4.5 Utility Avoidance 
Plan 2 2   5 5     10      5   29 

Task 5 - Schematic Plans 
5.1 Overall Site Plan 
(Includes Utilities, 
Signage) 

2 5   2 2      2     2   15 

5.2 Grading Plan 2 5   5 5  10    5 10    5   47 
5.3 Tree Plan 2 5   5 10           5   27 
5.4 Shrub Plan 2 5   5 10           5   27 
5.5 Ground Cover 
Plan 2 5   5 10           5   27 

5.6 Planting Details 2    5            5   12 
5.7  Incorporate   
Electrical   Power   
Plan   and   Details   
from Separate 
Consultant 

2                10   12 



EXHIBIT B 
RATE SCHEDULE AND STAFF HOUR ALLOCATION 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

B - 3 

Staff Classification 
Pr

oj
ec

t M
an

ag
er

 

Ch
ie

f L
an

ds
ca

pe
 

Sr
. L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

Pr
oj

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
Ar

ch
ite

ct
 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

Sr
. E

ng
in

ee
r 2

 

Sr
. E

ng
in

ee
r 1

 

Ch
ie

f E
ng

in
ee

r 2
 

Ch
ie

f E
ng

in
ee

r 1
 

En
gi

ne
er

 2
 

En
gi

ne
er

 1
 

En
g.

 I
nt

er
n 

Ch
ie

f S
ci

en
tis

t 

Sr
. E

nv
. S

pe
ci

al
is

t 

Ch
ie

f D
es

ig
ne

r 

CA
D

D
/C

om
p.

 T
ec

h 

G
ra

ph
ic

 D
es

ig
ne

r 

Se
cr

et
ar

ia
l/

Cl
er

ic
al

 

Total 
Hours 

Task 5 - Schematic Plans (continued) 
5.8  Incorporate  
Irrigation  Plans  and  
Details  from  
Separate 
Consultant 

2                10   12 

5.9 Structural Plans 
for Shades of Green 
Sign 

2      15  5   15     5   42 

5.10 SWPPP Plans 5      5 5    5        20 
5.11 UAO Process 5       5           20 30 
5.12 RCES Utility 
Permit 5      5 5   10 10       10 45 

Task 6 - Design Development Plans 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

6.1 Overall Site Plan 2   2 2 2   2   2     2   14 
6.2 Grading Plan 2   2 5 5   5   5 10    5   39 
6.3 Sight Line Study    10 5 10    5       5   35 
6.4 Tree Plan 2   2 5 15           5   29 
6.5 Shrub Plan 2   2 5 15           5   29 
6.6 Ground Cover 
Plan 2   2 5 10           5   24 

6.7 Planting Details                 5   5 
6.8 Incorporate 
Electrical Power Plan 
and Details 

2     5           5   12 

6.9  Incorporate  
Irrigation  Plans  and  
Details  from  
Separate Consultant 

2     5           5   12 

6.10 Structural Plans 
for Shades of Green 
Sign 

2      20     20        42 

6.11 SWPPP Plans 2      5     5        12 
6.12   CFTOD   
Building   &   
Electrical   Permits,   
CFTOD   ROW 
Permit, and WDW 
Env Permit 

10      5     10       10 35 

6.13 RCES Utility 
Borings 2      5    5 10        22 

Task 7 - Final Construction Drawings 
7.1 Overall Site Plan 2   2 2 2   2   2     2   14 
7.2 Grading Plan 2   2 2 5   10   10     5   36 
7.3 Tree Plan 2   2 2 10           5   21 
7.4 Shrub Plan 2   2 2 10           5   21 
7.5 Ground Cover 
Plan 2   2 2 10           5   21 

7.6 Planting Details                 5   5 
7.7 Incorporate 
Electrical Power Plan 
and Details 

2     5           5   12 



EXHIBIT B 
RATE SCHEDULE AND STAFF HOUR ALLOCATION 

CONTRACT NO. C006910 
 

B - 4 

Staff 
Classification 

Pr
oj

ec
t M

an
ag

er
 

Ch
ie

f L
an

ds
ca

pe
 

Sr
. L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

Pr
oj

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
Ar

ch
ite

ct
 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
D

es
ig

ne
r 

Sr
. E

ng
in

ee
r 2

 

Sr
. E

ng
in

ee
r 1

 

Ch
ie

f E
ng

in
ee

r 2
 

Ch
ie

f E
ng

in
ee

r 1
 

En
gi

ne
er

 2
 

En
gi

ne
er

 1
 

En
g.

 I
nt

er
n 

Ch
ie

f S
ci

en
tis

t 

Sr
. E

nv
. S

pe
ci

al
is

t 

Ch
ie

f D
es

ig
ne

r 

CA
D

D
/C

om
p.

 T
ec

h 

G
ra

ph
ic

 D
es

ig
ne

r 

Se
cr

et
ar

ia
l/

Cl
er

ic
al

 

Total 
Hours 

Task 7 - Final Construction Drawings (continued) 
7.8  Incorporate  
Irrigation  Plans  and  
Details  from  
Separate Consultant 

2     5           5   12 

7.9 Structural Plans 
for Shades of Green 
Sign 

2      5     15        22 

7.10 SWPPP Plans 2        5   5        12 
7.11 Agronomist / 
Soil Report 2             10 10  5   27 

7.12 Final Permits - 
RCES Utility, Building 
& Electrical, CFTOD 
ROW, WDW Env. 

10     10           10  10 40 

Task 8 - 3D Modeling 
8.1 Create Utility 3D 
Model 

  2  5      20 60        87 

8.2 Create Roadway 
3D Model 

  2  5      20 60        87 

8.3 Create 
Landscape 3D Model 

  2  20 60              82 

Task 9 - Construction Administration 
9.1   Attend   25,   
One   Hour   Weekly   
Meetings   
throughout 
Construction Phase 

25     25              50 

9.2 Provide 180 
Hours for Inspection 
and RFI Responses 

20    80 80              180 

Task 10 - Meetings 
10.1 Bi-Weekly Design 
Review Meetings in 
Concept Phase 

4  4   4              12 

10.2 Bi-Weekly Design 
Review Meetings in 
SD Phase 

4  4   4              12 

10.3 Bi-Weekly Design 
Review Meetings in 
DD Phase 

4     4              8 

10.4 Bi-Weekly Design 
Review Meetings in 
CD Phase 

4     4              8 

10.5 One Post Bid 
Review Meeting 2     2              4 

10.6 Six Stakeholder 
Meetings 12     12              24 

Total Staff Hours 248 72 24 40 219 456 65 35 29 25 70 251 30 20 20 20 226 10 70 1,930 

END OF EXHIBIT B 



LOI # C006910

WORLD DRIVEWORLD DRIVE
North Phase 3 Area Development DesignNorth Phase 3 Area Development Design

Prepared for Prepared by

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM 
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LPFLPFLPFLPFLPFLPPFPLLPLPFFL LLNLLNLLNLLNLLNLLNLNLNLNLNLNLNLNLNLNLNNNNNNLLNLNLLNLLNNLLNNNLNLNNNLNLLNNLLNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNLNNNNNNNNNNNLNLNNON0ON0ON00ON0ON0N0ON0ON0ON0ONOOOOOOOOOOOOO 0OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOONOOOOOOOOOOO 0114114114114114114111 86.86.86.86.6868 202202202202202202222222 5555555LPFLPFLPFLPL LLNLLNLNNNNNNNNNNNLLNLNLLNNNNNNNNNNNON0ON0000ONOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO 11411411486.86.66 2022022022020220222 5555

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 1



LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

November 21, 2025

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District
Procurement & Contracting Department
1900 Hotel Plaza Boulevard
Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830

RE: LOI# C006910; WORLD DRIVE NORTH PHASE 3 AREA DEVELOPMENT DESIGN

Dear Central Florida Tourism Oversight District and Members of the Selection Committee, 

Kimley-Horn is excited to submit a letter of interest in response to the World Drive North Phase 3 Area Development Plan. On behalf of our over 

ideal choice:

OUR TEAM SUCCESSFULLY COMBINES VISION AND PRACTICALITY.

subconsultants, Brian Buholtz with Buholtz Professional Engineering, Inc. and Mike Prevost with Hines, Inc. have extensive experience 

INTEGRATED DESIGN AND VISUALIZATION PROCESS INCREASES DESIGN PRODUCTIVITY.
approach that incorporates 3D modeling and visualization design tools into our standard design process. This has proven to be extremely 

guests and creating a sense of arrival. Please utilize the following link of sample roadway animation— .

COMPREHENSIVE UNDERSTANDING OF FDOT/AASHTO DESIGN CRITERIA AND CFTOD STANDARDS.

OUR INTERNAL STRUCTURE BENEFITS OUR CLIENTS.

Sincerely,

MATTHEW FRANKO, PLA SCOTT MINGONET, PLA, AICP | Authorized Signer

Orlando, FL 32827 Orlando, FL 32801

MATTHEW FRANKO SCOTT MINGNGGNGNGNNGNGNNGNGNGNGNGGNGNGNGNGNGGNGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGONOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO ET, PL

KIMLEY-HORN
200 South Orange Avenue
Suite 600
Orlando, FL 32801

A. COVER LETTER

1

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 2



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

B. SCOPE UNDERSTANDING, APPROACH, AND MANAGEMENT PLAN

Greg Witherspoon, PLA, AICP, 
Matt Franko, PLA

superior results.

Experienced 
management1 Proven and thoughtful 

design process2 Responsiveness
and adaptability3

ANTICIPATE 
& PLAN

Control schedule, 
anticipate problems, 

develop creative solutions

MONITOR 
& CORRECT

Random inquiries 
into schedule, 

performance, resources; 
instant corrective actions

COMMUNICATION 
& EFFICIENCY

Clarify protocols, avoid 
misunderstandings, 

QUALITY CONTROL 
& REVIEWS

Budget and plan for 
quality control and 
independent reviews

ASSIGN 
RESPONSIBILITY

One responsible 
person per 

action item—
no ambiguity

PROATIVE PROJECT MANAGEMENT
Anticipate, Act, Achieve

2

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 3



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

Our 

•

•

Basis of Design Report (BOD) General Criteria

Electric - 
overhead/

underground

Underground 
utilities

Wet Ponds 
vs. Dry 
Ponds

Drainage 
Conveyance

Intersections 
Stop Control, 

Signalized, etc.

Site Line 
Criteria (e.g. 

FDOT 
Index 546)

Clear Zone

ANALYSIS AND CONSTRAINTS

Functional Design Speed Decision Sight 
Distance

Vertical 
Clearance

Control Zone 
Clearance

Maintenance

DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS

Trees Presence of 
Exotics Adjacent to 
Remaining Material 

to be Retained

Ponds 
Wet vs. Dry

Retaining 
Walls

Signage Lighting Irrigation Adjacent 
Users

EXISTING INVENTORY

3

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 4



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

•

•

•
constraints exercise.

•

enhance an already valuable part of property. 

utilizing modeling software like Sketchup and Lumion. As part of our schematic design process, 

3D Visualization – Before Constructed

4

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 5



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

3. CONSTRUCTION PHASE

Post-design services are pivotal to success.

Being responsive to your needs and adapting

demands at any time.

is a mandate. Schedule control is tied to people. Together, their experiences, vision, management styles, and philosophies affect all components 

to accomplish the goals, anticipating the implications of decisions made in early phases to future phases, and preparing a mechanism for 

PRELIMINARY 

DESIGN PHASE

Assemble Base Data Site and 
Site Analysis

• Concept Design Documents

• Schematic Design 
Documents

3D Modeling

FINAL DESIGN 
PHASE

• Design Development

• 100% Construction 

3D Modeling

CONSTRUCTION 
PHASE

• Construction 
Administration Phase 
Services

5

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 6



World
 Driv

e

Se
ve

n 
Se

as
 D

riv
e 

SY
M

BO
L 

LE
G

EN
D

:

La
nd

sc
ap

e 

Irr
ig

at
io

n

In
te

rs
ec

tio
n

O
ve

rh
ea

d 
Si

gn
ag

e

Si
gh

t L
in

e 
C

le
ar

an
ce

C
le

ar
 Z

on
e 

U
nd

er
gr

ou
nd

 U
til

ity
 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

  

St
ru

ct
ur

es

Po
nd

s

En
ha

nc
ed

 L
an

ds
ca

pe
 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
Be

rm
s

Br
id

ge
s 

/ O
ve

rp
as

s

Pl
an

tin
g 

on
 S

lo
pe

World Drive

M
ai

n 
Pa

rk
in

g 
lo

t

D
is

ne
y’

s 
G

ra
nd

 F
lo

rid
ia

n 
R

es
or

t &
 s

pa

D
is

ne
y’

s 
Po

ly
ne

si
an

 
Vi

lla
ge

 R
es

or
t

D
is

ne
y’

s 
M

ag
no

lia
 

G
ol

f C
ou

rs
e

W
al

t D
is

ne
y 

W
or

ld
 

R
es

or
t G

ol
f

D
is

ne
y’

s 
Pa

lm
G

ol
f C

ou
rs

e

D
is

ne
y’

s 
M

ag
ic

 K
in

gd
om

 
Pa

rk

D
is

ne
y’

s 
W

ild
er

ne
ss

 
Lo

dg
e

Se
ve

n 
Se

as
 L

ag
oo

n

D
is

ne
y’

s 
C

on
te

m
po

ra
ry

 
R

es
or

t

R
ee

dy
 C

re
ek

 
Fi

re
 S

ta
tio

n

W
 M

ag
no

lia
 P

al
m

 D
r.

M
ed

ia
n 

La
nd

sc
ap

e

M
ap

le
 R

d

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t S

cr
ee

ni
ng

Ar
riv

al
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 a
nd

 S
ig

na
ge

R
ou

nd
ab

ou
t C

oo
rd

in
at

io
n

R
ou

nd
aB

ou
t C

oo
rd

in
at

io
n

vi
ew

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t 

Si
gn

ag
e 

C
oo

rd
in

at
io

n,
 In

te
rs

ec
tio

n 
Sa

fe
ty

 a
nd

 
U

til
ity

 C
oo

rd
in

at
io

n

Floridian Way

Si
gn

ag
e 

& 
En

try
 C

oo
rd

in
at

io
n

Ar
riv

al
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 a
nd

 S
ig

na
ge

O
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
to

 e
nh

an
ce

 a
rri

va
l l

an
ds

ca
pe

, a
nd

 4

ac
co

m
m

od
at

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 la

nd
 u

se
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

ps
.3

O
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
fo

r e
nh

an
ce

d 
la

nd
sc

ap
e 

al
on

g 
pr

op
os

ed
 ro

un
da

bo
ut

 s
eq

ue
nc

es
 a

nd
 in

te
rs

ec
tio

ns2

O
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
fo

r l
an

ds
ca

pe
 b

er
m

s 
an

d 
sc

re
en

in
g 

of
 a

dj
ac

en
t p

ar
ki

ng
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s.

1

O
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
to

 a
cc

om
m

od
at

e 
m

ed
ia

n 
la

nd
sc

ap
e.

 

5

5

1

2

4

3

In
te

rs
ec

tio
n 

Sa
fe

ty
 a

nd
 

U
til

ity
 C

oo
rd

in
at

io
n

N
ov

em
be

r 2
02

5

W
at

er
fro

nt
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 
an

d 
sc

re
en

in
g

W
at

er
fro

nt
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 
an

d 
sc

re
en

in
g

DDDggggg

Is
la

nd
 T

ow
er

R
es

or
t a

t t
he

 
Po

ly
ne

si
an

Ar
riv

al
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 a
nd

 S
ig

na
ge

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t S

cr
ee

ni
ng

rld
 

Sh
ad

es
 o

f G
re

en
 R

es
or

t
En

tra
nc

e 
/ S

ig
na

ge

W
al

t D
is

ne
y 

W
or

ld
 M

on
or

ai
l

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t S

cr
ee

ni
ng

LPFLLNON011486.2025

LPFLLNON011486.2025

6

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 7



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

C. QUALIFICATIONS, EXPERIENCE, AND SIMILAR DESIGN PROJECTS

LANDSCAPE AND HARDSCAPE DESIGN

pavement treatments.

Irrigation Systems

Planting

Our philosophical approach to planting design in the public realm is rooted 

communities. Creating an aesthetically pleasing environment using natural 

Berms

the design and implementation of berms as functional and aesthetic 

that berms are thoughtfully incorporated into broader site planning strategies, including irrigation systems, planting schemes, and aesthetic 

contextually responsive.

Signage and Aesthetic Enhancements

helps to add continuity of design and style, and both can help to provide clarity of directional cues for autos, service providers, bicyclists, and 

DRAINAGE AND STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

7

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 8



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

ENVIRONMENTAL

SURVEYING AND MAPPING

Our trusted subconsultants, 

UTILITY DESIGN

Electric and Secondary Electric 

Our trusted subconsultants, Buholtz Professional Engineering, Inc.

Irrigation (Reclaimed and Potable Water)

Our trusted subconsultants, Hines, Inc.

Communication

8

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 9



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

open lines of communication.

3-DIMENSIONAL LANDSCAPE DESIGN MODELS

ideas and build consensus early in the process can save time during construction document preparation and construction. Our Central Avenue 

PROJECT TEAM QUALIFICATIONS

Hines, Inc.
Buholtz Professional Engineering, Inc. 

the end of this section.

PROJECT MANAGER

Matt Franko, PLA

9

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 10



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

12

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

13
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

13
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Master of Landscape 
Architecture, University of 

Florida 

Bachelor of Arts, 

Professional Landscape 
Architect in Florida, 

#LA6667292

MATT FRANKO, PLA

tourism industry site planning, irrigation design, multifamily amenity packages, mixed use site design, 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Peppa Pig World at Legoland, Winter Haven, FL —

Miami Worldcenter, Miami, FL —

The Addison at Universal Boulevard, Orland County, FL —

Bowery Bayside, Tampa, FL —

Heathcote Stormwater Recreation Park, Fort Pierce, FL —

Cape Canaveral Redevelopment, Cape Canaveral, FL —

Boggy Creek Landscape Improvements, Osceola County, FL —

St. Lucie County Gordy Road Bridge, St. Lucie County, FL —

Lennard Road Connection, St. Lucie County, FL —

Mapp Road Town Center, Stuart, FL —

Rockledge Civic Hub, Rockledge, FL —

Cape Canaveral City Hall and Parks, Cape Canaveral, FL —

Megastron Phase II, Orlando, FL —

Sterling Creek Parkway, Oviedo, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 11



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

13

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

26
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

2
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Masters, Landscape 
Architecture, University 

of Oklahoma

University of Oklahoma

Design, University 
of Oklahoma

Professional Landscape 
Architect in Florida, 

#LA6667156

Member, American Society of 

Founding Board Member, 
Outside Sustainable 

Landscape Collaborative

Member, Urban Land 

GREG WITHERSPOON, PLA, AICP

planning and design innovation. Greg has held multiple leadership positions, serving as the previous Chair of 

He is also a founding board member of Outside Sustainable Landscape Collaborative. 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Landscape Technical Manual Tree List, Titusville, FL —

Road, Orlando, FL —

Seminole County On-Call Landscape Architecture Services, Seminole County, FL —

Sunbridge, Osceola County, FL —

Laureate Park South N1 Streetscape, Orlando, FL —

Laureate Park South N2 Phase 2, Orlando, FL —

Hills of Minneola Town Center, Clermont, FL —

Harmony West, St. Cloud, FL —

Cypress Bay West, Palm Bay, FL —

 Project Manager

Envision Edgewater, Edgewater, FL —

Myakka River Park Master Plan, Charlotte County, FL —

Riverwalk, Orlando, FL —

Silverleaf, Orange County, FL —

Orange Code - Landscape Ordinance, Orange County, FL —

Counties, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 12



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

14

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

35
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

35
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Landscape 
Architecture, University 

of Florida

Architect in Florida, #01428

#015169

Member, American Planning 

Member, American Society of 

Council of Shopping 

SCOTT MINGONET, PLA, AICP
QUALITY CONTROL/QUALITY ASSURANCE

Scott Mingonet has a broad range of experience as a planner and landscape architect. Throughout his 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Grand National Boulevard and Greenbrier Parkway, Orlando, FL —

On-Call Roadway Services, Winter Park, FL —

On-Call Landscape Architecture Services, Maitland, FL —

On-Call Landscape Architecture Services, Longwood, FL —

On-Call Services, Rockledge, FL —

Lowe’s Corporate Campus, Wilkesboro, NC —

Lincoln Road Mall, Miami Beach, FL —

Charlotte, NC —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 13



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

15

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

21
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

21
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Landscape 
Architecture, University 

of Georgia

Professional Landscape 
Architect in Florida, 

#LA6666900

Member, American Society of 

Member, Urban Land 

JAMES PANKONIN, PLA, LEED AP

RESOURCE TEAM

includes master planning and programming, streetscape design, parks and recreation design, site planning, 
amenity center programming and design, custom hardscape design and detailing, construction document 

presentation graphics. James is also experienced in facilitating public engagement meetings, design 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Seven — Project Manager

 Project Manager

North Port, FL —

Naples Central Avenue Improvements, Naples, FL —

North Collier Boulevard Improvements, Marco Island, FL —

Implementation, North Port, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 14



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

16

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

5
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

5
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor, Landscape 
Architecture, Ball 
State University

JAKE MAPLE

including municipal redevelopment, community infrastructure improvements, commercial land development, 

crafting designed spaces. His strong skills in 3D modeling ensure that the design intent is accurately 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

South Binion Multifamily, Apopka, FL —

O-Town West, Orlando, FL —

CRTPA, Thomasville Road Multiuse Trail Feasibility Study, Tallahassee, FL —

Saucy Boggy Creek, Orlando, FL —

Lake Apopka Nature Park, Ocoee, FL —

Avalon Road Multifamily, Orlando, FL —

Epoch Storey Park, Orlando, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 15



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

17

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

6
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

3
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Master of Science, 
Landscape Architecture, 

University of Florida

Bachelor, Landscape 
Architecture, University 

of Florida

ALEX GREEN

Alex brings six years of experience to his role as a landscape architecture analyst. His experience includes 

including municipal redevelopment, community infrastructure improvements, commercial land development, 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

South Binion Multifamily, Apopka, FL —

Glasshouse Orlando, Orlando, FL —

Kerina, Bentley Apartments, Orlando, FL —

Apopka, FL —

Streamsong Resort, Bowling Green, Polk County, FL —

County, FL —

Weslyn Park Outpost Master Infrastructure, Sunbridge, Osceola County, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 16



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

18

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

5
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

3
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Science, 
Landscape Architecture, 
Colorado State University

CICI EHMANN

municipal redevelopment, community infrastructure improvements, commercial land development, luxury 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Chandler Heights Road, Sossaman Road to Hawes Road, Queen Creek, AZ —

Mac Overstreet Master Plan, Kissimmee, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 17



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

19

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

14
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

12
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Landscape 
Architecture, Ball 
State University

Professional Landscape 
Architect in Florida, 

#LA6667269

#10351296

ED DEAN, PLA, LEED AP

landscape architect specializing in detailed design of the public realm. His expertise includes community, 
regional, and urban park design, master planning and implementation, streetscape, transportation design, 
planting, irrigation, site, grading, and hardscape design. Additionally, he has extensive experience in park 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Sandlake Road Interchange, Florida Turnpike Enterprise —

Naples Central Avenue Improvements, Naples, FL —

Five —

Falcon Square, Orange County, FL —

Hudson Bayou Water Quality Improvements, Sarasota County, FL —

Retreat at Orlando, Orange County, FL —

St. Armands Parking Garage, Sarasota, FL —

The Riverwalk at Kennedy Boulevard Plaza, Tampa, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 18



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

20

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

30
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

20
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Landscape 
Architecture, University 

of Arkansas

Professional Landscape 
Architect in Florida, 

#6666795

Past President, American 
Society of Landscape 

Florida Chapter

JONATHAN HAIGH, PLA, ASLA

Jonathan is a Florida native and has 30 years of experience as a practicing professional landscape architect. 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

QQ Florida’s Turnpike/Lake Worth Interchange Reconstruction, Lake Worth, FL —

Palm Beach County, FL —

Stuart, FL —

Florida’s Turnpike Mainline Widening from North of Sunrise Boulevard to Atlantic Boulevard, 
Broward County, FL —

the Lantana Mainline Toll Plaza, Broward and Palm Beach Counties, FL —

SR A1A Streetscape Improvements, Fort Lauderdale, FL —

Margate, FL —

Florida’s Turnpike Mainline Widening from Sunrise to Atlantic, Broward County, FL —

Clematis Street Streetscape, West Palm Beach, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 19



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

21

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

13
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

13
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Landscape 
Architecture, University 

of Florida

Professional Landscape 
Architect in Florida, 

#LA6667244

Member, American Society of 

TRICIA RICHTER, PLA

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Clematis Streetscape, West Palm Beach, FL —

West Clematis Streetscape, West Palm Beach, FL —

Fern Street Streetscape, West Palm Beach, FL —

Boynton Beach Gateway Enhancements Welcome Signage, Boynton Beach, FL 

Historic Miramar Complete Streets, Miramar, FL —

Town of Palm Beach Town Hall Square Streetscape and Infrastructure Improvements, Palm 
Beach, FL —

Tamarind Avenue Streetscape, West Palm Beach, FL —

Lake Worth Beach Redevelopment, Lake Worth, FL —

OB Johnson Park, Hallandale Beach, FL —

Mainline Toll Plaza, Florida’s Turnpike Enterprise —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 20



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

22

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

6
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

6
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor, Landscape 
Architecture, Ball 
State University

Professional Landscape 
Architect in Florida, 

#6667690

ZACK HALL, PLA

redevelopment and community infrastructure enhancements to commercial land development, luxury 

background gives him an alternative look into the design implementation process and a practical perspective 
on the establishment of designed spaces. His experience and abilities in 3D modeling ensure design intent is 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Civic Hub Master Plan, Cape Canaveral, FL —

Sparkman Wharf, Tampa, FL —

Cortland Bowery, Tampa, FL —

Allure on the Parkway, Lake Mary, FL —

Collier to Polk Regional Trail Master Plan, Collier and Polk Counties, FL —

Flats at Water Edge, Apopka, FL —

Millenia Lakes, Orlando, FL —

The Avery, Orlando, FL —

MAC Overstreet Master Plan, Orlando, FL —

La Cabana, Aruba —

Apopka, FL —

Monroe-Adams Corridor Placemaking, Tallahassee, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 21



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

23

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

8
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

8
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor, Landscape 
Architecture, Ball 
State University

JIM ZHENG

preparation, presentation graphics, and illustrative 3D renderings. His experience includes community 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

South Binion Multifamily, Apopka, FL —

Mattamy Homes Randal Park, Orlando, FL —

Ward Trail Feasibility Study, Windermere, FL —

FL —

Millenia Lakes, Orlando, FL —

O-Town West, Orlando, FL —

Watermark Ocala, Ocala, FL —

Collier to Polk Regional Trail Master Plan, Bartow, FL —

Cambria Suites Hotel at Lake Eola, Orlando, FL —

III, Orlando, FL —

Thrive Apartment Community by Watermark, Orlando, FL —

Ocala Gateway, Ocala, FL —

Wildwood CRA Unity, Enhancement, and Redevelopment Action Plan, Wildwood, FL 

Glasshouse Orlando, Orlando, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 22



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

24

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

3
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

3
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor, Landscape 
Architecture, California 

Polytechnic State University

AUDREY LAU

and signage for municipalities, amenity spaces for residential communities, and luxury resorts both in the 
US and abroad. Her skillset includes site analysis and inventory, land planning, master planning, construction 

also the production of landscape, hardscape, lighting, and irrigation plans.

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Springs, FL —

Watermark Ocala, Ocala, FL —

Collier to Polk Regional Trail Master Plan, Bartow, FL —

Rosewood Resort at Grand Reserve, San Juan, PR—

La Cabana Beach Resort and Casino, Aruba —

Miami, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 23



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

25

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

26
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

26
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Masters, Business 
Administration, University of 

Central Florida

University of Florida

Florida, #61640 

HAO CHAU, PE

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

City of Orlando Continuing Civil Engineering Services, Orlando, FL — Project Manager

Project Engineer

 Project Manager

Project Manager

Continuing Professional Services, Windermere, FL — Project Manager

City of Longwood Multimodal Improvements, Longwood, FL —

 Project Manager

Continuing Engineering Services on a Task Authorization Basis, Osceola County, FL 

 Project Manager

Future Sunbridge Parkway, Osceola County FL — Project Manager

Project Manager

 Project Manager

Coolidge Street Roadway Improvements from Bates Avenue to Getford Ave, Eustis, FL 
Project Manager

of Record

Lake Hollingsworth Roundabout Improvements, Lakeland, FL — Project Engineer

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 24



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

26

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

17
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

17
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Science, Civil 

of Florida

Florida, #76118

Member, the Commercial 

JENNIFER STICKLER, PE

and construction phase services.

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Celebration Point, Celebration, FL — Project Manager

 Project Manager

 Project Manager

 Project Manager

O-Town West, Orlando, FL — Project Manager

Kerina Bentley Apartments and Southwest Town Center, Orlando, FL — Project Manager

Project Engineer

 Project Engineer

 Project Engineer

 Project Manager

The Addison Apartments, Orlando, FL — Project Manager

 Project Manager

Project Manager

 Project Manager

 Project Manager 

Colonial Plaza, Orlando, FL — Project Manager

 Project Manager

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 25



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

27

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

19
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

1
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Science, Civil 

of Buffalo

Florida, #71411

FDOT Advanced 

American Society of Civil 

KEVIN TASILLO, PE

matrices. 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

 Project Manager 

 Project Manager 

Alachua County, FL —

County, FL —

Bay County, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 26



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

28

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

11
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

3
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Science, 
Forestry, University of Florida

University of Florida

Gopher Tortoise Agent in 

DANIELLE VAIL, GTA, ISACA

assessments, and arboriculture. She has conducted surveys for gopher tortoises, crested caracara, scrub 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

County, FL —

Onda Rose Affordable Multifamily, Immokalee, FL —

HNTB Strategic Corridors species survey amendment, Tampa, FL —

HNTB Species Surveys, Tampa, FL —

UTBT Rocky Creek Bridge Rehabilitation-Hillsborough County, FL —

Lake County Round Lake Road, Tavares, FL —

Englewood, Florida —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 27



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

29

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

23
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

7
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Science, Zoology, 
Ohio Wesleyan University

Master of Science, Zoology, 
University of Oklahoma

Gopher Tortoise Authorized 
Agent, Florida Fish and 
Wildlife Conservation 

SARAH JOHNSON, CSE, GTA

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Wildwood, FL —

Thompson Nursery Road Environmental Survey, Winter Haven, FL —

Lake County Round Lake Road, Tavares, FL —

Orlando, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 28



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

30

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

23
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

10
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Arts, 
Fine Arts, American 

Unmanned Aircraft 
Pilot, Federal Aviation 

Administration, #3913238

STAN RUSSELL, UAG

emphasize his visualization vision to the public. 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Collier to Polk Regional Trail Master Plan, Bartow, FL —

Cambria Suites Hotel at Lake Eola, Orlando, FL —

Counties, FL —

Palm Beach TPA US 1 Multimodal Corridor Study, West Palm Beach, FL —

Biscayne, FL —

Lauderdale, FL —

Palm Beach TPA General Planning Consultant, Palm Beach County, FL —

Tampa Innovation Alliance, Mobility Master Plan, Tampa, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 29



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

31

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

29
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

8
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Master of Science, Structural 

of Florida

Bachelor of Science, Civil 

of Florida

Florida, #56083

J. CASEY LONG, PE
STRUCTURAL 

Casey has 29 years of diverse civil and structural engineering experience on infrastructure improvement 

management and design services for seaport, industrial, commercial, military, and educational facilities. 
He has provided design and general consulting and structural engineering services for complete building 

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

Port of Palm Beach Berth 1 Bulkhead Replacement, Riviera Beach, FL —

MSC Cruise Line, Passenger Access Gangway System, Cruise Terminal AA-AAA 

Port of Palm Beach, Rail Rehabilitation, Riviera Beach, FL —

Port of Palm Beach, Security Lighting Improvements, Riviera Beach, FL —

Port of Palm Beach, Main Gate and Site Improvements, Riviera Beach, FL —

Safe Harbor, 22nd Court Seawall Replacement, City of Riviera Beach, FL —

Mullins Property Paving Improvements, Riviera Beach, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 30



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

32

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

5
YEARS OF 

EXPERIENCE

5
YEARS WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN

PROFESSIONAL 
CREDENTIALS 

Bachelor of Science, Civil 

of Florida

Florida, #98284

CORY SALT, PE
STRUCTURAL 

condition assessments.

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE

SR A1A Streetscape Improvements, Fort Lauderdale, FL —

Fernandina Beach, FL —

Tequesta Bridge Rehabilitation, Jupiter, FL —

Bobby Jones Golf Course Nature Park, Sarasota, FL —

Yuengling Beer Campus, Tampa, FL —

Lantana Beach Seawall Repair, Lake Worth, FL —

FL —

City of Cape Coral Community Parks On-Call, Cape Coral, FL —

Addison at Gateway, Orlando, FL —

Rehabilitation, Wellington, FL —

G.T. Bray Park and Recreation Center, Bradenton, FL —

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 31



 
 

Michaell Prevostt  
Principall 
Employedd att Hiness Incc forr 1.55 Yearss 
PLAA LEEDD APP 

PProfessionall Experience::  
Hines Inc – Principal 2024- Current
Prevost Stamper Inc, President     1996-2023 Celebration, FL 
University of Memphis, manager of campus landscape 1991-1996  Memphis, TN 
Turfaid, Inc., irrigation distributor, irrigation manager   1986-1991  Memphis, TN 
Delta Environmental Group, irrigation installation foreman 1984-1986  Orlando, FL 
Environmental Care, landscape foreman    1981-1984  Rancho Mirage, CA

EEducation::  
The University of Memphis, Master of City & Regional Planning, 1998 
Mississippi State University, Bachelor of Landscape Architecture, 1981

Certification::   
Registered Landscape Architect – Florida, Mississippi, Tennessee 
IA Certified Irrigation Designer – Commercial and Golf 
LEED Accredited Professional – US Green Building Council

NNotablee Projectt Experience::  
LegoLand Florida Resort 
Early Cypress Gardens Renovation Projects 
Early Water Park Projects 
LegoLand Way and Parking Expansion 
Project Galaxy  

Universal Studios Orlando  
The Wizarding World of Harry Potter 
Islands of Adventure Gateway Renovations 
City Walk Renovations 
Volcano Bay Water Park 
Cabana Bay Beach Resort 
Sapphire Falls Resort 

Walt Disney World 
Typhoon Lagoon – Crush Gusher Expansion 
Animal Kingdom Lodge – Disney Vacation Club Resort 
Magic Kingdom - Pooh’s Playground + Tron Attraction + Main Street & Hub Renovation 
Grand Floridian & Polynesian Resort – Pool Renovations 
Hollywood Studios – New York Street Renovations 
Hollywood Studios - Extreme Stunt Show 
Flamingo Crossings 
Disney Springs 
Polynesian Resort – Disney Vacation Club Resort 
EPCOT – Guardians of the Galaxy Attraction

33

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 32



 
 

Carlaa Dii Mauroo 
Teamm Leaderr 
Employedd att Hiness Incc forr 1.55 Yearss 

PProfessionall Experience::  
Hines Inc – Team Leader 2024- Current
Prevost Stamper Inc- Irrigation CAD Designer 2021-2024
Jon Richards Company FL, Inc. – CAD Designer 2020-2021
Ingenium BC, C.A. – Products Development Engineer   2016-2018
Adamantine Resins Export LLC- Technical Assessor Engineer 2015-2016

EEducation::  
Bachelor of Materials Engineer Simon Bolivar University, 2014
Rain Bird Irrigation Training Sessions Celebration, FL
Hunter Irrigation Training Celebration, FL

Notablee Projectt Experience::  
Disney Springs Walt Disney World, FL
Polynesian Resort Vacation Club Walt Disney World, FL
Grand Floridian Resort Vacation Club Walt Disney World, FL
Four Seasons Resort Golden Oak Orlando, FL
Hilton Dolphin Renovations Miami, FL
Orlando International Airport – Brightline Railway Orlando, FL
Orlando International Airport South Terminal Orlando, FL
Flamingo Crossings Roadways Lake Buena Vista, FL
Avenir Avenir Boulevard Palm Beach Gardens, FL
Shura Island Roadway Zone 4 & 5 The Red Sea Project, KSA
Cocnut Blvd. Ph. 3 & 4 Palm Beach Gardens, FL

nt

34

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 33



BUHOLTZ PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING, INC.
                                                             154 Tuskawilla Road, Suite 1380, Winter Springs, Florida 32708   407-327-3300

CA #00009600 BPE, Inc. 1 of 1

Brian T. Buholtz, PE, RCDD
Name: Brian T. Buholtz
Project Role: President and Principal Electrical Engineer
Business Address: Buholtz Professional Engineering, Inc.

154 Tuskawilla Rd., Ste. 1380, Winter Springs, FL 32708
Phone Number: Office: (407) 327-3300 Cell: (407) 619-7326
Email Address: bbuholtz@buholtz.com
Job Skills: Designer/Project Manager
Education (Degree & Specification): Bachelor of Science Degree in Electrical Engineering from UF
Affiliations/Memberships: BICSI Registered Communication Distribution Designer
Total Years’ Experience: 28
Professional Registration: FL PE #57979
Other Professional Qualification: Mr. Buholtz is a licensed Professional Engineer with a Bachelor of Science 
Degree in Electrical Engineering and is a BICSI Registered Communications Distribution Designer. Mr. Buholtz has 28 
years of experience including 20 years at this firm and has Engineered, Coordinated, Designed and Managed all types of 
Electrical Power Projects and Low Voltage Communication Systems in the United States and abroad. His project 
experience includes Hospitality Facilities, Government, Military, Aerospace, Educational and Commercial Facilities. His 
areas of design expertise include, Telephone Systems, Data Systems, Audio Networks, GPON, Wi-Fi, CATV, IP TV, 
CCTV, Burglar Detection, Access Control, Fire Alarm, Outside Plant Infrastructure, Power Distribution Systems, 
Grounding Systems, Lightning Protection Systems, UPS Systems, Critical Power Systems, Building Design Coordination, 
Photovoltaic, Power Coordination Studies, and Existing Facilities Power Studies & Mapping. Mr. Buholtz brings many 
years of experience on hundreds of successful projects to ensure accurate and efficient designs, based on sound 
engineering judgment.  

Relevant Project Experience:
Disney’s Coronado Springs Resort Tower: New 15 Story Tower Adjacent to Existing Hotel
Scope of Work: Engineer of record for and design/CA of/for the following:  Complex Fire Alarm system including smoke 
control panel and matrix.  Park-Wide Systems including GPON System, Wi-Fi, IP TV, Background Music, CCTV, POS, 
Front Desk System, Burglar Detection, Front Gate System, etc. 

Disney’s Project 88-2 @ Caribbean Beach Resort: new 10 story tower 
Scope of Work: Engineer of record for and design/CA of/for the following:  Complex Fire Alarm system including smoke 
control panel and matrix.  Park-Wide Systems including GPON System, Wi-Fi, IP TV, Background Music, CCTV, POS, 
Front Desk System, Burglar Detection, Front Gate System, etc. 

Disney’s Skyliner (Gondola) Project 
Scope of Work: Engineer of record for and design/CA of/for the following: Complex Fire Alarm system including 
interconnect between 6 stations, and third party full system checkout/signoff prior to RCFD/RCID finals.  
Park-Wide Systems including GPON System, Wi-Fi, IP TV, Background Music, CCTV, POS, Burglar Detection, etc. 

Disney’s Toy Story Mania Ride Track 2 Project 
Scope of Work: Engineer of record for and design/CA of/for the following:  
Park-Wide Systems including GPON System, Wi-Fi, IP TV, Background Music, CCTV, POS, Burglar Detection, etc. 

35

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 34



Brad Alexander, PSM, PE

L & S Diversified
Project Manager

(407) 681-3836

LSsurveyor.com

4776 New Broad Street, Suite 100
Orlando, FL 32814

brad.alexander@LSsurveyor.com

About me

Project Experience

As a licensed Professional Surveyor and Mapper (PSM) within the State of Florida, I have extensive 
survey background which includes boundary, topographic, ALTA/ACSM land title, condominium, as-
built, subsurface utility engineering, and construction surveying. As a licensed Professional Engineer 
in the State of Florida, I have a diverse engineering background in the design of water, wastewater, 
reclaimed water systems, lift-stations, site development, permitting, and materials testing. My 
responsibilities include the management of municipal projects, typically with a scope including 
utility design, transportation or site development.

Education
University Central Florida 
Bachelor of Science
Civil Engineering

Professional Surveyor & 
Mapper (PSM)
FL LS6885

Professional Engineer (PE)
FL No. 78427

Experience
27 years 
8 Years with L & S 

Michigan Avenue Safety Improvements

Kimley-Horn

Project limits included full right of way plus 10 feet outside at the intersections of Michigan Avenue 
& US 192, Boulder Drive, Mill Slough Road, East Donegan Avenue, Carroll Street, and Garden Street.  
The surveying, mapping and sub-surface utility engineering scope included horizontal & vertical 
control, apparent right of way, existing centerline alignment, topographic survey, geotechnical 
support, vegetation survey, sketch and legal descriptions, sub-surface utility designation (Quality 
Level B), sub-surface utility excavation (Quality Level A), and right of way permitting for the 
Osceola County safety improvement project. Contract Value $98,468

Dixie Way Paving

Kimley-Horn

The project limits included the full right-of-way of Dixie Way in Mims, Florida from the intersection 
of Dixie Way and County Line Road to the intersection of Dixie Way and Grant Line Road 
(approximately 5.4 miles).  The scope included horizontal and vertical control, existing centerline 
alignment and apparent right of way, topographic survey of full right of way, sub-surface utility 

project. Contract Value $225,782

Lift Station J-13 - Brevard County

Kimley Horn

Survey control, right of way/topographic/tree survey, sub-surface utility engineering, and sub-
surface utility excavation for the Brevard County lift station site J-13. The project was processed and 
drafted using Civil 3D. Contract Value $14,150

was horizontal and vertical survey control, apparent right of way, topographic survey, geotechnical 
support, and sub-surface utility engineering, and sub-surface utility excavation for the design of 
drainage improvements. Contract Value $26,587

Kimley Horn

36

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 35



Sherry Manor, PSM

L & S Diversified
Project Surveyor & Mapper

(407) 681-3836

LSsurveyor.com

100 E New York Avenue, Suite 210
DeLand, Florida 32724

sherry.manor@LSsurveyor.com

About me

Project ExperienceEducation

University Central Florida

Bachelor of Science
Forensic Analysis

Professional 
Registrations

Professional Surveyor 

FL LS6961

Industry Experience

21 Years
15 Year with 

Brevard County Wastewater Treatment Plant

Kimley-Horn

aerial was also created via drone data collection. Contract Amount: $88,245

Barrington Water Main & Force Main

Kimley-Horn

Contract Amount: $61,430

Tomoka Farms

Kimley Horn

Contract Amount: $96,138

Coolidge Street Roadway Improvements 

Kimley Horn

improvements.   Contract Amount: $46,270

Kimley Horn

Contract 
Amount: $145,339

37

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 36



S
tr

u
ct

u
ra

l

J.
 C

as
ey

 L
on

g,
 P

E

C
or

y 
S

al
t, 

P
E

W
O

R
L

D
 D

R
IV

E
 N

or
th

 P
ha

se
 3

 A
re

a 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

D
es

ig
n

C
EN

TR
A

L 
FL

O
R

ID
A

 T
O

U
R

IS
M

 O
VE

R
S

IG
H

T 
D

IS
TR

IC
T

D
. 
S

T
A

F
F

IN
G

 P
L

A
N

La
n

d
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

h
it

ec
tu

re
 

R
es

ou
rc

e 
Te

am

M
at

t 
Fr

an
k

o,
 P

LA

G
re

g 
W

it
he

rs
po

on
, P

LA
, A

IC
P

Ja
ke

 M
ap

le

A
le

x 
G

re
en

Jo
na

th
an

 H
ai

gh
, P

LA
, A

SL
A

LPFLLNON011486.2025

Za
ck

 H
al

l, 
P

LA

Ji
m

 Z
he

ng

A
ud

re
y 

La
u

G
re

g 
W

it
he

rs
po

on
, P

LA
, A

IC
P

H
ao

 C
ha

u,
 P

E

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
 P

h
as

e 
S

er
vi

ce
s

M
at

t 
Fr

an
ko

, P
LA

Ja
ke

 M
ap

le

M
ik

e 
P

re
vo

st
1

C
ar

la
 D

i M
au

ro
1

M
at

t F
ra

nk
o,

 P
LA

El
ec

tr
ic

al

B
ri

an
 B

uh
ol

tz
2

S
u

rv
ey

3

Sh
er

ry
 M

an
or

, P
SM

3

S
ta

n 
R

us
se

ll,
 U

A
G

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l

S
ar

ah
 J

oh
ns

on
, C

S
E,

 G
TA

S
ub

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
s

1.
H

in
es

, I
nc

.

2.
B

uh
ol

tz
 P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l E

ng
in

ee
rin

g,
 In

c.

3.

Q
C

/Q
A

M
at

t F
ra

nk
o,

 P
LA

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

-i
n

-C
h

ar
g

e

Te
ch

ni
ca

l L
ea

d

4
2

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 37



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

Matt Franko, PLA

demonstrates the relationship among our staff and subconsultants. Technical leads for each 

provided after our letter of response. 

SUBCONSULTANT PARTNERS

KIMLEY-HORN ORLANDO

Zack Hall, PLA

Audrey Lau

Jake Maple

Alex Green

KIMLEY-HORN LAKE NONA

Matt Franko, PLA

KIMLEY-HORN TAMPA

PERSONNEL AUTHORIZED 
TO GIVE AND SUPPORT 

INFORMATION FOR FIRM

Matt Franko, PLA

407.427.1629

Scott Minonet, PLA, ASLA

407.427.1622

43

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 38



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

KIMLEY-HORN SARASOTA

KIMLEY-HORN WEST PALM BEACH

KIMLEY-HORN DOWNTOWN WEST PALM BEACH

Jonathan Haigh, PLA, ASLA

KIMLEY-HORN JACKSONVILLE

KIMLEY-HORN PALM BEACH GARDENS

KIMLEY-HORN DOWNTOWN NASHVILLE

Jim Zheng

L&S DIVERSIFIED, LLC

Sherry Manor, PSM

HINES, INC.

Carla Di Mauro Mike Prevost

BUHOLTZ PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING, INC.

Brian Buholtz

44

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 39



WORLD DRIVE North Phase 3 Area Development Design
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

LP
FL

LN
O

N
01

14
86

.2
02

5

E. QUALITY CONTROL AND ASSURANCE PLAN

Quality is the result of a cultural mindset stemming from an understanding that it requires 
more effort and dollars to redo project deliverables than it does to do them right the first time.

in an independent role. Our designated Quality Control 
managers, , and Scott 
Mingonet, PLA, AICP
over 21 years of experience, James has dedicated his career 

years of experience in landscape architecture and planning, 

plans, reports, and data to identify any discrepancies or areas 
for improvement. They both possess a keen eye for detail 
and a deep understanding of the importance of maintaining 
consistency and precision in planning documents. 

Greg Witherspoon, 
PLA, AICP

A “kick-off” meeting will be held with key individuals to 

All decisions will be documented by a paper trail. 
Appropriate data will clearly show the choices evaluated 
and the basis for our recommendations.

All supporting calculations, text, or data used to develop 
a document will be signed and dated by the individual 
who completed the work. There will be documentation of 
all telephone conversations and meetings that include or 
affect the project decisions. Meeting minute distribution 
will occur promptly.

who are not directly performing the work activity. The 
individual will sign and date the documents, prepare a 

The project manager will monitor and evaluate the 
review for the project. They will check for clarity, 
accuracy, completeness, and complete scope 
compliance. Any follow-up activity required will be noted 
and initiated as appropriate.

Technical reviews, progress reports, communications, 
problem reporting/resolution, variance approvals, and all 
documentation will adhere to department procedures. 

Kimley-Horn’s Management Information System (MIS) 
will closely monitor all project activities and will provide 
a “snapshot” of the project at any time. This ability 
to continuously monitor budgets, labor expenditures, 
expenses, and project schedule is a critical component 
of our CQI program.

45

Exhibit C- Consultant Proposal

C - 40


	7.5_Construction_Supporting Doc_C006910 - Area Development Landscape Design for World Drive North Phase 3.pdf
	END OF EXHIBIT A
	Fully Loaded Hourly Rate
	Fully Loaded Hourly Rate
	Labor Classification
	Labor Classification
	END OF EXHIBIT B

	6.2_P&E_Board Report - Seven Seas Drive Post Design_C006831 CO1 - LandDesign.pdf
	Subject: Contract #C006831 - World Drive North Phase III – Seven Seas Drive Realignment/Grand Floridian Connector Roadways– LandDesign, Inc., Post Design Services - Change Order #1
	Presented By: Katherine Luetzow, Director, Planning & Engineering
	Department: Public Works

	7.1_RCES_ Board Report_NSA HTHW Abandonment - Construction tlk.pdf
	Subject: Contract #C006979 Construction Services for District North Service Area High Temperature Hot Water Abandonment
	Presented By: Christine Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services
	Department: Utility Services
	 Gulfcoast Utility Contractors, Inc. - Contract #C006979

	7.2_RCES_Board Report_Duplex LS Upgrade  Rehab - LS46 - Design tlk.pdf
	Subject: Duplex Lift Station #46 Rehabilitation Project – Design
	Presented By: Chris Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services
	Department: Utility Services

	7.3 RCES_Board Report_District MCC A  B Replacement - Construction tlk CLEAN.pdf
	Subject: Studios North Central Energy Plant Motor Control Center (MCC) A & B Replacement Project – Construction
	Presented By: Christine Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services
	Department: Utility Services

	7.4_Construction_Board Report_WDN P3 CEI CO#3_Rev 1 tlk review.pdf
	Presented by: Craig Sandt, Director of Construction Management
	Department: Public Works
	 Consor Engineering, LLC - Change Order #3 to Contract #C006106

	7.5_Construction_WDN P3 Area Development Design_Rev 1 tlk edits.pdf
	Presented by: Craig Sandt, Director of Construction Management
	Department: Public Works
	 Final Selection Results – LOI
	 Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. - Contract # C006910

	7.1_RCES_ Board Report_NSA HTHW Abandonment - Construction tlk.pdf
	Subject: Contract #C006979 Construction Services for District North Service Area High Temperature Hot Water Abandonment
	Presented By: Christine Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services
	Department: Utility Services
	 Gulfcoast Utility Contractors, Inc. - Contract #C006979




